ResearchOnline@JCU

This file is part of the following reference:

Camara, Marie Lou (2014) Behavioural and neurobiological changes mediated by TNF-α signalling in the CNS. PhD thesis, James Cook University.

Access to this file is available from:

http://researchonline.jcu.edu.au/40737/

The author has certified to JCU that they have made a reasonable effort to gain permission and acknowledge the owner of any third party copyright material included in this document. If you believe that this is not the case, please contact <u>ResearchOnline@jcu.edu.au</u> and quote <u>http://researchonline.jcu.edu.au/40737/</u>



BEHAVIOURAL AND NEUROBIOLOGICAL CHANGES MEDIATED BY TNF-α SIGNALLING IN THE CNS

Thesis Submitted by Marie Lou Camara (BSc)

April 2014

For the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

School of Medicine and Dentistry,

James Cook University, Townsville QLD

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The work done for this thesis would not have been possible without the support and assistance of many people.

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude toward my supervisors, **Professor Bernhard Baune** and **Dr Helen Anscomb**. This thesis would not have been possible without your support, guidance, funding (NHMRC) and knowledge throughout the course of my PhD. Thank you for all the support and patience you have given me over the last 3 years, I have learnt a lot from you and I appreciate all of the advice you have provided.

Dr Frances Corrigan was always open in sharing her extensive knowledge of protein analysis, immunohistochemistry and ICV injections as well as providing invaluable editorial assistance for my thesis as well as journal articles.

Dr Emily Jaehne was responsible for setting up all of the behavioural experimental protocols within the department and worked on establishing many of the protocols used in this body of work. She has given me extensive help and training in animal handling behavioural experiments as well as in editing my thesis and journal articles.

Dr Catharine Jawahar has been generous in training me in animal breeding procedures as well as well as RNA techniques.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to the IMVS staff especially Jim Manavis, for technical help as well as giving me the opportunity to conduct immunohistochemistry experiments. I would also like to thank the LAS animal facility at the University of Adelaide for the assistance provided with animal breeding and handling.

I would also like to thank **Ms Emma Anderson** at James Cook University for providing me with a lot of technical assistance relating to travel, conferences as well as paperwork relating to my PhD.

I finally would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my family, *my mother*, **Muriel Godinho**; *brother*, **Wolfgang Camara**; *uncle* **Dr Savio Godinho**; *aunt*, **Dr Nolette Pereira**; *grandmother*, **Ann Godinho** and *my partner*, **Marcus Ryan** for the financial and emotional support over the last few years, without whose constant support, inspiration and encouragement I would not have been able to see this project through.

COPYRIGHT DISCLAIMER

Every reasonable effort has been made to gain permission and acknowledge the owners of copyright material. I would be pleased to hear from any copyright owner who has been omitted or incorrectly acknowledged (See statement of contribution of *co-authors, page IV*).

STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION OF CO-AUTHORS

Chapter	Contribution
Chapter 1:	The candidate (Camara) formulated and drafted this chapter with supervision
Introduction	from Prof. Baune and Dr Jawahar. Dr Anscomb provided editorial input when
	framing this chapter for the thesis.
Chapter 2:	The candidate (Camara) was responsible for writing this chapter and
Methods	articulating the rationale for the methodologies used in this thesis with editorial
	feedback from Dr Anscomb.
Chapter 3:	This study was based on an NHMRC grant awarded to Prof Bernhard
TNF-α and its Receptors Modulate Complex Behaviours	Baune. The candidate (Camara) performed all experiments used in this study
	including the behavioural testing of mice, collecting tissue and performing ELISA
and Neurotrophins in	and histochemical analysis on the tissue, after receiving training for the various
Transgenic Mice	techniques from Dr Jaehne and Dr Corrigan. Camara analysed the data and
	interpreted the results. Camara wrote the manuscript with guidance from Dr
	Jaehne and Dr Corrigan and supervision from Prof. Baune. Dr Anscomb
	provided editorial input when Camara arranged this chapter for the thesis.
Chapter 4:	This study was based on an NHMRC grant awarded to Prof Bernhard
TNF- α and its	Baune. The candidate (Camara) set up and managed the breeding colonies of
Adult Behavioural	mice used in this study and performed all experiments described in this study,
Phenotypes	including the behavioural testing of mice, tissue collection and analysis (ELISA
	and histology). Camara analysed the data and interpreted the results, and
	wrote the manuscript with editorial involvement from Dr Jaehne and Dr

	Corrigan, and supervision from Prof. Baune. Dr Anscomb provided editorial
	input when Camara prepared this chapter for the thesis.
Chapter 5:	The candidate (Camara) designed this study and developed the aims,
Centrally Administered Etanercept on	hypothesis and rationale for this study. Camara performed all experimental
Behaviour Following a	procedures described in this chapter, including stereotactic surgeries (trained
Peripheral Immune	by Dr Corrigan), behavioural testing of mice and histological analyses. Camara
Challenge	analysed all data, interpreted the results and wrote up the manuscript for
	publication with feedback from Dr Jaehne and Dr Corrigan and Supervision from
	Prof. Baune and Dr Anscomb.
Chapter 6:	This study was based on an NHMRC grant awarded to Prof Bernhard
Characterisation of a	Baune. The candidate (Camara) managed the breeding colonies of mice used in
strain	this study and performed all experimental procedures described in this study
	including the behavioural testing of mice, collecting tissue and performing ELISA
	and histochemical and RT-qPCR analysis (trained by Dr Jawahar) on the tissue.
	Camara analysed the data and interpreted the results. The appendix was
	written by Camara with supervision from Dr Anscomb
Chapter 7:	The candidate (Camara) was responsible for writing out this chapter after
Discussion	inferring the results of this thesis with editorial input and supervision from Dr
	Anscomb.

Kalonne.	Contraction	Names, Files and Altitudens of Co-Contributors	Sentributors
Intellectual Support			Prof. Bernhard T. Baune
		 Prof. Bernhard T. Baune Dr Emily Jaehne Dr Catharine Jawahar Dr Harris Eyre 	Dr Emily Jachne
		University of Adekaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia	Dr Catharine Jawahar
	Editorial Assistance	 Dr Helen Anscomb Discipline of Anatomy, School of Medicine, James Cook University, Townsville QLD, 	Dr Harris Eyre
		Dr Frances Corrigan	
		Discipline of Anatomy and Pathology, School of Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, SA, Australia	Dr Helen'Anscomb
			Dr Frances Corrigan
Financial		 Brof Remberd T Reuse 	Prof. Bernhard T. Baune
Support	National Health and Medical Research Council Australia (APP1003788 to	 Prof. Bernhard 1. Baune Discipline of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia 	

		 Prof. Helarich itorener Cellular Institute, Tasmania, Manutes Research Institute, Tasmania, Habart, Tasmania, Australia 	Prof. Heinrich Roemer
		 Dr Helen Anscomb Discipline of Anatomy, School of Medicine. James Cook University, Townsville QLD, Australia 	Dr Nelen Anscorno
eta • Optimising/training in edion ELISA and IHC protocols. • Optimising/Training in Behavioural Protocols • Antmat Breeding and	 Dr Emily Jaehne Dr Catharine Jawahar Discipline of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaida, SA, Australia Dr Frances Conigan Discipline of Anatomy and Pathology, School of 	Dr Greily Aselunc Dr Cathorine Jaunikar	
	Training in Animal Breeding Procedures, Training in RNA techniques	Medicol Sciences, University of Adelaide, SA, Australia	Dr Frances Corrigon

DECLARATION ON ETHICS

This research presented and reported in this thesis was conducted in compliance with the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes, 7th Edition, 2004 and the QLD Animal Care and Protection Act, 2001. The proposed research study received animal ethics approval from the JCU Animal Ethics Committee.

Approval Number: A1644

This research was also carried out in part at the University of Adelaide, SA. All experimental protocols were approved by the ethics committees of the University of Adelaide in accordance with the guidelines established for the use of animals in experimental research as outlined by the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council. The proposed research study received animal ethics approval from the University of Adelaide Animal Ethics Committee.

Approval Numbers: M-131-11 and M-180-11

PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

Publications

Baune, B.T.*, Camara, M.-I*, Eyre, H., Jawahar, C., Anscomb, H., Koerner, H., 2012. "Tumour necrosis factor alpha mediated mechanisms of cognitive dysfunction".
<u>Translational Neuroscience.</u>
*Joint First-Authors

Camara, M. L., Corrigan F, Jaehne E.J, Jawahar M. C, Anscomb H, Koerner H and Baune B.T (2013). "*TNF-alpha and its receptors modulate complex behaviours and neurotrophins in transgenic mice.*" <u>Psychoneuroendocrinology</u>.

Camara, M. L., F. Corrigan, Jaehne E.J, Jawahar M. C, Anscomb H and Baune B.T (2014). "Effects of Centrally Administered Etanercept on Behaviour, Microglia and Astrocytes in Mice Following a Peripheral Immune Challenge." <u>Neuropsychopharmacology</u>.

In Preparation

Camara, M. L., Corrigan F, Jaehne E.J, Anscomb H and Baune B.T. *"Effects of knockout of TNF-a and its receptors on behaviour and neurobiology of adult mice, in the absence of an immune challenge"*. <u>Article in Preparation</u>

Presentations/Abstracts

Society for Mental Health Research Scientific Meeting (December 2014)

<u>ORAL:</u> "Effects of centrally administered etanercept on behaviour, histology and *Tnfa* expression in mice following a peripheral immune challenge" **Camara, M. L.,** Corrigan F, Jaehne E.J, Jawahar M. C, Anscomb H and Baune B.T

Australian Neuroscience Society Annual Scientific Meeting (January 2014) <u>ORAL:</u> "Signalling Effects of TNF-α and its Receptors in Mood-like Behaviour" **Camara, M. L.,** Corrigan F, Jaehne E.J, Anscomb H, Koerner H and Baune B.T

Queensland Brain Institute, 4th Brain Plasticity Symposium (September 2013)

<u>SYMPOSIUM: POSTER:</u> "Immune-Mediated Regulation of Neurotrophins: A Role for TNF- α "

Camara, M. L., Corrigan F, Jaehne E.J, Jawahar M. C, Anscomb H, Koerner H and Baune B.T

Australian Neuroscience Society Annual Scientific Meeting (February 2013)

<u>POSTER:</u> "The Role of Cytokine TNF-alpha on Measures of Cognition-like and Moodlike Behaviour"

Camara, M. L., Corrigan F, Jaehne E.J, Jawahar M. C, Anscomb H, Koerner H and Baune B.T

Mt Lofty Workshop: Frontier Technologies for Nervous System Function and Repair Adelaide (November 2012)

POSTER: "Dual Roles for TNF-α Receptors in Regulating Cognition"

Camara, M. L., Corrigan F, Jaehne E.J, Jawahar M. C, Anscomb H, Koerner H and Baune B.T

Adelaide Centre for Neuroscience Research Expo, University of Adelaide (June 2012)

<u>POSTER:</u> "The Role of TNF-α in Hippocampal Dependent Cognitive Tasks"

Camara, M. L., Corrigan F, Jaehne E.J, Jawahar M. C, Anscomb H, Koerner H and Baune B.T

Australasian Society for Immunology Annual Meeting (December 2011)

<u>POSTER:</u> "Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha in the Development of the Hippocampus and Hippocampal-dependent Cognitive Tasks" **Camara, M. L.,** Anscomb H, Koerner H and Baune B.T

Three-Minute Thesis, James Cook University (October 2011)

ORAL: "The Effects of TNF Alpha on Cognitive Function"

Camara, M. L., Corrigan F, Jaehne E.J, Jawahar M. C, Anscomb H, Koerner H and Baune B.T

Townsville Hospital Research Symposium (September 2011)

<u>SYMPOSIUM: POSTER:</u> "Mechanisms of Cognitive Dysfunction: The Role of Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha on Neurotrophin Production and Hippocampal Development" **Camara, M. L.,** Anscomb H, Koerner H and Baune B.T

North Queensland Festival of Life Sciences (September 2011)

<u>ORAL & POSTER:</u> "The Effects of TNF alpha on Cognitive Function: An Analysis of the molecular Basis of Behaviour"

Camara, M. L, Anscomb H, Koerner H and Baune B.T

ABSTRACT

Background

TNF- α is a pleiotropic cytokine having a diverse range of functions extending from the immune system to the central nervous system (CNS). It is recruited into the CNS through the blood brain barrier and also produced by astrocytes and microglia, in the CNS. A majority of its actions are governed by its main receptors: TNF-R1 (expressed by nearly all cell types) and TNF-R2 (expressed by immune and endothelial cells). The general consensus over these receptors has been that TNF-R1 is primarily degenerative due to the presence of a death domain; while TNF-R2 is more neuroprotective due to the lack of said death domain. There is active involvement of these members of the TNF- α superfamily in mediating neurobiology and behaviour in the CNS; TNF- α mediates synaptic scaling and facilitates expression of neurotrophins, brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and nerve growth factor (NGF). However in peripheral or central inflammation, an up-regulation of TNF- α upsets this homeostatic balance triggering mechanistic changes in the CNS that can lead to behavioural impairments. Indeed TNF- α is a known biomarker of Alzheimer's disease, multiple sclerosis and major depressive disorder. It is also an active biomarker of rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis that are comorbid with psychiatric symptoms.

These factors make the need for understanding TNF- α neurobiology and developing targets to modulate TNF- α expression in inflammatory conditions essential. This body of work was therefore conducted to test the behavioural and neurobiological effects of genetic deletion and pharmacological blockade of TNF- α and its receptors in young and mid-adult mice.

Methods

This body of work was carried out in three parts:

Chapters 3 and 4 were run using similar methodologies in mice of different ages. Mice deficient for TNF- α (TNF^{-/-}) and each of its receptors, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} (n = 14/strain for both studies) were established on a C57BL/6 background. These mice were used to test the consequences of targeting TNF- α and its receptors on behaviour and neurobiology in young and mid-adult mice compared to C57BL/6 mice (WT: n = 21/chapter 3, n = 14/chapter 4). Mice underwent behavioural testing to measure locomotion, cognition-like, social, and emotion-like behaviour. Hippocampal tissue was collected from these mice to measure levels of NGF and BDNF by ELISA and immunohistochemistry performed to test for neurogenesis (chapters 3 and 4) and microglial numbers (chapter 4).

For the third part of this study, only C57/BL6 mice were used and were divided in to 4 treatment groups. 2 groups were challenged with an acute dose of LPS (n = 20; IP administration) while 2 groups received saline (n = 20; IP administration). One group of LPS mice received etanercept via ICV administration (n = 10; <u>LPS-Etan</u>) and a control group received aCSF also via ICV (n = 10; <u>LPS-aCSF</u>). Similarly, one group of saline treated mice (n = 10) received etanercept through ICV (<u>Sal-Etan</u>) while the other group (n =10) received aCSF also through ICV (<u>Sal-aCSF</u>). 24 hr post-drug treatment, behaviour of mice was tested and hippocampal tissue was collected to measure the number of microglia and astrocytes in the dentate gyrus.

Results

3 months old TNF^{-/-} mice had impaired cognition, while TNF-R2^{-/-} mice showed good memory. All strains of mice had normal social behaviour and knockout strains had lower anxiety than WT mice. Analysis of neurotrophin levels revealed TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice to have significantly lower levels of NGF compared to WT mice, suggesting that some of the behavioural changes could be linked to changes in levels of circulating neurotrophins.

At 6 months age, TNF^{-/-} and TNF-α receptor knockout mice displayed similar learning to WT mice, but TNF-R1^{-/-} mice displayed better memory than all strains of mice. TNF^{-/-} mice had impaired social behaviour and exploratory behaviour in TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice was decreased compared to WT mice. It is also interesting to note that both TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice exhibited lower depression-like behaviour than WT mice. Additionally TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice expressed significantly lower levels of BDNF than WT mice and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice.

Pharmacologically peripheral administration of LPS reduced locomotor activity, impaired cognition-like and increased anxiety-like behaviour. This change was associated with an increase in microglial numbers in the dentate gyrus. Centrally administered etanercept was able to significantly improve LPS induced anxiety-like behaviour, and prevent the increase of microglia, but had no significant effect on cognition-like behaviour.

Discussion

Taken together, these findings demonstrate that TNF-α plays a complex role in mediating behavioural phenotypes. This role is further influenced by the inflammatory state and life stage of the individual.

Specifically while normal signalling of TNF- α and its receptors is required for cognition in young mice, the absence of TNF- α and its receptors may improve cognition from mid-adulthood. So also from mid-adulthood, lack of TNF- α and its receptors may protect mice from depression-like behaviour, hinting at a possible target to counter depression in older individuals. Despite these positive features of lack of TNF- α signalling in mid-adulthood, it appears that TNF- α is required throughout a lifespan to maintain social and exploratory behaviour. This suggests that modulation of the cytokine rather than blockade may be the direction to follow.

From a pharmacological perspective, peripheral LPS is effective in triggering behavioural and neurobiological changes as there appears to be an active exchange between the peripheral immune system and CNS. Furthermore, etanercept treatment appeared effective in reducing not only anxiety-like behaviour but also number of microglial cells induced by LPS, showing that even with non-specific inflammation, TNF- α is an active participant in CNS pathology. This reinforces the need for targeting TNF- α in inflammatory disorders with psychiatric disruptions

These results set a foundation to understand the complex role of TNF- α in mediating behavioural phenotypes over the course of an individual's life. Likewise TNF- α modulation appears to be the key to alleviating psychiatric conditions enhanced by this cytokine. Moving onwards, future work needs to look at the effects of targeting TNF- α and its receptors in aged animals to understand the

consequences on behaviour and neurobiology specifically neurotrophin production and glial cell activity.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	i
COPYRIGHT DISCLAIMER	iii
STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION OF CO-AUTHORS	iv
DECLARATION ON ETHICS	viii
PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS Publications In Preparation Presentations/Abstracts	. ix ix ix x
ABSTRACT Background Methods Results Discussion	xii xii xiii xiv xv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	xvii
LIST OF TABLES	xxii
LIST OF FIGURES	.xxiii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xxv
Chapter 1 : Introduction to TNF- $lpha$ Neurobiology and Signaling	1
Introduction: CNS Disorders and the Involvement of the Immune System Inter-Relationship between Immune System and CNS Function Neurobiology of TNF-α in the CNS TNF-R1 Signalling Pathway TNF-R2 Signalling Pathway TNF-α Signalling and Neuroplasticity	3 13 15 18 19
TNF- α Signalling in the Progression and Development of Cognitive Functions in Disor	ders
Cognitive Dysfunction as Seen In Depression: Relation to TNF-α Expression Cognitive Impairment Seen in Schizophrenia and Its Association with TNF-α TNF-α Associated Cognitive Dysfunction in MS TNF-α Contributes to Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Rheumatoid Arthritis Conclusions and Future Directions Thesis Hypothesis and Aims	23 27 30 33 36 38 40
Chapter 2 : Materials and Methods	41

Anaesthetics	50
Isoflurane	50
Pentobarbital	50
Drugs	51
Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)	51
Etanercept	51
Behavioural Analysis	55
Baseline Locomotor Activity	58
Home Cage Locomotor Activity	58
Open Field Test (OFT)	59
Cognition-like Behaviour	
Spatial Memory and Learning: Barnes Maze (BM)	
Spatial Recognition Memory: Y Maze	63
Exploratory Activity:	64
Hole Board Exploration Test (HBE)	64
Social Behaviour:	65
Sociability Test	65
Anxiety-like Behaviour:	67
Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)	67
Depression-like Behaviour	
Forced Swim Test (FST)	
Biological Analysis	70
Protein Analysis	72
Tissue Processing	72
Protein Extraction	72
Protein Quantification	73
Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	73
NGF ELISA	74
BDNF ELISA	74
TNF-α ELISA	75
Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	76
Tissue Fixing	76
Tissue Processing	76
Immunohistochemical Staining	77
Statistical Analysis	79
-	

Chapter 3 : TNF- α and Its Receptors Modulate Behaviour and Neurotrophins in Knockout

Mice	80
Overview	82
Introduction	84
Methods	91
Mouse Strains	91
Behavioural Analysis	92
Locomotor Activity: Home Cage Locomotor Activity	93
Open Field Test (OFT)	93
Cognition-Like Behaviour: Spatial Memory and Learning: Barnes Maze (BM)	93
Spatial Recognition Memory: Y Maze	95
Exploratory Activity: Hole Board Exploration Test (HBE)	95
Social Behaviour: Sociability Test	96

Anxiety-Like Behaviour: Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)	96
Depression-Like Behaviour: Forced Swim Test (FST)	97
Protein Analyses	97
Cytometric Bead Array (CBA)	97
ELISA	98
Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	99
Statistical Analysis	
Results	101
Mean Weight, Age and Sex	101
Locomotor Activity	101
The Role of TNF- α and its Receptors in Cognitive Tasks	102
Exploratory Activity	104
Decreased Anxiety-Like Behaviour in TNF [≁] and TNF-R2 [≁] Mice	105
Depression-Like Behaviour	105
Social Behaviour	107
Differences in Serum Cytokine Levels between Strains	108
Levels of BDNF in PFC and Hippocampus	110
Low Levels of NGF in TNF ^{-/-} and TNF-R2 ^{-/-} Mice	111
Evaluation of Neurogenesis in TNF-α Transgenic Mice	112
Discussion	114
Chapter 4 : TNF-α and its Receptors Govern Adult Behavioural Phenotypes	125
Overview	
Introduction	
Methods	
Mouse Strains	
Benavioural Analysis	
Locomotor Activity:	
Anxiety-Like Benaviour: Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)	
Exploratory Activity: Hole Board Exploration Test (HBE)	
Cognition-Like Benaviour:	
Depression-Like Benaviour:	
Social Benaviour: Sociability Test	
ELISA	
Cytometric Deau Array (CDA)	
Jene Expression Analysis (RT-966) Immunahistachamistry (INC)	
Statistical Analysis	141
Doculte	145
Age and Weight of Mice	144 1 <i>1</i> /1
Baseline Locomotor Activity	
Anxiety-like Behaviour	144 1 <i>1</i> Г
Decreased Exploratory Behaviour in TNF ^{-/-} and TNF-R1 ^{-/-} Mice	1 / ۲45
Cognition measured in the Barnes Maze	145 1/17
Decreased Depression-like Behaviour in TNF ⁺ and TNF-R2 ⁺ Mice	147 1/17
Social Behaviour in Mice	1/Q
High Levels of BDNF and NGF in the Hinnocampus of TNF-R2 ^{-/-} Mice	
Differences in Serum Cytokine Levels between Strains	150

Expression of Cytokines in the Hippocampus	
IHC Analysis	
Discussion	
Chapter 5 : Centrally Administered Etanercept on Behaviour Following a Peripheral Ir	nmune
Challenge	169
Overview	171
	171
Methods	175
Mica	170
Drugs	176
Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)	176
Ftanercept	177
Design and Treatment Groups	179
Behavioural Analysis	180
Locomotor Activity: Open Field Test (OFT)	180
Anxiety-like Behaviour: Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)	180
Spatial Recognition Memory: Y Maze	181
Gene Expression Analysis (RT-gPCR)	182
Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	184
Statistical Analysis	186
Results	
Age and Weight of Animals	
Locomotor Activity	
Anxiety-like Behaviour	
Cognition-like Behaviour	
Expression of (mRNA) Tnfa in the Hippocampus and PFC	
Examination of Microglial and Astrocyte Numbers following LPS treatment	
Discussion	
Chapter 6 : Behavioural Characterization of a TNF- α Over-Expressing Mouse Strain	206
Overview	207
Untraduction	207
Mathada	
Mico	
Mice	
Behavioural Analysis (QPCR)	
Denavioural Analysis	
Open Field Test (OFT)	
Cognition-Like Behaviour: Spatial Memory and Learning: Barnes Maze (BM).	
Exploratory Activity: Hole Board Exploration Test (HBE)	
Anxiety-Like Behaviour: Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)	
Depression-Like Behaviour: Forced Swim Test (FST)	
Protein Analyses: ELISA	
Statistical Analysis	216
Results	
No Difference in Tnfa Expression in Mouse Brains	
Normal Locomotor Activity in 3 and 7 month old mice	218
No Difference in Learning and Memory on the Barnes maze	

Anxiety-Like Behaviour	
Exploratory and Depression-like Behaviour	
NGF and BDNF Levels in the Hippocampus	
Discussion	
Chapter 7 : Conclusions and Future Directions	229
Summary of Principal Findings	
Behavioural and Neurobiological Implications of Genetic Deletion of TNF-α and	its
Receptors on Young and Mid-Adult Mice	231
Behavioural Implications of Pharmacological Blockade of TNF-α in the CNS	
Conclusions and Discussion	238
Benefits TNF-α Deficiency on Cognition-Like Behaviour	
Impact of TNF-α Deficiency on Exploratory and Social Behaviour	240
Benefits of TNF-α Deficiency on Emotion-Like Behaviour	241
Neurotrophins, Neurogenesis, Glial Cells and TNF-α	
Considerations and Future Work	245
Bibliography	1
Appendix: Published Papers	XXVII
Tumour Necrosis Factor-alpha Mediated Mechanisms of Cognitive Dysfunction TNF-α and its Receptors Modulate Complex Behaviours and Neurotrophins in Tran	XXVIII nsgenic
Effects of Centrally Administered Etanercept on Behaviour, Microglia, and Astrocy Mice Following a Peripheral Immune Challenge	XLIII / tes in LVI

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Contribution of Candidate and Co-authors	iv
Table 1.1: Studies on TNF ^{-/-} and TNF receptor knockout mice	14
Table 1.2: Studies on the effects of over-expression and under/no expression of TNF- α in the CNS	24
Table 2.1: Table summarising the different strains and treatment groups of mice used in the studies in chapters 3-6	outlined 49
Table 2.2: Composition of artificial cerebrospinal fluid	52
Table 2.3: Weekly dosing and testing schedule for experiments detailed in chapter 5	54
Table 2.4: Behavioural testing schedule for chapters 3, 4 and 6	56
Table 2.5: AnyMaze measures tracked for all behavioural tests	57
Table 2.6: Measures and duration of all behavioural tests.	69
Table 2.7: Number of mice used in each of the biological studies described in this thesis	71
Table 2.8: The table shows a list of the stains used for immunohistochemistry for the studies outline body of work	ed in this 78
Table 3.1: Summary of TNF- α and TNF- α receptor deficient behavioural studies	87
Table 3.2: Details of mice used in chapter 3	92
Table 3.3: Serum cytokine analyses for chapter 3	
Table 3.4: Summary of all behavioural tests	113
Table 3.5: Comparisons between TNF-R1 ^{-/-} and TNF-R2 ^{-/-} mice from chapter 3	117
Table 4.1: Mice strains used in this study	133
Table 4.2: Behavioural testing schedule	138
Table 4.3: Primer Sequence for qPCR	141
Table 4.4: Immunohistochemistry stains	143
Table 4.5:Serum cytokine analyses	152
Table 4.6: Gene expression of cytokines measured in the hippocampus in TNF ^{-/-} and TNF-α receptor knockout mice	153
Table 4.7: Mean \pm SEM values of all strains in all tests in this study	156
Table 4.8: Comparison of knockout strains to WT mice	157
Table 4.9: Comparisons between TNF-R1 ^{-/-} and TNF-R2 ^{-/-} mice	158
Table 5.1: Composition of artificial cerebrospinal fluid	178
Table 5.2: Dosing and testing schedule of experiments	
Table 5.3: Antibodies employed within this study	
Table 7.1: Summary and comparison of results from chapters 3 and 4	233

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Illustration of the differential expression of TNF- α by astrocytes and microglia	
Figure 1.2: TNF- α signalling in the CNS	
Figure 1.3: Role of TNF- $lpha$ in neurotrophin production and hippocampal memory and learning	21
Figure 2.1: Pictorial representation of the open field.	
Figure 2.2: Barnes maze	60
Figure 2.3: Y maze	63
Figure 2.4: Hole board exploration apparatus	64
Figure 2.5: Sociability test apparatus	65
Figure 2.6: Elevated zero maze	67
Figure 2.7: Forced swim test apparatus	
Figure 3.1: General locomotor activity	
Figure 3.2: Cognition-like behaviour	
Figure 3.3: Anxiety and depression-like behaviour	
Figure 3.4: Sociability-like behaviour	
Figure 3.5: Levels of BDNF in hippocampus and prefrontal cortex	
Figure 3.6: Levels of NGF in hippocampus and prefrontal cortex	
Figure 3.7: DCX and Ki67 counts in the hippocampus	
Figure 4.1: Baseline locomotor activity, anxiety and exploratory behaviour	
Figure 4.2: Cognition	
Figure 4.3: Social Behaviour	
Figure 4.4: Levels of BDNF and NGF	
Figure 4.5: IHC Analysis	
Figure 5.1: Weight of mice before and after LPS dosing	
Figure 5.2: Locomotor Activity (OFT)	
Figure 5.3: Anxiety-like Behaviour (EZM)	
Figure 5.4: Cognition-like Behaviour (Y maze)	
Figure 5.5: Expression levels of (mRNA) Tnfa in the PFC and Hippocampus	
Figure 5.6: Astrocyte counts across experimental conditions	
Figure 5.7: Microglial counts across experimental conditions	
Figure 6.1: RNA expression of TNF- α in the hippocampus	
Figure 6.2: Baseline locomotor activity	
Figure 6.3: Learning and memory in the Barnes maze	
Figure 6.4: Anxiety-like behaviour in the elevated zero maze	

Figure 6.5: Exploratory and depression-like behaviour	223
Figure 6.6: Levels of BDNF and NGF in the hippocampus	225

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- aCSF Artificial Cerebrospinal Fluid
- AD Alzheimer's disease
- ADAM17 ADAM Metallopeptidase Domain 17
- AITRL Activation-Inducible Tumor Necrosis Factor-Related Ligand
- AMPAR α-Amino-3-Hydroxy-5-Methyl-4-Isoxazolepropionic Acid Receptor
- BBB Blood Brain Barrier
- BCSFB Blood Cerebrospinal Barrier
- **BDNF** Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor
- BM Barnes Maze
- BSA Bovine Serum Albumin
- C57/BL6 -Strain of Wild Type mouse
- CA1 Cornu Ammonis 1
- CA3 Cornu Ammonis 3
- CaCl₂ Calcium Chloride
- CaCl₂.H₂O Hydrous Calcium Chloride
- CBA Cytometric Bead Assay
- CD -Cluster of Differentiation
- cDNA Complementary DNA

- CSF Cerebrospinal Fluid
- CHAT Choline Acetyl Transferase
- cIAP 1, 2 Cellular Inhibitor of Apoptosis
- Cldn Claudin
- CNS Central Nervous System
- **CRP C Reactive Protein**
- CXCL Chemokine
- DAB 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
- DAPI 4',6-Diamidino-2-Phenylindole
- **DCX Doublecortin**
- DD Death Domain
- dNTP Deoxyribonucleotide
- DTT Dithiothreitol
- E2 (PGE2) Prostaglandins
- EAE Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis
- ELISA Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay
- **EPM Elevated Plus Maze**
- EZM Elevated Zero Maze
- FACS -Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting

- FADD Fas-associated Death Domain
- Fc Fragment of Crystallization
- FST -Forced Swim Test
- GABA y Amino Butyric Acid
- GFAP Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein
- HBE Hole Board Exploration
- HC Home Cage
- HPA Hypothalamus Pituitary Adrenal Axis
- HRP Horse Radish Peroxidase
- IBA1 Ionized Calcium-Binding Adapter Molecule 1
- ICAM Intercellular Cell Adhesion Molecule
- ICV Intra Cerebroventricular Injection
- IFNγ Interferron Gamma
- IgG ImmunoglobulinG
- IHC -Immunohistochemistry
- IkB Inhibitor of Kappa B
- IKK Inhibitor of kappa B Kinase
- IL-1 β Interleukin 1 Beta
- IL-4/6/8/14/12 Interleukins

- IP Intra Peritoneal
- JNK c-Jun-NH₂ Terminal Kinase
- KCI Potassium Chloride
- Ki67 Cellular Marker of Proliferation
- KO Knockout
- LPS Lipopolysaccharide
- LPS-aCSF Lipopolysaccharide-artificial Cerebrospinal Fluid
- LPS-Etan Lipopolysaccharide-Etanercept
- LTD Long Term Depression
- LTP -Long Term Potentiation
- MAPK Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
- MAPKKK Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase Kinase Kinase
- MCP-1 Monocyte Chemotactic Protein-1
- MEKK3 Mitogen Kinase
- mEPSC mini Excitatory Post Synaptic Current
- MDD Major Depressive Disorder
- MgCl₂.6H₂0 Hydrous Magnesium Chloride
- MHC II Major Histocompatibility Complex
- mIPSC mini inhibitory post synaptic current

- mRNA messenger Ribonucleic Acid
- MS Multiple Sclerosis
- NaCI Sodium Chloride
- NaHCO₃ Sodium Bi Carbonate
- NaH₂PO₄ Monosodium Phosphate
- NFkB Nuclear Factor Kappa B
- NGF Nerve Growth Factor
- NHS Normal Horse Serum
- NMDAR N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor
- NORT Novel Object Recognition Test
- Nrg1 Neuregulin1
- NT3/4 Neurotrophin 3 and 4
- OFT Open Field Test
- P38 P38 Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
- P55 Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor 1
- P75 Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor 2
- P75 ^{NTR} p75 Neurotrophin Receptor
- PCR Polymerase Chain Reaction
- PET Positron Emission Tomography

- PFC Prefrontal Cortex
- PBMC Peripheral Blood Mononucleated Cell
- qPCR Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction
- RA Rheumatoid Arthritis
- RIP Receptor Interacting Protein
- RNA Ribonucleic Acid
- RNAse Ribonuclease
- S100B S100 (glial specific) Calcium Binding Protein
- Sal-aCSF Saline Artificial Cerebrospinal Fluid
- Sal-Etan Saline Etanercept
- SEM Standard Error of Mean
- SGZ Subgranular Zone
- SODD Silencer of Death Domain
- solTNF Soluble Tumor Necrosis Factor
- SPT Saccharin Preference Test
- SVZ Subventricular Zone
- TACE Tumor Necrosis Factor Converting Enzyme
- TBS Tris Buffered Saline
- TGF Transforming Growth Factor

- Tg6074 Mouse Strain
- TH1 T Helper Cell 1
- TH2 T Helper Cell 1
- TMB 3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine
- TNF1 Tumor Necrosis Factor Polymorphism (Guaninie)
- TNF2 Tumor Necrosis Factor Polymorphism (Adenine)
- TNF-α Tumor Necrosis Factor
- TNF-R1 Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor 1
- TNF-R2 Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor 2
- **TNFRS1A Tumor Necrosis Factor Super Family Receptor 1**
- TNFRS1B Tumor Necrosis Factor Super Family Receptor 2
- TRADD Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor Associated Death Domain
- TRAF2 Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor Associated Factor 2
- TRAIL Tumor Necrosis Factor Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand
- TRIS Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
- TrkB Tyrosine Kinase B receptor
- VCAM Vascular Cell Adhesion Protein
- V > L Valine > Leucine

WT - Wild Type

Chapter 1 : Introduction to TNF-*α*

Neurobiology and Signaling

TUMOUR NECROSIS FACTOR ALPHA MEDIATED MECHANISMS OF COGNITIVE DYSFUNCTION

Baune BT¹ * [#], **Camara M**^{1,4} [#], Eyre H^{1,4}, Jawahar C¹, Anscomb H², Körner H

¹ Discipline of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

²Discipline of Anatomy, School of Medicine, James Cook University, QLD, Australia

³ Cellular Immunology Laboratory, Menzies Research Institute Tasmania, Hobart, Tasmania, Australia

⁴ Psychiatry and Psychiatric Neuroscience, School of Medicine, James Cook University, QLD, Australia



Introduction: CNS Disorders and the Involvement of the Immune System

Mental and neurological disorders like schizophrenia and depression constitute 13% of the global disease burden, guickly surpassing the threat by cardiovascular disorders and cancer (Collins et al., 2011). A common link between neuropsvchiatric conditions such as maior depressive disorder (MDD). schizophrenia, and neuro-inflammatory disorder like MS and RA, which manifest neuropsychiatric symptoms (Lieberman, 1999, Mandolesi et al., 2010, Kupfer et al., 2012), is the presence of exaggerated immune system activation both peripherally and within the CNS (Sharief and Hentges, 1991, Zorrilla et al., 2001, Miller et al., 2009). In the periphery, patients with MDD have impairments in cellular immunity (reduced natural killer cell activity) (Blume et al., 2011), as well increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines like interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-6, tumour necrosis factor (TNF-α) and chemokine IL-8 (Zunszain et al., 2012). This peripheral immune activation is associated with stimulation of resident astrocytes, microglia and neurons within the CNS, which produce inflammatory cytokines (Lieberman et al., 1989, Rock et al., 2004, Tsakiri et al., 2008). Indeed, depression is now thought to be the result of an increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines that are caused by external or internal stressors, with this known as the cytokine theory of depression (Zunszain et al., 2012). This up-regulation of cytokines leads to a low grade chronic inflammatory state which alters neurotransmitter metabolism, neuroendocrine function, promotes oxidative and nitrosative stress and reduces neuroplasticity resulting in the typical symptoms of melancholia, anhedonia, psychomotor slowing, decreased appetite and fatigue (Zunszain et al., 2012).
While many of these studies highlight the involvement of cytokines in the etiology of psychiatric disorders, several reports have revealed conflicting results. Levine et al (1999), for instance, showed elevated levels of IL-1 β and decreased levels of IL-6 with no change in TNF- α in CSF of depressed patients compared to healthy controls. On the other hand while some studies reported similar decreased IL-6 levels in CSF of depressed patients, other studies reported either higher levels of IL-6 (Stubner et al., 1999, Lindqvist et al., 2009) or no difference between patients and controls (Carpenter et al., 2004). Similarly with serum analysis, some studies found TNF- α levels to be elevated in MDD while others reported no change in serum TNF- α levels compared to controls (Brambilla and Maggioni, 1998, Karlovic et al., 2012). This inconsistency in findings was thought to be due to difference in gene expression of cytokines, as well as other confounding factors like prior medication, gender and techniques used to measure cytokines (Haack et al., 1999, Young et al., 2014).

Microarray and gene set analysis of post mortem CNS tissue also showed up-regulation of some cytokines like IL-2, IL-3, IL-10, TNF- β (Shelton et al., 2011). Interestingly another microarray study of post mortem brain tissue showed that normal aging was associated with greater changes in inflammatory markers, such as MHC and TLRs, as well as IL-1 β , TNF- α and IL-6, than the development of AD (when compared to age matched controls) The authors suggested that inflammation may play a greater role in the early stages of AD rather than the later stages in the brains examined (Cribbs et al., 2012).

As in MDD, reports of peripheral and central immune activation have been documented in schizophrenia. Elevated serum and/or plasma levels of proinflammatory factors like prostaglandin E2 (PGE₂) (Kaiya et al., 1989), C-reactive protein (CRP) (Dickerson et al., 2007), IL-1 β and TNF- α (Theodoropoulou et al., 2001) have been found in schizophrenic individuals. Furthermore, high microglial activation in the brain of schizophrenic patients has been reported in post-mortem studies (Bayer et al., 1999, Radewicz et al., 2000). This has been verified by positron emission tomography (PET) studies in patients, particularly in the temporo-limbic portion of the brain (van Berckel et al., 2008, Doorduin et al., 2009). These activated microglia then release TNF- α and IL-6 (Miller et al., 2009) contributing to the diseased state of the brain in schizophrenia. The presence of an exaggerated immune response and downstream signalling of pro-inflammatory cytokines in MDD and schizophrenia are thought to be the underlying causes of the impairments in learning and memory, along with increased anxiety and sleep disturbances (Niitsu et al., 2011, Zunszain et al., 2012) seen in these psychiatric illnesses. Indeed, neurodegeneration induced by this neuroinflammatory state is seen as a reduction in hippocampal volume in depressed patients which is associated with mild to moderate impairments in cognitive performance compared to healthy norms (Campbell et al., 2004).

The link between inflammation and neuropsychiatric disorders can also be seen in neuroinflammatory condition like MS and systemic autoimmune disorder like RA, which also have neuropsychiatric symptoms. MS patients often suffer from cognitive dysfunction and depression, (Mandolesi et al., 2010) with the presence of an activated immune system especially pro-inflammatory cytokines thought to be the cause of the neuropsychiatric symptoms observed (Sharief and Hentges, 1991). Indeed this supposition has been demonstrated in animal models (Ziehn et al., 2010), where experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) leads to a reduction in the volume of the CA1 region of the hippocampus, primarily due to activated microglia and infiltrating macrophages that release pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF-α (Renno et al., 1995, Ziehn et al., 2010). Renno et al (1995), previously verified that microglia (and macrophages) express high amounts of TNF- α . EAE was induced by injecting mice with myelin basic protein, total RNA was extracted from whole brain and RT-PCR performed for Cd3, IFN-y and TNF- α . TNF- α (and Cd3/IFN- γ) levels were increased in EAE mice and correlated to disease progression. FACS analysis of mononuclear cells of the CNS also revealed that TNF- α was expressed by macrophages and microglia. Glial activation (microglial positive cells measured by CD45+ labelling) in the study by Ziehn et al (2010) led to a decrease in volume of the CA1 region of the hippocampus (measured using a Cavalieri estimator), and was verified using NeuN and Nissl staining; these changes were accompanied by a decrease in the number of GABA-ergic inter-neurons and increased number of TUNEL positive cells (apoptotic cells) in the hippocampus, (Ziehn et al., 2010).

RA, on the other hand, though a systemic autoimmune disorder has its own set of neuropsychiatric symptoms. RA patients exhibit deficits in cognitive function (learning and memory) (Appenzeller et al., 2004) as well as increased anxiety (El-Tantawy et al., 2008) and depression (Hider et al., 2009). The cognitive deficits observed in RA patients could be attributed to the high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α in serum (Aloe et al., 1992b, El-Tantawy et al., 2008). Therefore these high levels of TNF- α may interact with the CNS to impair the expression of neurotrophins like nerve growth factor (NGF) resulting in a loss of neurogenesis and synaptic function (Aloe et al., 1992b).

These findings demonstrate an overarching theme that immune system activation, particularly release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, can affect core functions of the CNS like neuroplasticity and cognition (Stellwagen and Malenka, 2006). The significance in studying the neurobiological functions of TNF- α specifically stem from its unique influence in mediating synaptic scaling, especially α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPAR) dependent plasticity (Stellwagen and Malenka, 2006) as well as its effects of development of hippocampal structures (Golan et al., 2004). The pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α is constitutively expressed in the CNS, and has been shown to exert physiological neuroprotective and neurodegenerative effects, depending on whether the TNF-R1 or TNF-R2 receptor is activated. Signalling through the TNF-R1 pathway, initiates the activation of caspases leading to apoptosis, due to the presence of a cytoplasmic `death domain'. In contrast activation of TNF-R2, promotes cell survival, through inhibition of caspase activation.

Thus although increased levels of TNF- α may underlie the neuropsychiatric symptoms of a number of diseases (Fiore et al., 1996), in physiologically unchallenged conditions, this group has shown in a murine model, that during early stages of development basal levels of TNF- α are required in the CNS for memory and learning (Baune et al., 2008). These neuroprotective effects of TNF- α are mediated by its influence on neurotrophin production (Golan et al., 2004) as well as on its ability to influence synaptic scaling (Stellwagen et al., 2005). This chapter

provides an introduction to the neurobiology of TNF- α within the CNS under normal and pathological conditions. A more detailed knowledge of the cellular mechanisms by which TNF- α contributes to the development and progression of neuropsychiatric symptoms, particularly the mechanisms subserving cognition, could be instrumental in developing effective therapeutic strategies.

Inter-Relationship between Immune System and CNS Function

A few decades ago the CNS was regarded as a region devoid of immune reactions (Medawar, 1948, Barker and Billingham, 1977). Thus the CNS, which includes the brain and spinal cord, was believed to be a site of "immune privilege". However this claim has now been significantly modified and redefined to suggest that the CNS is in fact an area of selective immune reactivity, which results from active processes (Streilein, 1993, Ransohoff et al., 2003).

The immune system plays a very complex role in the maintenance of the central nervous system. The immune system sustains homeostatic equilibrium of the various structures of the brain and constantly surveys the brain ensuring neuroprotection (Tabakman et al., 2004). Furthermore, it also plays a crucial non-immune role in the neurodevelopment, by acting on processes such as neurogenesis, neuronal migration and synaptic plasticity (*For reviews see* (Boulanger and Shatz, 2004, Garay and McAllister, 2010)). The blood brain barrier (BBB) of the CNS is the main system that controls leukocyte trafficking from the periphery into the brain (Zlokovic, 2008, Banks and Erickson, 2010) while the epithelial blood cerebro-spinal fluid barrier (BCSFB) controls the influx of

lymphocytes to brain parenchyma. It is through this interaction between the BBB and the BCSFB that immune cells enter and patrol the CNS (Engelhardt, 2006).

Threat by external stimulus in the form of injury, infection or stress may affect the balance between CNS and the immune system. This results in the trafficking of T and B cells leading to downstream activation and subsequent entry of proinflammatory cytokines like TNF- α into the brain via the BBB (Pan and Kastin, 2002, Bossu et al., 2008, Brietzke et al., 2009, Maccioni et al., 2009, Cross and Waubant, 2010). The BBB has cytokine binding sites that either alter intracellular function (receptors) or convey the cytokines across the BBB (transporters) (Banks and Erickson, 2010). Pro-inflammatory cytokines trigger the expression and activation of other inflammatory factors including other cytokines, chemokines and reactive oxygen species, that leads to necrotic and apoptotic neural injury (Leib and Tauber, 1999, Miric et al., 2010). Of these cytokines, TNF- α in particular is shown to be up regulated in CNS inflammatory conditions that involve BBB disruption (Nishioku et al., 2010). Both TNF-α receptors, TNF-R1 (p55) and TNF-R2 (p75) are present on the endothelial cells of the blood brain barrier and function like transporters (Pan and Kastin, 2002). Additionally, TNF- α suppresses the expression of claudins (Cldn), particularly Cldn5 that is an essential molecular component of tight junctions and permeates the CNS (Forster et al., 2008, Aslam et al., 2012).

Apart from peripheral inflammatory cells that traverse the BBB, the CNS has its own immune system. Microglia are the resident immune cells of the CNS (Wake et al., 2012). Resting microglia or those that are activated by an adaptive immune response of Th1 and Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IFN-γ promotes neurogenesis (Butovsky et al., 2005). Additionally resting microglia are also thought to induce neurogenesis through mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) signalling pathways (Morgan et al., 2004). Infections or trauma on the other hand cause microglia to be differentially activated and release pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-6, TNF- α and IL-1 β .

Activated microglia present dual functions – 1) The elimination of damaged neurons and 2) Activation of immune system, by downstream signalling of proinflammatory cytokines (Rock et al., 2004). Of the pro-inflammatory cytokines released by microglia, TNF- α is thought to be the main factor behind BBB dysfunction resulting in a feedback loop of continual inflammation between the periphery and the CNS (Nishioku et al., 2010).

TNF- α is a pleiotropic cytokine having both beneficial as well as detrimental inflammatory functions. The inflammatory nature of TNF- α allows for regulation of the immune system and protection against infections by B-cell proliferation. But on the other hand TNF- α can promote tumor growth and is an active biomarker of many illnesses from cerebral malaria to rheumatoid arthritis (Aggarwal, 2003, Clark et al., 2010, Drutskaya et al., 2010, Juhasz et al., 2013).

Regardless of the primary source of TNF- α in the brain, the symptoms that it produces in acute inflammatory conditions are deleterious (Figure 1.1). Animal studies have linked TNF- α over-expression to cerebral malaria (Medana et al., 1997), progression of septic shock syndrome (Tracey, 1991), formation of sickness behaviour (Bielefeldt Ohmann et al., 1989), thrombosis and tissue necrosis (Probert et al., 1993). However despite these negative effects, under physiologically unchallenged conditions TNF- α exerts beneficial actions. In normal conditions it promotes and regulates neurogenesis (Das and Basu, 2008), plays a role in hippocampal development (Golan et al., 2004), and is essential to learning and memory formation (Albensi and Mattson, 2000, Stellwagen and Malenka, 2006) (Figure 1.1, Table 1.2). This complex and divergent role of TNF- α is mediated by its signalling through its main receptors, TNF-R1 and TNF-R2. TNF- α can function both in a neuroprotective manner as well as in a neurodegenerative manner based on its expression and the receptor through which it signals (Horiuchi et al., 2010). The following sections detail the neurobiology of TNF- α from expression to signalling patterns in physiologically unchallenged as well as pathological conditions.



Figure 1.1: Illustration of the differential expression of TNF-α by astrocytes and microglia

Legend: The figure demonstrates how TNF- α , produced by astrocytes and microglia is required for cognition at moderate levels by aiding hippocampal development and synaptic signalling. While an over-expression of the protein causes increased intercellular cell adhesion molecule (ICAM) production, resulting in cognitive decline. Similarly a lack of TNF- α causes death of nerve growth factor (NGF) dependent neurons and affects cognition. This shows that basal levels of TNF are required for memory and learning and a disruption in this causes cognitive dysfunction.

Neurobiology of TNF-α in the CNS

The pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α is a member of the TNF- α super family of ligands (Aggarwal, 2003, Juhasz et al., 2013) (Wajant et al., 2003). It is synthesized in its pro form as a monomeric type-2 transmembrane protein (tmTNF. 26kDa) and is inserted into the cell membrane and cleaved to its soluble form (solTNF, 17kDa) by a matrix metalloprotease TNF- α converting enzyme (TACE/ADAM17) (Aggarwal, 2003, Juhasz et al., 2013). Both forms of TNF- α are biologically active and are produced in the CNS by astrocytes, microglia as well as neurons (Lieberman et al., 1989, Li et al., 2008, McCoy and Tansey, 2008). TmTNF acts by cell-to-cell contact whereas solTNF acts at distant sites (Perez et al., 1990). Of note, TmTNF allows bi-directional signalling during an inflammatory response, by transmitting information to other cells by binding as a ligand to TNF- α receptors, but also functioning as a receptor transmitting reverse signals to tmTNF containing cells (Alexopoulou et al., 1997).

TNF-α signals mainly through two receptors, TNF-R1 (TNFRSF1A/p55) and TNF-R2 (TNFSFR1B/p75) (Kassiotis and Kollias, 2001), with sTNF-α preferentially binding to TNF-R1 (Grell et al., 1998) and TmTNF to TNF-R2 (Bazzoni and Beutler, 1996). Both receptors are expressed on a variety of cell types; TNF-R1 is expressed by all nucleated cells including neurons while TNF-R2 is expressed by immune cells, endothelial cells, microglia and cells of the hematopoietic lineage as well as some neurons (Kinouchi et al., 1991, Grell et al., 1998).

STUDY			
REFERENCE	MODEL	ANALYSIS	RESULT
(Golan et al., 2004)	C57/BL6 mice and TNF ^{-/-} mice.	ELISA: Serum protein analysis of NGF, BDNF, TNF-α IHC: Dendritic tree of hippocampal neurons IHC: staining for BDNF and NGF in medial hippocampal slices Cognitive Testing: Morris Water Maze Open Field Test Elevated Plus Maze Hole Board	Associated with reduced BDNF levels and branching of apical dendrites in CA1 and CA3 regions of hippocampus
(Baune et al., 2008)	C57/BL6 mice, TNF ^{-/-} mice, TNF -R1 ^{-/-} and TNF -R2 ^{-/-} mice	Cognitive Testing: Novel Object Recognition Open Field Test; Barnes Maze Gene Expression: PCR of brain stem, hippocampus, cerebellum and frontal cortex. CBA for IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL- 12p70	Basal levels of TNF-α under non-inflammatory conditions are required for normal learning and memory
(McAfoose et al., 2009)	TNF ^{-/-} mice, C57/BL6 mice	Cognitive Testing: Barnes Maze	Absences of TNF-α with increasing age is protective of age-related memory decline
(Kassiotis and Kollias, 2001)	TNF ^{-/-} mice and C57/BL6 mice, TNF -R1 ^{-/-}	Flow Cytometry of spleen cells using FACSCalibur	TNF-α is required for down- regulation of T-cell responses against myelin antigens in EAE

Table 1.1: Studies on TNF^{-/-} and TNF receptor knockout mice

Legend: The table shows studies conducted on TNF^{-/-} and TNF- α receptor deficient mice in understanding CNS disorders.

TNF-R1 Signalling Pathway

TNF-R1 is characterised by the presence of a death domain (DD) that distinguishes it from TNF-R2. The presence of the DD allows TNF-R1 to dissociate silencer of death domain (SODD) and subsequently activates TNF- α receptor associated death domain (TRADD) (Chen and Goeddel, 2002). TRADD activation results in the recruitment and activation of three proteins, Fas-associated death domain (FADD), receptor interacting protein (RIP) and TNF- α receptor associated factor 2 (TRAF2) (Hsu et al., 1995, Hsu et al., 1996) each leading to different signalling cascades (Figure 1.2).

FADD activation leads to recruitment of caspase 8 resulting in activation of an apoptotic pathway (Micheau and Tschopp, 2003). TRAF2 activates a mitogen associated protein kinase kinase kinase (MAPKKK or MAP3K) to ultimately activate c-Jun-NH₂ terminal kinase (JNK) and c-Jun. RIP activation is responsible for the activation of NFkB pathway by activation of MEKK3 a mitogen kinase that degrades inhibitor of kappa B kinase (IKK) (Chen and Goeddel, 2002).

Extensive crosstalk occurs between these three pathways. The recruitment of the TRADD associated pathways results in further recruitment of cellular inhibitor of apoptosis 1 and 2 (cIAP 1, 2) resulting in downstream activation of JNK pathway (Winston et al., 1995, Shu et al., 1996). Acute activation of JNK activation is cytoprotective, however chronic activation of the pathway leads to caspase dependent apoptosis (Tobiume et al., 2001).

NFκB is expressed in the cytoplasm and is maintained in its inactive form by inhibitor of kappa B (IκB). IKKs on activation phosphorylate IκB allowing NFκB to migrate to the nucleus to modulate transcription of genes involved in neuroprotective

or neurodegenerative processes (Ghosh and Karin, 2002). NFκB also regulates genes involved in synaptic plasticity, spatial memory and cell proliferation (*For review see (Camandola and Mattson, 2007)*). It also protects cells from apoptosis but cross talk with the FADD pathway in chronic conditions results in caspase activation causing cleavage and degradation of RIP that is essential to NFκB signalling (Chen and Goeddel, 2002). This demonstrates a complex interaction between the downstream signalling pathways of TNF-R1 activated signalling.



Figure 1.2: TNF- α signalling in the CNS

Legend: The figure shows the signal transduction pathway for TNF- α . TNF- α acts via two different receptors TNF-R1 and TNF-R2 and exerts either positive or negative neurobiological processes depending on the downstream pathway.

TNF-R2 Signalling Pathway

TNF-R2 due to its presence on limited type of cells (immune, endothelial and microglial cells), demonstrates fewer biological effects than TNF-R1 and does not induce caspase dependent apoptosis (Grell et al., 1998). TNF-R2 is shown to activate TRAF-1 and TRAF-2 proteins resulting in NF κ B and clAP activation respectively, thus showing overlapping effects with TNF-R1 (Rothe et al., 1995). Additionally this receptor also activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase dependent NF κ B signalling which protects neurons from glutamate induced excitotoxicity, giving evidence to the neuroprotective effects that have been observed with TNF-R2 signalling (Marchetti et al., 2004) (Figure 1.2). Thus the conditions under which TNF- κ is produced – normal physiological or pathological - will determine its subsequent binding to the appropriate receptor and dictate its neurobiological functions.

TNF-α Signalling and Neuroplasticity

The neurobiological effects of TNF- α in the CNS extend from its ability to influence synaptic scaling as well as influence neurogenesis to neurotrophin production (Figure 1.3). Long term potentiation and depression, the strengthening and weakening respectively of synaptic connections are a form of Hebbian plasticity and are believed to be the synaptic model of memory and learning processes (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993). Hebbian plasticity is maintained by regulating the strength of synaptic input and neuronal excitation. This is known as homeostatic synaptic plasticity or synaptic scaling and is defined by changes in surface expression of α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPARs) at the synaptic junction. (*For review see* (Wang et al., 2012)).

Glutamate is the main excitatory neurotransmitter and is required for memory formation, learning and synaptic plasticity. It mediates this through the action of its receptors AMPARs and N-Methyl-D-Aspartate receptors (NMDARs) (Stellwagen et al., 2005). Additionally glutamate produced NMDAR can activate NF κ B (Lipsky et al., 2001). Animal studies in vitro have shown that astrocytic released TNF- α causes trafficking of AMPARs, in primary cell cultures and hippocampal slices (Beattie et al., 2002) by acting directly on neurons as well as by decreasing the expression of inhibitory γ amino butyric acid (GABA) receptors (Stellwagen et al., 2005). Interestingly this effect on AMPARs seems to be specific to TNF- α but not to other cytokines and is mediated through TNF- α receptor, TNF-R1 but not TNR-R2 (Stellwagen et al., 2005). This interaction between TNF- α and glutamate receptors denotes a possible role of TNF- α in AMPAR dependent long term potentiation (LTP) and long term depression (LTD), the underlying mechanisms of learning and memory (Stellwagen and Malenka, 2006). Furthermore TNF-α increases amplitude of miniature excitatory post-synaptic currents (mEPSC) and decreases miniature inhibitory post synaptic currents (mIPSC) (Beattie et al., 2002, Stellwagen et al., 2005). However, chronic increase in levels of TNF-α, in pathological conditions, inhibits LTP in the CA1 region and dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (Butler et al., 2004). TNF-α inhibits synaptic scaling through activation of NFκB pathways (Albensi and Mattson, 2000, Bolshakov et al., 2000), c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) (Wang et al., 2004) and p38 MAPK pathway (Bolshakov et al., 2000). The p38 MAP kinase pathways is a signal transduction pathway that regulates inflammatory processes of cell death as well as playing a role in growth and differentiation (Ono and Han, 2000), *For review see* (Pickering et al., 2005). These results demonstrate how chronic inflammation causes the neuroprotective effects of TNF-α to switch to neurodegenerative.

The influence of TNF- α in the CNS further extends to neurotrophin production and expression. Nerve growth factor (NGF), brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3), and neurotrophin-4 (NT-4) all derived from a common ancestral gene, are similar in sequence and structure, and are therefore collectively named neurotrophins (Hallbook, 1999). Neurotrophic factors are involved in growth, maintenance and differentiation of neurons (Huang and Reichardt, 2001). They are important regulators of neural survival, development, function, and plasticity (Lewin and Barde, 1996, Sofroniew et al., 2001). NGF and other neurotrophins are synthesized in nerves and are believed to be essential for survival and the regeneration of sensory and sympathetic neurons (Henderson, 1996) as well as of injured neurons (Huang and Reichardt, 2001). TNF- α has the ability to act in a positive or negative manner on neurotrophin synthesis in a dose dependent manner (Aloe et al., 1999).



Figure 1.3: Role of TNF- α in neurotrophin production and hippocampal memory and learning

Legend: The figure shows how basal levels of TNF- α are required for the production of brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and nerve growth factor (NGF). BDNF and NGF in turn are required for long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD), the molecular basis of memory and learning. An over-expression of TNF- α causes LTP and LTD to be altered, consequently altering memory and learning.

NGF exerts its effects by binding to two receptors, the $p140^{TrkA}$ receptor that is specific to NGF and the $p75^{NTR}$ receptor that is common to all neurotrophins. The $p75^{NTR}$ receptor is a member of the TNF- α receptor super family and can bind to the

p140^{TrkA} receptor to enhance the responsiveness of NGF. In the absence of p140^{TrkA} , p75^{NTR} can induce apoptosis. In the CNS, inflammation causes glial cells and immune cells to produce NGF (Takei and Laskey, 2008). The close association with TNF- α , glia, and neurons, led to the proposal of a positive feedback loop of NGF synthesis; NGF expression by glia could lead to the production of TNF- α , similarly TNF- α produced by neurons and glia could further activate other inflammatory cells to release NGF (Takei and Laskey, 2011). In the presence of NGF, TNF-α activates TNF-R2 however in the absence of NGF, TNF-R1 is activated (Takei and Laskey, 2011). However it was shown that in the absence of TNF- α (TNF^{-/-} mice), the expression of NGF was increased compared to WT mice; Additionally this increase in the levels of NGF was accompanied with better hippocampal development characterised by higher cell density in the hilus of the dentate gyrus, suggesting that in the absence of TNF- α other pro-inflammatory cytokines could possibly activate microglia to produce NGF (Golan et al., 2004). TNF-a further influences the production of BDNF, a modulator of synaptic plasticity and neuronal morphology (Golan et al., 2004, Saha et al., 2006a). An in vitro study showed that astrocytic TNF-α causes BDNF levels to increase through activation of NFκB transcription factor (Saha et al., 2006a). In support of this finding it was shown in mice that TNF-α deprivation in the hippocampus caused BDNF levels to be low resulting in decreased dendritic branching in the CA1 and CA3 region of the hippocampus leading to improper development of the hippocampus and subsequently cognitive dysfunction (Golan et al., 2004). These studies demonstrate the complex interaction between TNF-α receptor signalling and the effects that downstream proteins, like NFκB have on neurotrophins production. This relationship between TNF- α and neurotrophins

demonstrates the direct or indirect role that TNF- α plays in hippocampal development and neurogenesis.

TNF- α Signalling in the Progression and Development of Cognitive Functions in Disorders Linked to the CNS

Neuropsychiatric conditions could originate from and often result in neural degeneration and increased inflammation in the CNS as well as in the periphery (Streit et al., 2004). An exaggerated expression of TNF- α is found to be a common pathological feature in diseases with cognitive impairments such as depression, schizophrenia and multiple sclerosis (Sharief and Hentges, 1991, Potvin et al., 2008, Khairova et al., 2009). The following sections focus more elaborately on studies that demonstrate how this up-regulation of TNF-a acts on the progression and development of these conditions and the possible mechanisms through which TNF-a influences the cognitive deficits seen in the mentioned illnesses. Table 1.3 summarises some important studies providing evidence for the effect of increased or reduced and expression of TNF-α within the CNS respectively. no

Table 1.2: Studies on the effects of over-expression and under/no expression of TNF- α in the CNS

STUDY	MODEL	EXPRESSION	ANALYSIS	RESULT
(Akassoglou et al., 1997)	Transgenic mice; GFAP- TNF- α ^{+/+}	Over-expression of TNF-α within the brain (Astrocyte specific)	IHC and histological staining: of astrocytes in the brain and spinal cord.	Mice developed neuronal disease. Increased ICAM and VCAM production
(Selmaj et al., 1991)	Human: post-mortem MS tissue.	-	IHC: of MS plaque tissue samples with GFAP antibody	TNF-α detected in acute MS lesions with astrocyte, endothelial and macrophage morphology
	PBMC isolates from patients with progressive and relapsing MS.		FACS and Immunoflorescent: staining of PBMC for TNF	Higher levels of TNF-α in PBMC FACS analysis in patients compared to controls. (not significant)
(Fiore et al., 1996)	Tg6074 mice (over-produce TNF-α) and C57/BL6 mice	Over-expression of TNF-α	Cognitive Testing: Open Field Test Passive Avoidance Test Hot Plate Test	Kyphosis, ataxia, seizures, poor learning and memory in transgenic mice
(Dean et al., 2010)	Human, post-mortem study	-	Western Blot Analysis: solTNF and tmTNF in BA24 and BA46	High concentration of transmembrane TNF-α in dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, BA46 (area associated with cognition.)

(Grassi-Oliveira et al., 2009)	Patients clinically depressed; plasma analysis	-	ELISA: Plasma analysis of TNF-α, TNF-R1 and TNF-R2	High levels of TNF-α and its receptors in plasma of patients with major depressive disorder compared to controls
			ELISA: Serum protein analysis of NGF, BDNF, TNF-α	
(Golan et al., 2004)	C57/BL6 mice and TNF ^{-/-} mice	Low/no expression of TNF-α	IHC: Dendritic tree of hippocampal neurons; staining for BDNF and NGF in medial hippocampal slices	High NGF in young mice compared to wild type mice
			Cognitive Testing: Morris Water Maze, Open Field Test, Elevated Plus Maze, Hole Board	
			Cognitive Testing: Novel Object	
(Baune et al., 2008)			Open Field Test, Barnes Maze	
	C57/BL6 mice, TNF ^{-/-} mice, TNF -R1 ^{-/-} and TNF -R2 ^{-/-} mice	Low/no expression of TNF-α and its receptors TNF-R1 and TNF-R2		Poor memory and learning in TNF
			Gene Expression: PCR of brain stem,	adult mice compared to wild type adult
			hippocampus, cerebellum and frontal	
			CBA for IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12p70	

(Kassiotis and Kollias, 2001)	C57/BL6 mice, TNF ^{-/-} mice, TNF -R1 ^{-/-} mice	Low/no expression of TNF-α and its receptor TNF-R1	Flow Cytometry of spleen cells using FACSCalibur	Prevented demyelination but cause an exaggerated T-cell response in mice.
(McAfoose et al., 2009)	TNF ^{-/-} mice, C57/BL6 mice	Low/no expression of TNF-α	Cognitive Testing: Barnes Maze	Cognitive decline in early stages (8- 12weeks of age) with absence of TNF.

Legend: Studies illustrating the effects of over-expression and low/no expression of TNF- α in the CNS

Cognitive Dysfunction as Seen In Depression: Relation to TNF-α Expression

MDD or clinical depression is a neuropsychiatric condition characterised by anhedonia, depressive mood and cognitive dysfunction. Patients with MDD have shown increased levels of inflammatory markers and macrophage activation (Khairova et al., 2009, Schmidt et al., 2011) in the periphery as well as in the CNS (Zorrilla et al., 2001, Miller et al., 2009). It is suggested that chronic stress and its association with inflammation (Eyre and Baune, 2011) is found to suppress adult neurogenesis (Mirescu and Gould, 2006) and is thought to be another precursor for the onset of depression (Leonard and Myint, 2009).

Increase in peripheral blood cytokine levels induced by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or *Salmonella typhi* vaccination in healthy individuals caused symptoms of depression as well as fatigue, psychomotor slowing (Brydon et al., 2008) and mental confusion (Reichenberg et al., 2001, Miller et al., 2009). These findings are consistent with animal studies demonstrating that the up-regulation of cytokines is related to sickness-like behavioural symptoms of anhedonia and dysfunction in cognition like behaviour (Dantzer et al., 2008, Miller et al., 2009). Both pre-clinical and clinical studies have demonstrated that cytokines, particularly TNF- α and IL-6 are up-regulated in MDD (Howren et al., 2009, Miller et al., 2009, Dowlati et al., 2010, Schmidt et al., 2011). Under normal conditions, TNF- α is required for neurogenesis and the development of memory and learning, as shown by murine studies (Bernardino et al., 2008, Miller et al., 2009). However, continual exposure to these cytokines results in decreased neurogenesis, apoptosis and cognitive dysfunction (Tilleux and Hermans, 2007, Li et al., 2008, Miller et al., 2009).

A recent animal study showed that TNF- α administered through the intracerebroventricular region (ICV) produced depressive-like behaviour in mice (Kaster et al.). In another animal study which tested the effects of stress and depression on cytokine expression, higher levels of TNF- α and IL-1 β mRNA were found in the cortex, spleen and hippocampus of stressed rats while anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and transforming growth factor (TGF) and neurotrophins such as BDNF were reduced (You et al., 2011). Once at extremely low concentrations, BDNF causes depolarization and modulates LTP of hippocampal neurons (Golan et al., 2004) (Kafitz et al., 2000).

TNF- α can further influence astrocytes and microglia to release nitrogen and oxygen reactive species that cause oxidative stress to neurons and glial cells (Tilleux and Hermans, 2007, Gavillet et al., 2008, Li et al., 2008, Miller et al., 2009). Such oxidative damage is particularly noticeable in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) and the amygdala (Ongur et al., 1998, Hamidi et al., 2004, Miller et al., 2009), both of which are areas relevant to cognitive and emotional processing and are impaired in depression. Increased microglial activation was also observed in the PFC and hippocampus in post-mortem analysis of suicide patients compared to control subjects (Steiner et al., 2008); lending further evidence to the role of TNF- α in depression.

The role of various cytokines involved in MDD can be explained by the strong inter-relationships between both, anti and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Cytokines respond in an autocrine and paracrine manner to trauma and infection and have strong inter-relationships with each other. Pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF- α and IL-1 β are among the first to be released to the site of infection,

this causes IL-6 to be activated, which in turn regulates both pro and antiinflammatory functions (Radtke et al., 2010). Some of the anti-inflammatory functions of IL-6 are, that it does not induce cyclooxygenase activity and does not produce metalloproteases that can cause tissue degradation (Barton, 1998). In chronic inflammatory conditions however, IL-6 can act in a proinflammatory and can induce the production of acute phase proteins as well as development of humoral and cell mediated immunity by stimulating B cell and T cell production (Gabay, 2006). IL-6 signalling in-turn is negatively regulated by suppressor of cytokine signalling (SOCS3) (Starr et al., 1997). Interestingly TNF- α can induce SOCS3 in macrophages while IL-1 β can counteract IL-6 signaling by reducing its gene expression by acting on target promoters (Bode et al., 1999, Zhang and Fuller, 2000), suggesting that TNF-a and IL-18 can both promote and suppress IL-6 expression depending on the situation. While IL-2 can also induce IL-6 production in monocytes (Musso et al., 1992). IL-2 can also negatively regulate II6ra (encoding II-6 receptor alpha) and II6st (encoding IL-6 signal transducer gp130) and consequently decrease IL-6 responsiveness (Liao et al., 2011). IFN-y on the other hand does not induce IL-6 despite being able to modulate the expression of genes in monocytes (Radzioch and Varesio, 1991). Interestingly IFN-y can inhibit IL-6 production when induced by IL-1 β but not IL-2 (Musso et al., 1992). IFN-y can also induce TNF- α production in macrophages (Winston et al., 1999).

Cognitive Impairment Seen in Schizophrenia and Its Association with TNF-a

Schizophrenia is regarded as a neurodegenerative disorder originally termed "dementia praecox" (Lieberman, 1999). The symptom complexes are distinguished into positive symptoms (hallucinations, delusions, and movement and thought disorders) and negative symptoms (anhedonia, listlessness) as well as cognitive dysfunction like impairment in working memory, attention and social problem solving (Niitsu et al., 2011). Cognitive impairments usually precede the onset of positive and negative symptoms (Arguello and Gogos, 2010).

Recent evidence points to increased inflammation occurring in the CNS as well as the periphery of schizophrenic patients suggesting a role of cytokines like IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α in schizophrenia (Muller et al., 2000, Drzyzga et al., 2006, Potvin et al., 2008). Serum cytokine levels of patients with chronic schizophrenia to normal healthy controls showed significantly higher levels of TNF- α in patients (Theodoropoulou et al., 2001) higher concentrations of soluble TNF-R1 and TNF–R2 (Coelho et al., 2008). Studies have shown that polymorphisms in the –G308A TNF- α gene is possibly involved in the aetiology of schizophrenia (Wilson et al., 1997, Boin et al., 2001, Schwab et al., 2003). Furthermore, TNF- α is located on the short arm of chromosome 6 (6p21.1-21.3), a locus that is predisposed to schizophrenia (Shi et al., 2009, Ingason et al., 2011).

A possible mechanism through which cytokines including TNF-α exert effects in schizophrenia is via Neuregulin 1, which is considered to be involved in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia (Stefansson et al., 2002). Under normal conditions, the Neuregulin1 gene (Nrg1) along with its receptor erbB4 are essential for myelination, plasticity as well as LTP formation by acting on post synaptic NMDARs and AMPARs (Stefansson et al., 2002, Li et al., 2007), thereby underlining an important role in cognitive function. Studies of plasma cytokine levels in families having the Nrg1, V>L mutation (Valine to Leucine mutation is associated with a higher risk for schizophrenia), showed that high levels of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10 and TNF- α were associated with Ngr1 mutation suggesting a relationship between Nrg1 mutation and peripheral cytokine expression (Marballi et al., 2010).

There have been conflicting results regarding the association between TNF- α polymorphisms and TNF- α expression. Among the different variants of the TNF- α polymorphisms, the polymorphism located on the single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) -308 (G/A) has been most extensively studied (Wilson et al., 1997, Elahi et al., 2009). This biallelic base-exchange polymorphism contains 2 variants - one with a guanine, G (TNF1) and the less common one with an adenine A (TNF2), both at the -308 positions. The TNF2 allele has in some studies been associated with increased expression of TNF-a whilst others report no difference between levels of transcription of TNF-a with either the -308A or -308G alleles (Galinanes et al., 2008, Taudorf et al., 2008). A significant increase in the frequency of TNF2 allele has been noted in schizophrenic patients compared to healthy controls, along with homozygosity of TNF2 but not TNF1 (Boin et al., 2001). In MDD, some studies have reported higher recurrence of the GG genotype of the -308 polymorphism (Omrani et al., 2009, Cerri et al., 2010, Kim et al., 2013) but not the AA genotype, while others report a higher relationship between AA alleles of TNF -308 SNP and MDD (Jun et al., 2003)

31

A BDNF associated pathway could be another avenue through which TNF- α may exert effects in schizophrenia. A post-mortem analysis of hippocampal tissue revealed lower BDNF levels in schizophrenia patients compared to controls (Durany et al., 2001). The reduced expression of BDNF in the hippocampus could be due to the effects of TNF- α exerts on hippocampal BDNF levels (Golan et al., 2004). Since BDNF in turn is required for pyramidal cell morphogenesis in the CA1 and CA3 regions of the hippocampus (Golan et al., 2004), it can be suggested that increased TNF- α in schizophrenia has effects on the cognitive symptom spectrum of the disease. These findings are consistent with recent a meta-analysis showing reduced serum BDNF levels in chronic untreated schizophrenia patients (Green et al., 2011).

TNF-α Associated Cognitive Dysfunction in MS

MS is an autoimmune neurodegenerative diseases characterized by demyelination and axonal loss of neurons in the central nervous system as well as gliosis of oligodendrocytes (Lassmann et al., 2001). This demyelination affects the ability of neurons to communicate with each other resulting in a loss of sensory and motor function. The disease is associated with a large spectrum of symptoms that include muscle weakness, ataxia, dysarthria (caused by demyelination of neurons in the spinal cord), optic neuritis as well as significant cognitive impairment, especially memory impairments (Mandolesi et al., 2010). MS pathology is associated with inflammation which is characterized by increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, particularly of TNF- α – both in the CNS as well as the periphery (Sharief and Hentges, 1991). In humans, higher levels of TNF- α were observed in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of patients with chronic progressive MS as opposed to patients with stable MS. Furthermore, these elevated cytokine levels correlated with the degree of disability (Sharief and Hentges, 1991). In animal model of MS (experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, EAE), TNF- α is predominately produced by infiltrating T cells and macrophages as well as resident microglial cells and a neutralization results in amelioration of the neurological symptoms such as paralysis (Ruddle et al., 1990, Renno et al., 1995, Korner and Sedgwick, 1996, Korner et al., 1997b). This observation together with high numbers of TNF-α positive astrocytes and microglia gave reason to assume that TNF-a is directly involved in the progression of MS (Kuroda and Shimamoto, 1991, Selmaj et al., 1991). Nevertheless, an essential role for TNF- α was also shown in down-regulating and inactivating detrimental autoimmune T cell response against myelin antigens and

protecting from chronic EAE (Barten and Ruddle, 1994). Interestingly, high levels of TNF-a caused inactivation of deleterious auto-specific T cell responses but resulted in progression of disease and excessive demyelination, whereas lower TNF- α levels prevented excessive demyelination but caused exaggerated T cell responses (Kassiotis and Kollias, 2001). The availability of gene-deficient mice (TNF^{-/-}) allowed experiments that demonstrated that TNF- α is required during the initial stages of the disease. MOG-immunized mice showed delayed onset and a milder course of the disease compared to WT mice suggesting that the cytokine may be required for leukocyte activation during initial stages rather than having a specific role in the progression of the disease. This hypothesis was strengthened by findings that at the peak of EAE, inflammation in WT and TNF^{-/-} mice was comparable and both strains exhibited a perivascular and sub-meningeal infiltration of CD45+ cells as well as microglial activation (Korner et al., 1997c). Additionally, a dual role for TNF-a receptors was established in the EAE model. TNF-R2^{-/-} mice showed increased demyelination compared to TNF-R1^{-/-}, and TNF- α double knockout mice (TNF-R1/R2^{-/-}) mice, along with increased infiltration of CD4+ and MHC II cells, supporting a neuroprotective role of R2 receptor (Suvannavejh et al., 2000).

In EAE learning and memory is impaired (D'Intino et al., 2005). Post-mortem hippocampal analysis of the mice in this study (D'Intino et al., 2005) revealed a decrease in the levels of choline acetyl transferase (ChAT) and NGF expression in the hippocampus, especially in the late phase of the disease. Animal studies using the Barnes Maze (cognitive testing tool to measure spatial memory and leaning in mice) could correlate impairment in cognition like behaviour with morphological changes in these mice such as low CA1 volume and high apoptosis of CA1

hippocampal neurons measured by increased levels of TUNEL cells (apoptotic cells) as wells as high microglial activation (Ziehn et al., 2010). The cognitive deficits observed in these mice which were potentially caused by the effects of the auto-inflammation on the hippocampus and other limbic structures was linked to the effects of TNF- α dependent de-regulation on neurotrophic expression as well as on LTP and LTD formation. Neuroimaging studies have supported these findings and have revealed that MS lesions are associated with a decrease in volume of hippocampal structures as well as cingulate gyrus and prefrontal cortex (Roosendaal et al., 2010).

TNF-α Contributes to Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Rheumatoid Arthritis

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a systemic autoimmune disease that manifests itself by inflammation of the synovial joints (Cuzzocrea et al., 2005). Additionally, the disease is also characterised by cognitive impairments and depression (Hider et al., 2009). An involvement of the peripheral nervous system (Lanzillo et al., 1998) has been reported however there is still debate about the involvement of the CNS (Ando et al., 1995).

Studies have demonstrated that there is an up-regulation of TNF-α in the synovial fluid, as well as over-expression of S100B protein (produced by astrocytes) and neuron specific enolases; all of which are thought to be correlates of neurodegeneration and brain injury (Hamed et al., 2011). The up-regulation of these proteins coincides with poor cognitive performance; cognitive testing of women with RA correlated low mini-mental state examination scores with high levels of S100B protein (Hamed et al., 2011). The cognitive deficits observed in RA were further clarified by another study which demonstrated RA patients exhibiting significantly poorer performance in verbal fluency, logic memory and short term memory than healthy controls (Appenzeller et al., 2004).

The impairments in cognition could be related to the pain associated with RA. In a rat model of adjuvant arthritis, rats showed increased sensitivity to pain and in parallel, poor performance in the Morris water maze compared to controls (Skurlova et al., 2010). Human studies assessing the effects of RA pain on cognition also found that pain was associated with poorer performance in executive functioning tasks (Roldan-Tapia et al., 2007, Abeare et al., 2010). Alternatively, progression of the disease and cognitive dysfunction could be attributed to the effects of TNF- α .

Animal studies have shown that TNF- α over-expression causes advancement of the disease state. Mice deficient in secreted soluble TNF- α but over-expressing transmembrane TNF- α , demonstrated a faster disease progression compared to WT mice. The transgenic mice developed deep dermal or subcutaneous inflammation with the appearance of activated macrophages in synovial fluid (Edwards et al., 2006).

The behavioural deficits seen in RA could also be attributed to a combination of the actions of TNF- α and NGF. Studies conducted by Aloe et al have shown high levels of NGF in the synovial joints of human RA sufferers (Aloe et al., 1992a) and murine models of RA (Aloe et al., 1992b). In Tg197 mice that carry a TNF- α transgene and develop symptoms of RA, anti-NGF treatment was carried out by intra peritoneal (IP) injection, a decrease in the thickness of the synovial cell layer was demonstrated, but anti-NGF treatment also resulted loss of weight and ultimately death, which was not observed in mice that underwent anti-TNF- α therapy (Aloe et al., 1993). Flow cytometry analysis revealed an increase of expression of NGF in CD3+ and CD14+ cells, as well as TNF-R2 mRNA and TrkB receptor of NGF suggesting lymphocytes and myeloid cells are both source and target of TNF- α in RA (Barthel et al., 2009).

Recent studies by Chen et al (Chen et al., 2010) and Uguz et al (Uguz et al., 2009), showed that anti- TNF- α therapy improved cognitive dysfunction in patients suffering from RA. Therefore, anti- TNF- α therapy could potentially be used as a therapeutic method to reverse the deficits in cognition experienced by RA patients.

Conclusions and Future Directions

Though the major factors that play a role in TNF- α signalling have been identified, the exact mechanisms of their actions are yet to be determined. Further work needs to be done to elucidate the exact mechanisms and signalling pathways that involve TNF- α dependent production of neurotrophins.

Due to the up-regulated pro-inflammatory environment developed in the above mentioned conditions, the use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs is gaining some momentum as a treatment modality. A range of biological antagonists is available such as Infliximab, a chimeric bivalent IgG1 monoclonal antibody composed of a human constant region and murine variable regions, Adalimumab a humanized bivalent mouse IgG1 monoclonal antibody, and etanercept a fusion protein comprised of human IgG fused to a dimer of the extracellular regions of TNF-R2. Additionally anti-TNF- α therapy is being considered as an option in improving post–operative cognitive dysfunction (Terrando et al., 2010). The outcome of anti-TNF- α , etanercept treatment further extend to anti-depressant effects in non-inflammatory conditions (Bayramgurler et al., 2013a, Bayramgurler et al., 2013b, Krugel et al., 2013)

However, there are two problems with these techniques. First the BBB prevents a deep penetration into the CNS tissue and second, while basal levels of TNF- α are still required for normal functioning, animal models have shown that the complete lack of TNF- α due to genetic modification results in cognitive impairment (Baune et al., 2008). This is possibly due to the influence that TNF- α exerts on neurotrophins - NGF and BDNF. An imbalance in TNF- α causes subsequent deregulation in these neurotrophins ultimately leading to morphological changes in the

hippocampus such as decreased arborisation of pyramidal neurons (Golan et al., 2004).

Additionally, the role TNF-α plays in LTP and LTD formation by up-regulation of AMPA receptors (Beattie et al., 2002) and endocytosis of GABA receptors (Stellwagen et al., 2005) is crucial in the development of synaptic neuroplasticity related memory and learning (McAfoose and Baune, 2009). Therefore, though complete blockage may prove to be initially beneficial, long-term negative effects may manifest and make further research into these effects necessary.

The complex signalling pathways of TNF- α and its receptors and the duality of its function in being both neuroprotective and neurodegenerative make for a compelling argument against the validity and long-term benefits of anti-TNF- α therapies. TNF- α may both exacerbate and attenuate cognitive dysfunction depending on the physiological context (Peschon et al., 1998, Longhi et al., 2008). Clearer perspectives into TNF- α signalling and pharmacological interventions that can target specific apoptotic factors in the TNF- α receptor associated pathways (Figure. 1.2), rather than complete blockage of TNF- α or of its receptors would make for more effective therapeutics in treatment of neurological disorders in which TNF- α is an active participant.
Thesis Hypothesis and Aims

In order to better understand the implications of lack and over-expression of TNF- α on various behavioural phenotypes, and to add to the ever-increasing body of literature surrounding TNF- α signalling, this thesis was developed with the following hypothesis in mind:

De-regulation in the expression of TNF- α by genetic alterations (up-regulation and down-regulation) of the genes coding for TNF- α and its receptors will result in behavioural and neurobiological changes within the CNS

To test this hypothesis, several aims were developed and were tested in mice.

- To study the effects of genetic deletion of TNF-α and its receptors on behavioural phenotypes as well as neurotrophin expression in young adult mice
- To study the effects of knockout of TNF-α and its receptors on behaviour and neurobiology of mid-adult mice
- To determine the behavioural and neurobiological effects of pharmacological blockade of TNF-α in the CNS of young adult immune activated mice
- 4. To determine the effects of over-expression of TNF- α in a mouse model of CNS specific TNF- α up-regulation, on the behaviour and neurobiology of mice

Each of these aims will now be described in the chapters that follow.

Chapter 2 : Materials and Methods

Background on Methodology

The use of animal models to study various ailments and disorders is extensive, and mice share many physiological characteristics with humans spanning from the anatomical to the molecular level. Behavioural phenotypes in mice appear to be similar to humans and mice demonstrate similar responses to humans in regards to anxiety, social interaction, cognition, sexual behaviour as well as circadian rhythms (Van Meer and Raber, 2005, Baker, 2013). These factors make it easier to draw parallels and translate animal research to humans. The relatively short life cycle and the easy handling, as well as low costs, make mice the perfect candidates for studying behaviour not only in pathological and immune challenged conditions but also under normal physiological conditions.

Due to the homologous nature of human and animal genomes much work has focussed on altering the genomes of mice to study a variety of disorders (Abbott, 2010). The use of transgenic mice in medical research has gained popularity (Houdebine, 2007) in the study of disorders on the central nervous system such as mouse models of schizophrenia (O'Donnell, 2013, Suh et al., 2013) and Alzheimer's Disease (Gotz et al., 2004, Spires and Hyman, 2005). The use of knockout mice has also gained impetus in the last few decades and has helped focus research to understanding signalling patterns of genes or proteins of interest (Austin et al., 2004).

My studies were centred on understanding the implications of up-regulation and down-regulation of TNF- α and its receptors, on behavioural and neurobiological phenotypes within the CNS. There appears to be a highly conserved homology between murine and human TNF- α genes. In humans there are 18 gene encoding proteins comprising a conserved carboxy-terminal domain with 150

amino acids (Reed et al., 2003). This domain is called the TNF- α homology domain, and plays a role in ligand trimerization and receptor binding. Comparisons of TNF- α ligand cDNA between human and murines show that all ligands belonging to TNF family are conserved between both species with the exception of AITRL (Reed et al., 2003). Similarly in the case of TNF- α receptor family, humans have 29 genes encoding the TNF- α receptors of which 25 were found in mice that were homologous to humans. Mice lacked the TRAIL receptor DR4, TRAIL decoy receptor DcR1 and DcR2 and the FasL decoy receptor DcR3 (Reed et al., 2003)

To carry out the specific aims that were detailed in the introductory chapter of this thesis, I have made use of various strains of mice that either have deletions of genes coding for TNF- α and its receptor action, or mice strains that involve an upregulation of TNF- α expression *(see appendix)*. For studies detailed in chapters 3 and 4 I have used genetically altered mice having deletions of TNF- α as well as mice having genetic deletions of each of its main receptors (TNF-R1 and TNF-R2). These mice were subject to a comprehensive behavioural testing battery to understand the implications of such a deletion on various behavioural phenotypes. Post behavioural analyses, mice were sacrificed and their hippocampal tissue was collected for protein and immunohistochemical analysis to better understand the neurobiology behind the observed behaviour.

Mice in chapter 3 were tested at 3 months of age to assess how early developmental behavioural phenotypes were affected by lack of normal signalling of TNF- α and its receptors, while in chapter 4, mice of the same strains were aged to 6

months in order to understand the implications of altering TNF- α signalling on behavioural and neurobiological phenotypes in mid-adult mice.

Encouraging results in chapters 3 and 4 showed how a lack of TNF- α and its receptor signalling may be beneficial in improving cognition-like behaviour as well as decreasing depression-like behaviour in adult mice. This prompted the need for moving on to a translational research approach and the effect of blocking TNF- α . It was anticipated that blocking the actions of TNF- α temporarily by pharmacological means, could potentially have benefits in alleviating some of the symptoms that have been seen in disorders of the nervous system that involve a component of TNF- α activation (Baune et al., 2012c, Menachem et al., 2012, Pukhalsky et al., 2012, Luleyap et al., 2013).

Experiments in chapter 5 were carried out by treating groups of the common wild type strain of mice (C57BL/6) with an anti-TNF-α drug, etanercept, following a systemic immune challenge by a bacterial endotoxin (Lipopolysaccharide, LPS). Etanercept is currently being used as a therapeutic to rheumatoid arthritis (Wakabayashi et al., 2011, Morgan et al., 2013) and ankylosing spondylitis (Senabre-Gallego et al., 2013), and is also being tested in Alzheimer's disease (Tobinick et al., 2006, Tobinick, 2010). Most recently the focus of etanercept treatment has shifted to understanding the implications on mood-like behaviour, including anxiety-like and depression-like (Kekow et al., 2011, Haji et al., 2012). Promising results in the use of etanercept in decreasing the symptoms of these behaviour (Bayramgurler et al., 2013a) prompted the development of the study detailed in chapter 5, that tested the efficacy of etanercept on anxiety and cognition-like behaviour in mice receiving a peripheral immune challenge.

Due to the quick turnover of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (Saunders et al., 1999), mice were sacrificed immediately post behavioural testing and within 24 hr of etanercept treatment. Neurobiological evaluations extended to histochemical analyses of astrocytes and microglia to test the hypothesis that LPS treatment, despite being peripherally administered, would activate both astrocytes and microglia whilst etanercept treatment would help reduce these effects of LPS.

The details of the methodology, as well as the rationale for use of each test are detailed below. Furthermore, specific details of the methodology used to investigate each of the aims are specified in each chapter.

Animal Ethics

All experimental protocols were approved by the ethics committees of the University of Adelaide in accordance with the guidelines established for the use of animals in experimental research as outlined by the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council.

Mouse Strains

The C57BL/6 (WT) mice (Jackson stock number: 000664) were used as control mice for experiments detailed in chapters 3 and 4. For experiments detailed in chapter 5, all tests were conducted on this strain of mouse and the mice were allocated different groups based on specific drug treatments. These mice were purchased from the University of Adelaide breeding facility, Adelaide SA.

To understand how targeting TNF- α expression effects behaviour in young and older mice gene-targeted C57BL/6 mouse strain deficient for TNF- α (TNF^{-/-}) were generated on a genetically pure C57BL/6 background as previously described (Korner et al., 1997a) and backcrossed for over 10 generations on a C57BL/6 background. This strain was used for studies described in chapters 3 and 4.

Chapters 3 and 4 also required the use of animal models that targeted each of the TNF-α receptors. TNF-R1^{-/-} (Jackson stock number: 003242) (Peschon et al., 1998) and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice (Jackson stock number: 002620) (Erickson et al., 1994) were both obtained from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME) and were also established on a C57BL/6 background and backcrossed for over 10 generations; these strains were used in previous published studies conducted within this research group (Baune et al., 2008). These mice were used to test the consequences of

targeting individual TNF- α receptors on behaviour and biology of the brain in both, young and adult mice.

All mice strains were inbred in house for over 10 generations on a C57BL/6 background. Mice were housed in groups of three to six mice per cage during the experimental period, with food and water available *ad libitum* and were handled prior to behavioural testing to minimize anxiety during the testing period. Ambient temperature of the housing and testing rooms was $22 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Mice were housed under a 12 hr light-dark cycle, lights on at 0700 hr, and all behavioural testing was conducted between 0800 hr and 1600 hr. Details of the strains and number of mice used in each study have been outlined in Table 2.1

For the experiments detailed in chapter 3, 3 month old mice of all strains were used. This age group was selected in order to understand the early developmental effects of altered TNF- α and TNF- α receptor signalling. The experiments outlined in chapter 4 were conducted as an expansion study on an older subset of the same strains used in chapter 3 (6 month old mice). This was done in order to assess whether ageing mice would alter any of the behavioural and neurobiological phenotypes that were observed in the younger subset of mice (3 month old).

The short study carried out and detailed in chapter 5 was conducted using young adult, 3 month old mice, again to gain an understanding of the implications of pharmacological blockade at a young age.

Due to poor breeding in certain cases within the different strains of mice used in this body of work, as well as attrition of mice, the numbers of mice used were not always similar. Despite this, efforts were made to keep the numbers of mice consistent across studies.

Study (Chapter)	Mouse Strain Used	Number of Mice	Genotype	Phenotype	Age at which Analysed	Pharmacological Treatment
Chapter 3: TNF-α and Its Receptors Modulate Behaviour and Neurotrophins in Knockout Mice	 1. TNF-/- 2. TNF-R1-/- 3. TNF-R2-/- 4. C57BL/6 	1. 14 2. 14 3. 14 4. 21	 TNF-α gene deleted TNF-R1 gene deleted TNF-R2 gene deleted Normal wild type mice 	 Do not express TNF-α Do not express TNF-R1 Do not express TNF-R2 Express all cytokines and receptors normally 	3 months of age for all strains.	NO
Chapter 4: TNF-α and its Receptors Govern Adult Behavioural Phenotypes	 1. TNF-/- 2. TNF-R1-/- 3. TNF-R2-/- 4. C57BL/6 	1. 14 2. 9 3. 14 4. 14	 TNF-α gene deleted TNF-R1 gene deleted TNF-R2 gene deleted Normal wild type mice 	 Do not express TNF-α Do not express TNF-R1 Do not express TNF-R2 Express all cytokines and receptors normally 	6 months of age for all strains.	NO
Chapter 5: Centrally Administered Etanercept on Behaviour Following a Peripheral Immune	C57BL/6 in 4 groups 1. Sal-aCSF 2. LPS-aCSF 3. Sal-Etan	 10 10 10 10 10 10 	 All Normal wild type mice- C57BI/6 	 Express all cytokines and receptors normally 	Analysed at 3 months of age	 Treated with Saline and Artificial CSF) Treated with LPS and Artificial CSF

Challenge	4. LPS-Etan					3. Treated with Saline and
						etanercept
						4. Treated with LPS and
						etanercept
Chapter 6:		1. 14/age				
Characterization of a	1. GFAP-	aroup	1. Over-expression of	1. Over-expression of		
onaracterization of a		gioap		astrocytic TNF-α	Analysed at 3 and 7	
TNF-α over-	TNF+/+	2. N= 21 (3	astrocytic TNF-α	2 Express all outokings and	months of ago	NO
expressing strain	2. C57BL/6	months),	2. Normal wild type mice		monuns or age	
- F J		n=14 (7		receptors normally.		
		months				

Table 2.1: Table summarising the different strains and treatment groups of mice used in the studies outlined in chapters 3-6

Experimental Procedures

Anaesthetics

Isoflurane

The experiments detailed in chapter 5, required mice to be anesthetised during administration of etanercept or artificial CSF in the cerebellar ventricles. In order to perform the procedure anaesthesia was induced by placing mice in a transparent plastic induction chamber with Isoflurane (purchased from Laboratory Animal Services at the University of Adelaide) delivered at 2 % in 800 ml/min O_2 for mice. Maintenance was achieved via a nose cone covering the nose and mouth with 1.5 % Isoflurane at 1 % at 800 ml/min O_2 for mice.

Pentobarbital

For tissue and serum collection from mice, animals were first anaesthetised using Pentobarbital (300 mg/ml) (Troy Laboratories Pty Ltd. NSW). Pentobarbital was purchased from Laboratory Animal Services at the University of Adelaide and stored at room temperature. Animals requiring perfusion and fixation were administered 0.2-0.4 ml of pentobarbital by intraperitoneal injection (IP) via a 25 gauge needle until all responses to pain were abolished. This included checking the animals pedal withdrawal and corneal reflexes.

Drugs

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)

Cell walls of gram negative bacteria are made up of LPS and it has been used extensively to mimic infection in animal studies (Bilbo and Schwarz, 2012). LPS triggers an immune response activating Toll-like receptors, as well as increasing the expression of chemokines and cytokines like TNF- α , IL-1 β , CXCL1 among others, making it an interesting candidate to study immune responses (Golan et al., 2005, Ortega et al., 2011), To induce a systemic inflammatory reaction for experimental procedures detailed in chapter 5, LPS from *Escherichia coli* (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO; 0111:B4) was diluted to 1 mg/kg in saline and injected (IP) at 1400 hr. Control mice were injected with saline only by IP injection. The numbers of mice that were treated with LPS are detailed in chapter 5.

Etanercept

To understand the effects of pharmacological blockade of TNF- α on the behaviour and neurobiology of mice an anti-TNF- α drug (etanercept) was used in the study detailed in chapter 5. Etanercept is a fusion protein of TNF- α receptor type 2 (TNF-R2) coupled to the Fc fragment of human IgG (Grattendick et al., 2008, Tan et al., 2012) (Etanercept; Enbrel, Wyeth-Ayerst laboratories). Etanercept can bind to both solTNF as well as tmTNF in addition to members of the lymphotoxin family (Thalayasingam and Isaacs, 2011). It is currently being used in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (Kekow et al., 2011). Clinical studies into the effects of this drug as a treatment to Alzheimer's disease are presently underway (Tobinick et al., 2006). In the study detailed in chapter 5, I sought to understand not only the implications of

this treatment on cognition-like behaviour, but also on the lesser explored area of anxiety-like behaviour, as well as understanding the implications of TNF- α blockade on expression of TNF- α and its receptors. Due to the large size of etanercept it is unable to cross the blood brain barrier, as such the study required the use of surgery to inject the drug directly into the cerebellar ventricles. Etanercept (25 mg/Kg) was diluted 1:10 in artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF – Composition detailed in Table 2.2) and a total volume of 2 µl was injected by intracerebroventricular injection (ICV) as previously established (Nilsberth et al., 2009).

	WORKING CONC (mm)	1X 1LITER	10X 1LITER	
NaCl	125	7.305	73.05	
KCI	2.5	0.186	1.86	
MgCI.6H ₂ O	1	0.2033	2.033	
NaH₂PO₄	1.25	0.15	1.5	
CaCl ₂ .2H ₂ O	2	0.294	2.94	
NaHCO ₃	25	2.1025	21.025	
Glucose	25	4.505	45.05	
pH with NaOH to 7.3				

Table 2.2: Composition of artificial cerebrospinal fluid

Legend: The table details the composition of artificial cerebrospinal

18 hr post LPS/saline administration, mice were anesthetised with isoflurane (1%), mounted in a stereotaxic frame, and kept at 37°C through a feedback controlled heating pad. A 0.3 mm hole was made at the point relative to Bregma: 1 mm to the right and 0.5 mm posterior to allow injection into the lateral ventricle. A 33 guage needle connected to a 5 µl Hamilton syringe was then lowered 2.5 mm and either etanercept or an equal volume of aCSF (2 µl) injected at a rate of 0.5 µl/min. The needle was then left in place for 2 min, before it was removed and the skin sutured. Mice were then placed in their home-cage on a heat pad to recover, with all animals awake within 5 min after the injection. Once mice had regained normal mobility they were allowed unlimited access to food and water and checked regularly for 24 hr to ensure there were no adverse effects from surgery. Due to the quick turnover of the cerebrospinal fluid (Saunders et al., 1999), behavioural testing commenced 24 hr post-surgery and mice were given up to 2 hr of rest between each test (as each test is run for 5-10 min). Mice were sacrificed immediately post behavioural testing and tissue was collected immediately. Table 2.3 details the experimental schedule.

Day 1	Day 2	Day 3
LPS/ Saline Dosing	etanercept /aCSF Treatment by ICV injection	OFT (9-10am)
		EZM (11-12 am)
		Y maze (1-3pm)
		Tissue Collection

Table 2.3: Weekly dosing and testing schedule for experiments detailed in chapter 5

Legend: The table lists the testing schedule for experiments in chapter 5

Behavioural Analysis

All studies conducted within this PhD were carried out by first, conducting a behavioural assessment on all mice and then subsequent neurobiological assessments were carried out on tissue collected from these mice. Behaviour was evaluated to understand the effects of genetic deletion (chapters 3 and 4) and pharmacological blockade (chapter 5) on normal behavioural phenotypes such as locomotor activity, social behaviour and exploration as well as on more specific phenotypes such as cognition-like behaviour and emotion-like behaviour.

A comprehensive behavioural battery was carried out to assess baseline motor activity, anxiety-like behaviour, depressive-like behaviour, sociability and cognition-like behaviour. Mice were given at least one day off to rest and recover between tests and to reduce anxiety from continuous handling by experimenters. Mice were returned back to their home cage on completion of the test (most tests were run for 5-10 min, details explained in Table 2.6). The testing schedule for experiments detailed in chapters 3, 4 and 6 is explained in Table 2.4. Table 2.3 explains the testing schedule of the study examined in chapter 5. Tests were conducted in order of least to most stressful, to minimise any effects of previous testing (Lad et al., 2010). A single test was not repeated in the same mouse.

	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday/Sunday
Week 1	Home Cage	Rest/Recovery Day	OFT	Rest/Recovery Day	Y maze	Rest/Recovery Day
Week 2	Hole Board Exploration	Rest/Recovery Day	Elevated Zero Maze	Rest/Recovery Day	Sociability Test	Rest/Recovery Day
Week 3	Barnes Maze Pre- training	Barnes Maze training Day 1	Barnes Maze training Day 2	Barnes Maze training Day 3	Barnes Maze training Day 4	Barnes Maze Probe trial x 2 Small room
Week 4	Forced Swim Test	Tissue Collection				

Table 2.4: Behavioural testing schedule for chapters 3, 4 and 6

Legend: The table shows the behavioural testing schedule for experiments detailed in chapters 3, 4 and 6. Mice were tested in groups of 21 over a period of 4 weeks.

Equipment for all tests was purchased from Stoelting Co. (USA) and all movements were tracked using AnyMaze video tracking Stoelting Co. (USA). Parameters that were of interest to each test were generally tracked by the software and raw data was generated by AnyMaze in the form of distance travelled (cm), time spent in the various zone of the apparatus (s) or as latency to particular zones of interest (s). Some tests however required additional manual recording, such as number of head pokes for HBE and time spent in various behaviour such as head dipping and stretch/attend postures for the EZM (s), due to low sensitivity of the software. Table 2.5 summarizes the parameters that were tracked by AnyMaze or that were manually recorded.

Test	Parameters Measured	Automatic Tracking by AnyMaze	Manual Recording by Experimenter
Home Cage	Distance Travelled	Yes	
Open Field Test	Distance Travelled	Yes	
Hole Board Exploration Test	Number of Head Pokes		Yes
Elevated Zero Maze	 Distance Travelled Time In Open Arms Time In Stretch/Attend Posture Time In Head Dipping Behaviour 	1. Yes 2. Yes	3. Yes 4. Yes
Y maze	Time In Arms	Yes	
Barnes Maze	Latency To Escape Box	Yes	
Sociability	Time Spent Interacting With Stranger/Familiar		Yes

Table 2.5: AnyMaze measures tracked for all behavioural tests

Legend: The Table summarises the measures that were automatically tracked using AnyMaze and those that were recorded by hand is also depicted.

Baseline Locomotor Activity

Home Cage Locomotor Activity

Chapters 3 and 4 detail the use of the home cage test. This test is used to track the movements of mice in a familiar setting (Simen et al., 2006). The test is used as a baseline assessment of locomotor activity, and is conducted to verify that differences observed in any tests measuring behavioural phenotypes are true results and not merely a difference in locomotor activity of the groups being tested (Baune et al., 2008, Camara et al., 2013).

Mice were individually tested for general locomotor activity in home cages with two day old bedding under basal non-stressful conditions according to previous published results within this research group (Baune et al., 2008, Camara et al., 2013). The total distance covered by mice over a 5 min period was measured and test mice were compared to WT mice. This was done with the specific aim of determining whether locomotor activity of test mice was normal in the context of the experimental design (Camara et al., 2013).

Open Field Test (OFT)

The open field test was used as measure of baseline а second locomotor activity conducted under more stressful conditions (Simen et al., 2006) and documented in chapters 3-5. The Open Field Test is used to determine normal locomotor activity levels in mice and was used as a as a second measure to validate the observations recorded in the Home Cage test (Camara et al., 2013).

Figure 2.1: Pictorial representation of the open field.



Legend: Mice are allowed to move freely within the chamber for 5min and behaviour is recorded.

Mice were placed at the centre of a brightly lit plexiglass box (40 X 40 cm) and movements were tracked over a 5 min period, a protocol that was previously established within this research group (Baune et al., 2008). AnyMaze was used to track distance travelled by mice within this apparatus and test mice were compared to controls, to gauge normal locomotor behaviour.

Cognition-like Behaviour

To understand the effects of imbalanced expression of TNF- α on cognitionlike behaviour, two robust methods were incorporated – The Barnes Maze used as a measure of spatial learning and memory and the Y maze as a measure of short-term recognition memory.

Figure 2.2: Barnes maze

Spatial Memory and Learning:

Barnes Maze (BM)

The Barnes Maze is an extensive test, conducted over a 5 day period, and measures spatial learning as well as spatial memory. The brightly lit chamber in which the test is conducted encourages the mouse to seek out the escape box, aided by visual spatial cues. The latency to the mouse over the 4 day training phase indicates the extent of



Legend: The picture shows the Barnes maze setup of circular table with holes at the periphery. In the above photograph. The mouse is seen entering the escape box.

spatial learning, where lower latency to the escape box is an indicator of better learning. The probe trial is the second stage of the test and this measures the spatial memory of mice by changing the original position of the escape box. The latency of mice to the original position is taken as a measure of memory consolidation. Baseline testing run in the Home Cage and OFT tests, rule out the possibility of

differences in motor activity in this test so as to not confound cognitive measures as merely a difference in locomotion.

The Barnes maze consists of a bright, circular white platform (91 cm diameter) with 20 holes, which contain either false boxes, or one hidden escape box. The false boxes remove visual cues that might be observed through an open hole. BM procedures were carried out over a 6 day period and run in 3 stages. This protocol was previously established within this group and the details of the methodology are outlined below (Baune et al., 2008).

Pre-training (Day 1): This first phase was run to teach mice to navigate the BM apparatus and locate the escape box and to facilitate learning the training phase. Mice were pre-trained to enter the escape box, first by placement of the mouse into the escape box for 2 min, then by guidance to the escape box before being left for 2 min in the escape box, and finally placement outside the escape box within a glass chamber for up to 3 min, at the end of which the mice were again placed into the escape box for 2 min.

Training (Day 2-5): This second phase of the BM was run over 4 days and was used to measure the level of spatial learning in mice. Mice were first placed in the centre of the maze under a removable chamber, which was then lifted and the mice given 3 mins to locate the escape box. Mice that failed to enter the escape box within 3 min were guided to the box and placed there for 2 min prior to returning to their home cage. Each mouse was subjected to 4 trials per day, separated by 15 min, for 4 days. The average of the time taken to find the escape box across the 4 day period was then calculated. Mice that failed to enter the escape box during the trial period were given a test time of 180 s during analysis, to demonstrate that they

failed to locate the position of the escape box. Lower latencies to the escape box are a representation of learning.

Probe trial (Day 6): This final stage of the test was conducted to measure spatial memory in mice. In the probe trial the escape box rotated is rotated 90° from its original position. Each mouse was given two probe trials of 3 min duration each and latency to the old and new escape locations was recorded. Spatial memory for the (known) old escape box was considered as the tendency of the mice to explore the old escape box in the probe trial instead of exploring the new (unknown) box location. Thus, short latencies to locate the old escape location were considered to indicate spatial memory retention for the original location.

Spatial Recognition Memory: Y

Maze

This was another test used to measure spatial recognition memory. The Y maze is used specifically to assess hippocampal spatial recognition memory. The apparatus for this test consists of a three-armed chamber, with the arms at a 120° angle from each other. Each arm is 35 cm long, 5.0 cm wide and 10 cm high (Choy et al., 2008). The test was run in 2 phases to measure spatial recognition memory and is considered





Legend: The mouse can be seen in the start arm, one arm of the maze has been blocked off in this phase and will be made available to the mouse in the second part of the test in order to test spatial recognition memory.

a robust method for measuring this behaviour (Dellu et al., 1992).

Phase 1: This initial phase was conducted to habituate mice to the new environment. One arm of the maze is closed off and mice are placed at the bottom of the "start" arm and allowed to explore the two arms for 15 min.

Phase 2: This second phase was used to measure the spatial recognition memory in mice. In chapter 3, Phase 2 took place 24 hr after phase one (Camara et al., 2013) to measure the effect on memory over a longer period, whilst in chapters 4 and 5 the second phase was conducted with a 1 hr delay after the first phase. This was done to assess short term spatial memory by following protocols that were

previously established by assessing short term memory after a 1 hr delay (Dellu et al., 2000, Ma et al., 2007).

In this phase mice were again placed at the bottom of the start arm, with all three arms now open to explore over a 10 min period. As mice have a preference for exploring novel environments (Dulawa et al., 1999), mice generally spend more time exploring the novel arm over the familiar arm, indicating normal spatial recognition memory. However, impaired mice will not recognise the familiar arm and spend a similar amount of time in the familiar and novel arms or more time in the familiar arm. As all mice started in the same arm (start arm) time spent in this arm was not analyzed.

Exploratory Activity:

Hole Board Exploration Test (HBE)

The hole-board exploration test was used to measure exploratory behaviour in rodents; and the head dipping behaviour taken as an indicator of exploration, is considered independent of general





Legend: The photograph shows the mouse poking its head into one of the 16 holes on the apparatus

locomotion (File and Wardill, 1975a). While this test is more conventionally used to study the effects of drugs on exploration (Takeda et al., 1998, Kliethermes and

Crabbe, 2006), in my studies I have used this test to study the effects of up and down-regulation of TNF- α expression, as well as targeted TNF-R expression on exploratory behaviour. The apparatus of this test is similar to the open field test, and utilises a hole-board insert, which has 16 holes of 1.5 cm in diameter, spaced 6.0 cm apart. Mice were placed into the apparatus and allowed to explore for 5 min. The number of head dips into the holes was manually recorded and taken as an indicator of exploration (File and Wardill, 1975b, Hart et al., 2010).

Social Behaviour:

Sociability Test

The sociability test measures general social behaviour and interest in social novelty in rodent models. rodents Normal have а preference for social interaction with other rodents and will also prefer to interact with a novel mouse over a familiar one (Moy et al., 2004). This test was conducted to measure social behaviour in mice with knockout





Legend: The photograph shows the social novelty phase of the test. The test mouse is allowed to move freely between the 3 chambers and either chose to spent time interacting with the familiar or novel mouse or spend time in the empty chamber

of TNF- α and its receptors, or mice with over-expression of TNF- α against normal WT mice. The apparatus for this test consists of a three chamber rectangular box,

the walls of which are clear plexiglass. Each chamber is 20 cm in length, 40.5 cm in width and 22 cm high and the test runs in three stages (Moy et al., 2004, Camara et al., 2013).

Habituation: This phase was run to familiarise the mouse with the environment. The test mouse was placed in the central chamber and allowed to explore for 5 min. Doors to the other chambers were sealed off in this stage.

Sociability: This stage was run to measure normal social behaviour and conducted immediately after the habituation stage. A stranger mouse (a WT mouse of the same age and sex as the test mouse) was placed in one of the side chambers (either left or right, this is alternated to remove preference for a particular side) in a small round wire cage that allowed nose contact between the bars but prevented fighting. Doors to all chambers were opened and the test mouse allowed to explore the entire box for 5 min. The time spent by mice interacting with the stranger mouse vs. the empty cage was recorded, and more time spent with the stranger mouse is considered normal social behaviour.

Social Novelty: This stage was run to test the willingness of mice to explore socially novel situations. For this, a second novel mouse was placed in the chamber that was empty during the sociability phase (novel mouse is also a WT mouse of the same age and sex as the test mouse). The test mouse was allowed to explore the box for 5 min and the time spent interacting with the novel mouse over the familiar (stranger) mouse recorded. Increased time spent with the novel mouse over the familiar mouse is an indicator of normal social novelty behaviour.

Anxiety-like Behaviour:

Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)

The elevated zero maze is used as a measure of anxiety-like behaviour. The apparatus consists of a grey Perspex circular platform of 50 cm diameter and width of 5 cm, located at a height of 40 cm above ground. The platform is divided into 4 equal quadrants, two closed quadrants with grey Perspex walls (27 cm high) on the inside and outside,

Figure 2.6: Elevated zero maze



Legend: Mice are placed in the centre of the apparatus and are allowed to move between the open and closed arms. The figure shows a mouse in the closed arm moving towards a stretch posture.

and two open quadrants without walls. Mice were placed at the centre of either one of the open arms and allowed to explore the apparatus for 5 min. Movement and time spent in open and closed quadrants was recorded as a measure of anxiety-like behaviour. Anxiety is measured primarily by comparing the time spent in the open versus closed quadrants with an anxious mouse spending more time in the closed quadrants. However other measures such as distance travelled by mice and the time spent in head dipping behaviour and in stretch/attend postures are also considered measures of anxiety-like behaviour (Cryns et al., 2007).

Depression-like Behaviour

Forced Swim Test (FST)

The forced swim test is a measure of despair and depression-like behaviour, and was conducted according to protocols adapted by Petit-Demouliere et al as described (Petit-Demouliere et al., 2005). Mice were placed in a 4 L cylinder (20 cm diameter) filled up to 20 cm with water (23-24°) for 6 min and their movement was tracked. Time immobile was considered a measure of depression-

Figure 2.7: Forced swim test apparatus



Legend: The time spent by mice being immobile is considered as a measure of depression-like behaviour.

like behaviour, and was defined as lack of motion beyond which was required for the mouse to keep its head above water. For analysis, the first 2 min were excluded, since mice are mobile during that time and familiarizing themselves with the environment and any immobility during this time therefore cannot be attributed to despair (Camara et al., 2013).

Test	Measure	Stages	Duration	Apparatus
Home Cage	Baseline Locomotor	Single stage	5 min	Home Cage
	Activity			
Open Field	Locomotor	Single Stage	5 min	Plexiglass Box
Test	Activity in a			
	stressful			
	environment			
Hole Board	Exploratory	Single Stage	5 min	Plexiglass Box with
Exploration	behaviour			hole insert
Barnes	Spatial	Training: 3 stage per	Each stage is	Circular table
Maze	learning and	day repeated over 4	run for 3 min	
	memory	days		
		Probe Trial : 2 stages		
Y maze	Spatial	2 stages		3 chambered
	Recognition	• Stage 1: 2 arm	Stage 1:	apparatus with
	memory	access	10 min	arms at 120° angles
		• Stage 2:3 arm	Stage 2:	
		access	5 min	
Sociability	Social	3 Stages	Each stage	3 roomed chamber
	behaviour	Habituation	runs for 5 min	
		Sociability		
		Social Novelty		
Elevated	Anxiety-like	One Stage	5 min	Perspex circular
Zero Maze	behaviour			platform
Forced	Depression-	One Stage	6 min	Glass Cylinder filled
Swim Test	like behaviour			with water

Table 2.6: Measures and duration of all behavioural tests.

Legend: The table details the various behavioural tests and their measures used in the different chapters, along with the duration of each test and the apparatus used.

Biological Analysis

Post behavioural assessments, all mice were sacrificed and tissue collected for biological analyses. For experiments detailed in chapters 3-5, a subset of mice were used for ELISA analysis while tissue from another subset of mice were collected for immunohistochemistry (IHC) (explained in Table 2.7).

Study	Mouse Strain/ Treatment Group	No of mice for Protein Analysis	No of mice for IHC	N of mice for qPCR
Chapter 3: TNF-α and Its Receptors Modulate Behaviour and Neurotrophins in Knockout Mice	 a. TNF-/- b. TNF-R1-/- c. TNF-R2-/- d. C57BL/6 	7 per strain	7 per strain	n/a
Chapter 4: TNF-α and its Receptors Govern Adult Behavioural Phenotypes	 a. TNF-/- b. TNF-R1-/- c. TNF-R2-/- d. C57BL/6 	7 per strain	 a. 5 b. 4 c. 5 d. 5 	4 per strain
Chapter 5: Centrally Administered Etanercept on Behaviour Following a Peripheral Immune Challenge	C57BL/6 in 4 groups a. Sal-aCSF b. LPS-aCSF c. Sal-Etan d. LPS-Etan	n/a	5 per group	5 per group
Chapter 6: Characterization of a TNF-α over-expressing strain	a. GFAP-TNF+/+ b. C57BL/6	7 per strain	n/a	4 per strain

Table 2.7: Number of mice used in each of the biological studies described in this thesis

Legend: The table shows how the subsets of mice that underwent behavioural testing that were then sacrificed for biological analysis.

Protein Analysis

Tissue Processing

In order to evaluate whether there were any underlying changes in neurotrophin levels and expression of TNF-α within the TNF-α transgenic/knockout mice for the experiments detailed in chapters 3 and 4, a subset of mice of each strain that underwent behavioural testing (n = 7 mice), were used for protein analysis. Mice were sacrificed by Pentobarbital overdose given through IP injection and once all reflex to pain were abolished, mice were decapitated and their brains were rapidly removed. The hippocampal formation and prefrontal cortex (PFC) tissue were isolated and stored fresh frozen at -80°C until required. The hippocampus and prefrontal cortex were chosen for their role in cognition and emotion-like behaviour. The hippocampus plays a role in spatial cognition (Sweatt, 2004) as well as some emotional responses (Sweatt, 2004), while the PFC plays a role in cognitive control (Miller and Cohen, 2001) and goal oriented emotional processing (Davidson, 2002).

For the experiments detailed in chapter 5, following completion of behavioural testing mice were sacrificed and blood collected by means of cardiac puncture. Serum was then extracted by spinning blood down at 2500 rpm for 15 min and stored at -80°C until analysis of TNF- α levels by ELISA.

Protein Extraction

Tissue samples were thawed and placed on ice. Samples were then weighed and 10x homogenisation buffer (50 mL tris-buffered saline (TBS), one protease inhibitor tablet (Roche) and 50 μ l of Triton-X) was added to the samples in a mortar. Samples were then thoroughly homogenised by a pestle, transferred to an eppendorf tube and then centrifuged at 8500 rpm for 15 min at 4°C. Supernatant was collected and stored for at -20°C until required.

Protein Quantification

A 15 μ l aliquot of sample was used to estimate protein concentration against a standard curve derived from serial dilutions of bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma A21543). 5 μ l of supernatant or BSA was added to the recommended amounts of Biorad protein assay reagents (500-0113, -0114 and 0115). Absorbance was read at 620 nm, with each sample run in triplicate and the readings averaged. Each sample was then diluted with TBS to achieve a final concentration of 50 ng protein per 100 μ l of TBS.

Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

To test how neurotrophin expression was altered with up and down-regulation of TNF- α expression as well as by targeted deleted of TNF- α receptors for experiments detailed in chapters 3, 4 and the appendix, NGF and BDNF ELISAs were performed on brain homogenates. E_{max} Immuno Assay system (Promega) for NGF and BDF were used. Protocol according to the manufacturer's instructions was followed (Sei et al., 2000, Gilmore et al., 2003).

To test the peripheral expression of TNF- α post LPS and etanercept treatment, serum from mice that were used in the study detailed in chapter 5, TNF- α ELISA (eBiosciences mouse TNF- α Ready Set Go Kit) was used according to manufacturer's instructions.

NGF ELISA

To run the NGF ELISA E_{max} Immuno Assay system (Promega), Nunc, Maxisorp plates were coated with 100µl/well mixture of carbonate coating buffer and anti-NGF polyclonal antibody, sealed and incubated overnight at 4°C. Plates were then washed once with wash buffer (TBS with 1% Triton X). 200 µl/well of Block and Sample buffer (prepared as per manufacturer's instructions) was added and incubated for 1hr at room temperature. Plates were washed once again and standards added by serial dilution of top standard as per instructions. 100 µl of diluted samples (brain homogenates) were then added in duplicate and incubated for 6 hr in a 37°C oven. Plates were then washed 5 times and plates coated with secondary antibody and incubated overnight at 4°C.

Plates were then washed 5 times the next day and 100µl of HRP Conjugate was added per well and incubated for 2.5 hr at room temperature. After washing 5 times 100 µl/well room temperature TMB One Solution was added. Reaction was stopped with 100 µl/well 1N hydrochloric acid and absorbance read at 450 nm (Millenium Science, BioTek plate reader)

BDNF ELISA

To run the BDNF ELISA E_{max} Immuno Assay system (Promega), Nunc, Maxisorp plates were coated with 100 µl/well mixture of carbonate coating buffer and Anti-BDNF monoclonal antibody sealed and incubated overnight at 4°C. Plates were then washed once with wash buffer (TBS with 1% Triton X). 200 µl/well of Block and Sample buffer (prepared as per manufacturer's instructions) was added and incubated for 1hr at room temperature. Plates were washed once again and

standards added by serial dilution of top standard as per instructions. 100 μ l diluted samples (brain homogenates) were then added in duplicates and incubated for 6 hr in a 37°C oven. Plates were then washed 5 times and plates coated with secondary antibody and incubated overnight at 4°C. Plates were then washed 5 times the next day and 100 μ l of HRP Conjugate was added per well and incubated for 2.5 hr at room temperature. After washing 5 times 100 μ l/well room temperature TMB One Solution was added. Reaction was stopped with 100 μ l/well 1N hydrochloric acid and absorbance read at 450 nm.

TNF-α ELISA

The TNF- α ELISA was performed using the eBiosciences mouse TNF- α Ready Set Go Kit. Nunc, Maxisorp plates were coated with 100 µl/well mixture of coating buffer prepared as per manufacturer's instructions and was sealed and incubated at 4°C overnight. The next morning, wells were aspirated and washed 3 times with wash buffer). 1: The standard curve was prepared by making 2 fold serial dilution of the top concentration. 100 µl of diluted samples (brain homogenates or serum samples) were then added in duplicate and the sealed plates were left to incubate overnight at 4°C. On day 3, the wells were aspirated, washed 3 times and then 100 µl of detection antibody was added to all wells (prepared as per kit instructions). This was allowed to incubate at room temperature for 1hr. Wells were then aspirated and washed 3 times before adding 100 µl Avidin-HRP. This was allowed to incubate at room temperature for 30 min after which a final aspirate-wash step requiring 5 washes was carried out. 100 µl of substrate solution was then added and incubated for 15 min before stopping the reaction with 50 µl H₂SO₄ stop solution.
Absorbance was then read at 450 nm and amount of TNF- α in each sample calculated by comparing to the standard curve.

Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Tissue Fixing

Animals were injected IP with pentobarbital until all corneal and motor reflexes were absent. The peritoneal cavity was then exposed and diaphragm incised laterally and the thorax cut bilaterally. 10% neutral buffered formalin was then injected into the left ventricle via a 23 gauge needle. Animals were then decapitated 30 min later to minimise damage to blood vessels. The brains were extracted and placed in formalin to be processed after 24 hr.

Tissue Processing

Mice brains were cut into 3 coronal slices of (4 mm each) and placed in cassettes into neutral buffered formalin. Cassettes were then processed overnight accordingly: 20 min in ethanol baths of increasing concentration (50%, 70%, 80%, 95%, 100%, 100%), followed by 2 xylene baths (90 min) and then paraffin baths of increasing duration (30, 60, 60, 90 min). Brain slices were embedded in paraffin wax and 150 µm sections of hippocampal tissue were sectioned with a microtome (Leica RM2245) and placed on to glass slides (Menzel-Glaser, Superfrost plus). Slides were then air dried and stored until required.

Immunohistochemical Staining

For IHC staining the following step were carried out;

- Slides were de-waxed and dehydrated and endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by incubation with 0.5% hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 30 min.
- After this slides were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS; 2 x 3 min), before undergoing antigen retrieval (TRIS for Doublecortin, Citrate for other antibodies) by heating slides at boiling point for 10 min.
- Slides were allowed to cool for an hour, washed in PBS (2 X 3 min) and then blocked with 3% normal horse serum (NHS) for 30 min.
- Primary antibody was added and allowed to incubate overnight (Doublecortin 1:8000, Millipore, Ki67 1:2000, Abcam, IBA1 1:1000, Santa Cruz, GFAP 1:40,000, Dako, IL-1β 1: 1000, R&D systems).
- On the second day slides were washed with PBS (2 X 3 min) and the appropriate species of secondary antibody was added and incubated for 30 min (Abacus,:250) (Doublecortin: anti-guinea pig, Ki67, GFAP: anti-rabbit, IBA1, IL-1β: anti-goat). (Table 2.9)
- 6. Slides were washed again in PBS (2 X 3 min) and then incubated with streptavidin peroxidase for 1hr followed by another wash in PBS (2 X 3 min).
- Sections were stained with Diaminobenzadine (DAB) (Sigma) and counter stained with haematoxylin prior to dehydration and mounting with DePex mounting media.

- After allowing slides to air dry they were digitally scanned using the Nanozoomer (Hamamatsu) and viewed with the associated software (NDP view).
- Serial images of the CA region of the hippocampus and the dentate gyrus of each section were captured as jpegs. These images were then exported to Image J (NIH) and the number of positive cells counted.

Table 2.8: The table shows a list of the stains used for immunohistochemistry for the studies outlined in this body of work

Cells/Proteins of Interest	Primary Antibody	Dilution (In Normal Horse Serum)	Secondary Antibody	Retrieval Buffer
Microglia	IBA1	1:1000	Anti-Goat	Citrate
Astrocytes	GFAP	1:40,000	Anti-Rabbit	Citrate
IL-1β	IL-1β	1:1000	Anti-Goat	Citrate
Proliferating Cells	Ki67	1:2000	Anti-Rabbit	Citrate
Immature Neurons	Doublecortin (DCX)	1:8000	Anti-Guinea Pig	TRIS

Legend: Details of the cells of interest, corresponding stains and the relevant secondary antibodies have been outlined. The table also gives details of the concentration of the antibodies required as well as the antigen retrieval solutions used for each.

Statistical Analysis

Data analyses were carried out using GraphPad Prsim software (version 5.01). All data are presented as mean \pm Standard error of mean (SEM). Data was checked for normal distribution (tested with Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and based on this comparisons between strains were performed using either parametric measures or non-parametric analyses. ANOVA test (one-way or two-way ANOVA as required) followed by Bonferroni post hoc analysis was used as a parametric measure whilst, Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's post hoc analysis was used as non-parametric measures. A comparison of 2 parameters was carried out by unpaired T-test (parametric) or Mann-Whitney U test (non-parametric). *P* < 0.05 was taken as significant for all tests.

Chapter 3 : TNF-α and Its Receptors Modulate Behaviour and Neurotrophins in Knockout Mice

TNF- α AND ITS RECEPTORS MODULATE COMPLEX BEHAVIOURS AND NEUROTROPHINS IN TRANSGENIC MICE

Marie Lou Camara ^{1,2}, Frances Corrigan ¹, Emily J. Jaehne ¹, M. Catharine Jawahar ¹, Helen Anscomb ², Heinrich Korner ³, Bernhard T. Baune ¹

- ¹ Discipline of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia
- ² Discipline of Anatomy, School of Medicine, James Cook University, Townsville QLD, Australia
- ³ Cellular Immunology Laboratory, Menzies Research Institute Tasmania, Hobart, Tasmania, Australia

sychoneuroendocrinology (2	2013) xxx, xxx-xxx
22	Available online at www.sciencedirect.com ScienceDirect
LSEVIER	journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/psyneuen
NF- α and	its receptors modulate
complex be	ehaviours and neurotrophins
n transgen	nic mice
in cruitsșen	
Aarie Lou Cama A. Catharine Ja Sembard T. Bau	ara ^{a,e} , Frances Corrigan ^a , Emily J. Jaehne ^a , awahar ^a , Helen Anscomb ^b , Heinrich Koerner ^c ,
erimatu i. Dat	Jue-,
Discipline of Psychiatry, 1 Discipline of Anatomy, Sc Cellular Immunology Labo	JTTE ~ School af Medicine, University af Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia hool af Medicine, James Coak University, Tawnsville, QLD, Australia aratary, Menzies Research Institute Tasmania, Habart, Tasmania, Australia
Discipline of Psychiatry, 1 Discipline of Anatomy, Sc Cellular Immunology Labo ecceived 4 April 2013; reo	une School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia Ibool of Medicine, James Coak University, Townsville, QLD, Australia oratory, Menzies Research Institute Tasmania, Hobart, Tasmania, Australia eived in revised form 9 September 2013; accepted 9 September 2013
Discipline of Psychiatry, : Discipline of Anatomy, Sc Cellular Immunology Lab ecceived 4 April 2013; reo KEYWORDS TNF 4; TNF 4; TNF 7; TNF 7; TNF 72; Cognition; Depression;	Ine
Discipline of Psychiatry, : Discipline of Anatomy, Sc Cellular Immunology Lab aceived 4 April 2013; reo KEYWORDS TNF Δ; TNF R; TNF R; TNF R; Cognition; Depression; Anxiety; Sociability; Neurotrophins; Neurogenesis	JITE " School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia theod of Medicine, James Cook University, Tawnsville, QLD, Australia pratary, Menzies Research Institute Tasmania, Hobart, Tasmania, Australia erived in revised form 9 September 2013; accepted 9 September 2013 Summary Tumour necrosis factor-& (TNF-&) plays an important role not only in immunity but also in the normal functioning of the central nervous system (CNS). At physiological levels, studies have shown TNF-& is essential to maintain synaptic scaling and thus influence learning and memory formation while also playing a role in modulating pathological states of arrivety and depression. TNF-& signals mainly through its two receptors, TNF-R1 and TNF-R2, however the exact role that these neceptors play in TNF-A or and TNF-R2- ^{-/-} mice against CSTBL/6 wild-type (WT) mice from 12 weeks of age in order to evaluate measures of spatial memory and learning in the Barnes maze (BM) and Y-maze, as well as other behaviours such as exploration, socia interaction, anxiety and depression-like behaviour in a battery of tests. We have also measures hip pocampal and prefrontal cortex levels of the neurotrophins nerve growth factor (NGF) and brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) as well as used immunohistochemical analyses to measure number of proliferating cells (KiS7) and immature neuron (DCX) within the dentate group.

Overview

TNF- α plays an important role not only in immunity but also in the normal functioning of the CNS. At physiological levels, studies have shown TNF- α is essential to maintain synaptic scaling and thus influence learning and memory formation while also playing a role in modulating pathological states of anxiety and depression. TNF- α signals mainly through its two receptors, TNF-R1 and TNF-R2, however the exact role that these receptors play in TNF- α mediated behavioural phenotypes is yet to be determined. Therefore this study was carried out to

AIM 1: measure the effects of genetic deletion of TNF-α and its receptors on behavioural phenotypes as well as neurotrophin expression in young adult mice.

TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice were tested against C57BL/6 wild-type (WT) mice from 12 weeks of age in order to evaluate measures of spatial memory and learning in the Barnes Maze (BM) and Y-maze, as well as other behaviour such as exploration, social interaction, anxiety and depression-like behaviour in a battery of tests. Levels of the neurotrophins nerve growth factor (NGF) and brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) were measured in the hippocampal formation as well as the pre-frontal cortex. Additionally immunohistochemical analyses were conducted to measure number of proliferating cells (Ki67) and immature neurons (DCX) within the dentate gyrus.

The results of this chapter illustrate that young adult TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice displayed impairments in learning and memory in the BM and Y-maze, while TNF-R2^{-/-} mice showed good memory but slow learning in these tests. TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice also demonstrated a decrease in anxiety like behaviour compared to WT mice. ELISA analyses showed TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice had lower levels of NGF

compared to WT mice. These results indicate that while lack of TNF- α can decrease anxiety-like behaviour in mice, certain basal levels of TNF- α are required for the development of normal cognition. Furthermore the results suggest that both TNF-R1 and TNF-R2 signalling play a role in normal CNS function, with knockout of either receptor impairing cognition on the Barnes Maze.

Introduction

TNF- α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine showing biological effects in the central nervous system (CNS) (Stellwagen et al., 2005, McAfoose and Baune, 2009, Clark et al., 2010, Baune et al., 2012a, Baune et al., 2012b). In the CNS, TNF- α is produced by the resident immune cells of the CNS, the microglia and astrocytes, as well as by certain neuronal populations (Li et al., 2008, McCoy and Tansey, 2008). This cytokine is shown to cross the blood brain barrier (BBB) in conditions of systemic inflammation (Pan and Kastin, 2002) and is known to play a role in activating the hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis by stimulating the corticotrophin-releasing hormone and increasing levels of corticosterone (Bernardini et al., 1990). High levels of TNF- α in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex have also been linked to major depressive disorder (Dean et al., 2010) and increased expression of TNF- α were also observed in murine models of depressive like behaviour and chronic mild stress (Kaster et al., 2011, You et al., 2011, Kaster et al., 2012).

Beyond its involvement in various CNS pathologies, TNF- α may be is required for maintaining certain physiological processes within the CNS (Stellwagen et al., 2005). TNF- α has been shown to play a role in mediating synaptic scaling (Stellwagen et al., 2005), and was found to be essential to early cognitive development (McAfoose et al., 2009). Constitutive levels of TNF- α are linked to increased neurogenesis (losif et al., 2006) and TNF- α is also shown to influence the expression of neurotrophins, such as nerve growth factor (NGF) (Takei and Laskey, 2008) and brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Golan et al., 2004). Indeed, modulation of neurotrophins may explain the finding that young adult mice that lack TNF- α (TNF^{-/-} mice) exhibit cognitive impairment (Baune et al., 2008). Furthermore, TNF- α can play an integral part in modulating anxiety like behaviour as well as in fear conditioning (Yamada et al., 2000, Simen et al., 2006).

TNF- α signals through two main receptors, TNF-R1 and TNF-R2, which are thought to have disparate functions, with suggestions that activation of TNF-R1 is neurodegenerative, whilst activation of TNF-R2 is neuroprotective (Shu et al., 1996, Kassiotis and Kollias, 2001, Fontaine et al., 2002). This is because signalling through the TNF-R1 pathway, which primarily occurs via soluble TNF- α , initiates the activation of caspases leading to apoptosis, due to the presence of a cytoplasmic 'death domain'. In the brain, TNF-R1 is widely expressed by astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and microglia, whereas only microglial cells express TNF-R2 (Dopp et al., 1997). In immunologically unchallenged conditions TNF-R1 appears to be more abundantly expressed by neurons in the brain while basal levels of TNF-R2 are expressed only in the cortex, cerebellum and tegmentum (Bette et al., 2003). In contrast, activation of the TNF-R2 pathway, which primarily occurs via transmembrane TNF- α , promotes cell survival, through inhibition of caspase activation (Horiuchi et al., 2010). Intriguingly, the distinction between these two signalling pathways does not appear to be as clear cut as previously thought, with an earlier study demonstrating that TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice all exhibited cognitive deficits (Baune et al., 2008), suggesting that signalling through the receptors is not exclusively neurodegenerative or neuroprotective.

Therefore, to further explore the role of TNF-R1 and TNF-R2 signalling in behavioural responses, an extensive behavioural battery was performed, assessing cognition-like behaviour (learning and memory), social interactions, exploratory activity, anxiety-like behaviour and depression-like behaviour in young adult (12 week old) $TNF^{-/-}$, $TNF-R1^{-/-}$ and $TNF-R2^{-/-}$ transgenic mice. Furthermore, to determine whether behavioural changes in these transgenic mice relate to underlying changes in neurotrophins, these parameters were also investigated. While previous studies have investigated the effects of genetic deletion of $TNF-\alpha$ and its receptors on cognition-like (Baune et al., 2008) and anxiety-like behaviour (Yamada et al., 2000, Simen et al., 2006), this is the first study to provide a comprehensive description of a wider range of behavioural phenotypes, including cognition-, anxiety- and depression-like behaviour extending into sociability and exploratory behaviour, governed by $TNF-\alpha$ and its receptors, while considering molecular mechanisms of neurotrophins and neurogenesis expression to influence such behaviour.

Study	Test Mouse Strains (tested against WT mice)	Age and Sex of mice	Behavioural Tests	Findings (compared to WT control mice)
(Simen et al., 2006)	• TNF-R1 ^{-/-} • TNF-R2 ^{-/-}	Male miceAge unknown	 Home Cage (HC) (red light) Open field Test (OFT) Elevated Plus Maze (EPM) Forced Swim Test (FST) (15 min protocol) Sucrose Preference Fear Conditioning 	 No difference in baseline locomotor activity in HC or OFT or in FST. EPM – Non-significant increase in open arm entries in TNF-R2^{-/-} mice. Fear Conditioning – less freezing in TNF-R1^{-/-} mice compared to WT mice. Sucrose Preference- TNF-R2^{-/-} mice showed increased sucrose consumption.
(Kaster et al., 2012)	• TNF-R1 ^{-/-}	Male mice6 week old	FST (6 min protocol)OFT	 No differences in OFT. TNF-R1^{-/-} mice showed decreased immobility in FST.

Table 3.1: Summary of TNF- α and TNF- α receptor deficient behavioural studies

(Yamada et al., 2000)	• TNF ^{-/-}	Unknown sex or age	 Water Finding Diurnal Rhythm Home Cage (4 day test) Rotarod OFT FST EPM 	 No difference in water finding task. No difference in home cage activity (day or night). Less exploration in open field. Decreased immobility time in FST. Decreased time in open arm in EPM.
(Quintana et al., 2007)	 TNF-R1^{-/-} TNF-R2^{-/-} 	Unknown sex or age	 Hole Board Exploration (HBE) EPM 	 TNF-R1^{-/-} and TN-R2^{-/-} mice had increased ambulations in the HBE (outer quadrant only). TNF-R2^{-/-} mice showed increased head dipping and rearing in the hole board. TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice displayed a trend of decreased time spent in the open arm of EPM but did not reach significance.

(Gimsa et al., 2012)	 TNF-R1^{-/-} TNF-R2^{-/-} TNF-R1/R2^{-/-} 	Male mice6 weeks old	• EPM	 TNF-R2^{-/-} and TNF-R1/R2^{-/-} mice spent significantly higher time in the open arm compared to WT mice. TNF-R1^{-/-} mice showed a non-significant trend of decreased time in the open arm.
(McAfoose et al., 2009)	• TNF ^{-/-}	 Sex unknown 3, 6 and 12 month old mice 	• Barnes Maze (BM)	 TNF^{-/-} mice showed increased latency to the escape box compared to WT mice at 3 months. At 12 months TNF^{-/-} mice showed decreased latency to escape box compared to WT mice. Spatial learning was decreased in TNF^{-/-} mice at 3 months of age but increased at 6 and 12 months of age.
(Baune et al., 2008)	 TNF^{-/-} TNF-R1^{-/-} TNF-R2^{-/-} 	 Sex unknown 8- 12 week old mice 	 HC OFT Novel Object Recognition (NOR) BM 	 TNF^{-/-} mice had decreased exploration in the home cage. TNF-R1^{-/-} mice had significantly decreased mobility in OFT, while TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice showed non-significant trends of decreased mobility compared to WT mice. TNF^{-/-} mice did not show a preference for the

				 novel object in the NOR. Non-significant trend of increased retention memory was observed in TNF^{-/-} mice and all mice showed impaired spatial learning.
(Patel et al., 2010)	• TNF-R1/R2 ^{-/-}	 Sex unknown Approximately 6 weeks of age 	 Resident Intruder Test OFT Light-Dark Test 	 Decreased aggression and non-aggressive exploration in TNF-R1/R2^{-/-} mice. TNF-R1/R2^{-/-} mice exhibited signs of decreased anxiety with increased time in centre of the open field and increased time in the light portion of the light-dark box.
(Palin et al., 2007)	• TNF-R2 ^{-/-}	Sex unknown7-10 weeks of age	Social Exploration TestNovel Juvenile Test	 No apparent differences in baseline exploration in TNF-R2^{-/-} mice was observed (but no direct comparisons were made in this study)

Legend: The Table summarizes different studies that have used TNF-α and TNF-α receptor knockout mice to study a range of behavioural phenotypes

Methods

Mouse Strains

As described in chapter 2, gene-targeted C57BL/6 mouse strain deficient for TNF- α (TNF^{-/-}) (n = 14, 7 male, 7 female mice) was generated on a genetically pure C57BL/6 background (Korner et al., 1997a) and were been bred in-house for over 10 generations. The C57BL/6 (WT) mice (Jackson stock number: 000664) were purchased from the University of Adelaide breeding facility (n = 21, 10 male, 11 female). TNF-R1^{-/-} (Jackson stock number: 003242) (Peschon et al., 1998) and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice (Jackson stock number: 002620) (Erickson et al., 1994) were obtained from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME) (n = 14 per strain, 7 males, 7 females per strain) and were also established on a C57BL/6 background or backcrossed (Baune et al., 2008) and bred in house for over 10 generations (Table 3.2). Test mice were genotyped.

Mice of 12 weeks of age at the start of behavioural testing were used in all experiments. All mice were housed in groups of three to six mice per cage during the experimental period, with food and water available ad libitum and were handled prior to behavioural testing. Ambient temperature of the housing and testing rooms was $22 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Mice were housed under a 12 hr light-dark cycle, lights on at 0700h, and all behavioural testing was conducted between 0800 hr and 1600 hr. Animal procedures were approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Ethics committee.

Table 3.2:	Details	of mic	e used	in	chapter	3
------------	---------	--------	--------	----	---------	---

Strain	C57/BL6	TNF-/-	TNF-R1-/-	TNF-R2-/-	
Genotype	Wild type mice	Deletion of TNF gene on C57/BL6 background	Deletion of TNF-α receptor1 (p55) gene on C57/BL6 background	Deletion of TNF-α receptor2 (p75) gene on C57/BL6 background	
Phenotype	Express TNF-α (and other cytokines) normally	Do not express TNF-α	Absence of TNF- R1 signalling	Absence of TNF- R2 signalling	
Age at which Analysed	3 months				

Legend: The table shows the different strains of mice used for this study, along with their genotype, phenotype and the age at which they were analysed.

Behavioural Analysis

A comprehensive behavioural battery was carried out incorporating several different behavioural types. Tests were conducted in the following order: (1) Home Cage Locomotor Activity, (2) Open Field Test (OFT), (3) Hole-Board Exploration (HBE), (3) Elevated Zero Maze (EZM), (4) Y-Maze, (5) Sociability, (6) Barnes Maze (BM) and (7) Forced Swim Test (FST) and took 4 weeks to complete. Mice were given at least one day off between tests and tests were conducted in order of least to most stressful, to minimise effects of previous testing (Lad et al., 2010). A single

test was not repeated in the same mouse. Equipment for all tests was purchased from Stoelting Co. (USA) and all movements were tracked using ANY-MAZE imaging software Stoelting Co. (USA).

Locomotor Activity: Home Cage Locomotor Activity

Mice were individually tested for general locomotor activity in home cages with two-day-old bedding under basal non-stressful conditions according to previous published results (Baune et al., 2008). Total distance covered over a 5 min period was measured.

Open Field Test (OFT)

Under more stressful conditions basal locomotor activity was measured. Mice were placed at the centre of a brightly lit plexiglass box (40 X 40 cm) and movements were tracked over a 5 min period as previously published (Baune et al., 2008). Distance travelled and time spent in the outer and inner zones of the box was calculated.

Cognition-Like Behaviour: Spatial Memory and Learning: Barnes Maze (BM)

The Barnes maze consists of a bright, circular white platform (91 cm) with 20 holes, which contain either false boxes, or one hidden escape box. The false boxes remove visual cues that might be observed through an open hole. BM procedures were carried out over a six day period according to published protocols with the time taken to find the escape box recorded (Baune et al., 2008).

Pre-training (Day 1): Mice were pre-trained to enter the escape box, first by placement of the mouse into the escape box for 2 min, then by guidance to the escape box before being left for 2 min in the escape box, and finally placement outside the escape box within a glass chamber for up to 3 min at the end of which the mice were again placed into the escape box for 2 min.

Training (Days 2-5): Mice were briefly placed in the centre of the maze under a removable chamber and given 3 min to locate the escape box. Mice that failed to enter the escape box within 3 min were guided to the box and placed there for 2 min prior to returning to their home cage. Each mouse was subjected to 4 trials per day, separated by 15 min, for 4 days. The average of the time taken to find the escape box across the 4 day period was then calculated. Mice that failed to enter the escape latencies representing good spatial memory.

Probe trial (Day 6): Each mouse was given a probe trial of 3 min duration each, with the escape box rotated 90°. Latency to the old and new escape locations was recorded. <u>Retention memory</u> for the (known) old escape box was considered as the tendency of the mice to explore the old escape box in the probe trial instead of exploring the new (unknown) box location. Thus, short latencies to locate the old escape location were considered to indicate spatial memory retention for the original location.

Spatial Recognition Memory: Y Maze

The Y maze is used to assess hippocampal spatial recognition memory. It consists of a three- armed chamber, with the arms at a 120° angle from each other. Each arm is 35 cm long, 5.0 cm wide and 10 cm high (Choy et al., 2008).

Phase 1: One arm of the maze is closed off. Mice are placed at the bottom of the "start" arm and allowed to explore the two arms for 15 min.

Phase 2: 24 hr after phase one, mice are tested with all three arms left open. Mice are again placed at the bottom of the start arm and allowed to explore the three arms for 10 min. Mice have a preference for exploring novel environments (Dulawa et al., 1999). Thus normal mice should spend more time exploring the novel versus the familiar arm, indicating normal spatial recognition memory, whilst impaired mice will not recognise the familiar arm and spend a similar amount of time in the familiar and novel arms. As all mice started in the same arm (start arm) time spent in this arm was not analyzed.

Exploratory Activity: Hole Board Exploration Test (HBE)

The hole-board exploration test is set up in an apparatus similar to the open field test, and utilises a hole-board insert, which has 16 holes of 1.5 cm in diameter, spaced 6.0 cm apart. Mice are placed into the apparatus and allowed to explore for 5 min. Head dipping behaviour is manually recorded and is an indicator of exploration (Hart et al., 2010).

Social Behaviour: Sociability Test

The sociability test measures general social behaviour and interest in social novelty in rodent models. Rodents have a preference for social interaction with other rodents and will also prefer to interact with a novel mouse over a familiar one (Moy et al., 2004). The apparatus consists of a three chamber rectangular box, the walls of which are plexiglass. Each chamber is 20 cm in length, 40.5 cm in width and 22 cm high. The test runs in three stages (Moy et al., 2004).

Habituation: The test mouse is placed in the central chamber and allowed to explore for 5 min. Doors to the other chambers are sealed off in this stage.

Sociability: A stranger mouse is placed in one of the side chambers (either left or right) in a small round wire cage that allows nose contact between the bars but prevents fighting. Doors to all chambers are opened and the test mouse is allowed to explore the entire box. The time spent by mice interacting with the stranger mouse vs. the empty cage is recorded.

Social Novelty: A second novel mouse is placed in the chamber that was empty during the sociability phase. The test mouse is allowed to explore the box for 5 min and the time spent interacting with the novel mouse over the familiar (stranger) mouse is recorded. Stranger mice used are C57BL/6 mice of the same age and sex as the test mice.

Anxiety-Like Behaviour: Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)

The elevated zero maze is used as a measure of anxiety-like behaviour wherein anxiety is measured as the time spent in the open arm of the maze. The apparatus consists of a grey Perspex circular platform of 50 cm diameter and width of 5 cm, located at a height of 40 cm above ground. The platform is divided into 4 equal quadrants, two closed quadrants with grey Perspex walls (27 cm high) on the inside and outside, and two open quadrants without walls. Mice were placed at the centre of either one of the open arms and allowed to explore the apparatus for 5 min. Movement and time spent in open and closed quadrants was recorded.

Depression-Like Behaviour: Forced Swim Test (FST)

The forced swim test is a measure of despair and depression-like behaviour, and was performed according to previously published results (Petit-Demouliere et al., 2005). The apparatus consists of a 4 L cylinder (20 cm diameter) filled up to 20 cm with water (23-24°). Mice were placed in water and movement was tracked over a period of 6 min. Immobility was considered a measure of depression-like behaviour, and was defined as lack of motion beyond which was required for the mouse to keep its head above water. For analysis, the first 2 min were excluded, since mice are mobile during that time and familiarizing themselves with the environment and any immobility during this time therefore cannot be attributed to despair.

Protein Analyses

Cytometric Bead Array (CBA)

In order to demonstrate that these behavioural changes were in a noninflammatory setting, following completion of behavioural testing mice were sacrificed, blood was collected by means of cardiac puncture and serum was extracted by spinning blood down at 2500 rpm for 15 min. Serum was stored at - 80°C until analysis. Serum cytokine levels were measured using the BD Cytometric Bead Array (CBA) Mouse Inflammation Kit for the cytokines IL-6, IL-10, MCP-1, IFN- γ , TNF (total, both TNF- α and TNF- β) and IL-12p70 according to the manufacturer's instructions.

ELISA

In order to evaluate whether there were any underlying changes in neurotrophin levels within the TNF- α transgenic mice, a subset of mice (n = 7 mice), were sacrificed by Pentobarbital overdose and the brain rapidly removed. The hippocampus and prefrontal cortex (PFC) tissue were isolated and stored fresh frozen at -80°C until analysed. These brain regions were chosen for their role in cognition and emotion-like behaviour. The hippocampus plays a role in spatial cognition (Sweatt, 2004) as well as some emotional responses (Sweatt, 2004), while the PFC plays a role cognitive control (Miller and Cohen, 2001) and goal oriented emotional processing (Davidson, 2002). Tissue was homogenised in a solution containing 50 mL TRIS, one protease inhibitor tablet (Roche) and 50 µl of Triton-X. Homogenates were then centrifuged at 8500 rpm (Davidson, 2002) for 15 min at 4°C, and the supernatant transferred to 1.5 mL eppendorf tubes. All samples were stored at -80°C until analysis. Amount of protein was quantified using the Bradford method and samples then diluted to contain 50 ng of protein. NGF and BDNF ELISAs were then performed using the E_{max} Immuno Assay system (Promega)

according to the manufacturer's instructions and as previously published (Sei et al., 2000, Gilmore et al., 2003).

Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

The subgranular zone (SGZ) of the hippocampus and the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricles are 2 important areas of the brain that are involved in adult neurogenesis (Biebl et al., 2000, Song et al., 2002). Neural stem cells formed in these regions then migrate to the dentate gyrus where they mature into granular neurons (Zhao et al., 2008). Therefore to assess how TNF- α signalling impacts on neurogenesis and how this correlates with behavioural changes, the dentate gyrus of mice was screened for immature neurons and proliferating cells. A subset of mice (n = 7 mice/ group) were perfused with saline, before the whole brain was removed and placed in OCT and then frozen using liquid nitrogen. For IHC staining, serial 8µm sections of hippocampal tissue were collected at 200 µm intervals and post-fixed in formalin. These sections where then immunohistochemically analysed for levels of doublecortin (DCX; Millipore 1:8000, anti-guinea pig), which labels immature neurons, and Ki67 (Abcam 1:2000 anti-rabbit), which labels dividing cells. For immunohistochemistry, endogenous peroxidises were blocked using hydrogen peroxide in PBS. Antigen retrieval was then carried out using TRIS buffer for DCX antibody and citrate buffer for Ki67 antibody and non-specific binding was then blocked using normal horse serum. Sections were incubated overnight with primary antibody. The next day slides were incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody (Abacus) for 30 min, and then with streptavidin peroxidise for 1h. Sections were stained with Diaminobenzadine (DAB) (Sigma) and then counter stained with

haematoxylin prior to dehydration and mounting with DePex mounting media. Slides were then scanned using the Nanozoomer (Hamamatsu) and viewed with the associated software (NDP view). Serial images of the dentate gyrus of each section were captured as jpegs. These images were then exported to Image J and the number of positive cells within the dentate gyrus counted.

Statistical Analysis

Data analyses were carried out using GraphPad Prsim software (version 5.01). All data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Since all data was not normally distributed, (tested with Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) only non-parametric measurements were used. Comparisons between strains were performed using Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's post hoc analysis, all columns compared to each other for all tests, as stated throughout the results. Comparisons within strains for the Y maze and Sociability test were performed using the Mann-Whitney U test and P < 0.05 was taken as significant for all tests.

Results

Mean Weight, Age and Sex

Mean age of all animals used was 12 weeks at the start of behavioural testing. The average weight of mice was 24.0 ± 1.4 g for male mice and 18.0 ± 1.5 g for female mice of all strains and no significant differences were observed between strains as analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test.

To minimise potential gender-specific effects in behaviour that could arise from genetic deletion of TNF- α and TNF- α receptor related genes, roughly equal numbers of male and female mice were used in the present study. No differences in behaviour across gender were noted among strains (data not shown).

Locomotor Activity

General locomotor activity was measured under non-stressful baseline conditions using the Home Cage locomotor activity test (Figure 3.1A); and was also measured under more stressful conditions, in the novel brightly lit OFT (Figure 3.1B). Since analysis of both tests by Kruskal-Wallis test showed no significant differences in locomotor activity between any of the strains (Home cage P = 0.17; OFT P =0.24), indicating similar locomotor activity, all possible behavioural differences noted between strains are most likely related to factors other than locomotor activity.





Legend: Distance travelled in A) the home cage, as a measure of baseline locomotor activity and B) the open field. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 14/group for TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice; n = 21 for WT mice). Data compared using Kruskal-Wallis test.

The Role of TNF-α and its Receptors in Cognitive Tasks

Figure 3.2A shows the time spent in the novel compared to the familiar arm of the Y-maze. As all mice started in the same arm (start arm) time spent in this arm was not analysed. Analysis however showed that all mice spent similar amount of time in start arm. Comparison within strains by Mann-Whitney U test showed that WT mice exhibited a significant preference for the novel arm over the familiar arm, indicating normal spatial recognition (P = 0.038). In contrast, the TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice spent a similar amount of time in both the familiar and novel arm (TNF^{-/-} P = 0.21, TNF-R2^{-/-} P = 0.092), suggesting they do not recognise that this arm is novel, which would indicate impaired spatial recognition memory. As the TNF-R1^{-/-} mice demonstrated a significantly higher preference for the familiar arm over the novel arm (P = 0.01), it is difficult to assess whether this is due to impaired memory or a preference for a familiar environment.

Figure 3.2B demonstrates that knockout mouse strains had poorer spatial learning compared to WT mice on the BM, as demonstrated by mean escape latency to the escape box over the 4 day training period analysed by Kruskal-Wallis test (P =0.0091). However, Dunn's multiple comparison post-hoc test showed that only TNF- $R1^{-/-}$ and $TNF-R2^{-/-}$ mice had significantly higher latencies to reach the escape box compared to WT mice (P < 0.05) suggesting that these mice were poor learners. Spatial recognition memory was tested a day later during the probe trial, and showed significant differences between groups measured by Kruskal-Wallis test (P =0.0049). WT mice exhibited low latency time to locate the old location indicating good spatial retention memory. Interestingly, the TNF-R2^{-/-} mice that had performed poorly during the training phase, performed well in the probe trial (Figure 3.2C), indicating that their spatial retention memory was intact. In contrast to TNF-R1^{-/-} mice, TNF^{-/-} mice had impaired spatial retention memory, with high latencies to reach the location of the old box compared to both WT (P < 0.01) and TNF-R2^{-/-} (P < 0.05) as shown by Dunn's multiple comparison post-hoc test. No differences across strains were noted in the latency to find the new location.



Figure 3.2: Cognition-like behaviour

Legend: A) Time spent in both the novel and familiar arms during the retention phase of the Y-maze, B) mean latency of mice to find the escape box over the 4 training days of the Barnes maze, and C) latency of mice to find the original escape box position over the new escape box in Probe trial 1 of the Barnes maze. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 14/group for TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice; n = 21 for WT mice). Data compared using Mann Whitney U test (A) or Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple post hoc comparison (B, C). # P < 0.05 novel arm vs familiar arm, * P < 0.05 compared to WT, ** P < 0.01 compared to WT, ^ P < 0.05 compared to TNF^{-/-}

Exploratory Activity

Exploratory activity in mice was measured using the HBE test, where the number of head dips was regarded as a measure of exploration. No significant difference between the number of head pokes between all strains was noted on the Kruskal-Wallis test (P = 0.067, Figure 3.3A).

Decreased Anxiety-Like Behaviour in TNF^{/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} Mice

The EZM was used as a measure of anxiety. Mice were allowed to move freely between the open and closed arms. Increased time spent in the open arm is believed to be an indicator of lower levels of anxiety-like behaviour, as is higher total distance travelled (Cryns et al., 2007). Analysis by Kruskal-Wallis test showed significant differences between groups (P = 0.0054). Comparison of individual strains by Dunn's multiple comparison post-hoc test showed that TNF^{-/-} exhibited low anxiety as these mice spent significantly more time in the open arm than WT mice (P < 0.05) and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice (P < 0.01) (Figure 3.3C). A significant difference in overall distance travelled between strains was also noted as measured by Kruskal-Wallis test (P < 0.0001). Dunn's multiple comparison post-hoc test revealed an overall greater amount of exploration within the EZM by both TNF-R2^{-/-} and TNF^{-/-} mice indicating less anxiety in these mice as compared to WT and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice (Figure 3.3D).

Depression-Like Behaviour

To measure depression-like behaviour the FST was employed, where an increase in immobility time is regarded depressive-like behaviour. There were no significant differences in immobility time noted between strains on the FST measured by Kruskal-Wallis Test (P = 0.19) (Figure 3.3B), although the TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice showed a trend for lower immobility time than WT mice.



Figure 3.3: Anxiety and depression-like behaviour

Legend: A) Number of head pokes in to holes, as a measure of exploration, in the Hole Board test, B) Time spent immobile during the last 4 min of the forced swim test, C) Time spent in open arm of the elevated zero maze (EZM), and D) total distance travelled in the EZM. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 14/group for TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice; n = 21 for WT mice). Data compared using Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple post hoc comparison * compared to WT, ^ compared to TNF^{-/-}, + compared to TNF-R1^{-/-} (* *P* < 0.05, * *P* < 0.01, ^^ P < 0.01, + + + *P* < 0.001)

Social Behaviour

The sociability test was performed to assess general social interactions as well as behaviour in novel social situations. In the first phase of this test, social behaviour was measured when mice were allowed to choose between exploring a social situation with a stranger mouse versus an empty cage (Figure 3.4A). All strains demonstrated a preference for the stranger mouse compared to the empty cage (Mann-Whitney U test: WT mice P = 0.024. TNF^{-/-} mice P = 0.0079. TNF-R1^{-/-} mice P < 0.0001, TNF-R2^{-/-} mice P = 0.038). A comparison of time spent with the stranger mouse between strains measured by Kruskall-Wallis Test showed no significant difference (P = 0.094). In the second phase of this experiment, the preference of mice for a socially novel situation over a familiar social situation was measured (Figure 3.4B) wherein the amount of time spent with a familiar mouse (the stranger mouse from Phase 1) was compared to that of a novel mouse. Only the WT (P = 0.0056) and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice (P = 0.0033) spent significantly more time with the novel over the familiar mice. A comparison of time spent with the novel mouse between strains measured by Kruskall-Wallis Test again showed no significant difference (P = 0.65).



Figure 3.4: Sociability-like behaviour

Legend: A) Time spent interacting with a stranger mouse compared to an empty cage in the Sociability stage, and B) time spent interacting with a familiar and novel stranger mouse in the Preference for social novelty stage of the test. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 14/group for TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice; n = 21 for WT mice). Data compared using Mann-Whitney U test. # compared to empty cage (A) or familiar mouse (B) (# *P* < 0.05, # # *P* < 0.01, # # # *P* < 0.001)

Differences in Serum Cytokine Levels between Strains

To test whether there was any change in serum cytokine levels in the young adult mice, a CBA was performed on serum collected at the end of behavioural testing. Low levels of serum cytokines were detected in all strains of mice without significant differences between strains in levels of IL-10, IL-6, MCP-1, IFN-y, TNF, and IL-12p20 as measured by Kruskal-Wallis Test. These results indicate that TNF- α signalling does not affect systemic levels of cytokines under immunologically unchallenged conditions (Table 3.3). It is interesting to note that in TNF^{-/-} mice that do not express TNF- α , total TNF levels were still detected. These levels most likely reflect levels of TNF- β but further investigation will be needed to confirm this.

	TNF (total)	IL-10	IL-12p70	MCP-1	IL-6	IFN-γ
WT	0.31 ± 0.13	1.14 ±0.48	0.76 ±0.49	0.53 ±0.19	0.24 ±0.18	0.10 ± 0.03
TNF ^{-/-}	0.38 ± 0.22	0.56 ± 0.36	1.73 ±0.29	0.32 ±0.19	0.38 ± 0.25	0.16 ±0.10
TNF-R1 [≁]	0.26 ±0.14	1.51 ±0.75	1.12 ± 0.56	1.49 ±0.86	0.28 ± 0.25	0.15 ±0.05
TNF-R2 ^{-/-}	0.39 ±0.06	1.25 ±0.54	0.91 ±0.54	1.17 ±0.08	0.45 ± 0.36	0.10 ± 0.04

Table 3.3: Serum cytokine analyses for chapter 3

Legend: Representation of cytokine expression (across) measured by CBA in all strains of mice. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 14/group for TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice; n = 21 for WT mice). Levels of TNF (total) in TNF^{-/-} mice likely represent levels of TNF- β .

Levels of BDNF in PFC and Hippocampus

To study how the deletion of genes for TNF- α and its receptors impacted upon neurotrophin production, ELISAs for NGF and BDNF were performed on hippocampal and pre-frontal cortex tissue. Analysis by Kruskal-Wallis test showed no significant differences between strains in the hippocampus (Figure 3.5A) (P = 0.39), however BDNF ELISA of prefrontal cortex tissue showed a significant difference between strains (Kruskal-Wallis test: P = 0.032) indicating that TNF^{-/-} mice had significantly higher levels of BDNF than TNF-R2^{-/-} mice (Dunn's multiple comparison post-hoc test: P < 0.05) although no significant differences between WT and genetically modified mice was noted (Figure 3.5B).





Legend: Levels of BDNF in the hippocampus (A) and prefrontal cortex (B), All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 8/group for TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice; n = 10 for WT mice). Data compared using Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple post hoc comparison. ^ *P* < 0.05 compared to TNF^{-/-}.

Low Levels of NGF in TNF^{/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} Mice

Kruskal-Wallis test showed group differences between strains in the levels of NGF expressed in the hippocampus (P = 0.0033). Analysis by Dunn's multiple comparison post-hoc test (Figure 3.6A) showed that TNF-R2^{-/-} mice (P < 0.05) and TNF^{-/-} mice (P < 0.05) had significantly lower levels of NGF than WT mice. Similar results were observed in the prefrontal cortex (P = 0.0091) measured by Kruskal-Wallis test (Figure 3.6B) wherein Dunn's multiple comparison post-hoc test showed significantly lower levels of NGF in TNF-R2^{-/-} mice (P < 0.05) and TNF^{-/-} mice (P < 0.05) than WT mice. TNF-R2^{-/-} mice also exhibited lower levels of NGF compared to TNF-R1^{-/-} mice (P < 0.05)





Legend: Levels of NGF in the hippocampus (A) and prefrontal cortex (B), All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 8/group for TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice; n = 10 for WT mice). Data compared using Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple post hoc comparison. * *P* < 0.05 compared to WT, + *P* < 0.05 compared to TNF-R1^{-/-}.
Evaluation of Neurogenesis in TNF-α Transgenic Mice

To investigate the effects of TNF- α signalling on neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus, IHC techniques were used to stain for numbers of immature neurons utilising doublecortin and proliferating cells in the dentate gyrus with Ki67. Analysis by Kruskal-Wallis test showed no significant differences between groups for either test (DCX: P = 0.07, Ki67: P = 0.47, Figure 3.7)



Figure 3.7: DCX and Ki67 counts in the hippocampus

Legend: Number of A) DCX positive cells in the dentate gyrus and B) number of Ki67 positive cells in the dentate gyrus. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 3). Data compared using one-way ANOVA. No significant differences were observed between groups.

Table 3.4: Summary of all behavioural tests

TESTS	TNF ^{-/-}	TNF-R1 ^{-/-}	TNF-R2 ^{-/-}
HOME CAGE TEST	-	-	-
OPEN FIELD TEST	-	-	-
BARNES MAZE (TRAINING)	-	Impaired Learning	Impaired Learning
BARNES MAZE (PROBE TRIAL)	Impaired Memory	-	-
Y MAZE	Normal Memory	Impaired Memory	Normal Memory
HOLE BOARD EXPLORATION TEST	-	-	-
EZM	Decreased	-	-
(TIME IN OPEN ARMS)	Anxiety		
EZM	Decreased	_	Decreased
(TOTAL DISTANCE TRAVELLED)	Anxiety		Anxiety
	Normal Social	Normal Social	Normal Social
SOCIABILITY	Behaviour	Behaviour	Behaviour
SOCIAL NOVELTY	Normal Social	Normal Social	Normal Social
	Behaviour	Behaviour	Behaviour
FORCED SWIM TEST	-	-	-
SERUM CYTOKINE ANALYSIS	-	-	-
BDNF ELISA (HIPPOCAMPUS)	-	-	-
BDNF ELISA (PFC)	-	-	-
NGF ELISA (HIPPOCAMPUS)	Lower Expression	-	Lower Expression
NGF ELISA (PFC)	Lower Expression	-	Lower Expression

Legend: Table summarizing the differences between the strains compared to WT mice for Home Cage, OFT, BM, EZM, HBE, FST and ELISAs. – represents no significant difference compared to WT mice. Analysis of normal or impaired behaviour within a strain in reference to WT mice has been reported for Y maze and Sociability tests

Discussion

In this study TNF^{-/-} mice displayed impairments in memory in the Barnes maze and Y maze, while TNF-R2^{-/-} mice showed good memory but slow learning in these tests. TNF-R2^{-/-} and TNF^{-/-} mice also showed low levels of anxiety like behaviour. All strains of mice demonstrated a significant preference for social situations over non-social ones, however only WT and TNF^{-/-} mice showed a significant preference for social novelty. Analysis of neurotrophin levels in the prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus revealed TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice to have significantly lower levels of NGF compared to WT mice, suggesting that some of the behavioural changes could be linked to changes in levels of circulating neurotrophins. (Summary Table 3.5 and 3.6)

Current literature suggests that TNF- α plays a vital role in the development and functioning of the CNS as well as in cognitive tasks (McAfoose et al., 2009). This group has previously shown that the expression of TNF- α at a young age may be essential to the development of cognition (Baune et al., 2008), but with ageing this beneficial action can change to a more deleterious one (McAfoose et al., 2009), even under physiological conditions. This may relate to an enhancement of the neurodegenerative TNF-R1 signalling, over the neuroprotective TNF-R2 signalling. However previous studies have shown that lack of TNF-R1 has detrimental effects on cognition, suggesting it may exert differential effects in the CNS (Bruce et al., 1996).

Effects of knockout of TNF- α and its receptors on cognition were evaluated utilising the Barnes maze and Y-maze tests. While TNF^{-/-} mice demonstrated a slight impairment in the learning phase of the Barnes Maze, the results did not reach

statistical significance. However, the TNF^{-/-} mice did exhibited impaired memory compared to WT counterparts in the BM test. These mice were unable to differentiate between the familiar and novel arms on the Y-Maze when compared to their wild type counterparts. The performance of the TNF^{-/-} mice is expected given the extensive literature detailing the role of TNF- α in normal cognition (McAfoose and Baune, 2009). A unique characteristic of glial TNF- α is its ability to mediate synaptic scaling (Stellwagen et al., 2005). Studies have shown that exogenous application of TNF- α to hippocampal tissue cultures results in exocytosis of AMPA (2-amino-3-(3-hydroxy-5-methyl-isoxazol-4-yl) propanoic acid) receptors (AMPARS) (Beattie et al., 2002), causing an increase in the number of post synaptic receptors which is accompanied by an increase in mini excitatory post synaptic currents (mEPSC). mEPSCs are a representative of increase in synaptic strength (Beattie et al., 2002). TNF- α also has the ability to decrease inhibitory synapses by causing endocytosis of inhibitory gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors (Stellwagen et al., 2005).

As seen in previous studies, both the TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice demonstrated poorer learning on the BM (Baune et al., 2008). This supports the view that signalling via TNF-R1 may not be entirely neurodegenerative. Indeed, it has previously been hypothesised that the poorer learning observed in these mice may be caused by interactions between soluble TNF-R1 and membrane bound TNF-R2 (Baune et al., 2008), although this remains to be investigated. Of note in this study, the TNF-R1^{-/-} mice appeared to be more impaired than their TNF-R2^{-/-} counterparts, as the TNF-R2^{-/-} mice showed good spatial retention memory in the probe trial. Thus, it appears that TNF-R1 signalling may be exerting effects independent of TNF-R2 suggesting that TNF-R1 may play a part in the consolidation of the memory.

Furthermore, the TNF-R1^{-/-} mice exhibited a slight preference for the novel arm in the Y-Maze, whilst TNF-R2^{-/-} mice did not show a preference for the novel arm. Receptor knockout mice may have different behavioural phenotypes as compared to TNF^{-/-} mice most likely due to the effects of enhanced TNF- α signalling through the unaffected receptor. Though this is difficult to determine, an earlier study found no increase in mRNA levels of the other receptor in TNFR1^{-/-} or TNFR2^{-/-} mice (Simen et al., 2006). However, this does not rule out the potential for enhanced signalling through the unaffected receptors, given the lack of competition for TNF- α binding. In a TNF-α receptor knockout mice we would expect increased activity of the other TNF- α receptor, which would subsequently have different effects on behaviour. Thus a TNF- α receptor knockout mouse, would not be expected to behave exactly like a TNF-KO mouse, as was observed in the present findings. Furthermore, as TNF-a receptors can bind to lymphotoxin-a ligands in addition to TNF- α , It is plausible that some of the effects noted in the present studies in TNF receptor deficient mice may be due to interactions between lymphotoxin-α and TNF receptors (MacEwan, 2002). This would again result in different phenotypes in TNF receptor mice compared to TNF-KO mice. At this stage we are unable to verify these interactions due to limitations of the current studies but these issues should be considerations for future work involving these strains of mice. A similar hypothesis, in that enhanced TNF- α signalling may occur through the unaffected receptor, has been proposed elsewhere (Simen et al., 2006), but further investigation would be needed to clarify this.

Test	Difference Between Strains	TNF-R1-/-	TNF-R2-/-	TNF-R1-/- vs. TNF-R2- /- (P value)
Home Cage Test	No difference	10.78 ± 0.57	9.42 ± 1.73	0.08
Open Field Test	No difference	13.88 ± 3.59	12.64 ± 3.40	0.35
Barnes Maze (Training)	No difference	49.89 ± 47.48	36.48 ± 26.95	0.82
Barnes Maze (Probe Trial)	No difference	27.40 ± 12.61	6.95 ± 1.39	0.86
Hole Board Exploration Test	No difference	55.92 ± 4.60	44.69 ± 8.27	0.08
EZM (Time In Open Arms)	Lower anxiety in TNF- R2 ^{-/-}	66.65 ± 9.20	94.69 ± 7.87	0.019
EZM (Distance Travelled)	Lower anxiety in TNF- R2 ^{-/-}	9.02 ± 0.75	14.83 ± 1.01	0.0002
Forced Swim Test	No difference	59.18 ± 13.58	84.76 ± 31.2	0.16
BDNF ELISA (Hippocampus)	No difference	116.1 ± 23.89	75.0 ± 43.67	0.57
BDNF ELISA (PFC)	No difference	134.2 ± 27.94	70.52 ± 24.33	0.17
NGF ELISA (Hippocampus)	Lower expression in TNF-R2 ^{-/-}	26.94 ± 9.25	2.24 ± 3.69	0.030
NGF ELISA (PFC)	Lower expression in TNF-R2 ^{-/-}	65.30 ±14.98	6.56 ± 3.76	0.015

Table 3.5: Comparisons between TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice from chapter 3

Legend: Representation of the differences between TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice. All data represent mean \pm SEM and P values (n = 14/group for TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice).

Studies have shown that TNF- α may aid synaptic scaling through long-term potentiation (LTP) formation (Beattie et al., 2002) and may protect neurons from excitotoxicity (Cheng et al., 1994). One possible mechanism by which TNF- α mediates this is through TNF-R1 signalling (Bruce et al., 1996, Stellwagen et al., 2005) and these behavioural results would support the previous findings. TNF- α binds with high affinity to TNF-R1 resulting in the activation of NF κ B pathway (Furukawa and Mattson, 1998), NF κ B mediates plasticity by inducing calcium currents while decreasing N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid (NMDA) currents (Gary et al., 1998) and is thus integral to TNF- α mediated synaptic transmission.

In this study no significant differences in exploration were observed in TNF- α transgenic strains, suggesting that genetic deletion of TNF- α or its receptors does not impact upon exploratory behaviour in young adult mice. Further studies need to be conducted in order to fully elucidate the roles of TNF- α receptor signalling on exploratory behaviour and whether changes may occur with ageing.

It was also noted that TNF^{-/-} mice exhibited significantly less anxiety than the WT mice as evaluated using the EZM. A similar pattern was seen in depressive-like behaviour as assessed in the FST, but this did not reach significance. It should be noted that the present results on anxiety-like behaviour are in contrast to the work done by Yamada et al (Yamada et al., 2000) where TNF^{-/-} mice displayed both higher anxiety and depression-like behaviour compared to their wild-type counter parts, although this may relate to the age of the mice tested as it remained unclear at what age the mice were tested in the Yamada study. Despite this contradiction with previous literature, these results seem to be in concordance with the immune-endocrine interaction hypothesis outlining the role that TNF- α plays in anxiety and

depression-like behaviour (Bernardini et al., 1990). This hypothesis builds on the finding that TNF- α stimulates the hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis by activating corticotrophin-releasing hormone and increasing levels of corticosterone (Bernardini et al., 1990). It is also responsible for stimulating anxiety responses as well as promoting depression like behaviour both in humans (Dean et al., 2010) and in murine models (Kaster et al., 2011, You et al., 2011, Kaster et al., 2012), with studies showing that blockage of TNF- α is able to reduce the severity of these effects (Turnbull et al., 1997).

The current results on TNF- α receptors are intriguing as they suggest that the effects of TNF- α on anxiety are mediated via different receptor signalling pathways, whereby TNF-R1 signalling may play a role in reducing anxiety-like behaviour. TNF-R2-/- mice that only signal through TNF-R1 travelled greater distance in the EZM than the WT and TNF-R1-/- mice, suggesting lower anxiety levels. However no differences between groups were observed in depression-like behaviour on the FST. These results differ from the work done by Simen et al. (Simen et al., 2006) that showed less depression-like behaviour in mice deficient for either TNF-α receptor. Furthermore, the Simen study failed to observe any differences in anxiety-like responses in TNF-α receptor knockout mice as was seen here. This could potentially be due to the use of the elevated plus maze in their study as opposed to the use of the elevated zero maze apparatus used in the present study. While both apparatus' measure the same behavioural phenotype the use of the zero maze over the plus maze addresses the issue of ambiguity with time spent in the central square and seems to make the zero maze a more robust apparatus over the plus maze (Shepherd et al., 1994). While it is unclear at what age the mice were tested in the

Simen study, another reason for the differences observed between this and the current study could be due to a difference in the age of mice tested, as the effects of TNF- α on cognition change with ageing (McAfoose et al., 2009). It should be noted that behavioural testing in the present study was conducted during the light cycle and could be another reason for the differences observed between the present study and previous work *(see)* (Kopp, 2001).

Mice generally have a preference for social interactions with other mice (Moy et al., 2004) and this was observed in our study, with all strains spending more time with a stranger mouse than an empty cage in the first phase of the sociability test. Similarly, a previous study has shown that the deletion of TNF- α receptors decreased aggressive behaviour in mice and promoted social interactions (Erickson et al., 1994). It has been shown that TNF- α administration in the CNS caused a significant decrease in social interaction in WT and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice whilst control mice of both strains had levels of social exploration similar, although they were not directly compared (Palin et al., 2007). As these mice have fully functional TNF-R1 it suggests that enhanced TNF-R1 signalling causes the change in social behaviour (Palin et al., 2007). However, the current study demonstrated a trend towards higher social behaviour in TNF-R1^{-/-} mice, suggesting that removing this pathway enhanced social interaction. It should be noted that this did not, however, reach significance, with further research needed on the role of TNF-R1 signalling in decreasing social interaction.

The behavioural changes observed in TNF-α transgenic mice as noted in the current study may relate to changes in neurotrophic factor such as BDNF and NGF as levels of neurotrophins within the hippocampus are known to effect a number of

behaviour including the production of depressive-like symptoms (Castren et al., 2007) and cognition (Peng et al., 2005). However, in the current study, despite TNF-R2^{-/-} mice having lower levels of BDNF than TNF^{-/-} mice, there were no differences in any group compared to WT, suggesting it may not play a major role in the behavioural differences observed.

NGF, on the other hand, did show differences in the present study on TNF- α transgenic mice. NGF is an important factor in the survival and differentiation of neurons and for learning and memory (Sofroniew et al., 2001). In the present study, TNF^{-/-} mice displayed lower levels of NGF as compared to WT mice, suggesting an interaction between TNF- α and NGF expression occurring under immunologically unchallenged conditions. Such an interaction has previously been suggested, however, this was found under inflammatory conditions. TNF- α is able to stimulate microglia to produce NGF and vice versa (Takei and Laskey, 2008), and in the absence of NGF, TNF- α can induce neuronal death through TNF-R1 signalling (Barker et al., 2001). The current study has shown that in unchallenged conditions, TNF^{-/-} mice along with TNF-R2^{-/-} mice displayed lower levels of NGF as compared to WT mice in both the PFC and the hippocampus, suggesting that NGF expression is dependent not only on TNF- α but also on TNF-R2 signalling. This is in accordance with previous literature showing that the effect of NGF on neurons is mediated by TNF- α , (Barker et al., 2001). Furthermore, it is interesting to note that hippocampal spatial memory in the BM and Y maze was impaired in the TNF^{-/-} mice. These mice also exhibited low levels of NGF in the hippocampus, which suggests that perhaps TNF- α regulates hippocampal learning and memory through NGF signalling. However, due to the lack of similar results in the TNF- α receptor deficient mice, it can be assumed that TNF-α receptor activation follows an alternative pathway in hippocampal dependent tasks. Whilst differential expression of the receptors on various cell types could result in behavioural differences, it is difficult to make firm conclusions on the underlying molecular pathways at this stage, because neurobiological adaptations could occur in the genetically modified mice. Further research is needed to address the issue of receptor mediated cognition-like behaviour.

It is also interesting to note that both, $TNF^{-/-}$ and $TNF-R2^{-/-}$ mice that displayed significantly lower levels of NGF in the hippocampus and PFC, travelled the greatest distance in the EZM. Since both these areas play a role in anxiety like behaviour (Davidson, 2002, Sweatt, 2004), it could be suggested that NGF expression may play a role in modulating these behaviour. The use of NGF knockout mice by treating them with $TNF-\alpha$ agonists and antagonists would be effective in teasing out the interactions between $TNF-\alpha$ and NGF. Specifically as NGF knockout mice have been shown to have cognitive impairment compared to WT mice and have displayed pathologies akin to Alzheimer's disease – age dependent amyloid plaques, tau phosphorylation and neurofibrillary tangles, spatial learning impairments (Capsoni et al., 2000, Ruberti et al., 2000).

This is the first study to provide a thorough investigation of the phenotypic and biological changes occurring due to the deletion of the TNF- α gene including the main receptors in mice. Constitutive levels of TNF- α appear to be required for memory, as shown in the probe trial of BM, with a role of TNF- α in this cognition-like behaviour by both TNF-R1 and TNF-R2 signalling pathways, as shown in the training phase of the BM. Furthermore, lack of both TNF- α and TNF-R2 expression appear to

decrease anxiety- like behaviour (as seen in the EZM) and this may be linked to low levels of NGF seen in the TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice.

Understanding of how TNF- α signalling influences neurological function is important when developing therapeutic strategies that aim to inhibit the actions of TNF- α including a reduction of neuroinflammation. Although there have been promising results in the use of anti-TNF- α treatments, for example in Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Tobinick, 2010), it must be noted that while in chronic conditions blocking TNF- α may seem beneficial under inflammatory conditions, it also antagonises other physiologically essential actions of TNF- α in CNS function, potentially offering short term benefits which may not have long-term viability even under pathological conditions such as dementia. Drugs like etanercept are being experimentally tested for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease, and have been found to improve clinical symptoms of AD but it should be noted that use of this drug may increase susceptibility to infections due to a suppressed immune response following TNF- α blockade (Tobinick et al., 2006).

Given the role of TNF-R1 and TNF-R2 signalling may play in normal CNS functions, like cognition, it may be preferable to modulate TNF- α signalling, rather than completely blocking its affects. Complete blockade would prevent both the detrimental and the beneficial effects of TNF- α , but modulation of TNF- α signalling, may allow the beneficial effects to be preserved without the negative effects, thereby improving clinical symptoms.

As such drugs that have the pharmacological properties to modulate the expression and signalling of TNF- α and its receptors as opposed to inducing a

complete blockade should be the focus of future research. While this study provides findings on the effects of genetic deletion of TNF- α and its receptors on behaviour, it should be noted that "flanking gene effects" or "genetic background effects" may act as potential limitations to the study (Eisener-Dorman et al., 2009). However, despite these shortcomings the results of the present study have been consistent with previously published reports concerning TNF- α signalling and cognitive function as well as neurotrophin functions. Further work will need to be done to advance this field and better understand the actions of downstream products of TNF- α receptor signalling. Research comparing both the effects of genetic modification, and pharmacological blockade of TNF- α and its receptors on the behaviour of mice would be the next step in understanding TNF- α mediated CNS functions.

In the present study, the knockout mice were generated to lack total TNF- α . However it is very likely that in the TNF- α receptor knockout mice, the behavioural and neurobiological effects observed were due to a deficiency in both sol and tm TNF- α . As this study did not differentiate between the two types of TNF, it is difficult to assign a particular mechanism of action to each type. To circumvent these shortcomings more thorough investigations into the mechanisms between the different forms of TNF- α will be undertaken in future studies.

Chapter 4 : TNF-α and its Receptors Govern Adult Behavioural Phenotypes

Overview

TNF- α is a vital component of the immune system and CNS. We previously showed that 3-month-old TNF- α and TNF- α receptor knockout mice had impaired cognition, whilst at 12-months-old mice had better cognition. To extend these findings on possible age-dependent TNF- α effects in the brain, we investigated the behaviour of 6-month-old TNF- α knockout mice and their neurobiological correlates.

AIM 2: <u>To study the effects of knockout of TNF-α and its receptors on behaviour and</u> <u>neurobiology of mid-adult mice.</u>

6-month-old TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice were compared to agematched WT mice and tested for various behaviours. ELISA hippocampal levels of nerve growth factor (NGF) and brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and qPCR mRNA levels of *Tnfa*, *Tnfr1*, *Tnfr2*, *II10* and *II1* β were measured. Neurogenesis markers and microglial numbers were assessed by immunohistochemistry within the dentate gyrus.

TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF^{-/-} mice were found to have lesser exploratory behaviour than WT mice, while TNF-R1^{-/-} mice displayed better memory than WT and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice. Both TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice exhibited lower immobility on the depression test than WT mice. Additionally, TNF^{-/-} mice expressed significantly lower levels of BDNF than WT mice in the hippocampus while TNF-R1^{-/-} mice displayed significantly lower also displayed significantly higher levels of NGF compared to TNF-R1^{-/-} mice.

These results illustrate that TNF- α and its receptors mediate several behavioural phenotypes. Specifically, the absence of TNF- α and TNF-R2 protected mice from depression, suggesting TNF- α may be involved in the pathogenesis of

depression. Finally, BDNF and NGF levels appear to be regulated by TNF- α and its receptors even under immunologically unchallenged conditions.

Introduction

Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), when signalling through its receptors TNF-R1 and TNF-R2 is known to play a vital role in inflammatory processes of the central nervous system (CNS) (Medeiros et al., 2007, Dowlati et al., 2010) as well as the neurobiology of behavioural systems (Albensi and Mattson, 2000, Golan et al., 2004). The two receptors of TNF- α are known to have differential roles in the CNS; whereby TNF-R1 appears to mediate inflammatory processes and activate apoptotic pathways through activation of a death domain (Tartaglia et al., 1993). On the other hand, TNF-R2 signalling leans towards a more neuroprotective pathway in physiological contexts due to the absence of a death domain (Rothe et al., 1995).

Apart from these inflammatory functions, both receptors play a role in behaviour; in receptor knockout mice, the lack of these receptors was linked to cognitive and emotional impairment (Simen et al., 2006, Camara et al., 2013). In young adult mice the expression of TNF- α and its receptors is required for normal cognitive performance however lack of TNF- α and its receptor signalling decreases anxiety-like behaviour (Baune et al., 2008, Camara et al., 2013). This group has also shown that when TNF^{-/-} mice were aged to 6 and 12 months, there was a significant improvement in cognition-like abilities in older knockout mice compared to WT mice, indicating lack of TNF- α may be beneficial to cognitive processes as ageing progresses (McAfoose et al., 2009). While work within this group has shown that TNF- α deficient mice had improved cognitive abilities in 12 month and 6 month old mice compared to 3 month old mice (McAfoose et al., 2009), the role of TNF- α and its receptors in emotion-like behaviour is less well understood. A recent study reported a preference of aged (22 month old mice) TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice for

the closed arm of the elevated plus maze, which was attributed to either decreased anxiety-like behaviour or a lack of preference for an arm of the maze (Naude et al., 2014). Lack of these receptors was also linked to decreased anhedonia, depression-like behaviour and fear conditioning in TNF-R1^{-/-} mice (Simen et al., 2006). Additionally this group has previously shown that 3 month old TNF- α and TNF- α receptor knockout mice had normal social behaviour like WT mice (Camara et al., 2013) consistent with studies showing TNF- α receptor deficient mice had decreased aggression more and sociability (Erickson et al., 1994).

In addition to the behavioural changes orchestrated by TNF- α and its receptors, these receptors of TNF- α appear to mediate neurotrophin expression. Previous work within this group also showed that genetic deletion of TNF- α and its receptors affects not only behaviour but also neurotrophin expression in the hippocampus of young adult (3 month old) mice. Specifically, TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice both had significantly lower levels of nerve growth factor (NGF) compared to WT mice, while brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels in TNF-R2^{-/-} mice were lower than TNF^{-/-} mice (Camara et al., 2013). This is important as disruptions in neurotrophins like NGF and BDNF are linked to impaired cognition as well as development of depressive phenotypes (Peng et al., 2005, Castren et al., 2007).

TNF- α expression in the CNS is also influenced by microglia, the resident immune cells of the brain (Ransohoff et al., 2003). Stimulated microglia produce TNF- α in the CNS resulting in a positive feedback loop where TNF- α can further stimulate microglia to produce more TNF- α (Nadeau and Rivest, 2000). Additionally stimulated microglia can produce both TNF- α and NGF under inflammatory conditions (Elkabes et al., 1998). Interestingly microglia are also shown to be more activated in aged individuals (human and rodent studies) without any inflammatory challenge (Perry et al., 1993, Streit and Sparks, 1997). This phenomenon was made clear in another study by this group; where it was found that a single high dose of LPS was effective in increasing microglial numbers in the dentate gyrus, and that treatment with TNF- α antagonist etanercept was effective in reducing microglial numbers (Camara et al., 2014).

While the literature surrounding ageing is quite extensive and we know that ageing is characterised by disruptions in the immune system resulting in a decrease in the number of T cells, along with up-regulation of cytokines like TNF- α (Jiang et al., 2009, Corona et al., 2012), the work done on mid-adulthood is less expansive. We now know that in normal ageing there appears to be a decline in the functionality of the immune system, that makes ageing individuals (commencing from middle age) vulnerable to infections and diseases (Corona et al., 2012), but it is yet unclear when this change begins to occur.

As reported above, the majority of previous studies on the effects of TNF- α and its receptor signalling on behaviour were conducted in young or old mice with age-dependent differential results. It is unclear however, if such an age-dependent change in TNF- α function in the brain occurs gradually over time or more abruptly. This study was therefore conducted in 24 week old mice representing a mid-adult age group. This approach allows a comparison of findings over time between young adult, mid-adult and old age mice of the same genetic background in independent cohorts. Investigated presently are a range of behavioural phenotypes in TNF- α and TNF- α receptor deficient mice of mid-adult age. In addition, I have explored

MARIELOU CAMARA

neurotrophin expression and microglial numbers in the hippocampus in these mice. Finally, I discuss these findings in relation to previously published reports across age groups to better understand the hypothesised age-dependent effects of TNF- α in the brain. I hypothesised that investigation of behaviour in 6-month-old mice, would be a good mid-way point to detect changes in TNF- α mediated behaviour ranging from the deficits seen at 3 months of age (Baune et al., 2008) to the benefits seen at 12 months of age in previous independent studies on cognition in TNF^{-/-} mice by this group (McAfoose et al., 2009).

Methods

Mouse Strains

A gene-targeted C57BL/6 mouse strain deficient for TNF- α (TNF^{-/-}) (n=14, 7/male, 7/female mice) was generated on a genetically pure C57BL/6 background (Korner et al., 1997a). C57BL/6 (WT) mice (Jackson stock number: 000664) were purchased from the University of Adelaide breeding facility (n=14, 7/male, 7/female). TNF-R1^{-/-} (Jackson stock number: 003242) (Peschon et al., 1998) and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice (Jackson stock number: 002620) (Erickson et al., 1994) were obtained from Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME) (n= 14 per strain, 7/male, 7/female per strain) and were also established on a C57BL/6 background (Baune et al., 2008). All mice were bred in house for over ten generations. Equal number of male and female mice were chosen for this study to create a comparable study design to our previous study in 3 month old mice, and no difference in behaviour was noted between sexes (Camara et al., 2013). Test mice were genotyped and confirmed to be knockout mice.

Mice of 6 months of age at the start of behavioural testing were used in all experiments. All mice were housed in groups of 3 to 6 mice per cage during the experimental period, with food and water available ad libitum and were handled prior to behavioural testing. Ambient temperature of the housing and testing rooms was $22 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Mice were housed under a 12 hr light-dark cycle, lights on at 0700 hr, and all behavioural testing was conducted between 0800 hr and 1600 hr. Animal procedures were approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Ethics committee.

Strain	C57/BL6	TNF"	TNF-R1 [≁]	TNF-R2 [≁]
Genotype	Wild type mice	Deletion of TN-α F gene on C57/BL6 background	Deletion of TNF-α receptor1 (p55) gene on C57/BL6 background	Deletion of TNF-α receptor2 (p75) gene on C57/BL6 background
Phenotype	Express TNF-α (and other cytokines) normally	Do not express TNF-α	Absence of TNF- R1 signalling	Absence of TNF-R2 signalling
Age at which Analysed	6 months			

Table 4.1: Mice strains used in this study

Legend: The Table shows the different strains of mice used for this study, along with their genotype, phenotype and the age at which they were analysed.

Behavioural Analysis

A comprehensive behavioural battery was carried out incorporating several different behavioural types. Tests were conducted in the following order: (1) Home Cage Locomotor Activity, (2) Open Field Test (OFT), (3) Hole-Board Exploration (HBE), (4) Elevated Zero Maze (EZM), (5) Sociability, (6) Barnes Maze (BM) and (7) Forced Swim Test (FST) and run over 4 weeks (Detailed in Table 4.2). Mice were given at least one day off between tests and tests were conducted in order of least to most stressful, to minimize effects of previous testing, similar to previous studies (Camara et al., 2013, Jaehne and Baune, 2014). A single test was not repeated in

the same mouse. Equipment for all tests was purchased from Stoelting Co. (USA) and all movements were tracked using ANY-MAZE imaging software (Stoelting Co., USA).

Locomotor Activity:

Home Cage Locomotor Activity:

Mice were individually tested for general locomotor activity in home cages with two-day-old bedding under basal non-stressful conditions according to previous published protocols (Baune et al., 2008). Total distance covered over a 5 min period was measured.

Open Field Test (OFT):

Under more stressful conditions basal locomotor activity was measured. Mice were placed at the centre of a brightly lit plexiglass box (40 X 40 cm) and movements were tracked over a 5 min period as previously published (Baune et al., 2008). Distance travelled and time spent in the outer and inner zones of the box were calculated.

Anxiety-Like Behaviour: Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)

The elevated zero maze was used to measure anxiety-like behaviour. The apparatus consists of a grey Perspex circular platform of 50cm diameter and width of 5cm, located at a height of 40cm above ground. The platform is divided into four equal quadrants, two closed quadrants with grey Perspex walls (27cm high) on the inside and outside, and two open quadrants without walls. Mice were placed at the

centre of either one of the open arms and allowed to explore the apparatus for 5min. Anxiety was measured by comparing the time spent in the open arm, where an anxious mouse will spend less time (Cryns et al., 2007).

Exploratory Activity: Hole Board Exploration Test (HBE)

The hole-board exploration test is set up in an apparatus similar to the open field test, and utilises a hole-board insert, which has 16 holes of 1.5cm diameter, spaced 6cm apart. Mice were placed into the apparatus and allowed to explore for 5min. Head dipping behaviour is manually recorded and is an indicator of exploration (Camara et al., 2013).

Cognition-Like Behaviour:

Spatial Memory and Learning: Barnes Maze (BM):

The Barnes maze consists of a bright, circular white platform (91cm) with 20 holes, which contain either false boxes, or one hidden escape box. The false boxes remove visual cues that might be observed through an open hole. BM procedures were carried out over a 5 day period according to published protocols and time taken to find the escape box recorded (Camara et al., 2013).

Training (Days 1-4): Mice were briefly placed in the centre of the maze under a removable chamber and given 3min to locate the escape box. Mice that failed to enter the escape box within 3min were guided to the box and placed there for 2min prior to returning to their home cage. Each mouse was subjected to 3 trials per day, separated by 15min, for 4 days. The average of the time taken to find the escape box across the 4 day period was then calculated. Mice that failed to enter the escape

box during the trial period were given a test time of 3min. Lower escape latencies represent good spatial memory.

Probe trial (Day 5): Each mouse was given a probe trial of 3min duration each, with the escape box rotated 90°. Latency to the old escape locations was recorded. Short latencies to locate the old escape location were considered to indicate good spatial memory retention for the original location.

Depression-Like Behaviour:

Forced Swim Test (FST)

The forced swim test is a measure of despair and depression-like behaviour, and was performed according to previously published results (Petit-Demouliere et al., 2005). The apparatus consists of a 4 L cylinder (20 cm diameter) filled up to 20 cm with water (23-24°). Mice were placed in water and movement was tracked over a period of 6 min. Immobility was considered a measure of depression-like behaviour, and was defined as lack of motion beyond which was required for the mouse to keep its head above water. For analysis, the first 2 min were excluded, since mice are mobile during that time and familiarizing themselves with the environment and any immobility during this time therefore cannot be attributed to despair.

Social Behaviour: Sociability Test

The sociability test measures general social behaviour and interest in social novelty in rodent models. Rodents have a preference for social interaction with other rodents and will also prefer to interact with a novel mouse over a familiar one (Moy et al., 2004). The apparatus consists of a three chamber rectangular box, the walls of which are plexiglass. Each chamber is 20 cm in length, 40.5 cm in width and 22 cm high. The test runs in three stages (Moy et al., 2004).

Habituation: The test mouse is placed in the central chamber and allowed to explore the entire apparatus for 5 min.

Sociability: A stranger mouse was placed in one of the side chambers (left or right) in a round wire cage that allows nose contact between the bars but prevents fighting. Doors to all chambers were opened and the test mouse allowed to explore the entire box. The time spent by mice interacting with the stranger mouse vs. the empty cage was recorded. A preference for the stranger mouse for each test mouse was calculated as follows: Time spent interacting with stranger mouse/ (Time spent with stranger mouse + time spent with empty cage). Values approaching 1 were considered high preference.

Social Novelty: A second novel stranger mouse was placed in the chamber that was empty during the sociability phase. The test mouse was allowed to explore the box for 5min and the time spent interacting with the novel mouse over the familiar mouse recorded. A preference for the novel mouse for each test mouse was calculated as follows: Time spent interacting with novel mouse/ (Time spent with novel mouse + time spent with familiar mouse). Values approaching 1 were considered high preference.

Stranger mice used for both phases were C57BL/6 mice of the same age and sex as the test mice.

	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
Week 1	Home Cage	Recovery Day	OFT	Recovery Day	
Week 2	Hole Board Exploration	Recovery Day	Elevated Zero Maze	Recovery Day	Sociability Test
Week 3	BM training Day 1	BM training Day 2	BM training Day 3	BM training Day 4	Barnes Maze Probe trial x 2
Week 4	Forced Swim Test	Tissue Collection			

Table 4.2: Behavioural testing schedule

Legend: The table shows the behavioural testing schedule for experiments. Mice were tested in groups of 21 over a period of 5 weeks.

Protein Analyses

ELISA

In order to evaluate whether there were any underlying changes in neurotrophin levels within the TNF- α transgenic mice, a subset of mice (n = 7 mice/strain), were sacrificed by Pentobarbital overdose and the brain rapidly removed. The hippocampus was isolated and stored fresh frozen at -80°C until analysed. The hippocampus plays a role in spatial cognition (Sweatt, 2004) as well as some emotional responses (Sweatt, 2004). Tissue was homogenised in a solution containing 50 mL TRIS, one protease inhibitor tablet (Roche) and 50 µl of Triton-X. Homogenates were then centrifuged at 8500 rpm (Davidson, 2002) for 15 min at 4°C, and the supernatant transferred to 1.5 mL eppendorf tubes. All samples were stored at -80°C until analysis. Amount of protein was quantified using the Bradford

method and samples then diluted to contain 50 ng of protein. NGF and BDNF ELISAs were then performed using the E_{max} Immuno Assay system (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions and as previously published (Sei et al., 2000, Gilmore et al., 2003, Camara et al., 2013).

Cytometric Bead Array (CBA)

In order to demonstrate that these behavioural changes were in a noninflammatory setting and to examine the effect of knocking out TNF- α or its receptors on other cytokines, following completion of behavioural testing mice were sacrificed, blood was collected by means of cardiac puncture and serum was extracted by spinning blood down at 2500 rpm for 15 min. Serum was stored at -80°C until analysis. Serum cytokine levels were measured using the BD Cytometric Bead Array (CBA) Mouse Inflammation Kit for the cytokines IL-6, IL-10, MCP-1, IFN- γ , TNF (total, both TNF- α and TNF- β) and IL-12p70 according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Gene Expression Analysis (RT-qPCR)

A subset of mice was selected for qPCR analysis to measure the expression of *Tnfa, TnfaR1, TnfaR2, II-10, II-1b* (n = 4/strain). Mice were sacrificed via a lethal dose of pentobarbital via IP injection and hippocampal tissue from mice was collected and stored in RNAlater (Ambion, Life Technologies) at -20°C until required for RNA extraction. The hippocampus was analysed as it plays a role in spatial cognition (Sweatt, 2004) as well as some emotional responses (Sweatt, 2004). Brain tissue was lysed and homogenised using the TissuelyserLT (Qiagen, Australia) with 5mm stainless steel lysis bead (Qiagen, Australia). RNA was then extracted from the homogenised tissue using PureLink® RNA mini extraction kit (Ambion) as per manufacturer's instructions. RNA was then quantified using Nanodrop Lite (Thermo Fischer Scientific). Gene expression analysis for *Tnfa*, *TnfaR1, TnfaR2, II-10, II-1b* was performed by RT-qPCR in two steps. First, complementary DNA (cDNA) was synthesised from the total RNA using the SuperScript® III First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen) in a thermal cycler (Kyratec) following manufacturer's instructions. To standardise the concentration of the products they were diluted to a concentration of 10 ng/µl of cDNA for qPCR.

In the next step qPCR was performed on the cDNA using the Applied Biosystems 7900HT real-time PCR machine (ABI, Life technologies). Expression of *Tnfa, Tnfr1, Tnfr2, II10, II1b* was quantified relative to *Gapdh,* the endogenous reference gene using the primers listed below;

Table 4.3: Primer Sequence for qPCR

	Primer Sequence
Tnfa	Forward: CCACCACGCTCTTCTGTCTA
	Reverse: AGGGTCTGGGCCATAGAACT
Tnfr1	Forward: GCAGTGTCTCAGTTGCAAGACATGTCGG
	Reverse: CGTTGGAACTGGTTCTCCTTACAGCCAC
Tnfr2	Forward: ACAGTGCCCGCCCAGGTTGTCTTG
	Reverse: GCAGAAATGTTTCACATATTGGCCAGGAGG
<i>II10</i>	Forward: ACTGCACCCACTTCCCAGT
	Reverse: ATGTTGTCCAGCTGGTCCTT
<i>II1</i> 6	Forward: CTCATCTGGGATCCTCTCCA
1110	Reverse: TGTCAAAAGGTGGCATTTCA
Gapdh	Forward: TGTTCCTACCCCCAATGTGT
	Reverse: CCTGCTTCACCACCTTCTTG

Legend: Details of primers used for qPCR analysis to measure *Tnfa, Tnfr1, Tnfr2, II10* and *II1b* gene expression

Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Animals were injected IP with pentobarbital and perfused via transcardiac injection with 10% neutral buffered formalin, with the brains then processed and embedded in paraffin wax. Serial sections spaced 150 µm apart were taken of the entire length of the hippocampus. Sections were then assessed for levels of neuroinflammation (IBA1) and neurogenesis markers Doublecortin (DCX), which labels immature neurons, and Ki67, which labels dividing cells via immunohistochemistry (List of antibodies detailed in Table 4.4). Briefly, slides were de-waxed, dehydrated and endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked, before

undergoing antigen retrieval by heating slides at boiling point for 10 min in citrate solution. Non-specific binding was then specific binding blocked with normal horse serum, before application of the appropriate primary antibody with incubation overnight (Table 4.4). The next day slides were incubated with the appropriate species of secondary antibody (Abacus, 1:250) followed by streptavidin peroxidase. The antigen-antibody complex was then detected with Diaminobenzadine (DAB) (Sigma) followed by counter staining with haematoxylin prior to dehydration and mounting with DePex mounting media.

Slides were digitally scanned using the Nanozoomer (Hamamatsu) and viewed with the associated software (NDP view). Serial images of the CA region of the hippocampus and the dentate gyrus of each section were captured as jpegs. These images were then exported to Image J (NIH) and the number of positive cells manually counted.

		Dilution		
Cells/Proteins of	Primary	(In Normal Horse	Secondary	Retrieval
Interest	Antibody	Serum)	Antibody	Buffer
Microglia	IBA1	1:1000	Anti-Goat	Citrate
Proliferating Cells	Ki67	1:2000	Anti-Rabbit	Citrate
	Doublecortin		Anti-Guinea	
Immature Neurons	(DCX)	1:8000	Pig	TRIS

Table 4.4: Immunohistochemistry stains

Legend: The table shows a list of the stains used for immunohistochemistry.

Statistical Analysis

Data analyses were carried out using GraphPad Prism software (version 5.01). All data are presented as mean \pm standard error of mean (SEM). Data was checked for normal distribution (tested with Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and based on this, comparisons were performed using 1 way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test for comparisons between strains or repeated measures 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post hoc test when comparisons within strains were required, as stated throughout the results. Comparisons of 2 parameters were carried out by unpaired T-test (parametric). *P* < 0.05 was taken as significant for all tests.

Results

Age and Weight of Mice

All mice were tested from 6 months of age and testing continued for 5 weeks. Mice were weighed before commencing behavioural testing and were weighed each week until the completion of behavioural testing. Over this time period, male mice of all strains weighed significantly more than female mice (Interaction: $F_{(3,38)} = 5.14$, P = 0.0044; Strain: $F_{(3,38)} = 30.33$, P < 0.0001; Gender: $F_{(3,38)} = 127.5$, P < 0.0001). The average weight of male mice was WT: 30.06 ± 0.86, TNF^{-/}: 31.44 ± 0.22, TNF-R1^{-/-}: 22.83 ± 0.16, TNF-R2^{-/-}: 29.58 ± 0.55. While the average weight of female mice was WT: 25.75 ± 0.73, TNF^{-/}: 24.74 ± 0.33, TNF-R1^{-/-}: 19.89 ± 0.11, TNF-R2^{-/-}: 21.83 ± 0.41.

One-way ANOVA analysis of combined weight showed a significant difference in weight between strains ($F_{(3,42)} = 5.20$, P = 0.0038). Tukey's post hoc test revealed that TNF-R1^{-/-} mice weighed significantly less than all other strains of mice (WT: P = 0.0043, TNF^{-/-} mice: P = 0.0033, TNF-R2^{-/-} mice: P = 0.031). The mean weight of mice over the 5-week testing period was, WT: 27.60 ± 0.79, TNF^{-/-} 27.84 ± 0.98, TNF-R1^{-/-} 21.07 ± 0.72, TNF-R2^{-/-} 26.26 ± 1.12.

Baseline Locomotor Activity

Baseline locomotor activity was measured using the HC and OFT test. No differences between strains were observed in the home cage test (One-way ANOVA: $F_{(3,43)} = 1.84$, P = 0.15; data not shown). In the more stressful OFT there was also no difference in distance travelled observed between strains (One-way ANOVA $F_{(3,45)} =$

0.54, P = 0.65; Figure 4.1A). These results indicate that differences observed between strains in the subsequent tests are an accurate reflection of differences in behaviour and not merely a difference in locomotor activity. Since the OFT is set in a stressful situation, we also measured the time spent by mice in the inner zone (more stressful environment). Analysis of time spent in the inner zone of the OFT showed a significant difference between strains (one-way ANOVA: $F_{(3,41)} = 4.38$, P = 0.0096; Figure 4.1B). Tukey's post hoc analysis indicated that TNF-R2^{-/-} mice spent less time in the centre than both WT (P = 0.043) and TNF^{-/-} (P = 0.027), suggesting increased levels of anxiety.

Anxiety-like Behaviour

Under more anxious settings time in the open arm of the EZM was also recorded, where less time spent in the open arms was considered higher anxietylike behaviour. One-way ANOVA of time spent in the open arm showed a significant difference between strains ($F_{(3,42)} = 3.005$, P = 0.04; Figure 4.1C) and Tukey's multiple comparison indicated that, TNF-R2^{-/-} mice spent significantly less time in the open arm than TNF^{-/-} mice (P = 0.02), again suggesting higher levels of anxiety in TNF-R2^{-/-} mice. However, no strains performed significantly differently to WT.

Decreased Exploratory Behaviour in TNF^{/-} and TNF-R1^{-/-} Mice

The total number of head pokes was measured in the HBE test and used as an indicator of exploratory behaviour, whereby higher numbers of head pokes indicates greater exploratory behaviour. One-way ANOVA analysis showed a significant difference between strains ($F_{(3,45)} = 5.01$, P = 0.004; Figure 4.1D) and further analysis by Tukey's multiple comparison test showed that TNF^{-/-} (P = 0.015) and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice (P = 0.0092) had significantly lower number of head pokes than WT mice, indicating lower exploratory behaviour in these mice.

Figure 4.1: Baseline locomotor activity, anxiety and exploratory behaviour



Legend: Distance travelled in A) the open field, B) Time in the inner zone of OFT C) Time spent in the open arm of EZM, D) Total number of head pokes in the hole board exploration test. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 14/group for all strains). Data compared using One-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple post hoc comparison. (* P < 0.05 compared to WT, ** P < 0.01 compared to WT, ^P < 0.05 compared to TNF-^{-/-} mice).

Cognition measured in the Barnes Maze

The Barnes maze was used to measure spatial learning and memory in the present study. The training phase of the Barnes maze (learning component,) is used to measure learning, wherein a shorter latency to the escape box indicates effective learning. Differences in learning between the strains over the 4-day test period (one-way ANOVA: $F_{(3,39)} = 3.2$, P = 0.031; Figure 4.2A) were observed without any post hoc differences. Interestingly in the probe trial, that was used to measure spatial memory (Lower latency to the original escape box indicates effective memory consolidation, Figure 2B), a significant difference between strains was noted for latency to find the original position (one-way ANOVA: $F_{(3,42)} = 3.67$, P = 0.019). An analysis by Tukey's post hoc test showed TNF-R1^{-/-} mice displayed significantly better memory than WT (P = 0.046) and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice (P = 0.019), indicating that TNF-R1^{-/-} mice had better memory than these other strains of mice.

Decreased Depression-like Behaviour in TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} Mice

Depression-like behaviour was measured using the FST (Figure 4.2C) and higher immobility time was considered a measure of greater despair, or depression-like behaviour. One-way ANOVA analysis showed a significant difference between strains ($F_{(3,45)} = 16.35$, P < 0.0001) and Tukey's multiple comparison tests indicated that TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice had significantly lower immobility than WT mice (P < 0.001 for both strains). In addition, TNF^{-/-} mice displayed significantly lower immobility than TNF-R1^{-/-} mice (P = 0.011). These results indicate that lack of TNF and TNF-R2 is associated with less depression-like behaviour as compared to WT mice in mid-adult mice.


Figure 4.2: Cognition

Legend: (A) Mean Latency to escape hole in Barnes Maze training phase (B) Latency to original position in the probe trial of the Barnes maze, (C) Time spent immobile during the last 4 min of the forced swim test. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 14/group for all strains). Data compared using 2-way ANOVA for Y maze and Bonferroni's post hoc test and one-way ANOVA for Barnes Maze analyses followed by Tukey's post hoc test (* P<0.05, *** P<0.001 compared to WT, ^ P<0.05 compared to TNF^{-/-} mice + P<0.05 compared to TNF-R1^{-/-}).

Social Behaviour in Mice

Social behaviour was measured using the sociability test. The first phase of the test was used to measure normal social behaviour in mice, where more time spent by mice interacting with the stranger mouse over the empty cage indicated normal social behaviour (Figure 4.3A). Analysis by repeated measures two-way ANOVA showed that mice spent significantly more time interacting with the stranger mouse than they did with the empty cage (Interaction: $F_{(3,44)} = 2.54$, P = 0.069, Strain: $F_{(3,44)} = 4.77$, P = 0.0057, Stanger mouse/Empty Cage: $F_{(1,44)}=34.63$, P < 0.0001). Bonferroni's post hoc test further showed that WT (P = 0.0053), TNF-R1^{-/-} (P = 0.021) and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice (P < 0.0001) all spent significantly more time interacting normal social behaviour. TNF^{-/-} mice however showed poor social behaviour as they did not spend

more time with the stranger mouse over the empty cage (P > 0.99). A preference index was also calculated to verify these results. Analysis of the preference index showed that WT (0.67 ± 0.04), TNF-R1^{-/-}(0.71 ± 0.09) and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice (0.72 ± 0.04) had a preference index approaching 1, indicating preference for the stranger mouse, whereas TNF^{-/-} mice had a preference index around 0.5 (0.51 ± 0.08) indicating no preference for the stranger mouse. Analysis however showed no significant difference between strains in preference for the stranger mouse over the empty cage (one-way ANOVA: $F_{(3,42)} = 2.65$, P = 0.06).

The second phase of the test was used to measure social novelty, wherein time spent interacting with the novel mouse over the familiar mouse indicated normal preference for social novelty behaviour. No significant difference across strains between time spent with familiar and novel mouse was noted (Interaction: $F_{(3,44)} = 1.48$, P = 0.23, Strain: $F_{(3,44)} = 1.90$, P = 0.14, Novel/Familiar mouse: $F_{(3,44)} = 0.11$, P = 0.74, Subjects (matching) P = 0.91; Figure 4.3B), indicating abnormal social recognition in all strains. Further analysis of preference index for time spent interacting with novel mouse over the familiar mouse showed that all strains had a preference index of 0.5 or below, indicating no significant preference for the novel stranger mouse, with no difference between strains seen (one-way ANOVA: $F_{(3,43)} = 1.03$, P = 0.38).



Figure 4.3: Social Behaviour

Legend: A) Time spent interacting with a stranger mouse compared to an empty cage in the Sociability stage, B) time spent interacting with a familiar and novel stranger mouse in the Preference for social novelty stage of the test. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 14/group for all strains). Data compared using 2-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's post hoc test (# # *P*<0.01, # # # *P*<0.001).

High Levels of BDNF and NGF in the Hippocampus of TNF-R2^{-/-} Mice

Hippocampal levels of BDNF and NGF were measured by ELISA. One-way ANOVA showed a significant difference between strains ($F_{(3,25)} = 6.23$, P = 0.0026; Figure 4.5A). Tukey's multiple comparison further showed that TNF^{-/-} mice (P = 0.031) and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice (P = 0.0064) had significantly lower levels than WT mice but no difference between TNF-R2^{-/-} and WT mice was noted (P = 0.86). TNF-R1^{-/-} mice also had significantly lower BDNF levels than TNF-R2^{-/-} mice (P = 0.022).

Analysis of NGF in the hippocampus showed that a significant difference between strains (one-way ANOVA $F_{(3,20)} = 5.11$, P = 0.002; Figure 4.5B) and Tukey's multiple comparison showed TNF-R2^{-/-} mice had significantly higher levels than TNF-R1^{-/-} mice (P = 0.0066).



Figure 4.4: Levels of BDNF and NGF

Legend: Levels of BDNF in the hippocampus (A) and levels of NGF in the hippocampus (B). All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 8). Data compared using One-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc comparison * P<0.05 compared to WT, ** P<0.01 compared to WT, + P<0.05 compared to TNF-R1^{-/-}, ++ P<0.01 compared to TNF-R1^{-/-}

Differences in Serum Cytokine Levels between Strains

To test whether there was any change in serum cytokine levels in the 6 month old adult mice, a CBA was performed on serum collected at the end of behavioural testing. TNF (total) levels were found to be significantly different between strains ($F_{(3,20)} = 7.9$, P = 0.001) and were very low in TNF^{/-} mice. This was reflected in Tukey's multiple comparison that showed significant differences between TNF^{-/-} mice and other strains (Table 4.5), confirming the TNF knockout status of these mice. No differences between strains were observed for levels of IL-10, IL-6 and MCP-1. However all knockout mice displayed significantly lower levels of IFN-y compared to WT mice (One-way ANOVA $F_{(3,19)} = 18.52$, P < 0.001; TNF^{-/-} compared to WT mice P = 0.0007, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} compared to WT mice P < 0.0001).

	Strains			
Cytokines	WT	TNF ^{-/-}	TNF-R1 ^{-/-}	TNF-R2 ^{-/-}
TNF (total)	5.02±0.67	0.13±0.13 ² *	5.36±1.81	5.19±0.66
IL-10	7.42±0.07	4.99±1.36	3.51±3.04	6.02±3.08
IL-12p70	11.79±2.15	9. 30 ±1.44	8.19±2.04	9.35±1.82
MCP-1	21.65±2.33	15.48± .28	30.14±12.48	26.68±2.47
IL-6	3.94±0.88	3.21±0.88	2.71±0.32	3.56±0.36
IFN-γ	3.56±0.36	1.18±0.71 ³ *	0.22±1.22 ³ *	0.26± 0.08 ³ *

Table 4.5:Serum cytokine analyses

Legend: Representation of cytokine expression (across) measured by CBA in all strains of mice. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 14/strain). Data compared using One-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc comparison ²* *P*<0.01, ³* *P*<0.001 compared to WT.

Expression of Cytokines in the Hippocampus

Levels of (mRNA) *Tnfa, Tnfr1, and Tnfr2, II1b, II10* in the hippocampus of mice were measured post behavioural testing (Table 4.6). This was done to measure the levels of TNF- α and its receptors in genetic knockout mice, and confirm mice are knockouts.

One-way ANOVA tests revealed no significant differences in the expression of *Tnfa* ($F_{(2,9)} = 2.10$, P = 0.178), *Tnfr1* ($F_{(2,9)} = 2.76$, P=0.11) and *Tnfr2* ($F_{(2,10)} = 1.68$, P = 1.16) mRNA across the three knockout strains compared to WT controls. *Tnfa*, *Tnfr1* and *Tnfr2* mRNA levels were not detectable in the respective knockout strains as reported in Table 3 confirming the loss of gene function in these mouse strains and correlating with the results for TNF from CBA analysis.

A significant difference in mRNA levels of *II10* ($F_{(3,13)} = 3.77$, P = 0.039) and *II1b* ($F_{(3,13)} = 4.76$, P = 0.029) were noted. TNF^{-/-} mice had significantly higher levels of *II10* compared to TNF-R2^{-/-} mice (P = 0.028) whilst TNF-R2^{-/-} mice had significantly lower levels of *II1b* compared to WT mice (P = 0.031).

Table 4.6: Gene expression of cytokines measured in the hippocampus in TNF^{-/-} and TNF- α receptor knockout mice

Units: fold	Strains			
Difference (gene/ <i>Gapdh</i>)	WT	TNF-/-	TNF-R1-/-	TNF-R2-/-
Tnfa	0.90 ± 0.36	ND	0.75 ± 0.18	0.48 ± 0.54
Tnfr1	1.03 ± 0.15	1.61 ± 0.19	ND	1.60 ± 0.26
Tnfr2	1.07 ± 0.37	1.59 ± 0.23	1.49 ± 0.28	ND
1110	0.89 ± 0.31	3.16 ± 0.63	1.36 ± 0.45	0.59 ± 0.37 ^
ll1b	0.81 ± 0.48	0.66 ± 0.72	0.46 ± 0.19	0.17 ± 0.08 *

Legend: Fold difference was calculated in relation to WT control control group. Results compared using One-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons (delta Ct values used for analysis). ND indicates non-detectable limits. * indicates differences compared to WT mice, ^ indicates significant difference compared to $TNF^{-/-}$ mice, */^ p < 0.05 (n = 4/group).

IHC Analysis

Microglia in the dentate gyrus were measured using IHC using an IBA1 microglial marker. Due to the extensive interaction between microglia and TNF- α (Renno et al., 1995), we expected lower microglial numbers in knockout mice compared to WT due to absence of TNF- α and its receptor signalling. No difference between the strains was noted after one-way ANOVA analysis ($F_{(3,11)} = 1.79$, P =

0.20; Figure 4.5A), indicating that microglial numbers were not affected by lack of TNF- α and its receptors in mid-adult unchallenged mice.

Additional IHC analysis included number of proliferating cells (Ki67; Figure 4.5B) and immature neurons (DCX; Figure 4.5C) in the dentate gyrus to test whether lack of TNF- α and its receptor signalling would impair neurogenesis in 6 month old mice as no differences in 3 month old mice were observed (Camara et al., 2013). Analysis by one-way ANOVA showed no significant difference between strains for either of these markers ($F_{(3,11)} = 2.51$, P = 0.11 for Ki67; $F_{(3,13)} = 2.78$, P = 0.082 for DCX,).

Figure 4.5: IHC Analysis



Legend: Number of A) IBA1 positive cells in the dentate gyrus, B) DCX positive cells in the dentate gyrus and C) number of Ki67 positive cells in the dentate gyrus. All data represent mean ± SEM (n = 8). Data compared using One-way ANOVA. No significant differences were observed between groups.

	WT mice	TNF ^{-/-} mice	TNF-R1 ^{-/-} mice	TNF-R2 ^{-/-} mice
Home Cage	9.69 ± 0.5	8.36 ± 0.2	7.53 ± 0.7	8.54 ± 0.7
OFT	13.44 ± 0.7	14.93 ± 1.5	13.60 ± 0.8	12.9 ± 1.1
EZM	51.96 ± 6.0	61.52 ± 6.9	51.29 ± 4.8	37.49 ± 5.5
BM Training	51.04 ± 7.6	66.68 ± 9.77	43.38 ± 6.6	74.81 ± 8.4
BM Probe Trial	20.15 ± 5.6	15.53 ± 3.7	3.7 ± 0.8	21.50 ± 4.6
HBE	50.50 ±5.1	32.46 ± 4.1	28.50 ± 3.3	36.29 ± 3.14
FST	109.4 ± 11	31.3 ± 10.6	76.74 ± 10.6	47.50 ± 5.86
BDNF	27.05 ± 1.9	19.45 ± 1.4	16.46 ± 1.7	25.09 ±1.9
NGF	15.38 ± 2.6	11.56± 1.1	7.33 ± 1.9	20.39 ± 2.7
Tnfa Expression	0.90 ± 0.36	ND	0.75 ± 0.18	0.48 ± 0.54
Tnfr1 Expression	1.03 ± 0.15	1.61 ± 0.19	ND	1.60 ± 0.26
Tnfr2 Expression	1.07 ± 0.37	1.59 ± 0.23	1.49 ± 0.28	ND
<i>II10</i> Expression	0.89 ± 0.31	3.16 ± 0.63	1.36 ± 0.45	0.59 ± 0.37
<i>ll0b</i> Expression	0.81 ± 0.48	0.66 ± 0.72	0.46 ± 0.19	0.17 ± 0.08
Microglia	9.52 ± 0.9	7.65 ± 0.7	12.21 ± 1.9	9.50 ± 1.6
DCX	20.52 ± 2.0	16.28 ± 1.3	25.47 ± 3.3	23.85 ± 3.3
Ki67	11.77 ± 2.8	11.61 ± 1.2	13.20 ± 1.5	8.48 ± 0.7

Table 4.7: Mean ± SEM values of all strains in all tests in this study.

Legend: The table shows the mean \pm SEM values of all strains of mice in behavioural and biological analyses. ND refers to non-detectable levels.

	TNF ^{-/-}	TNF-R1 ^{-/-}	TNF-R2 ^{-/-}
HOME CAGE TEST	-	-	-
OPEN FIELD TEST	-	-	-
BARNES MAZE (TRAINING)	-	-	-
BARNES MAZE (PROBE TRIAL)	-	Improved Learning	-
ELEVATED ZERO MAZE	-	-	-
Y MAZE	-	-	-
HOLE BOARD EXPLORATION TEST	Decreased Exploration	Decreased Exploration	-
SOCIABILITY	Normal Social	Normal Social	Normal Social
	Behaviour	Behaviour	Behaviour
SOCIAL NOVELTY	Normal Social	Normal Social	Normal Social
	Behaviour	Behaviour	Behaviour
FORCED SWIM TEST	Decreased	-	Decreased
	Depression		Depression
BDNF ELISA	Lower Expression	Lower Expression	-
NGF ELISA	-	-	Higher Expression
Tnfa EXPRESSION	Lower Levels	-	-
Tnfr1 EXPRESSION	-	Lower Levels	-
Tnfr2 EXPRESSION	-	-	Lower Levels
<i>II10</i> EXPRESSION	-	-	-
<i>II1b</i> EXPRESSION	-	-	Lower Levels
MICROGLIAL NUMBERS	-	-	-
DCX NUMBERS	-	-	-
Ki67 NUMBERS	-	-	-

Table 4.8: Comparison of knockout strains to WT mice

Legend: Table summarising the differences between the strains compared to WT mice for Home Cage, OFT, BM, HBE, FST and ELISAs (—) represents no statistical significant difference compared to WT mice. Analysis of normal or impaired behaviour within a strain in reference to WT mice has been reported for Y-maze and sociability tests. ND refers to non-detectable levels.

TEST	Difference between strains	TNF-R1-/-	TNF-R2-/-
Home Cage Test	No difference	7.53 ± 0.7	8.54 ± 0.7
Open Field Test	N difference	13.60 ± 0.8	12.9 ± 1.1
Elevated Zero Maze	No Difference	51.29 ± 4.8	37.49 ± 5.5
Barnes Maze (Training)	No difference	43.38 ± 6.6	74.81 ± 8.4
Barnes Maze (Probe Trial)	Better memory in TNF-R1 ^{-/-} mice	3.7 ± 0.8	21.50 ± 4.6
Hole Board Exploration Test	No difference	28.50 ± 3.3	36.29 ± 3.14
Forced Swim Test	No difference	76.74 ± 10.6	47.50 ± 5.86
BDNF ELISA	Higher Expression in TNF-R2 ⁻	16.46 ± 1.7	25.09 ±1.9
NGF ELISA	Higher Expression in TNF-R2 ⁻	7.33 ± 1.9	20.39 ± 2.7
Tnfa EXPRESSION	No difference	0.75 ± 0.18	0.48 ± 0.54
Tnfr1 EXPRESSION	Higher Levels in TNF-R2 ^{-/-} mice	ND	1.60 ± 0.26
Tnfr2 EXPRESSION	Higher Levels in TNF-R1 ^{-/-} mice	1.49 ± 0.28	ND
<i>II10</i> Expression	No difference	1.36 ± 0.45	0.59 ± 0.37
IIOb Expression	No difference	0.46 ± 0.19	0.17 ± 0.08
IBA1 Positive Cells	No difference	12.21 ± 1.9	9.50 ± 1.6
DCX Positive Cells	No difference	25.47 ± 3.3	23.85 ± 3.3
Ki67 Positive Cells	No difference	13.20 ± 1.5	8.48 ± 0.7

Table 4.9: Comparisons between TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice

Legend: Representation of the differences between TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2 ^{-/-} mice. All data represent mean \pm SEM and P values (n = 14/group for TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice). ND refers to non-detectable levels.

Discussion

At 6 months of age all mice displayed similar locomotor activity compared to WT mice. In the anxiety test however, TNF-R2^{-/-} mice were significantly more anxious than TNF^{-/-} mice but were no different to WT mice. Interestingly TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice showed poorer exploratory behaviour than WT mice in the HBE test. In the training phase of the Barnes maze no differences were detected between strains, however in the probe trial TNF-R1^{-/-} mice displayed better memory than WT and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice. WT, TNFR1^{-/-} and TNFR2^{-/-} mice demonstrated normal social behaviour while TNF^{-/-} mice had significantly less preference for stranger mouse compared to empty cage than other strains. It is also interesting to note that both TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice exhibited lower immobility on the depression-like behaviour test, the FST, than WT mice. Additionally, TNF^{-/-} mice expressed significantly lower levels of BDNF than WT mice in the hippocampus while TNF-R1-/mice displayed significantly lower BDNF levels compared to both WT and TNF-R2-/mice. TNF-R2^{-/-} mice also displayed significantly higher levels of NGF compared to TNF-R1^{-/-} mice. As expected, TNF^{-/-} mice had undetectable levels of *Tnfa* in the hippocampus and very low levels of TNF (total) in serum compared to other strains. Similarly TNF-R1^{-/-} mice and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice had undetectable levels of *Tnfr1* and Tnfr2 respectively in the hippocampus, compared to other strains. TNF^{-/-} mice had significantly higher levels of *II10* compared to TNF-R2^{-/-} mice while TNF-R2^{-/-} mice had significantly lower levels of *II1b* compared to WT mice in the hippocampus, while serum IFN-y was decreased in all KO strains compared to WT.

TNF- α is an active participant in synaptic scaling, long term potentiation, and prevents neuronal excitotoxicity; a role that is mediated by signalling through TNF-

R1 despite TNF-R1 possessing neuro-inflammatory properties (Cheng et al., 1994, Beattie et al., 2002, Stellwagen et al., 2005, Baune et al., 2012b). To further develop on these findings, previous research within this group focussed on the behavioural changes mediated by TNF-α and its receptor signalling in knockout mouse strains at different stages of development. We previously demonstrated that while lack of TNF- α impaired cognitive ability in young adult TNF- α and receptor deficient mice (3) month old mice), lack of this cytokine improved cognition in aged mice (Baune et al., 2008, McAfoose et al., 2009, Camara et al., 2013), establishing a more complex role of TNF- α in mediating cognition. In order to build on the work that was previously conducted within this group we assessed the behavioural phenotypes of 6 month old mice. We have shown presently, for the first time that this transition from TNF- α being an essential component to a redundant factor in cognitive development begins in mid-adulthood. While the present study was not designed as a longitudinal assessment of TNF-a mediated behavioural phenotypes, comparisons and references to findings in the 3 month old mice can be made. In the present study we have shown that TNF^{-/-} and receptor knockout mice at 6 months of age were no different to WT mice in the learning component of the Barnes maze. In contrast, 3 month old mice previously showed that TNF^{-/-} mice displayed impaired learning in similar tasks compared to WT mice (Baune et al., 2008, Camara et al., 2013). These results lend support to studies conducted by McAfoose et al (2009), where a gradual improvement in cognition was seen from young adulthood (3 months) to old age (12 months) in TNF^{-/-} mice, with a transition to better cognition beginning at midadulthood (6 months). In the present study we were able to extend these findings to TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice and showed that TNF-R1^{-/-} mice had in fact better memory than WT mice in the probe trial of the Barnes maze. TNF-R2^{-/-} mice however were no different to WT mice in the probe trial, these results suggest that the 2 TNF- α receptors may have divergent functions in behaviour as opposed to be being purely neurodegenerative or neuroprotective, as TNF-R1^{-/-} mice were cognitively impaired at 3 months of age (Camara et al., 2013) but not presently at 6 months compared to WT mice. There also appears to be a gradual shift from a possible need for TNF- α in cognitive development to a beneficial effect of the lack of TNF- α , as animals' age, free from immune challenge.

This change in cognitive function from early developmental stages to adulthood is further evident in exploratory and other behaviours including depression and social behaviours in TNF- α and its receptor knockout mice. Here we showed that TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice had decreased exploratory behaviour in the HBE test, suggesting that these receptors are required for maintaining exploratory behaviours in mid-adulthood. This is in contrast to our previous study using 3 month old mice of the same strains where no differences were observed between knockout strains compared to WT mice in exploratory behaviour (Camara et al., 2013). It is unclear why this difference between the current study and our previous work has arisen, as tests were conducted under the same conditions, suggesting it is likely linked to the age of mice tested. Fiore et al (1998) showed decreased exploratory behaviour in TNF- α over-expressing mice that were only 45 days old.

In the present study, lack of TNF-α and TNF-R2 in mid-adult knockout mice prevented depression-like behaviour in the FST. The present findings differ from our previous work on the same strains aged to 3 months, where we observed no difference in depression-like behaviour between knockout strains compared to WT

mice (Camara et al., 2013). Despite the difference to our earlier results, the findings in the present study corroborate work done by Krugel et al (2013) who showed antidepressant effects (tested in FST) in rats undergoing chronic mild stress after twice weekly IP etanercept treatment (over a period of 5 weeks). We know that TNF- α is associated with MDD in humans (Dowlati et al., 2010), and furthermore as ageing is a trigger for up-regulation of TNF- α , it can be expected that during normal ageing TNF- α related depression is a possibility. Studies on humans have shown that serum levels of both TNF- α receptors are associated with depression, in fact high serum TNF-R2 levels are associated with late life depression, while an up-regulation of TNF-R1 is seen in serum of patients undergoing anti-depressant treatment (Diniz et al., 2010, Tulner et al., 2011). Interestingly the present study substantiates these findings, as we observed decreased depression-like behaviour in mid-adult TNF-/and TNF-R2^{-/-} but not TNF-R1^{-/-} mice in the FST, suggesting that the 2 receptors of TNF- α may play differential roles in development of this behaviour. Additionally this study shows firstly, that the development of this depressive phenotype occurs from a stage closer to mid-adulthood and that secondly these findings corroborate studies on TNF- α antagonists that showed modulating TNF- α action may be beneficial to alleviate depressive symptoms (Kekow et al., 2011).

In this study, social behaviour was poor in TNF^{-/-} mice, with these mice spending less time interacting with stranger and novel mice, in both phases of the sociability test. These results differ from our previous findings in young adult mice where we observed TNF- α and TNF- α receptor knockout mice had normal social behaviour compared to unchallenged 3 months old WT mice (Camara et al., 2013). Similarly in the present study we showed that lack of the TNF- α receptors did not impair social behaviour and these mice exhibited similar social interactions to WT mice. It is unclear however, why $TNF^{-/-}$ mice displayed poorer social interactions, but more work will need to be done to better understand the role of $TNF-\alpha$ in social interactions in different age groups of mice.

As TNF- α up-regulation by ICV administration, is linked to activation of microglia resulting in a positive feedback loop of further activation (Nadeau and Rivest, 2000), it is unsurprising that in our study we noted no difference in measures of microglial activation in TNF- α and receptor knockout mice compared to WT mice, in either number or morphology of microglial cells. Microglia are believed to promote postnatal neurogenesis, however in inflammatory conditions it can hinder neurogenesis (Shigemoto-Mogami et al., 2014). TNF- α is shown to be a suppressor of adult neurogenesis (losif et al., 2006), therefore, we postulated that neurogenesis that occurs throughout life in the sub ventricular zone and the dentate gyrus (Biebl et al., 2000) would be higher in TNF^{-/-} and TNF- α receptor knockout mice. However, we found no difference in markers of neurogenesis between strains compared to WT mice, indicating that lack of TNF- α and its receptors in mid-adult mice neither impairs nor stimulates neurogenesis at this stage of adulthood in immunologically unchallenged conditions. It may be worth exploring whether immune stimulation would impair neurogenesis in these strains of mice. Indeed we have demonstrated that LPS treatment systemically administered in WT mice was effective in increasing microglial numbers in the brain which were then brought back to baseline levels by administration of a TNF- α antagonist (Camara et al., 2014). It is also plausible that, as mice age, the effects of lack of TNF- α and its receptors on neurogenesis may become more pronounced and would be worth investigating for future studies.

BDNF levels in the present study were decreased in TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice compared to WT mice. It is unclear though why TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice had decreased BDNF levels in the present study as in our previous study on TNF^{-/-} and TNF-a receptor knockout mice, we did not detect changes in BDNF levels in knockout mice compared to WT mice at 3 months of age, indicating that ageing may play in role in BDNF expression in these strains (Camara et al., 2013). There has been an interesting debate regarding the interactions between BDNF and TNF-a. Some studies have reported that high systemic levels of TNF- α are associated with decreased BDNF (Churchill et al., 2006) whereas others indicate no interaction between TNF- α and BDNF. For instance, a recent study showed that peripheral administration of LPS for 7 days increased TNF-α levels in the hippocampus and caused cognitive decline but did not affect BDNF levels in the hippocampus (Zhu et al., 2014a). On the other hand, in vitro studies have shown that astrocyte cultures treated with TNF-α were able to produce BNDF, specifically through NFκB pathways (Saha et al., 2006b). In the present study the effects of ageing in combination with the lack of TNF-α expression in TNF-α knockout mice may be responsible for the low levels of BDNF observed and further investigation into these mechanisms will help clarify this hypothesis.

Reports suggest that a decrease in NGF during ageing is associated with a reduction in long term potentiation in the dentate gyrus (Kelly et al., 2000). Under inflammatory conditions microglia can stimulate TNF- α to produce more NGF, creating a positive feedback loop (Takei and Laskey, 2008). As a result we expected to see a decrease in NGF levels in TNF^{-/-} mice, as there would be no cross-talk between microglia and TNF- α to produce more NGF. However, in the present study,

we have shown that there were no differences between NGF levels in TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and WT mice, though TNF-R2^{-/-} mice had significantly higher levels than TNF-R1^{-/-} mice. While these results were observed in mid-adult and not aged mice, they may give an indication as to the direction in which neurotrophin levels in unchallenged TNF^{-/-} and receptor deficient mice is headed with ageing. Especially since in 3 month old mice we found TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice had significantly lower NGF levels than WT mice (Camara et al., 2013). The increase in NGF levels seen presently can be linked to the lower depression-like behaviour we saw in the TNF-R2^{-/-} mice, and provides a stronger link between TNF-α and NGF (Takei and Laskey, 2008, Takei and Laskey, 2011). The use of NGF knockout mice in conjunction with TNF-α agonists and antagonists may be useful in elucidating the exact mechanisms behind TNF-α -NGF interactions (Capsoni et al., 2000, Ruberti et al., 2000).

As expected, in the hippocampus, Tnfa levels in TNF^{-/-} mice, Tnfr1 levels in TNF-R1^{-/-} mice and Tnfr2 levels in TNF-R2^{-/-} mice were too low to be detected confirming the knockout genotype of these strains. Serum TNF (total) was also significantly lower in TNF^{-/-} mice, further confirming the status of these mice. Significantly higher levels of II10 were seen in the hippocampus of TNF^{-/-} mice compared to TNF-R2^{-/-} mice. IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine that has been shown to supress TNF- α production (Minter et al., 2000). It has also been shown to increase in production to a minor extent in contexts on low TNF- α expression (Ralph et al., 1992, Minter et al., 2000) and may explain why the TNF^{-/-} mice had the lowest II10 expression.

Studies have shown IL-1 β can influence the regulation of TNF- α receptors, though the exact effects and mechanisms on TNF- α receptors are poorly understood

(Winzen et al., 1993, Hultner et al., 2000, Saperstein et al., 2009). A recent study showed that in mouse alveolar epithelial cells, treatment with IL-1 β increased the expression of TNF-R2 (Saperstein et al., 2009). Similarly in the present study, TNF-R2^{-/-} mice were found to have significantly lower levels of II1b compared to WT mice and may be mediated by the strong association between IL-1 β and TNF- α receptor regulation.

Additionally, serum levels of IFN- γ were decreased in all KO strains compared to WT mice. Given the close association between TNF- α and IFN- γ wherein IFN- γ is known to stimulate the production of TNF- α (by interferon regulatory factors 1 and 8) (Celada and Maki, 1991, Vila-del Sol et al., 2008), the lack of TNF- α expression in knockout mice in this study may in turn deter the production of IFN- γ but this mechanism is not yet clear.

It should be noted that In a TNF- α receptor knockout mice we would expect increased activity of the other TNF- α receptor, which would subsequently have different effects on behaviour. Thus a TNF- α receptor knockout mouse, would not be expected to behave exactly like a TNF–KO mouse, as was observed in the present findings. Furthermore, as TNF- α receptors can bind to lymphotoxin- α ligands in addition to TNF- α , It is plausible that some of the effects noted in the present studies in TNF receptor deficient mice may be due to interactions between lymphotoxin- α and TNF receptors (MacEwan, 2002). This would again result in different phenotypes in TNF receptor mice compared to TNF-KO mice. At this stage we are unable to verify these interactions due to limitations of the current studies but these issues should be considerations for future work involving these strains of mice.

Overall these results show that in mid-adulthood, deficiency of TNF- α or its receptors can improve either cognition or depression-like behaviours, while decreasing exploratory behaviour compared to WT mice. Specifically, the results of the present study show that absence of TNF- α and TNF-R1 protect mice from depression-like behaviour. The findings of the present study also extend to BDNF and NGF levels in the hippocampus that appear to be regulated by TNF- α and its receptors even without the influence of external immune stimulation. These results also support conclusions on the changing role of TNF- α in mediating different behaviours in different age groups, with the mid-adult group representing a transition period of TNF-α function under unchallenged immune conditions. As with the results of the previous study, in a younger cohort of mice (Camara et al., 2013), it is plausible that in TNF- α receptor knockout mice, the behavioural and neurobiological effects observed are mediated by a deficiency in both sol and tm TNF- α . As this study did not differentiate between the two types of TNF- α , it is difficult to assign a particular mechanism of action to each type. To circumvent these shortcomings more thorough investigations into the mechanisms between the different forms of TNF- α will be undertaken in future studies.

Future studies should include conducting experiments following stress procedures in the mice to activate microglia, such as LPS administration, unpredictable chronic mild stress or early life stress protocols. Furthermore, the use of Cre-loxed mice would greatly benefit the study of TNF- α and its receptors by specifically targeting these mice and overcome the limitations of developmental phenotype over actual knockout phenotypes. Additional studied would benefit from the use of randomised littermates as control mice to circumvent the epigenetic differences that may occur from the use of WT control mice from different colonies.

Chapter 5 : Centrally Administered Etanercept on Behaviour Following a Peripheral Immune Challenge

Effects of Centrally Administered Etanercept on Behaviour Following a Peripheral Immune Challenge

Marie Lou Camara ^{1,2}, Frances Corrigan ³, Emily J. Jaehne ¹, M. Catharine Jawahar ¹, Helen Anscomb ², Bernhard T. Baune ¹

¹ Discipline of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia

² Discipline of Anatomy, School of Medicine, James Cook University, Townsville QLD, Australia

³Discipline of Anatomy and Pathology, School of Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, SA,

Australia

uropsychopharmacology (2014), E 11 2014 American College of Neuropatharbar blogy. All rights reserved 0893-133X/14 www.neuropsychopharmacology.org Effects of Centrally Administered Etanercept on Behavior, Microglia, and Astrocytes in Mice Following a Peripheral Immune Challenge Marie Iou Camara^{1,2}, Frances Corrigan³, Emily J Jaehne¹, Magdalene C Jawahar¹, Helen Anscomb² and Bernhard T Baune^{® 1} ¹Discipline of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia; ²Discipline of Anatomy, School of Medicine, James Cook University, Townsville QLD, Australia; ³Discipline of Anatomy and Pathology, School of Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, SA, Australia Peripheral cytokines affect central nervous system (CNS) function, manifesting in symptoms of anxiety and cognitive decline. Although Peripheral cytokines affect central nervous system (CNS) function, manifesting in symptoms of anxiety and cognitive decline. Although the peripheral blockage of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α has been effective in alleviating depression and rheumatoid arthritis, it is yet unknown whether central blockade of TNF- α is beneficial for immune-challenged CNS function. This study investigated the effects of central etanercept administration following a peripheral immune challenge on anxiety-like and cognition-like behaviors and microgia and astrocyte numbers. Twelve-week-old C578L/6 mice (n = 40) were treated with either LPS or saline administered peripherally 24h before being treated with either etanercept or artificial CSF (aCSF) by intracerebroventricular injection. Mice underwent behavioral analyses for locomotion, memory, and anxiety-like behavior 24h post-etanercept/aCSF treatment, and tissue was collected to estimate the numbers of hippocampal microgia and astrocytes. Following peripheral immune challenge with LPS, mice showed increased anxiety-like behavior, which was cignificantly improved following treatment with etanercept ($\Delta monos = 0.60$). the numbers of hippocampal microgila and astrocytes. Following perpheral immune challenge with LPs, mice showed increased anxiety-like behavior, which was significantly improved following treatment with etanercept (two-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,20)}$ =0.60, P=0.44; Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,20)}$ =23.92, P<0.0001, etanercept vs aCSF: $F_{(1,20)}$ =1.09, P=0.0023). For cognition, a significant interaction effect found by two-way ANOVA (Interaction: $F_{(1,20)}$ =4.96, P=0.037, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,20)}$ =0.66, P=0.81, aCSF/ etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,20)}$ =0.66, P=0.80 and post-hoc analysis revealed a significant decrease in cognition in LPS-aCSF compared with Sal-aCSF mice (P=0.038), but no significant difference was noted between LPS-aCSF and LPS-tan mice (P>0.9). A significant reduction in the number of microglia within the hippocampus of these between a back and D-Arabitration $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{D})$ regulation in the number of microglia within the hippocampus of these mice was noted (two-way ANOVA: Interaction: $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{D})$ = 11.41, P = 0.004]; Saline/LPS challenge: $\mathcal{D}_{(1.5)} = 50.13$, P < 0.0001, etanencept vs a 2CSF: $\mathcal{D}_{(1.5)} = 3.36$, P = 0.08). Centrally administered etanencept improved anxiety-like behavior but not spatial memory under a peripheral immune challenge and was associated with a decrease in the hippocampal microglia numbers. This suggests that etanencept recovers anxiety-like behavior possibly mediated by a reduction of TNF-α-related central inflammation. wlogy advance online publication, 17 September 2014; doi:10.1038/npp.2014.199 chobhama

Overview

Peripheral cytokines affect central nervous system (CNS) function, manifesting in symptoms of anxiety and cognitive decline. Although the peripheral blockage of tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α) has been effective in alleviating depression and rheumatoid arthritis, it is yet unknown whether central blockade of TNF- α is beneficial for immune challenged CNS function.

AIM 3: To determine the behavioural and neurobiological effects of pharmacological blockade of TNF-α in the CNS of young adult immune activated mice.

12 week old C57BL/6 mice (n = 40) were treated with either LPS or saline administered peripherally 24 hr before being treated with either etanercept or artificial CSF (aCSF) by intracerebroventricular injection. Mice underwent behavioural analyses for locomotion, memory and anxiety-like behaviour 24 hr post etanercept/aCSF treatment and tissue was collected to estimate numbers of hippocampal microglia and astrocytes.

Following peripheral immune challenge with LPS, mice showed increased anxiety-like behaviour, which was significantly improved following treatment with etanercept (2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,30)} = 0.60$, P = 0.44; Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,30)} = 23.92$, P < 0.0001, etanercept vs aCSF: $F_{(1,30)} = 11.09$, P = 0.0023,). For cognition, a significant interaction effect found by 2-way ANOVA (Interaction: $F_{(1,20)} = 4.96$, P = 0.037, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,20)} = 4.966$, P = 0.31, aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,20)} = 0.06$, P = 0.80) and post-hoc analysis revealed a significant decrease in cognition in LPS-aCSF compared to Sal-aCSF mice (P = 0.038), but no significant difference was noted between LPS-aCSF and LPS-Etan mice (P > 0.9). A significant reduction in the number of microglia within the hippocampus of these mice

was noted (2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,15)} = 11.41$, P = 0.0041; Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,15)} = 50.13$, P < 0.0001, etanercept vs aCSF: $F_{(1,15)} = 3.36$, P = 0.08,).

Centrally administered etanercept improved anxiety-like behaviour, but not spatial memory under a peripheral immune challenge and was associated with a decrease in hippocampal microglia numbers. This suggests that etanercept recovers anxiety-like behaviour possibly mediated by a reduction of TNF- α related central inflammation.

Introduction

Tumour necrosis factor (TNF- α) plays an important role in the development and progression of cognitive decline, as well as depressive and anxiety disorders (Baune et al., 2012b, Kaster et al., 2012, Bai et al., 2013, Camara et al., 2013). Indeed, peripheral inflammatory conditions like arthritis (RA) and psoriasis that show high levels of circulating TNF- α are associated with psychiatric symptoms like cognitive decline, anxiety and depression (Chandarana et al., 1987, Bassukas et al., 2008, Menter et al., 2010).

This association is likely related to extensive cross-talk occurring between immune cells within the central nervous system (CNS), like microglia, and peripheral TNF- α producing monocytes (Kerfoot et al., 2006). Peripheral LPS inflammation activates toll-like receptor 4 present on circumventricular organs and choroid plexus, resulting in NF κ B activation and subsequent production of TNF- α . This activates microglia (Rivest, 2003), creating a positive feedback loop whereby activated microglia produce more TNF- α and other pro-inflammatory cytokines (Nadeau and Rivest, 2000). These pro-inflammatory cytokines activate neurons, causing an increase in Δ FosB within regions like the limbic system that govern mood-like behaviours (Frenois et al., 2007). Indeed, infiltration of immune cells into the CNS can result in behavioural changes manifested by increased anxiety and depression (Dantzer et al., 2008).

One current method used to abate this inflammatory process is through use of TNF-α antagonists, like etanercept. It is a large (molecular weight of 150,000 Da) fusion protein that consists of extracellular region of human TNF-R2 fragment

coupled to an Fc region of human IgG that binds to transmembrane TNF- α and acts as a decoy receptor (Mohler et al., 1993). Etanercept can bind to both solTNF as well as tmTNF in addition to members of the lymphotoxin family (Thalayasingam and Isaacs, 2011). It is clinically used in the treatment of RA and psoriasis, via subcutaneous administration (Tyring et al., 2007, Hunt and Emery, 2013) and reduces co-morbidities of depression and cognitive impairment (Tyring et al., 2006, Kekow et al., 2011).

As this drug cannot cross the blood brain barrier (BBB) due to its large size (Boado et al., 2010), it is unable to directly interact with TNF- α present within the CNS, and exerts its effects peripherally. However etanercept indirectly reduces CNS inflammation by decreasing peripheral inflammation and preventing cross-talk (Kerfoot et al., 2006). This principal was evident in a 12 week treatment trial in psoriasis patients, where improved depressive symptoms were observed following subcutaneous etanercept injections (Tyring et al., 2006).

However, it is uncertain whether central blockade of TNF- α is efficacious in preventing CNS manifestations of peripheral inflammatory diseases. Furthermore, although research into the effects of centrally and peripherally administered TNF-a blockade on cognition and depressive symptoms has improved our understanding of cytokine actions in the CNS (Tobinick and Gross, 2008, Couch et al., 2013), little work has been undertaken to enhance our knowledge on the effects of TNF-a blockade on anxiety behaviours. This is surprising since peripheral inflammatory conditions like RA and psoriasis, involving TNF- α up-regulation are commonly associated with anxiety (Salim et al., 2011, Chen et al., 2013), although the exact mechanisms whereby inflammation induces psychiatric symptoms are unclear

(Chandarana et al., 1987, Couch et al., 2013). It is suggested that peripheral inflammation can cause up-regulation of TNF- α , which in turn activates macrophages peripherally and microglia centrally (Qin et al., 2007) and is further linked to the development of anxiety-like behaviour (Wohleb et al., 2011). Recently a study has shown that chronic peripheral administration of etanercept in rats reduced both depression-like and anxiety-like behaviour in the absence of immune stimulation (Bayramgurler et al., 2013a). While the study showed that chronic blockade of TNF- α action under physiologically normal conditions may be beneficial against anxiety-like behaviour (Bayramgurler et al., 2013a), it is unclear whether this mechanism will translate to peripheral inflammatory conditions. Astrocytes are known to be activated by LPS stimulation to produce cytokines like TNF- α , though the involvement in the development of behavioural disruptions is unknown (Zhang et al., 2014).

The present study sought to first determine the effects of peripheral immune challenge on anxiety-like and cognition-like behaviours by treating mice with an acute dose of LPS. Due to the link between peripheral cytokines and immune cells of the CNS (Kerfoot et al., 2006), we sought also to understand whether a single peripheral immune challenge would be sufficient to activate CNS immune cells. Our next aim was to investigate whether central blockage of TNF- α by etanercept would reverse the behavioural and neurobiological effects seen after LPS challenge. We hypothesized that centrally administered etanercept reduces anxiety-like behaviours, improves cognition-like behaviour and reduces CNS inflammation in mice that have received a peripheral immune challenge.

Methods

Mice

Male C57BL/6 mice (Jackson stock number: 000664), aged 12 weeks, were purchased from the University of Adelaide breeding facility and used in this study (n = 40). Male mice were chosen for this study to avoid the possibility of confounding factors arising out of sexually dimorphic behaviour (Brown et al., 2000). All mice were housed in groups of 5 per cage during the experimental period, with food and water available ad libitum. Ambient temperature of the housing and testing rooms was $22 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Mice were housed under a 12 hr light-dark cycle, lights on at 0700hr, and all behavioural testing was conducted between 0800 hr and 1600 hr. Animal procedures were approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Ethics committee.

Drugs

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)

To induce a systemic inflammatory reaction for experimental procedures, LPS from *Escherichia coli* (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO; 0111:B4) was diluted in saline and injected via intraperitoneal injection (IP) at a dose of 1mg/kg at 1400h. Control mice were injected with saline only by IP injection. Pilot studies in our lab using the same dose of LPS showed inflammation 24 hours post LPS in the form of increased serum levels of the cytokines TNF- α , IL-6, and MCP-1, as well as hippocampal and PFC gene expression of TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-10. This led us to choose this dose of LPS and time point for administering etanercept, in the hope it would decrease TNF- α and other signs of inflammation, including glia.

Etanercept

Etanercept (Enbrel, Wyeth-Ayerst laboratories, 25 mg/kg) was diluted 1:10 in artificial cerebrospinal fluid (aCSF, composition detailed in Table 5.1) and administered intracerebroventricularly (ICV). A total volume of 2µl was injected as previously established by Nilsberth et al (2009). 18hr post LPS/saline administration, mice were anesthetised with isoflurane (1%), mounted in a stereotaxic frame, and kept at 37°C through a feedback controlled heating pad. A 0.3 mm burrhole was made at the point relative to Bregma: 1 mm to the right and 0.5mm posterior to inject into the lateral ventricle. A 33 gauge needle connected to a 5 µl Hamilton syringe was then lowered 2.5mm and either etanercept or aCSF (2 µl) injected at a rate of 0.5 µl/min. The needle was then left in place for 2 min, before being removed to suture the skin. Mice were then placed on a heat pad to recover. Once mice had regained normal mobility they were returned to their home cage with unlimited access to food and water and checked regularly for 24 hr to ensure there were no adverse effects from surgery.

	Working Conc (mM)	1X 1Liter	10X 1liter
NaCl	125	7.305	73.05
KCI	2.5	0.186	1.86
MgCl.6H ₂ O	1	0.2033	2.033
NaH ₂ PO ₄	1.25	0.15	1.5
CaCl ₂ .2H ₂ O	2	0.294	2.94
NaHCO ₃	25	2.1025	21.025
Glucose	25	4.505	45.05
pH with NaOH to 7.3			

Table 5.1: Composition of artificial cerebrospinal fluid

Legend: The table details the composition of aCSF used in chapter 5

Once mice had regained normal mobility they were then returned to their home cage with unlimited access to food and water and checked regularly for 24 hr to ensure there were no adverse effects from surgery. Due to the quick turnover of the cerebrospinal fluid (Saunders et al., 1999), behavioural testing commenced 24 hr post-surgery and mice were given at least 1 hr of rest between each test to prevent interference. Mice were sacrificed immediately post behavioural testing.

Design and Treatment Groups

Mice were divided in to 4 treatment groups (n = 40). Two groups were challenged with an acute dose of LPS (n = 20; IP administration) while 2 groups received saline (n = 20; IP administration). Of the LPS groups, one group received etanercept via ICV administration (n = 10; <u>LPS-Etan</u>: LPS challenge IP with etanercept administered ICV) and a control group received aCSF also via ICV administration (n = 10; <u>LPS-aCSF</u>: LPS challenge IP with aCSF administered ICV). Similarly with the saline treated mice, one group (n = 10) received etanercept through ICV injection (<u>Sal-Etan</u>: Saline treatment IP with etanercept administered ICV) while the other group (n = 10) received aCSF also through ICV injection (<u>Sal-Etan</u>: Saline treatment IP with etanercept administered ICV).

Behavioural Analysis

A behavioural battery was carried out to assess locomotor activity, anxiety-like behaviour and cognition-like behaviour. Mice were given an hour between tests due to short half-life of etanercept and to gain the maximum results of the drug effects. A single test was not repeated in the same mouse. Tests were conducted 24 hr post ICV injections, as detailed in Table 5.3. Equipment for all tests was purchased from Stoelting Co. (USA) and all movements were tracked using ANY-MAZE imaging software Stoelting Co. (USA).

Locomotor Activity: Open Field Test (OFT)

Basal locomotor activity was measured in the OFT. Mice were placed at the centre of a brightly lit plexi-glass box (40 x 40 cm) and movements were tracked over a 5 min period as previously published (Baune et al., 2008, Camara et al., 2013). Distance travelled and time spent in the outer and inner zones of the box were measured.

Anxiety-like Behaviour: Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)

The EZM is used as a measure of anxiety-like behaviour wherein anxiety is measured as the time spent in the open arm of the maze. The apparatus consists of a grey Perspex circular platform of 50 cm diameter and width of 5 cm, located at a height of 40 cm above ground. The platform is divided into 4 equal quadrants (arms), two closed quadrants with grey Perspex walls (27 cm high) on the inside and outside, and two open quadrants without walls. This setup differs from the elevated plus maze in that the use of the zero maze over the elevated plus maze (EPM) addresses and eliminates the issue of ambiguity with time spent in the central square of the EPM. This seems to make the zero maze a more robust apparatus over the plus maze (Shepherd et al., 1994).

Mice were placed at the centre of either one of the open arms and allowed to explore the apparatus for 5 min. Movement and time spent in open and closed arms was recorded. Time spent in open arms was used as a measure of anxiety-like behaviour, where more anxious mice spend less time in the open arms. Head dipping behaviour and time spent in stretch/attend posture from the closed arm were also recorded as measures of anxiety-like behaviour wherein increased time spent in these behaviour was taken as a measure of low anxiety-like response.

Spatial Recognition Memory: Y Maze

The Y maze is used to assess hippocampal spatial recognition memory. It consists of a three-armed chamber, with the arms at a 120° angle from each other. Each arm is 35 cm long, 5.0 cm wide and 10 cm high (Choy et al., 2008).

Phase 1: One arm of the maze was closed off. Mice were placed at the bottom of the "start" arm and allowed to explore the two arms for 10 min.

Phase 2: 45 min after phase one, mice were tested with all three arms left open. Mice were again placed at the bottom of the start arm and allowed to explore the three arms for 5 min. Mice have a preference for exploring novel environments (Dulawa et al., 1999). Thus normal mice should spend more time exploring the novel arm, indicating normal spatial recognition memory. This was determined by calculating a preference for the novel arm for each mouse, using the following equation: Time in novel arm/ (Time in novel arm + time in familiar arm) * 100. Mice that did not enter either the familiar or novel arms during Phase 2 were excluded from analysis. As all mice started in the same arm (start arm) time spent in this arm was not analysed.

Gene Expression Analysis (RT-qPCR)

A subset of mice was selected for qPCR analysis to measure the expression of *Tnfa* post LPS and etanercept treatment (n = 5/treatment group). Mice were sacrificed via a lethal dose of pentobarbital via IP injection and hippocampal and prefrontal cortex (PFC) tissue from mice was collected and stored in RNAlater (Ambion, Life Technologies) at -20°C until required for RNA extraction. The hippocampus was analysed as it plays a role in spatial cognition (Sweatt, 2004) as well as some emotional responses (Sweatt, 2004), while the PFC was chosen for analysis as it plays a role cognitive control (Miller and Cohen, 2001) and goal oriented emotional processing (Davidson, 2002).

Brain tissue was lysed with TissuelyserLT (Qiagen, Australia) with 5mm stainless steel lysis bead (Qiagen, Australia). RNA was then extracted from the lysed tissue using PureLink® RNA mini extraction kit (Ambion) as per manufacturer's instructions. RNA was then quantified using Nanodrop Lite (Thermo Fischer Scientific). Gene expression analysis for *Tnf*a was performed by RT-qPCR in two steps. First, complementary DNA (cDNA) was synthesised from the total RNA using the SuperScript® III First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen) in a thermal cycler (MJ research) following manufacturer's instructions. The products were then diluted to attain uniform concentration of 10 ng/µl of cDNA for qPCR.

In the next step qPCR was performed on the cDNA using the Applied Biosystems 7500 Fast real-time PCR machine (ABI, Life technologies). Expression of *Tnfa* was quantified with *Gapdh* used as the endogenous reference gene using the primers listed below;

Tnfa-forward: CCACCACGCTCTTCTGTCTA *Tnfa*-reverse: AGGGTCTGGGCCATAGAACT *Gapdh*-forward: TGTTCCTACCCCCAATGTGT

Gapdh-reverse: CCTGCTTCACCACCTTCTTG

Samples and negative controls (without cDNA) for each gene were run in triplicates on a 96 well MicroAmp Fast optical-qPCR plate (ABI, Life technologies). Briefly, 4µl of cDNA was added to a master mix consisting of 10 µl of 2X *Power* SYBR Green PCR master mix (ABI, Life technologies), 0.14 µl each of forward and reverse primer along with 5.72 µl of double distilled water to make a total reaction volume of 20 µl. The raw data consisting of the Ct (Cycle threshold) values for individual reactions were exported to excel files and analysis was conducted manually using the deltadelta CT method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001).
Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	
LPS/ Saline Dosing	Etanercept /aCSF Treatment	OFT (9-10am)	
		EZM (11-12 am)	
		Y maze (1-3pm)	
		Tissue Collection	

Table 5.2: Dosing and testing schedule of experiments

Legend: LPS: Lipopolysaccharide, aCSF: Artificial Cerebrospinal Fluid, OFT: Open Field Test, EZM: Elevated Zero Maze

Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Following behavioural testing, animals were injected IP with pentobarbital and perfused via transcardiac injection with 10% neutral buffered formalin. Brains were then processed and embedded in paraffin wax. Serial 5 µm sections spaced 150 µm apart were taken of the entire length of the hippocampus. Sections were then assessed for levels of neuroinflammation (IBA1. GFAP) via immunohistochemistry. Briefly, slides were de-waxed, dehydrated and endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked, before undergoing antigen retrievably heating slides at boiling point for 10 min in citrate solution. Non-specific binding was then specific binding blocked with normal horse serum, before application of the appropriate primary antibody with incubation overnight (Abcam, IBA1 1:1000, Santa Cruz, GFAP 1:40,000, Dako). The next day slides were incubated with the appropriate species of secondary antibody (Abacus, 1:250) (Table 5.4) followed by streptavidin peroxidase. The antigen-antibody complex was then detected with Diaminobenzadine (DAB) (Sigma) followed by counter staining with haematoxylin prior to dehydration and mounting with DePex mounting media.

Slides were digitally scanned using the Nanozoomer (Hamamatsu) and viewed with the associated software (NDP view). Serial images of the CA region of the hippocampus and the dentate gyrus of each section were captured as jpegs. These images were then exported to Image J (NIH) and the number of positive cells manually counted.

Table 5.3: Antibodies employed within this study

		Dilution		
Cells/Proteins of	Primary	(In Normal Horse	Secondary	Retrieval
Interest	Antibody	Serum)	Antibody	Buffer
Microglia	IBA1	1:1000	Anti-Goat	Citrate
Astrocytes	GFAP	1:40,000	Anti-Rabbit	Citrate

Legend: Table shows the list of antibodies that were used in this study for IHC analysis.

Statistical Analysis

.

Data analyses were carried out using GraphPad Prism software (version 6.01). All data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Comparisons between groups were carried out using 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparisons post-hoc test where appropriate. Weight of mice was analysed using a 2 x 2 x 3 ANOVA. A significance level of *p* < 0.05 was regarded as significant in all tests.

Results

Age and Weight of Animals

All male mice that were used in this study were tested and killed at 13 weeks of age. Weight was measured at baseline and 24 hr following LPS challenge as well as 24 hr following etanercept treatment (48 hr after LPS). Change in weight over time was analysed using a 2 x 2 x 3 ANOVA. Tests of within subjects' measures showed a significant effect of time ($F_{(2,36)}$ = 42.2, P < 0.001,), indicating a decrease in weights over the 48 hr period of immune challenge and etanercept treatment. In addition, a significant effect of time*LPS ($F_{(2,36)}$ = 23.6, P < 0.001,) was observed, indicating LPS significantly reduced weights in mice over time. However an effect of time*etanercept was not seen ($F_{(2,36)}$ = 2.34, P = 0.10,), suggesting etanercept had no effect on weight, and was not able to reverse the decrease in weight caused by LPS treatment. No significant 3-way interaction between time, LPS, and etanercept ($F_{(2,36)}$ = 0.99, P = 0.37,) was observed (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1: Weight of mice before and after LPS dosing

Legend: The figure depicts the weight of mice over the 48hr experimental period. All data represent mean ± SEM (n=10/group). (*Sal-aCSF: Saline treatment IP with aCSF administered ICV, Sal-Etan: Saline treatment IP with etanercept administered ICV, LPS-aCSF: LPS* challenge *IP with aCSF administered ICV, LPS-Etan: LPS* challenge *IP with etanercept administered ICV)*. Data compared using 2 X 2 X 3-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparison test.

Locomotor Activity

Locomotor activity was measured under stressful conditions using the open field test. Analysis by 2-way ANOVA found no interaction effect or effect of etanercept treatment on locomotor activity but a significant effect of LPS challenge was observed (Figure 5.2: 2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,36)} = 0.049$, P = 0.8254, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,36)} = 25.84$, P<0.0001, aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,36)} =$ 1.35. P = 0.25). Bonferroni's multiple comparison showed that LPS-aCSF treated mice were less active than Sal-aCSF treated mice (P = 0.009). These results suggest that while treatment with LPS impaired locomotor activity, etanercept was ineffective in reversing this impairment.

Figure 5.2: Locomotor Activity (OFT)



Legend: Distance travelled in OFT, as a measure of baseline locomotor activity All data represent mean \pm SEM (n=10/group). (Sal-aCSF: Saline treatment IP with aCSF administered ICV, Sal-Etan: Saline treatment IP with etanercept administered ICV, LPS-aCSF: LPS challenge IP with aCSF administered ICV, LPS-Etan: LPS challenge IP with etanercept administered ICV). Data compared using 2-way ANOVA, (Interaction: P = 0.8254, Saline/LPS challenge: P < 0.001, aCSF/etanercept treatment: P = 0.25). ** P < 0.01 LPS-aCSF compared to Sal-aCSF treated mice, analysed by Bonferroni's multiple comparison

Anxiety-like Behaviour

Anxiety-like behaviour was measured using the EZM (Figure 5.3). Mice were allowed to move freely between open and closed arms. Time spent in the open arm is regarded as an indicator of lower levels of anxiety-like behaviour, as are time spent in head-dipping and stretched posture (Shepherd et al., 1994). No significant interaction effect was seen between groups for time in open arms, but a significant effect for aCSF/etanercept treatment was noted (2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,31)} =$ 0.64, P = 0.42, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,31)} = 1.18$, P = 0.28, aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,31)} = 4.58$, P = 0.04). No interaction effect for time spent in head dipping behaviour was observed, however an effect of LPS challenge and etanercept treatment was seen (2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,30)} = 0.60$, P = 0.44, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,30)} = 23.92$, P < 0.001, aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,30)} = 11.09$, P = 0.0023; Figure 5.3B). Bonferroni's multiple comparison of LPS effect showed that LPS-aCSF treated mice spent less time in head dipping behaviour than Sal-aCSF mice (P = 0.0031), suggesting LPS increases anxiety-like behaviour. Bonferroni's multiple comparison for etanercept effect showed that LPS-Etan treated mice spent more time in head dipping behaviour than LPS-aCSF mice (P = 0.025), indicating that etanercept was able to reverse the effects on LPS on head dipping behaviour.

Similar results were also seen for stretch-attend posture (2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,31)} = 2.98$, P = 0.096,; Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{1,31} = 14.55$, P = 0.0006, , aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{1,31} = 13.93$, P = 0.0008; Figure 5.3C). Bonferroni's multiple comparison of LPS effect showed that LSP-aCSF treated mice spent less time in stretch attend posture compared to Sal-aCSF mice (P = 0.0032), indicative of LPS induced anxiety-like behaviour. Again, Bonferroni's multiple comparison for etanercept effects showed that LPS-Etan treated mice spent more time in stretch attend posture than LPS-aCSF mice (P = 0.002), indicating that etanercept can reduce anxiety behaviours in LPS treated mice.

Distance travelled in the open arm was also measured between groups and no significant differences were detected (2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,34)} = 1.17$, P = 0.28; Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,34)} = 0.15$, P = 0.69; aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,34)} = 1.20$, P = 0.81; Mean ± SEM: Sal-aCSF: 10.4 ± 1.05, LPS–aCSF 8.189 ± 1.9, Sal-Etan: 8.45 ± 1.06, LPS-Etan: 9.45 ± 1.83). This indicates that though there were significant changes observed in the OFT between LPS and Saline treated mice, this difference did not extend to the EZM and the differences observed in this test were reflections of anxiety-like behaviour and not locomotor deficits.





Legend: A) Time spent in open arm B) Time spent in head dipping behaviour, C) Time spent in stretch/attend posture. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n=10/group). (*Sal-aCSF: Saline treatment IP with aCSF administered ICV, Sal-Etan: Saline treatment IP with etanercept administered ICV, Sal-Etan: Saline treatment IP with etanercept administered ICV, LPS-aCSF: LPS challenge IP with aCSF administered ICV, LPS-Etan: LPS challenge IP with etanercept administered ICV)*. Data compared using 2-way ANOVA (A: Interaction: P = 0.42, Saline/LPS challenge: P = 0.28, aCSF/etanercept treatment: P = 0.04; B: Time in head dipping behaviour: Interaction: P = 0.44, Saline/LPS challenge: P < 0.001, aCSF/etanercept treatment: P=0.0023; C: Stretch-attend posture: Interaction: P = 0.096, Saline/LPS challenge: P = 0.006, aCSF/etanercept treatment: P = 0.008). ** P < 0.01 LSP-aCSF compared to Sal-aCSF mice, [#] P < 0.05, ^{##} P < 0.01 LPS-Etan compared to LPS-aCSF mice, analysed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons.

Cognition-like Behaviour

The Y maze was used as a measure of spatial recognition memory. As all mice started in the same arm (start arm) time spent in this arm was not analysed. Analysis however showed that all mice spent similar amount of time in start arm.

A preference index for the novel arm was calculated and a significant interaction effect was found by 2-way ANOVA (Interaction: $F_{(1,20)} = 4.96$, P = 0.037, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,20)} = 1.04$, P = 0.31, aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,20)} = 0.06$, P = 0.80). Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis revealed a significant decrease in spatial recognition memory in LPS-aCSF compared to Sal-aCSF mice (P = 0.038), but no significant difference was noted between LPS-aCSF and LPS-Etan mice (P > 0.9) suggesting this impairment was not rescued by etanercept.

Distance travelled in the Y maze was also measured between groups and no significant differences were detected (2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,36)}=0.96$, P = 0.33; Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,36)} = 0.91$, P = 0.34; aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,34)} = 1.81$, P = 0.18; Mean \pm SEM: Sal-aCSF: 6.39 \pm 1.28, LPS–aCSF: 10.87 \pm 3.78, Sal-Etan: 5.54 \pm 0.63, LPS-Etan: 5.47 \pm 2.24).

Figure 5.4: Cognition-like Behaviour (Y maze)



<u>Legend</u>: A) Percentage of time spent in the novel arm vs. the familiar arm of the retention phase of Y maze, All data represent mean \pm SEM (n=5-7/group). (*Sal-aCSF: Saline treatment IP with aCSF administered ICV, Sal-Etan: Saline treatment IP with etanercept administered ICV, LPS-aCSF: LPS* challenge *IP with aCSF administered ICV, LPS-Etan: LPS* challenge *IP with etanercept administered ICV*). Data compared using 2-way ANOVA (Interaction: P = 0.037, Saline/LPS challenge: P = 0.31, aCSF/etanercept treatment: P = 0.80). * P < 0.05 LPS-aCSF compared to Sal-aCSF treated mice, analysed by Bonferroni's multiple comparison.

Expression of (mRNA) Tnfa in the Hippocampus and PFC

Levels of (mRNA) *Tnfa* in the hippocampus and the PFC of mice were measured 48 hr after LPS challenge. This was done firstly, to test whether LPS would increase *Tnfa* levels in these CNS areas, and then to test whether etanercept would be effective in reversing the up-regulation of *Tnfa*.

In the hippocampus (Fig 5.5A), we found significant difference in mRNA levels of *Tnfa* between groups (Interaction: $F_{(1,13)} = 28.04$, P = 0.0001, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,13)} = 24.52$, P = 0.0003, aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,13)} = 6.84$, P = 0.021). Post hoc analysis showed that indeed LPS-aCSF mice had significantly higher levels of *Tnfa* compared to Sal-aCSF mice (P < 0.001) indicating that peripheral LPS was effective in increasing CNS *Tnfa* levels. Furthermore etanercept treatment was successful in significantly reducing *Tnfa* levels in LPS-Etan mice compared to LPS-aCSF mice (P = 0.001).

In the PFC (Fig 5.5B) the difference between treatment groups was not as robust as in the hippocampus. 2-way ANOVA comparing the different treatment groups found a significant positive effect of LPS in increasing *Tnfa* expression (Interaction: $F_{(1,15)} = 0.09$, P = 0.76, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,15)} = 14.25$, P = 0.018, aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,15)} = 0.07$, P = 0.79) but no significant interaction effects, suggesting LPS was effective in increasing *Tnfa* but etanercept was ineffective in reversing this effect. Post hoc analysis of LPS effect confirmed that LPS was effective in increasing *Tnfa* levels in LPS challenged mice (LPS-aCSF)

compared to Sal-aCSF mice (P = 0.026). LPS-Etan mice also had significantly higher *Tnfa* levels than Sal-Etan mice (P = 0.045).



Figure 5.5: Expression levels of (mRNA) Tnfa in the PFC and Hippocampus

Legend: A) Fold difference of *Tnfa* expression between treatment groups in the hippocampus, B) Fold difference of *Tnfa* expression between treatment groups in the PFC, All statistical analysis were done using the delta Ct values (expression of *Tnfa* normalised to *Gapdh*) and the data represent mean \pm SEM (n= 5/group). (*Sal-aCSF: Saline treatment IP with aCSF administered ICV, Sal-Etan: Saline treatment IP with etanercept administered ICV, LPS-aCSF: LPS* challenge *IP with aCSF administered ICV, LPS-Etan: LPS* challenge *IP with etanercept administered ICV*). Data compared using 2-way ANOVA (A: Interaction: P = 0.0001, Saline/LPS challenge: P=0.0003, aCSF/etanercept treatment: P = 0.021; B: Interaction: P = 0.76, Saline/LPS challenge: P=0.018, aCSF/etanercept treatment: P = 0.79). * P < 0.05, **** P < 0.0001 compared to Sal-aCSF mice, ^{###} P< 0.001 LPS-Etan compared to Sal-Etan, analysed with Bonferroni's post hoc test

Examination of Microglial and Astrocyte Numbers following LPS treatment

To study the effects of LPS and etanercept on resident immune cells in the brain, microglial (IBA1) and astrocyte (GFAP) numbers were examined by staining hippocampal slices using IHC, and counting the number of positive cells in the dentate gyrus and the PFC. Immune challenge with LPS had no effect on astrocyte

number within the dentate gyrus (2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,15)} = 1.24$, P = 0.28, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,15)} = 0.077$, P = 0.78, aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,15)} = 3.58$, P = 0.07, Fig 5.6A), or in the PFC (2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,12)} = 0.11$, P = 0.73, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,12)} = 0.69$, P = 0.42 aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,12)} = 0.63$, P = 0.44, Fig 5.6B).

Figure 5.6: Astrocyte counts across experimental conditions



Legend: A) the figure shows IHC images of astrocytes in the dentate gyrus while the graph represents the number of GFAP positive cells in the dentate gyrus. B) The figure shows IHC images of astrocytes in the PFC while the graph represents the number of GFAP positive cells in the PFC. All data represent mean ± SEM (n = 5/group, Sal-aCSF: Saline treatment IP with aCSF administered ICV, Sal-Etan: Saline treatment IP with etanercept administered ICV, LPS-aCSF: LPS challenge IP with aCSF administered ICV, LPS-Etan: LPS challenge IP with etanercept administered ICV). Data compared using 2-way ANOVA.

LPS however did lead to a significant increase in microglial numbers in the hippocampus, with a significant interaction effect between LPS challenge and etanercept treatment (2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,15)} = 11.41$, P = 0.0041, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,15)}=50.13$, P<0.001, aCSF/etanercept: $F_{(1,15)}=3.36$, P = 0.08, Figure 5.7A). Bonferroni's multiple comparison of LPS effect on microglial numbers showed that LPS-aCSF treated mice had higher number of IBA1 positive cells in the dentate gyrus compared to Sal-aCSF mice (P < 0.001). Bonferroni's multiple comparison of etanercept effects showed that LPS-Etan mice had lower number of BA1 positive cells within the dentate gyrus compared to LPS-aCSF (P = 0.016). In the PFC, however, we found that while there was a significant interaction effect between treatment groups, there was no significant effect of LPS or etanercept (2-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,9)} = 6.81$, P = 0.02, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,9)} = 0.05$, P = 0.81, aCSF/etanercept treatment: $F_{(1,15)} = 1.7$, P = 0.22, figure 5.7B). These results indicate that LPS increased microglial numbers only in the hippocampus and not PFC, and this increase was prevented with etanercept treatment.



Figure 5.7: Microglial counts across experimental conditions

Legend: A) the figure shows IHC images of the microglia in the dentate gyrus while the graph represents the number of IBA1 positive cells in the dentate gyrus. B) The figure shows IHC images of the microglia in the PFC while the graph represents the number of IBA1 positive cells in the PFC. All data represent mean \pm SEM (n = 5/group, Sal-aCSF: Saline treatment IP with aCSF administered ICV, Sal-Etan: Saline treatment IP with etanercept administered ICV, LPS-aCSF: LPS challenge IP with aCSF administered ICV, LPS-Etan: LPS challenge IP with etanercept administered ICV). Data compared using 2-way ANOVA (A: Interaction: P = 0.0041, Saline/LPS challenge: P < 0.001, aCSF/etanercept: P = 0.81, aCSF/etanercept treatment: P = 0.22). **** P < 0.001 LPS-aCSF compared to Sal-aCSF, # P < 0.05 LPS-Etan compared to LPS-aCSF analysed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons.

Discussion

In the present study we have shown that acute systemic immune challenge with LPS resulted in sickness behaviour in mice, evident by a significant decrease in weight at 24 hr, and impaired locomotor activity in the OFT. Furthermore, LPS significantly increased some aspects of anxiety-like behaviour in the EZM and significantly reduced preference for the novel arm in the Y Maze. Etanercept treatment post-LPS was able to prevent the effects of LPS on anxiety-like behaviours in the EZM, but we were unable to observe a significant effect on cognition-like behaviour (Y Maze), weight loss or locomotor activity. LPS challenge increased (mRNA) *Tnfa* expression in the hippocampus and PFC of treated mice, while etanercept treatment was significantly effective in reversing these effects in the hippocampus only. The effects of etanercept were also associated with a significant reduction in microglial numbers within the hippocampus of these mice following LPS administration.

LPS is a potent and robust model of acute sickness behaviour, triggering activation of toll-like receptors and up-regulation of chemokines and cytokines like TNF- α , IL-1 β and CXCL1 (Ortega et al., 2011). This leads to acute changes in food intake, fever, hypo-activity, lethargy, and changes in mood in mice (Dantzer et al., 2008), akin to clinical features of depression and anxiety-like behaviour (Yirmiya et al., 2001, Dantzer et al., 2008). These features were replicated in this study, with LPS causing weight loss, reduction in locomotor activity as well as cognitive impairment and increased anxiety-like behaviour 48 hr post administration. This corresponds with previous studies that showed that while the peak of peripheral LPS activity, marked by increased cytokine expression, occurs 4-8 hr post administration,

its central effects are delayed. Indeed, it is reported that LPS related effects on cognition-like behaviour manifest as early as 4 hr and are present up to 24 hr post administration, whilst depression-like behaviours are evident only from 6 hr, up to 24 hr post administration (Frenois et al., 2007, Noble et al., 2007). In our study we extended these findings, by determining that changes in cognition and anxiety-like behaviour were still present 48 hr after LPS administration, although the peak effects of LPS induced behavioural changes may have been missed due to the delay between LPS treatment and behavioural analyses. The exact mechanisms whereby inflammation induces neurological symptoms are not yet clearly understood (Chandarana et al., 1987, Cavailles et al., 2013, Couch et al., 2013) and in the present study the anxiety-like effects of LPS appear to be partially dependent on TNF- α , as anxiety-like behaviour on the EZM could be reduced by central administration of etanercept. While these effects were significant for head dip and stretch attend measures only, time spent in open arms showed the same trend across groups, suggesting the effects of LPS and etanercept are consistent across measures. Higher number of mice may have led to all three measures showing significant differences between groups. Additionally no differences between groups were observed for distance travelled in this test, indicating that the behaviour observed was representative of anxiety-like responses and not merely locomotor differences. A role for TNF- α in anxiety-like behaviour is supported by studies demonstrating that chronic peripheral administration of TNF-a antagonists reduce levels of depression and anxiety in conditions including chronic pain (Chen et al., 2013) and RA (Uguz et al., 2009), whilst genetic knockout of TNF-α lowers anxietylike behaviour in young mice (Camara et al., 2013). The role of TNF- α in regulating

emotional responses within the CNS is yet to be determined with suggestions that TNF- α may be involved in the regulation of the serotonin transporter pathway, as well as stimulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary axis, which are involved in generating emotional responses (Himmerich et al., 2006, Zhu et al., 2006, Bayramgurler et al., 2013a).

Supporting the present findings, that a single challenge with LPS systemically can increase central TNF- α expression, Bossu *et al* (2012), showed that a single dose of LPS (5 mg/kg) was effective in increasing TNF-a expression in the hippocampus and PFC from 7 days after LPS challenge, lasting up to 10 months after challenge and these changes were associated with cognitive impairments. These results indicate that TNF- α , through systemic LPS can have lasting neuroinflammatory effects in the brain and may lead to cognitive decline. High doses of LPS have also been shown to cause loss of neuronal loss in the frontal cortex along with cognitive impairment (Semmler et al., 2007). LPS challenge has also been linked to decreased parvalbumin reactivity (required for inhibitory neurons) in neurons of the hippocampus without any corresponding change in the frontal regions of rodents (Jenkins et al., 2009). Furthermore extremely high doses of LPS (10 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg) were shown to reduce cholinergic innervations (Semmler et al., 2007), cause degeneration of dopaminergic neurons (Qin et al., 2007). High LPS (5mg/kg) also increased TNF- α levels in the brain, serum and liver (Qin et al., 2007). These studies support the current findings of increased (mRNA) Tnfa in the hippocampus and PFC 48 hr after systemic LPS challenge of a relatively lower dose.

In the present study, TNF- α appears to play an important role in mediating the anxiety-like effects induced by LPS as etanercept reduced anxiety-like behaviours.

This role of TNF- α is supported by previous studies where genetic knockout of TNF- α reduced anxiety-like behaviour in young mice (Camara et al., 2013), while central blockade reduced experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE) induced anxiety in mice (Haji et al., 2012). Additionally TNF-α antagonists reduced anxiety in chronic pain models in mice after peripheral administration (Chen et al., 2013) and this was supported by decreased anxiety observed in RA patients after anti-TNF-α treatment (Uguz et al., 2009). Haji et al (2012) showed that the release of TNF-α from activated microglia altered excitatory transmission within the striatum promotes the development of anxiety-like behaviour while etanercept decreased decay time and duration of mini excitatory post-synaptic currents (mEPSC), indicating a reduction in glutamatergic signalling. Other potential mechanisms whereby TNF- α may induce the development of anxiety-like behaviour include the stimulation of microglia to release glutamate causing neurotoxicity by cell death (Takeuchi et al., 2006) and by silencing cell survival signals (Tamminga, 1998, Venters et al., 2000). Moreover, dysfunction in glutamate signalling has been related to cognitive decline and development of psychotic symptoms (Francis, 2009). Furthermore, it has been suggested that TNF-α modifies the serotonin transporter uptake through p38 mitogen activated protein kinases and thereby altering emotional behaviour, which has been related to anxiety, depression and other mood disturbances like aggression (Zhu et al., 2006).

Although the present study demonstrated a significant effect of LPS challenge on cognition-like behaviours, independent of changes in locomotor activity in this test, etanercept failed to significantly reverse these deficits. Despite the LPS model not being directly translatable to RA, continuous peripheral TNF-α antagonism in RA patients improved cognition (Chen et al., 2010), suggesting that chronic rather than a single dose administration is needed to achieve such effects. However, it should be noted that Tobinick et al (2006, 2008) observed a rapid improvement in cognition in a small cohort of patients with Alzheimer's disease (AD) following a single dose of perispinal etanercept and was supported by animal research on AD models where antagonism of TNF- α by ICV injection had immediate effects on cognition (Medeiros et al., 2007). Additionally, these findings suggest that centrally administered etanercept is more effective in attenuating cognitive impairment in CNS disease models like AD, which are associated with more substantial cognitive deficits, than in our peripheral inflammatory model induced with a single dose of LPS. The lack of significant effects of etanercept in cognition-like behaviour in our study may be linked to the time delay between LPS administration and etanercept treatment. Since major effects of LPS on cognition have previously only been reported up to 24 hr post LPS (Noble et al., 2007), the present study may have missed the peak of cognitive dysfunction, although significant deficits were still noted in the LPS treated mice. Thus, measuring the efficacy of etanercept at an earlier time-point post LPS administration may be necessary to observe significant treatment effects on cognition-like behaviour. Another alternative for the non-significant effect of etanercept on cognition is the high variation within groups in this test compared to others. Using increased numbers, or a more sensitive test of cognition could have helped us see a significant effect of etanercept treatment. Future studies should take this into account as well as timing of drug treatments.

Interestingly, our study failed to observe effects of LPS on astrocytic as opposed to microglia numbers, suggesting differential activation of the two glial cell types, whereby microglia may be more sensitive to peripheral administration of LPS than astrocytes. This may relate to the dose of LPS, as chronic administration (daily for 7 days) generated an astrocyte response in another study, whereas in our study only a single LPS administration was employed (Bian et al., 2013). Another possibility is that there is a temporal difference between the reactivity of the two cell types, with microglia responding more quickly to this insult than astrocytes (Kuhlmann and Guilarte, 2000, Ni et al., 2010). Kuhlmann *et al* (2000) also reported that while microglia responded within 48 hr to an insult generated by administration of neurotoxicant trimethyltin, astrocytic response was delayed, seen at 14 days, but not 48hr following injury. This may explain the lack of findings of peripheral LPS administration on astrocytic number in the current study and future work would need to look at delayed effects of LPS on astrocytes.

The behavioural deficits seen in this study were associated with increased microglia numbers within the dentate gyrus in LPS treated mice, 48 hr post-administration, but not in the PFC. It is known that peripherally stimulated monocytes affect the CNS via the BBB and the blood-CSF barrier and express cytokines like TNF- α (Ubogu et al., 2006). Indeed, this peripheral-central immune cross-talk is further supported by a study that showed how a single high dose of LPS (5 mg/kg) given IP was effective in increasing cytokine expression, particularly TNF- α , in the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex even 7 days after administration (Bossu et al., 2012). Thus, activation of peripheral inflammation can promote central activation and proliferation of microglia and subsequent production of cytokines within the brain itself (Qin et al., 2007, Bossu et al., 2012), providing a potential mechanism to explain the increase in microglia numbers noted within this study only in the

hippocampus but not PFC. The differences in microglia findings in the hippocampus and the PFC between the present study and previous results by Bossu *et al* (2012) may be due to the relatively low dose of LPS used in this study. It may be plausible that a higher dose of LPS is required to illicit a change in microglial numbers in the PFC, but the hippocampus is more susceptible to immune activation, however these speculations will need to be clarified by further studies.

Chronic and acute stressors are known to prime microglia, leading to upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF-α. Microglia are also believed to be activated by psychological and peripheral immune factors, which can result in behavioural changes (Li et al., 2014). Zhu et al (2014b) proposed that, as activated microglia that are known to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines, this may cause neuronal toxicity through free radicals, cytokines and decreased neurogenesis leading to behavioural impairments, particularly social impairment and prepulse inhibition. Additionally chronic stress has been shown to increase microglial activation leading to increased uptake of peripheral monocytes perpetuating cognitive and emotional impairment possibly by impairing synaptic connections (Wohleb et al., 2011, Hinwood et al., 2012, Wohleb et al., 2013, Li et al., 2014). Furthermore High levels of TNF- α promote microglia activation inducing a positive feedback loop causing more activation and proliferation of microglia and TNF-a (Takeuchi et al., 2006). Thereby our study supports that blocking TNF- α action in the brain would be expected to reduce microglia proliferation by stopping this feedback loop. Indeed studies on traumatic brain injury (TBI) in rats showed that etanercept administration is effective in reducing microglia numbers within the CNS following injury (Chio et al., 2013).

Overall, this study shows that following LPS induced behavioural changes and increased microglia in the dentate gyrus, a single dose of etanercept can significantly reduce anxiety-like behaviour and microglia numbers 48hr post peripheral immune challenge. Future work should explore whether a single dose of etanercept administered at the peak of LPS activity (4-8 hr) will be more effective in reducing inflammation as well as in improving cognition and mood-like behaviours compared to a later point of administration. Furthermore it would be worth investigating whether prolonged etanercept administration would be more effective than simply increasing the dosage concentration.

Chapter 6 : Behavioural Characterization of a TNF-α Over-Expressing Mouse Strain

Overview

In addition to the studies detailed in chapters 3.4 and 5, I performed a supplementary study on a TNF- α over-expressing strain. The study was conducted to validate a currently available model of CNS specific TNF- α over-expression, a GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mouse model (Stalder et al., 1998). As TNF- α is a vital biomarker and contributor to a range of inflammatory conditions leading to CNS pathology, there is a need to understand the effects of not only the lack of TNF- α signalling but also the behavioural and neurobiological implications of TNF- α over-expression in the CNS.

AIM 4: <u>To determine the effects of over-expression of TNF- α in a mouse model of</u> CNS specific TNF- α up-regulation, on the behaviour and neurobiology of mice.

Transgenic mice over-expressing TNF- α under the control of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) promoter (astrocyte specific) were compared to age and sex matched control wild-type C57BL/6 mice (WT). This study was conducted in 2 parts: In the first part of the study, behavioural analysis was conducted on 12 week old mice (n = 14 for GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice, n = 21 for WT mice) whereas in the second part of this study a second group of mice were aged to 28 weeks of age and tested in a similar battery as the first part of the study (n = 14/group). Behaviour of mice was tested in battery measuring locomotor activity, cognition-like behaviour, anxiety-like behaviour, exploratory behaviour and depression-like behaviour. Additionally mRNA levels of TNF- α were measured using qPCR and hippocampal levels of NGF and BDNF by ELISA.

The present study failed to note any significant differences between mice, at 3 months and 7 months of age compared to WT counterparts. There was no difference

in TNF-α expression between GFAP-TNF^{+/+} and WT mice, both at 3 months of age and also at 7 months of age. These strains of mice also did not differ in locomotor activity, cognition-like behaviour, exploratory behaviour or depression-like behaviour at both age groups. While anxiety-like behaviour between strains was not different at 3 months of age, older GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice spent significantly less time than WT mice in the open arm of the maze, indicating higher anxiety-like behaviour. No differences between strains in neurotrophin expression were noted for both age groups.

Overall the present study failed to establish the GFAP-TNF^{+/+} model as an effective model of neurodegeneration by TNF- α up-regulation. The lack of significant findings that differ from the original analysis of this strain may be due to epigenetic changes that may have occurred within the strain during breeding but a through biological analysis is required to verify this. Immune stimulation by LPS may be an avenue for further research to validate the GFAP-TNF^{+/+} model.

Introduction

TNF- α is a major biomarker in a range of pathologies that manifest in behavioural defects (Baune et al., 2012b). It is up-regulated in major depression and Alzheimer's disease to name a few (Tobinick and Gross, 2008, Dowlati et al., 2010). Apart from this, treatment of inflammatory conditions like rheumatoid arthritis and Psoriasis with anti-TNF- α drug, etanercept has shown promising results in improving not only disease symptoms but also decreasing pain, depression and improving cognitive decline associated with these pathologies (Tyring et al., 2006, Uguz et al., 2009, Chen et al., 2010).

These factors make the necessity for finding a model of TNF- α overexpression vital not only to understand how behaviour is affected by TNF- α but also the consequences of TNF- α over-expression on neurobiology. This study was therefore conducted to characterize the behavioural changes in a currently available TNF- α over-expressing mouse model in young and mid-adult mice.

Stalder et al (1998) developed a TNF- α over-expression model that was specific to astrocytes. The model appeared to be a valuable tool in understanding TNF- α mediated CNS pathology. As the initial assessment of the mouse strain showed that the over-expressing mice developed severe motor deficits as well as CNS pathology resulting in lesions and up-regulation of TNF- α in the brain, it appeared to be the ideal model for behavioural characterisation of TNF- α specific pathology (Stalder et al., 1998, Carrasco et al., 2000). Therefore this study was carried out to characterize the behavioural changes in this model, both, before the onset of disease (3 month old mice) and after the commencement of TNF- α overexpression (from 7 months of age).

Methods

Mice

Transgenic mice over-expressing TNF- α under the control of Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP) promoter (Astrocyte Specific) were used and obtained from lain Campbell's lab (GFAP-TNF^{+/+}). The generation and subsequent early phenotypic characterisation of this strain has been extensively described by Stalder et al (1998). These test mice were then compared to age and sex matched control wild-type C57BL/6 mice (WT). In the first part of the study, behavioural analysis was conducted on 12 week old mice (n = 14 for GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice, n = 21 for WT mice). In the second part of this study a second group of mice were aged to 28 weeks of age and tested in a similar battery as the first part of the study (n = 14/group).

Gene Expression Analysis (qPCR)

A subset of mice was selected for qPCR analysis to measure the expression of *Tnfa*, (n = 4/ group). Mice were sacrificed after a lethal dose of pentobarbital via IP injection and hippocampal tissue from mice was collected and stored in RNAlater (Ambion, Life Technologies) at -20°C until required for RNA extraction. Brain tissues were lysed with TissuelyserLT (Qiagen, Australia) with 5 mm stainless steel lysis bead (Qiagen, Australia). RNA was extracted from the lysed tissue using Ambion PureLink RNA mini extraction as per manufacturer's instructions. RNA was then quantified using Nanodrop Lite (Thermo Fischer Scientific).

Gene expression analysis for *Tnf* was performed by RT-qPCR in two steps. First, complementary DNA (cDNA) was synthesised from the total RNA using the SuperScript® III First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen) in a thermal cycler (MJ research) following manufacturer's instructions. The products were then diluted to attain a uniform concentration of 10 ng/µl of cDNA for qPCR.

In the next step qPCR was performed on the cDNA using the Applied Biosystems 7500 Fast real-time PCR machine (ABI, Life technologies). Expression of *Tnfa* was quantified with *Gapdh* used as the endogenous reference gene. Samples and negative controls for each gene (without cDNA) were run in triplicates on a 96 well MicroAmp Fast optical-qPCR plate (ABI, Life technologies). Briefly, 4µl of cDNA was added to a master mix consisting of 10 µl of 2X *Power* SYBR Green PCR master mix (ABI, Life technologies), 0.14 µl each of forward and reverse primer along with 5.72 µl of double distilled water to make a total reaction volume of 20 µl. The raw data consisting of the Ct (Cycle threshold) values for individual reactions were exported to excel files and relative quantification of expression was conducted manually using the delta-delta Ct method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Statistical tests were conducted on the delta Ct values (expression normalised to endogenous reference) of each strain

Behavioural Analysis

A comprehensive behavioural battery was carried out incorporating several different behavioural types. Tests were conducted in the following order: (1) Home Cage Locomotor Activity, (2) Open Field Test (OFT), (3) Hole-Board Exploration (HBE), (3) Elevated Zero Maze (EZM), (4) Barnes Maze (BM) and (5) Forced Swim Test (FST) and took 4 weeks to complete. Mice were given at least one day off between tests and tests were conducted in order of least to most stressful, to minimise effects of previous testing (Lad et al., 2010). A single test was not repeated on the same mouse. Equipment for all tests was purchased from Stoelting Co. (USA).

Locomotor Activity: Home Cage Locomotor Activity

Mice were individually tested for general locomotor activity in home cages with 2 day old bedding under basal non-stressful conditions according to previous published results (Baune et al., 2008). Total distance covered over a 5 min period was measured.

Open Field Test (OFT)

Under more stressful conditions basal locomotor activity was measured. Mice were placed at the centre of a brightly lit plexiglass box (40 X 40 cm) and movements were tracked over a 5 min period as previously published (Baune et al., 2008). Distance travelled and time spent in the outer and inner zones of the box was calculated.

Cognition-Like Behaviour: Spatial Memory and Learning: Barnes Maze (BM)

The Barnes maze consists of a bright, circular white platform (91 cm) with 20 holes, which contain either false boxes, or one hidden escape box. The false boxes remove visual cues that might be observed through an open hole. BM procedures were carried out over a six day period according to published protocols with the time taken to find the escape box recorded (Baune et al., 2008).

Pre-training (Day 1): Mice were pre-trained to enter the escape box, first by placement of the mouse into the escape box for 2 min, then by guidance to the escape box before being left for 2 min in the escape box, and finally placement outside the escape box within a glass chamber for up to 3 min at the end of which the mice were again placed into the escape box for 2 min.

Training (Days 2-5): Mice were briefly placed in the centre of the maze under a removable chamber and given 3 min to locate the escape box. Mice that failed to enter the escape box within 3 min were guided to the box and placed there for 2 min prior to returning to their home cage. Each mouse was subjected to 4 trials per day, separated by 15 min, for 4 days. The average of the time taken to find the escape box across the 4 day period was then calculated. Mice that failed to enter the escape latencies representing good spatial memory.

Probe trial (Day 6): Each mouse was given a probe trial of 3 min duration each, with the escape box rotated 90°. Latency to the old and new escape locations was recorded. <u>Retention memory</u> for the (known) old escape box was considered as the tendency of the mice to explore the old escape box in the probe trial instead of exploring the new (unknown) box location. Thus, short latencies to locate the old

escape location were considered to indicate spatial memory retention for the original location.

Exploratory Activity: Hole Board Exploration Test (HBE)

The hole-board exploration test is set up in an apparatus similar to the open field test, and utilises a hole-board insert, which has 16 holes of 1.5 cm in diameter, spaced 6.0 cm apart. Mice are placed into the apparatus and allowed to explore for 5 min. Head dipping behaviour is manually recorded and is an indicator of exploration (Hart et al., 2010).

Anxiety-Like Behaviour: Elevated Zero Maze (EZM)

The elevated zero maze is used as a measure of anxiety-like behaviour wherein anxiety is measured as the time spent in the open arm of the maze, as well as in head dipping and stretch/attend behaviour (Cryns et al., 2007). The apparatus consists of a grey Perspex circular platform of 50 cm diameter and width of 5 cm, located at a height of 40 cm above ground. The platform is divided into 4 equal quadrants, two closed quadrants with grey Perspex walls (27 cm high) on the inside and outside, and two open quadrants without walls. Mice were placed at the centre of either one of the open arms and allowed to explore the apparatus for 5 min. Movement and time spent in open and closed quadrants was recorded.

Depression-Like Behaviour: Forced Swim Test (FST)

The forced swim test is a measure of despair and depression-like behaviour, and was performed according to previously published results (Petit-Demouliere et al., 2005). The apparatus consists of a 4 L cylinder (20 cm diameter) filled up to 20 cm with water (23-24°). Mice were placed in water and movement was tracked over a period of 6 min. Immobility was considered a measure of depression-like behaviour, and was defined as lack of motion beyond which was required for the mouse to keep its head above water. For analysis, the first 2 min were excluded, since mice are mobile during that time and familiarizing themselves with the environment and any immobility during this time therefore cannot be attributed to despair.

Protein Analyses: ELISA

In order to evaluate whether there were any underlying changes in neurotrophin levels within the TNF- α transgenic mice, a subset of mice (n = 7 mice), were sacrificed by Pentobarbital overdose and the brain rapidly removed. The hippocampus and was isolated and stored fresh frozen at -80°C until analysed. Tissue was homogenised in a solution containing 50 mL TRIS, one protease inhibitor tablet (Roche) and 50 µl of Triton-X. Homogenates were then centrifuged at 8500 rpm (Davidson, 2002) for 15 min at 4°C, and the supernatant transferred to 1.5 mL eppendorf tubes. All samples were stored at -80°C until analysis. Amount of protein was quantified using the Bradford method and samples then diluted to contain 50 ng of protein. NGF and BDNF ELISAs were then performed using the E_{max} Immuno

Assay system (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions and as previously published (Sei et al., 2000, Gilmore et al., 2003).

Statistical Analysis

Data analyses were carried out using GraphPad Prism software (version 6.01). All data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Comparisons between groups were carried out using a t test for comparison of 2 groups. *P* < 0.05 was the level of significance for all tests.

Results

No Difference in Tnfa Expression in Mouse Brains

Levels of (mRNA) *Tnfa* in the hippocampus of mice were measured post behavioural testing from both WT and GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice at 3 and 7 months of age (Figure 6.1). Fold difference of *Tnfa* was calculated against reference gene expression, *Gapdh*, but no significant difference was observed between strains for either age group. At 3 months of age, GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice had a 0.5 fold decrease in *Tnfa* expression compared to WT mice, while at 7 months of age there was a 0.5 fold increase in *Tnfa* expression in GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice compared to WT mice.





Legend: The figure shows the expression of TNF- α in the hippocampus of mice at (A) 3 month age and (B) 7 month age. N = 21 for WT mice and n =14 for GFAP-TNF^{+/+} at 3 months of age; n = 4/strain/age group. All data represent mean ± SEM. No significant differences were observed between groups.

Normal Locomotor Activity in 3 and 7 month old mice

Locomotor activity was measured in both strains of mice at 3 months and at 7 months (Figure 6.2). In the home cage and open filed test there were no differences between strains at 3 months (Figure 6.2A: P = 0.40 HC, Figure 6.2B: P = 6.26 OFT) or 7 months of age (Figure 6.2C: P = 0.09 HC, Figure 6.2D: P = 0.51, OFT), as indicated by t-test. These results indicate that locomotor activity was not affected by either genetic manipulation or ageing and that variances observed in any of the subsequent tests were a result of behavioural and not and locomotor differences.





Legend: The figure shows the Home cage activity in (A) 3 month old mice and (C) 7 month old mice. Open field test in (B) 3 month old mice and (D) 7 month old mice. n = 21 for WT mice and n = 14 for GFAP-TNF^{+/+} at 3 months of age; n = 14 for both strains at 7 months of age. All data represent mean ± SEM. Data compared using T test. No significant differences were observed between groups.

No Difference in Learning and Memory on the Barnes maze

Spatial learning and memory in GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice and WT mice was measured using the Barnes maze (Figure 6.3). At 3 months of age no difference between strains in latency to the original escape hole in training (Figure 6.3A: P = 0.09) or probe trial phase (Figure 6.3B: P = 0.51) was detected.

Interestingly, though higher latencies to the original position in the 7 month old GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice were expected, no difference in both, training (Figure 6.3C: P = 0.62) and probe trial (Figure 6.3D: P = 0.81) phase of the test were observed.


Figure 6.3: Learning and memory in the Barnes maze

Legend: A) Training phase of the Barnes maze at (A) 3 months of age and (C) 7 months of age. Probe trial of Barnes maze at (B) 3 months of age and (D) 7 months of age. n = 21 for WT mice and n = 14 for GFAP-TNF^{+/+} at 3 months of age; n = 14 for both strains at 7 months of age. All data represent mean ± SEM. Data compared using T test. No significant differences were observed between groups.

Anxiety-Like Behaviour

Anxiety-like behaviour in this study was measured using the elevated zero maze. To measure anxiety, time in the open arm as well as time spent in head dipping and stretch attend posture was recorded (Figure 6.4)

As expected there was no difference in any of the three parameters in the 3 month old mice (Figure 6.4A: P = 0.87 time in open arm, Figure 6.4B: P = 0.12 time in head dipping behaviour, Figure 6.4C: P = 0.82 time in stretch/attend posture).

Unsurprisingly GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice displayed more anxiety-like behaviour than WT mice at 7 months of age by spending less time in the open arm than WT mice (Figure 6.4D: P = 0.04). However this result did not extend to head dipping behaviour and time in stretch/attend behaviour with no difference in strains observed for these limits (Figure 6.4E: P = 0.15 time in head dipping behaviour, Figure 6.4F: P = 0.12 time in stretch/attend posture).



Figure 6.4: Anxiety-like behaviour in the elevated zero maze

Legend: Time spent in open arm at 3 months (A) and 7 months (D). Time in head dipping behaviour at 3 months (B) and 7 months of age (E). Time in stretch/attend behaviour at 3 months (C) and 7 months of age (F). n = 21 for WT mice and n =14 for GFAP-TNF^{+/+} at 3 months of age; n = 14 for both strains at 7 months of age. All data represent mean \pm SEM. Data compared using T test. * *P* < 0.05 compared to WT mice.

Exploratory and Depression-like Behaviour

To measure exploration in this study, the hole board exploration test was used but no difference between strains for number of head pokes at both 3 months (Figure 6.5A: P = 0.10) and 7 months (Figure 6.5C: P = 0.09) of age were seen.

These findings extended to depression-like behaviour that was measured on the forced swim test. No change in immobility time was detected between strains at either 3 months (Figure 6.5B: P = 0.70) or 7 months (Figure 6.5D: P = 0.28) of age. These results are unexpected and against the hypothesis of higher depression-like behaviour in GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice.



Figure 6.5: Exploratory and depression-like behaviour

Legend: The figure shows the number of head pokes in (A) 3 month old mice and (C) 7 month old mice, the time immobile in the forced swim test at (B) 3 months of age (D) and 7 months of age. n = 21 for WT mice and n =14 for GFAP-TNF^{+/+} at 3 months of age; n = 14 for both strains at 7 months of age. All data represent mean \pm SEM. Data compared using T test. No significant differences were observed between groups.

NGF and BDNF Levels in the Hippocampus

To test whether changes in neurotrophin levels occurred between GFAP-TNF^{+/+} and WT mice, levels of NGF and BDNF in the hippocampus of these mice at both 3 and 7 months of age (Figure 6.6) were measured.

At the 3 months of age there was no difference in strains for BDNF (Figure 6.6A: P = 0.25) and NGF (Figure 6.6B: P = 0.55) expression. This result was replicated in the older 7 month cohort of mice and no difference was seen between strains for both, BDNF (Figure 6.6C: P = 0.45) and NGF (Figure 6.6D: P = 0.39) expression.



Figure 6.6: Levels of BDNF and NGF in the hippocampus

Legend: Expression of BDNF in (A) 3 month old and (C) 7 month old mice, Expression of NGF in (B) 3 month old mice and (D) 7 month old mice. n = 21 for WT mice and n = 14 for GFAP-TNF^{+/+} at 3 months of age; n = 14 for both strains at 7 months of age. All data represent mean ± SEM. Data compared using T test. No significant differences were observed between groups.

Discussion

This study failed to note any differences between mice, at 3 months and 7 months of age compared to WT counterparts. There was no difference in TNF-a expression in the brains of GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice compared to WT mice, both at 3 months of age and also at 7 months of age. No differences between strains in locomotor activity were noticed at both age groups, in either the home cage or the open field test. In the Barnes maze, there was no difference between GFAP-TNF^{+/+} and WT mice at 3 months of age. At 7 months old, while no differences between strains was observed in the Barnes maze. GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice surprisingly showed a trend of lower latency to the escape hole in the probe trials, indicating a tendency towards better memory. In the EZM, anxiety-like behaviour between strains was not different, however in older mice, the GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice spent significantly less time that WT mice in the open arm of the maze, indicating higher anxiety-like behaviour. Unfortunately these results did not extend to the time spent in head dipping and stretch behaviour in the EZM. In case of exploratory and depression-like behaviour, there were no differences between either strains at 3 and 7 months of age, for both tests. No differences between strains in neurotrophin expression were noted for both age groups.

The lack of significant findings in the present study is disappointing. While it was previously reported that the GFAP-TNF^{+/+} strain was liable to have motor impairment from 6 months of age (Stalder et al., 1998), the present study failed to notice any difference in locomotor activity. This lack of significant findings may be attributed to the absence of TNF- α over-expression seen in the present study. The initial analyses of this strain by Stadler et al (1998), showed a significant over-

expression of TNF- α in the brains of these mice compared to WT mice, which the present study failed to detect. At 7 months of age, there was only a 1.5 fold increase in TNF- α expression in the brains of the current mice as opposed to the high fold increase previously reported (Stalder et al., 1998).

Anxiety in 7 month old mice however was higher in GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice. This was an expected result, especially since TNF- α is associated with the development of anxiety behaviour in a range of disorders like RA and psoriasis that have an up-regulation of TNF- α (Uguz et al., 2009, Chio et al., 2013). Surprisingly these results did not extend to depression-like behaviour or the expression of neurotrophins.

The absence of changes in this study may be due to epigenetic changes that occurred with breeding the mice. The lack of penetrance of the genes or epigenetic changes, may have occurred by either breeding or housing conditions of mice between the initial strain developed and the one tested in the present study (Miko, 2008). Alternatively an external stimulant like LPS or physical trauma may be required to activate the over-expression of TNF- α in the GFAP-TNF^{+/+} mice, as observed. This may cause more profound and symptomatic changes than the ones currently observed. Another possible explanation for the want of significant changes may be the age of mice tested. However it is unlikely that ageing mice to more than 7 months will provide similar results to the initial findings as these mice appear to be healthy, similar to WT mice (not shown).

There still is a need for understanding the effects of over-expression of TNF- α in mice, so as to develop treatments to treat inflammatory disorders that have an upregulation of TNF- α . Pharmacological treatment of WT mice with either TNF- α antibodies or inflammatory triggers like LPS may help provide more insight into the workings of TNF- α over-expression on behaviour and neurobiology.

Chapter 7 : Conclusions and Future Directions

Summary of Principal Findings

This body of work was conducted to study the role of TNF- α on behavioural phenotypes in mouse models. Aside from the known roles of TNF- α in immunity, TNF- α is an interesting player in the CNS. Various studies have shown its involvement in a range of CNS activities, from synaptic scaling to neurotrophin expression (Aloe et al., 1999, Beattie et al., 2002). As it is produced by the resident immune cells of the CNS, microglia and astrocytes, as well as by certain neuronal populations (Lieberman et al., 1989, McCoy and Tansey, 2008), it is an active participant in many physiological and homeostatic functions occurring in the CNS (Baune et al., 2008, Baune et al., 2012b). However when the delicate balance of homeostasis is disrupted, be it by trauma, peripheral or central inflammation or even by psychological stress, an up-regulation of TNF- α can result, which disrupts the normal physiological function of TNF- α and can result in harmful consequences for the CNS (Baune et al., 2012b). This is evident from studies on a large number of disorders such as AD, RA and MDD, to name a few, which have presented with not only central TNF-α dysregulation but also an imbalance in peripheral cytokine levels (Alvarez et al., 1996, Korner and Sedgwick, 1996, Dowlati et al., 2010). These changes at the protein and molecular level are met with changes in behaviour increased anxiety, depression and cognitive impairment (Chen et al., 2010).

As TNF- α is such an active biomarker in neuroinflammation, an important aim of this body of work was to determine the consequence of effective and reliable blockade of TNF- α and/or its receptor action. This led to the use of TNF- α and TNF- α receptor knockout mice (chapters 3 and 4) and TNF- α antagonists (chapter 5).

Behavioural and Neurobiological Implications of Genetic Deletion of TNF-α and its Receptors on Young and Mid-Adult Mice

To understand whether targeting TNF- α signalling as well as individual receptor signalling would be beneficial or harmful not only to behaviour, but also to neural development, the first study was conducted in young mice (3 month old mice) (Camara et al., 2013). The main findings from this study were

- TNF^{-/-} mice had impaired learning and memory but TNF-R2 deficient mice, though slow learners, had effective memory consolidation.
- Decreased anxiety in TNF^{-/-} as well as TNF-R2^{-/-} mice was observed.
- There appeared to be no apparent effect of lack of TNF-α and its receptor signalling on exploratory or depression-like behaviour in any of the knockout strains.
- All mice appeared to have normal social behaviour.
- Low levels of NGF were seen in the TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice.

These initial findings were very interesting and showed that uninterrupted signalling of TNF- α and its receptors are required for normal cognitive function. This study also showed that a lack of TNF- α in young adult mice might be beneficial in preventing anxiety-like behaviour. Furthermore as these behavioural changes were linked to low levels of NGF, it indicates that this cytokine might be required for normal expression of NGF and that this may be an explanation for the poor cognition-like behaviour observed in these mice.

Based on these initial findings, the next step was to test whether these phenotypes would change over the course of the animal's life. To test this, mice of the same strains, that is, TNF^{-/-}, TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice and C57BL/6 WT mice, were aged to 6 months. These mice then underwent a similar behavioural and biological testing protocol. In this study on mid-adult mice it was found that:

- TNF^{-/-} and TNF-α receptor knockout mice displayed similar learning compared to WT mice,
- TNF-R1^{-/-} mice displayed better memory than WT as well as other strains of mice.
- Impaired social behaviour was observed in TNF^{-/-} mice.
- Exploratory behaviour in TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice was decreased compared to WT mice.
- TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice exhibited lower depression-like behaviour than WT mice.
- TNF^{-/-} mice expressed significantly lower levels of BDNF than WT mice in the hippocampus
- TNF-R1^{-/-} mice displayed significantly lower BDNF levels compared to both WT and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice.
- TNF-R2^{-/-} mice displayed significantly higher levels of NGF compared to TNF-R1^{-/-}, WT and TNF^{-/-} mice.

These results were an exciting contrast to those observed at 3 months of age. Table 6.1 summarizes the results from chapters 3 and 4 and shows at a glance, the difference between the 2 age groups of mice.

3 MONTH AGE GROUP					6 MONTH AGE GROUP		
STRAINS	TNF ^{-/-}	TNF-R1 ^{-/-}	TNF-R2 ^{-/-}	Comparison Against WT Mice	TNF ^{-/-}	TNF-R1 ^{-/-}	TNF-R2 ^{-/-}
Learning (BM)	-	Impaired Learning	Impaired Learning		-	-	-
Memory (BM - probe trial)	Impaired Memory		-		-	Better Memory	
Exploration (HBE)	-	-	-		Decreased Exploration	Decreased Exploration	Trend for Decreased Exploration
Anxiety-like behaviour (EZM)	Decreased Anxiety	-	-		-	-	-
Social behaviour	-	-	-		Decreased Social Behaviour	-	-
Depression-like behaviour (FST)	-	-	-		Decreased Depression-like behaviour	Trend for Decreased Depression-like behaviour	Decreased Depression - behaviour

Table 7.1: Summary and comparison of results from chapters 3 and 4

BDNF ELISA	-	Trend for Lower Expression	Trend for Lower Expression	Lower Expression	Lower Expression	-
NGF ELISA	Lower Expression	-	Lower Expression	-	Trend for Lower Expression	Higher Expression
DCX positive cells	-	-	-	-	-	-
Ki67 Positive Cells	-	-	-	-	-	-

Legend: The table summarises the findings in chapters 3 and 4. BM: Barnes Maze, HBE: Hole Board Exploration, EZM: Elevated Zero Maze, FST: Forced Swim Test, BDNF: Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor, NGF: Nerve Growth Factor. ' – ' Indicates no difference to WT mice.

In the older cohort of mice it was interesting to note that cognition-like behaviour, which was impaired at 3 months of age, had normalised by 6 months, and that TNF-R1^{-/-} mice even exhibited improved memory on the Barnes maze compared to WT mice. This indicates that while normal signalling of TNF- α and its receptors is required in early stages of growth, this is not the case as the onset of mid-adulthood occurs. The role of TNF- α is in developing a normal cognitive phenotype not maintaining it. Indeed these findings are in keeping with previous work within this group where similar results were seen in TNF^{-/-} mice, with poor cognition at 3 months of age and improved cognition at 6 and 12 months of age (McAfoose et al., 2009).

In the case of exploratory behaviour, while at 3 months of age there was no difference between knockout strains and WT mice, at 6 months of age, $TNF^{-/-}$ and $TNF-R1^{-/-}$ mice both had poor exploration. This indicates that normal signalling of TNF- α and its receptors is required to maintain a normal exploratory phenotype.

Where anxiety-like behaviour was concerned, at 3 months of age only TNF^{-/-} mice displayed low anxiety-like behaviour and by 6 months of age there were no differences in strains compared to WT mice. This is unexpected given that depression-like behaviour was decreased in the 6 month age group (TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice) but not in the 3 month old mice.

Biological changes in neurotrophin expression were also seen between the two age groups. BDNF levels that at 3 months of age only showed trends of lower expression (in TNF-R1^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice), were significantly lower than WT mice at 6 months of age (in TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R1^{-/-} mice). While NGF expression was found to be lowered in TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R2^{-/-} mice at 3 months of age and increased at 6 months of age in the TNF-R2^{-/-} mice.

The findings from these two studies demonstrate that although a lack of TNF- α signalling can improve cognitive function and decrease depression-like behaviour in mid-adult mice (i.e. is beneficial), normal functioning of TNF- α and its receptors is still required to maintain other behavioural phenotypes like exploration and social behaviour.

The outcomes of these studies led us to explore the role of TNF- α in the CNS further. Now the focus of these investigations turned to exploring the effects of pharmacological blockade of TNF- α in young adult mice, after a peripheral immune challenge. The aim of this was to see if the positive effects of TNF- α alteration could be temporarily applied to the CNS, whilst avoiding the negative impact of long-term alterations to TNF- α activity.

Behavioural Implications of Pharmacological Blockade of TNF-α in the CNS

The study detailed in chapter 5 was carried out to determine the effects of peripheral immune challenge on anxiety-like and cognition-like behaviour by treating mice with an acute dose of LPS. As there is extensive cross-talk between monocytes and peripheral cytokines and CNS immune cells (Kerfoot et al., 2006), the aim of this study was to test whether a peripheral immune challenge would be sufficient to activate CNS immune cells, and if so what the effect of blocking TNF- α activity within the CNS would be. Would central blockage of TNF- α by etanercept be able to reverse the behavioural and neurobiological effects of an immune challenge? The main findings from this study are

- Peripheral administration of LPS reduced locomotor activity, impaired cognition-like behaviour and increased anxiety-like behaviour.
- This was associated with an increase in microglia numbers in the dentate gyrus.
- Centrally administered etanercept significantly reduced LPS induced anxiety-like behaviour and LPS induced microglia numbers.
- LPS however had no significant effect on cognition-like behaviour and astrocyte numbers.

This study showed LPS to be effective in inducing behavioural changes in the mice studied and also to increase the numbers of microglia present in the dentate gyrus. Furthermore the study showed that a single dose of etanercept was able to significantly reduce anxiety-like behaviour and microglia numbers 48 hr post peripheral immune challenge.

Conclusions and Discussion

The results of the studies presented are intriguing and demonstrate a complex role for TNF- α in governing behaviour, due to its ability to exert biological changes within the CNS.

Benefits TNF-α Deficiency on Cognition-Like Behaviour

This study has shown that TNF- α is an important candidate in the development of behavioural phenotypes. The observation of poor cognition-like behaviour in young 3 month old mice indicates an important role for this cytokine in establishing normal cognitive functioning. These findings provide support to studies showing TNF- α to be an essential component in mediating AMPAR trafficking to neuronal surfaces and decreasing GABA receptors (Beattie et al., 2002, Stellwagen et al., 2005). Interestingly, however, when knockout mice were aged to 6 months (mid-adulthood) no difference in learning between these strains compared to WT mice were observed. In fact TNF-R1^{-/-} mice had improved memory compared to WT mice, suggesting that an absence of this receptor may actually be beneficial to cognition.

This result indirectly supports and builds on an earlier study that demonstrated high levels of TNF- α inhibited long term potentiation (LTP) in the hippocampus (Butler et al., 2004). Given this previous finding an absence of TNF- α , or its receptors, in older mice would be expected to show improved cognitive functioning when compared to WT animals. This would be because TNF- α activities within the

CNS would be reduced and this would prevent any harmful effects of TNF- α expression on LTP and improve cognitive function. The results of this study certainly supported this finding in part: cognitive functioning in the TNF- α deficient mice improved from 3 to 6 months of age. However, a further study looking at these effects on adult mice aged beyond 6 months would be needed to fully support this.

As TNF- α has been shown to be required for normal development of cognitive function (Camara et al., 2013) yet potentially harmful to cognitive activity if levels are increased in the CNS (Baune et al., 2012b). The next stage was to investigate the effects of temporary blockade of the activities of TNF- α in the CNS. Unfortunately, this study yielded mixed results. While a LPS protocol was effective at inducing impaired cognition, etanercept was ineffective in completely reversing this effect. It should be pointed out however that a large number of studies in both animal and human work have shown antagonism/blockade of TNF- α to be effective in alleviating cognitive decline (Tobinick and Davoodifar, 2004, Tobinick et al., 2006, Tobinick and Gross, 2008, Chen et al., 2010) and the lack of significant findings in this body of work may be due to limitations of the present study.

A disadvantage of the methodology used in chapter 5 is the time delay between administering LPS and observation of the effects of etanercept on cognition-like behaviour (something that is an intrinsic design flaw of this type of study), and this will need to be investigated further and in more detail in future studies.

Despite this methodological limitation, the results of these studies on genetically deficient TNF- α mice, show that the cytokine is an integral part of early

cognitive development but that its role can change to a less beneficial, almost deleterious one depending upon the developmental stage and inflammatory condition of the individual. While these studies were set in the context of 'normal ageing" (chapters 3 and 4), the question still remains as to whether these findings can be translated to inflammatory conditions where TNF- α activity has been increased/amplified (chapter 5).

Impact of TNF-α Deficiency on Exploratory and Social Behaviour

The effects of lack of TNF- α on social and exploratory behaviour were less profound than that on cognition-like behaviour. At 3 months there were no observable differences between knockout mice and WT mice in either of these behavioural phenotypes, suggesting a lack of involvement of TNF- α in the development of these behaviour (Camara et al., 2013). Surprisingly this appeared to not be the case as in older, mid-adult mice where had decreased social behaviour in TNF^{-/-} mice, which was demonstrated by the poor exploration behaviour recorded in both TNF^{-/-} and TNF-R1-^{/-} mice. The results showed improved cognition-like behaviour in 6 month old knockout mice alongside poorer social and exploratory behaviour. This finding adds another complex dimension to the role of TNF- α in governing a range of behaviour.

These findings suggest that a continued blockade of the action of TNF- α may not necessarily benefit individuals in all facets of neurobiology and that selective modulation of the activities of TNF- α may be the best course of action. There appears to be a very complex role for TNF- α in defining various behavioural

phenotypes at different stages of development and this could be linked to either the receptor TNF- α is signalling through or the role that TNF- α plays in modulating synaptic transmission (Butler et al., 2004, Stellwagen et al., 2005, Camara et al., 2013).

Benefits of TNF-α Deficiency on Emotion-Like Behaviour

As with social and exploratory behaviour, there appeared to be a minimal effect of deletion of TNF- α on emotional behaviour in young mice. While decreased anxiety-like behaviour in young TNF^{-/-} mice was observed, there was no effect on depression-like behaviour in these same young mice (Camara et al., 2013). These results were intriguing as they support the immune-endocrine hypothesis that showed TNF-α involvement in anxiety and depression-like behaviour (Bernardini et al., 1990). This hypothesis argues that TNF- α can cause hypothalamic pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis activation, promoting depression and anxiety through corticosterone release, whereas blockade of TNF- α has the opposite effect (Bernardini et al., 1990, Turnbull et al., 1997). TNF-α involvement has also been extensively studied in major depressive disorders and is a key player in the cytokine hypothesis of depression (Dean et al., 2010, Dowlati et al., 2010). These past studies were supported by the results from the 6 month old mice, in which significantly lower depression-like behaviour was observed in TNF-/- and TNF-R2-/strains. Suggesting that this cytokine does indeed promote depressive behaviour and that targeting TNF- α action (modulation rather than complete blockade) may prove beneficial in the treatment of depressive and mood disorders.

In addition, this study supports the growing body of evidence of TNF- α involvement in mood behaviour, by demonstrating that an inflammatory response within the CNS resulting in anxiety-like behaviour could be alleviated by the TNF- α antagonist etanercept, which had the effect of reducing anxiety-like behaviour but not cognition-like behaviour in LPS-etanercept treated mice. These results tie in well with work showing decreased anxiety and depressive symptoms in psoriasis and rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with etanercept (Uguz et al., 2009, Chen et al., 2013). This study has also provided supporting evidence to the literature demonstrating a role for TNF- α as an active biomarker, if not a cause, for depressive and anxious symptoms.

Neurotrophins, Neurogenesis, Glial Cells and TNF-α

In this study there were clear consequences as a result of genetic deletion or pharmacological blockade of TNF- α on the observed behaviour of the mice. However, the results of these studies did not provide information supporting a role for TNF- α in neurogenesis. There appeared to be no effect on the number of proliferating cells and young neuronal cells at either 3 or 6 months of age following alteration to TNF- α activity. Likewise, microglial cells were unaffected by deletion of TNF- α and its receptors in mid-adult mice.

In an inflammatory setting (peripheral inflammation by LPS), there was a significant increase in microglial numbers compared to mice that didn't receive LPS. This is expected since there is extensive cross-talk between peripheral and central immune systems leading to up-regulation of cytokines in both periphery and CNS,

even if there has been no specific trauma or injury to the CNS. Furthermore, TNF- α is able to exert an effect on microglia allowing for a positive feedback loop to become established where microglia produce TNF- α which further activates microglia and promotes TNF- α production. The blockade of this activity through the inhibition/antagonism of TNF- α action would be expected to decrease microglial numbers within the CNS, as observed and detailed in chapter 5.

Despite the absence of evidence of a role of TNF- α specifically in neurogenesis, a complex relationship between TNF- α and the neurotrophins, NGF and BDNF emerges from the results of this study (Camara et al., 2013). The findings contained within this thesis suggest a role for TNF- α and its receptors that adapts and alters neurotrophins in different ways over the course of an animal's life (Baune et al., 2012b).

Both NGF and BDNF are required for development and are regulators of neuronal survival and plasticity (Lewin and Barde, 1996, Huang and Reichardt, 2001, Baune et al., 2012b) and NGF is required specifically for hippocampal development (Golan et al., 2004). TNF- α and NGF are both produced by and cause activation of microglia under inflammatory conditions to produce more TNF- α and NGF resulting in a feedback loop (Takei and Laskey, 2008, Takei and Laskey, 2011). Similarly TNF- α deprivation in the hippocampus has been linked to low levels of BDNF suggesting a close association between the two. Additionally both NGF and BDNF are postulated to be biomarkers in the development of depressive and cognitive impairments (Peng et al., 2005, Castren et al., 2007).

While some of the behavioural changes seen in the TNF- α and TNF- α receptor knockout mice can be attributed to an influence over the activity of neurotrophins such as NGF and BDNF, the exact mechanisms for by which this occurs are yet unclear. More work will need to be done to specifically look at the effect TNF- α exerts over these neurotrophins and exactly how this links to observed behaviour.

Considerations and Future Work

In this study, the main aim was to test the behavioural consequences of genetic deletion of TNF- α and its receptors on mice at different stages of development. This was done by testing mice in early adulthood (3 month old mice) and at mid-adulthood (6 months of age) and through the use of a range of genetically adapted mouse species. Initially, there were plans to further extend on these studies and to test the same mice strains at 12 months of age and older. However, it was not logistically feasible and out of the scope of this PhD project, due to the time constraints within the PhD and the extensive time requirements needed to breed mice to the required age before testing.

Mice improved in cognition-like behaviour and decreased depression-like behaviour compared to WT mice at 6 months of age and as opposed to the poor cognitive performance seen in the 3 months mice (Camara et al., 2013) (chapters 3 and 4). However, a further analysis of mice at 12 and even 15 months of age will be able to provide a more comprehensive picture of how a deficiency of TNF- α and its receptors alters cognitive function and emotional behaviour throughout development and into older age. I believe more work in studying older cohorts of the TNF- α and TNF- α receptor knockout mice strains would significantly add to the literature in the field and should be a consideration for future research.

Moreover, as both Tm and sol TNF- α have different functions and different affinities for the different receptors, wherein TNF-R1 has a higher affinity for solTNF- α , while TNF-R2 has a higher affinity for tmTNF, as has been mentioned previously in this thesis. In the present body of work, the knockout

mice were generated to lack total TNF- α . However it is very likely that in the TNF- α receptor knockout mice, the behavioural and neurobiological effects observed were due to a deficiency in both sol and tm TNF- α . As this study did not differentiate between the two types of TNF- α , it is difficult to assign a particular mechanism of action to each type. To circumvent these shortcomings more thorough investigations into the mechanisms between the different forms of TNF- α will be undertaken in future studies.

It would also be interesting to repeat the first two studies (chapters 3 and 4) of this study using a longitudinal design/methodology so that the results could be compared to those presented here. In the present study, two different groups of mice, of the same strain (chapter 3 and 4) were used rather than a single cohort of mice. This was as a result of the need to sacrifice the mice following behavioural testing in order to conduct biological and molecular analysis of the CNS tissue. Using one group of mice and testing them, first, at 3 months and then later at 6 months of age, could achieve a direct comparison of the behavioural analyses. Despite this limitation, however, there was still room in the current studies, to make speculative comparisons between the 2 age groups of mice. In addition, the use of WT mice in both studies allowed for a direct comparison of the effects of genetic deletion compared to 'normal' behavioural development.

For future work, using the same mouse cohorts for age-specific testing will enable analysis of whether cognition-like and depression-like behaviour actually improve with ageing in knockout mice or whether the improvement is only relative to a phenotypically 'normal' mouse (as was seen in chapter 4). Though this analysis

was not possible in the present study, the results still provide valuable insight on the behavioural effects of TNF- α deletion. It would also be beneficial to use randomised littermate controls in behavioural studies to minimize epigenetic differences colonies. Furthermore, the use of Cre-loxed mice would greatly benefit the study of TNF- α and its receptors by specifically targeting these mice and overcome the limitations of developmental phenotype over actual knockout phenotypes.

In addition to looking at the genetic deletion of TNF- α and its receptors, this study also sought to test a TNF- α over-expression strain (GFAP-TNF^{+/+}, detailed in *appendix*). This strain was tested for behaviour at 3 months and then later at 7 months of age. This strain of mouse, as detailed by a previous study (Stalder et al., 1998) was known to suffer from locomotor deficits leading to ataxia and muscle spasms commencing from 6 months of age and resulting in death of the animal by 12 months of age, due to an over-expression of TNF- α by astrocytes. It was also associated with severe CNS pathology leading to high expression of TNF- α in the brain compared to WT mice, with lesions in areas like the cerebellum and spinal cord (Stalder et al., 1998, Carrasco et al., 2000).

However studies failed to show either up-regulation of TNF- α or any such phenotypic changes (i.e. locomotor deficits) in these mice. The results were unfortunately not what was expected of the transgenic model used and it is speculated that epigenetic changes occurred in these mice over the course of breeding, altering the phenotype (Miko, 2008).

As TNF- α has been postulated to be an important biomarker and is upregulated in a range of disorders like MDD and AD (Baune et al., 2012b), the need

for understanding the neurobiological effects of TNF- α over-expression is critical. Though the model of over-expression employed in this study failed to provide us with the necessary answers, future work should look at either the development of a more robust TNF- α over-expression models or look towards pharmacological methods of TNF- α up-regulation, in order to mimic disease symptoms and provide insight into how this occurs.

Despite the lack of success in the GFAP-TNF^{+/+} model (TNF- α overexpression strain), certain aspects of TNF- α up-regulation in the CNS as a part of this study could still be examined. In the experiments detailed in chapter 5, peripheral LPS administration to initiate an immune response within the CNS was successfully used. This experimental design produced an up-regulation of TNF- α activity within in the CNS and thus mimicked, to some extent, an overexpression model of TNF- α . The use of a TNF- α specific antagonist, etanercept, administered through ICV was effective in reducing the anxiety-like behaviour exhibited in this model and decreased the microglial numbers in the CNS. This data supports the hypothesis that the behavioural changes observed occurred as a consequence of TNF- α activation, and lends weight to the theory that immune activation within the CNS plays a pivotal role in the development of depressive and anxiety-like behaviour.

Whilst the results of the immune challenge study positively demonstrate and reinforce key findings regarding the role of TNF- α in the aetiology of mood disorders, there are some aspects of the study design that could have been improved upon. For instance, in this study mice were tested with an acute dose of peripheral LPS

and then treated with etanercept 24 hr after initial stimulation. However, it would be preferable to test the effects of etanercept on immune activation at a time-point earlier than 24 hr as this lies outside the peak of LPS activity (Frenois et al., 2007). Analysis at 4 hr and 8 hr post LPS would provide a more comprehensive picture of the effects of LPS, and the effects of etanercept administration, during the peak of LPS activity. This would certainly be a recommendation for future and further work using an LPS method of immune activation.

Lastly, in the studies presented in this thesis, the analysis of neurotrophin expression (NGF and BDNF) was limited to the use of ELISA, though a more robust approach like qPCR may have provided more definite results. ELISA methodology was chosen as this analytical technique is well established within the research group and provides more consistency with previous work undertaken using these transgenic strains (Camara et al., 2013). However the results presented here do provide an accurate representation of the protein levels of these neurotrophins within the hippocampus, especially since the protocols used for these analyses have been validated for brain tissue (Gilmore et al., 2003).

Overall, this study provides a comprehensive investigation into the behavioural consequences of targeting CNS TNF- α activity at 2 different stages of development. The results demonstrate conclusively that TNF- α is a key player at all stages of development and normal function. However, there are a number of aspects of the study that can be investigated further to more clearly determine the neurobiological and behavioural role of TNF- α and its receptors within the CNS as a

part of the normal development and functioning of the CNS and in terms of driving cognitive behaviour during inflammatory conditions.

Bibliography

Bibliography

ABBOTT, A. 2010. Mouse project to find each gene's role. *Nature*, 465, 410.

- ABEARE, C. A., COHEN, J. L., AXELROD, B. N., LEISEN, J. C., MOSLEY-WILLIAMS, A. & LUMLEY, M. A. 2010. Pain, executive functioning, and affect in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin J Pain*, 26, 683-9.
- AGGARWAL, B. B. 2003. Signalling pathways of the TNF superfamily: a double-edged sword. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 3, 745-56.
- AKASSOGLOU, K., PROBERT, L., KONTOGEORGOS, G. & KOLLIAS, G. 1997. Astrocytespecific but not neuron-specific transmembrane TNF triggers inflammation and degeneration in the central nervous system of transgenic mice. *J Immunol*, 158, 438-45.
- ALBENSI, B. C. & MATTSON, M. P. 2000. Evidence for the involvement of TNF and NFkappaB in hippocampal synaptic plasticity. *Synapse*, 35, 151-9.
- ALEXOPOULOU, L., PASPARAKIS, M. & KOLLIAS, G. 1997. A murine transmembrane tumor necrosis factor (TNF) transgene induces arthritis by cooperative p55/p75 TNF receptor signaling. *Eur J Immunol*, 27, 2588-92.
- ALOE, L., PROBERT, L., KOLLIAS, G., BRACCI-LAUDIERO, L., SPILLANTINI, M. G. & LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. 1993. The synovium of transgenic arthritic mice expressing human tumor necrosis factor contains a high level of nerve growth factor. *Growth Factors*, 9, 149-55.
- ALOE, L., PROPERZI, F., PROBERT, L., AKASSOGLOU, K., KASSIOTIS, G., MICERA, A. & FIORE, M. 1999. Learning abilities, NGF and BDNF brain levels in two lines of TNF-alpha transgenic mice, one characterized by neurological disorders, the other phenotypically normal. *Brain Res*, 840, 125-37.
- ALOE, L., TUVERI, M. A., CARCASSI, U. & LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. 1992a. Nerve growth factor in the synovial fluid of patients with chronic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*, 35, 351-5.
- ALOE, L., TUVERI, M. A. & LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. 1992b. Nerve growth factor and distribution of mast cells in the synovium of adult rats. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*, 10, 203-4.
- ALVAREZ, X. A., FRANCO, A., FERNANDEZ-NOVOA, L. & CACABELOS, R. 1996. Blood levels of histamine, IL-1 beta, and TNF-alpha in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer disease. *Mol Chem Neuropathol*, 29, 237-52.
- ANDO, Y., KAI, S., UYAMA, E., IYONAGA, K., HASHIMOTO, Y., UCHINO, M. & ANDO, M. 1995. Involvement of the central nervous system in rheumatoid arthritis: its clinical manifestations and analysis by magnetic resonance imaging. *Intern Med*, 34, 188-91.
- APPENZELLER, S., BERTOLO, M. B. & COSTALLAT, L. T. 2004. Cognitive impairment in rheumatoid arthritis. *Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol*, 26, 339-43.
- ARGUELLO, P. A. & GOGOS, J. A. 2010. Cognition in mouse models of schizophrenia susceptibility genes. *Schizophr Bull*, 36, 289-300.
- ASLAM, M., AHMAD, N., SRIVASTAVA, R. & HEMMER, B. 2012. TNF-alpha induced NFkappaB signaling and p65 (RelA) overexpression repress Cldn5 promoter in mouse brain endothelial cells. *Cytokine*, 57, 269-75.
- AUSTIN, C. P., BATTEY, J. F., BRADLEY, A., BUCAN, M., CAPECCHI, M., COLLINS, F. S., DOVE, W. F., DUYK, G., DYMECKI, S., EPPIG, J. T., GRIEDER, F. B., HEINTZ, N., HICKS, G., INSEL, T. R., JOYNER, A., KOLLER, B. H., LLOYD, K. C., MAGNUSON, T., MOORE, M. W., NAGY, A., POLLOCK, J. D., ROSES, A. D., SANDS, A. T., SEED, B.,

SKARNES, W. C., SNODDY, J., SORIANO, P., STEWART, D. J., STEWART, F., STILLMAN, B., VARMUS, H., VARTICOVSKI, L., VERMA, I. M., VOGT, T. F., VON MELCHNER, H., WITKOWSKI, J., WOYCHIK, R. P., WURST, W., YANCOPOULOS, G. D., YOUNG, S. G. & ZAMBROWICZ, B. 2004. The knockout mouse project. *Nat Genet*, 36, 921-4.

- BAI, Y. M., CHIOU, W. F., SU, T. P., LI, C. T. & CHEN, M. H. 2013. Pro-inflammatory cytokine associated with somatic and pain symptoms in depression. *J Affect Disord*, 155, 28-34.
- BAKER, M. 2013. Neuroscience: Through the eyes of a mouse. *Nature*, 502, 156-8.
- BANKS, W. A. & ERICKSON, M. A. 2010. The blood-brain barrier and immune function and dysfunction. *Neurobiol Dis*, 37, 26-32.
- BARKER, C. F. & BILLINGHAM, R. E. 1977. Immunologically privileged sites. *Adv Immunol*, 25, 1-54.
- BARKER, V., MIDDLETON, G., DAVEY, F. & DAVIES, A. M. 2001. TNFalpha contributes to the death of NGF-dependent neurons during development. *Nat Neurosci*, 4, 1194-8.
- BARTEN, D. M. & RUDDLE, N. H. 1994. Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 modulation by tumor necrosis factor in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroimmunol*, 51, 123-33.
- BARTHEL, C., YEREMENKO, N., JACOBS, R., SCHMIDT, R. E., BERNATECK, M., ZEIDLER, H., TAK, P. P., BAETEN, D. & RIHL, M. 2009. Nerve growth factor and receptor expression in rheumatoid arthritis and spondyloarthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther*, 11, R82.
- BARTON, B. E. 1998. The biological effects of interleukin-6. *Medicinal Research Reviews*, 16, 87-109.
- BASSUKAS, I. D., HYPHANTIS, T., GAMVROULIA, C., GAITANIS, G. & MAVREAS, V. 2008. Infliximab for patients with plaque psoriasis and severe psychiatric comorbidity. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol*, 22, 257-8.
- BAUNE, B. T., CAMARA, M., EYRE, H., JAWAHAR, C., ANSCOMB, H. & KÖRNER, H. 2012a. Tumour necrosis factor alpha mediated mechanisms of cognitive dysfunction. *Translational Neuroscience*, **3**, 263-277.
- BAUNE, B. T., CAMARA, M.-L., EYRE, H., JAWAHAR, C., ANSCOMB, H. & KOERNER, H. 2012b. Tumour necrosis factor alpha mediated mechanisms of cognitive dysfunction. *Trans Neurosci*, *3*, 263-277.
- BAUNE, B. T., KONRAD, C., GROTEGERD, D., SUSLOW, T., OHRMANN, P., BAUER, J., AROLT, V., HEINDEL, W., DOMSCHKE, K., SCHONING, S., RAUCH, A. V., SEHLMEYER, C., KUGEL, H. & DANNLOWSKI, U. 2012c. Tumor necrosis factor gene variation predicts hippocampus volume in healthy individuals. *Biol Psychiatry*, 72, 655-62.
- BAUNE, B. T., WIEDE, F., BRAUN, A., GOLLEDGE, J., AROLT, V. & KOERNER, H. 2008. Cognitive dysfunction in mice deficient for TNF- and its receptors. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet*, 147B, 1056-64.
- BAYER, T. A., BUSLEI, R., HAVAS, L. & FALKAI, P. 1999. Evidence for activation of microglia in patients with psychiatric illnesses. *Neurosci Lett*, 271, 126-8.
- BAYRAMGURLER, D., KARSON, A., OZER, C. & UTKAN, T. 2013a. Effects of long-term etanercept treatment on anxiety- and depression-like neurobehaviors in rats. *Physiol Behav*, 119, 145-8.

- BAYRAMGURLER, D., KARSON, A., YAZIR, Y., CELIKYURT, I. K., KURNAZ, S. & UTKAN, T. 2013b. The effect of etanercept on aortic nitric oxide-dependent vasorelaxation in an unpredictable chronic, mild stress model of depression in rats. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 710, 67-72.
- BAZZONI, F. & BEUTLER, B. 1996. The tumor necrosis factor ligand and receptor families. *N Engl J Med*, 334, 1717-25.
- BEATTIE, E. C., STELLWAGEN, D., MORISHITA, W., BRESNAHAN, J. C., HA, B. K., VON ZASTROW, M., BEATTIE, M. S. & MALENKA, R. C. 2002. Control of synaptic strength by glial TNFalpha. *Science*, 295, 2282-5.
- BERNARDINI, R., KAMILARIS, T. C., CALOGERO, A. E., JOHNSON, E. O., GOMEZ, M. T., GOLD, P. W. & CHROUSOS, G. P. 1990. Interactions between tumor necrosis factor-alpha, hypothalamic corticotropin-releasing hormone, and adrenocorticotropin secretion in the rat. *Endocrinology*, 126, 2876-81.
- BERNARDINO, L., AGASSE, F., SILVA, B., FERREIRA, R., GRADE, S. & MALVA, J. O. 2008. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha modulates survival, proliferation, and neuronal differentiation in neonatal subventricular zone cell cultures. *Stem Cells*, 26, 2361-71.
- BETTE, M., KAUT, O., SCHAFER, M. K. & WEIHE, E. 2003. Constitutive expression of p55TNFR mRNA and mitogen-specific up-regulation of TNF alpha and p75TNFR mRNA in mouse brain. *J Comp Neurol*, 465, 417-30.
- BIAN, Y., ZHAO, X., LI, M., ZENG, S. & ZHAO, B. 2013. Various roles of astrocytes during recovery from repeated exposure to different doses of lipopolysaccharide. *Behav Brain Res*, 253, 253-61.
- BIEBL, M., COOPER, C. M., WINKLER, J. & KUHN, H. G. 2000. Analysis of neurogenesis and programmed cell death reveals a self-renewing capacity in the adult rat brain. *Neurosci Lett*, 291, 17-20.
- BIELEFELDT OHMANN, H., CAMPOS, M., SNIDER, M., RAPIN, N., BESKORWAYNE, T., POPOWYCH, Y., LAWMAN, M. J., ROSSI, A. & BABIUK, L. A. 1989. Effect of chronic administration of recombinant bovine tumor necrosis factor to cattle. *Vet Pathol*, 26, 462-72.
- BILBO, S. D. & SCHWARZ, J. M. 2012. The immune system and developmental programming of brain and behavior. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, 33, 267-86.
- BLISS, T. V. & COLLINGRIDGE, G. L. 1993. A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Nature*, 361, 31-9.
- BLUME, J., DOUGLAS, S. D. & EVANS, D. L. 2011. Immune suppression and immune activation in depression. *Brain Behav Immun*, 25, 221-9.
- BOADO, R. J., HUI, E. K., LU, J. Z., ZHOU, Q. H. & PARDRIDGE, W. M. 2010. Selective targeting of a TNFR decoy receptor pharmaceutical to the primate brain as a receptor-specific IgG fusion protein. *J Biotechnol*, 146, 84-91.
- BODE, J. G., NIMMESGERN, A., SCHMITZ, J., SCHAPER, F., SCHMITT, M., FRISCH, W., HAUSSINGER, D., HEINRICH, P. C. & GRAEVE, L. 1999. LPS and TNFalpha induce SOCS3 mRNA and inhibit IL-6-induced activation of STAT3 in macrophages. *FEBS Lett*, 463, 365-70.
- BOIN, F., ZANARDINI, R., PIOLI, R., ALTAMURA, C. A., MAES, M. & GENNARELLI, M. 2001. Association between -G308A tumor necrosis factor alpha gene polymorphism and schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry*, 6, 79-82.

- BOLSHAKOV, V. Y., CARBONI, L., COBB, M. H., SIEGELBAUM, S. A. & BELARDETTI, F. 2000. Dual MAP kinase pathways mediate opposing forms of long-term plasticity at CA3-CA1 synapses. *Nat Neurosci*, **3**, 1107-12.
- BOSSU, P., CIARAMELLA, A., SALANI, F., BIZZONI, F., VARSI, E., DI IULIO, F., GIUBILEI, F., GIANNI, W., TREQUATTRINI, A., MORO, M. L., BERNARDINI, S., CALTAGIRONE, C. & SPALLETTA, G. 2008. Interleukin-18 produced by peripheral blood cells is increased in Alzheimer's disease and correlates with cognitive impairment. *Brain Behav Immun*, 22, 487-92.
- BOSSU, P., CUTULI, D., PALLADINO, I., CAPORALI, P., ANGELUCCI, F., LARICCHIUTA, D., GELFO, F., DE BARTOLO, P., CALTAGIRONE, C. & PETROSINI, L. 2012. A single intraperitoneal injection of endotoxin in rats induces long-lasting modifications in behavior and brain protein levels of TNF-alpha and IL-18. *J Neuroinflammation*, 9, 101.
- BOULANGER, L. M. & SHATZ, C. J. 2004. Immune signalling in neural development, synaptic plasticity and disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **5**, 521-31.
- BRAMBILLA, F. & MAGGIONI, M. 1998. Blood levels of cytokines in elderly patients with major depressive disorder. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 97, 309-13.
- BRIETZKE, E., STERTZ, L., FERNANDES, B. S., KAUER-SANT'ANNA, M., MASCARENHAS, M., ESCOSTEGUY VARGAS, A., CHIES, J. A. & KAPCZINSKI, F. 2009. Comparison of cytokine levels in depressed, manic and euthymic patients with bipolar disorder. *J Affect Disord*, 116, 214-7.
- BROWN, R. E., STANFORD, L. & SCHELLINCK, H. M. 2000. Developing standardized behavioral tests for knockout and mutant mice. *ILAR J*, 41, 163-74.
- BRUCE, A. J., BOLING, W., KINDY, M. S., PESCHON, J., KRAEMER, P. J., CARPENTER, M. K., HOLTSBERG, F. W. & MATTSON, M. P. 1996. Altered neuronal and microglial responses to excitotoxic and ischemic brain injury in mice lacking TNF receptors. *Nat Med*, 2, 788-94.
- BRYDON, L., HARRISON, N. A., WALKER, C., STEPTOE, A. & CRITCHLEY, H. D. 2008. Peripheral inflammation is associated with altered substantia nigra activity and psychomotor slowing in humans. *Biol Psychiatry*, 63, 1022-9.
- BUTLER, M. P., O'CONNOR, J. J. & MOYNAGH, P. N. 2004. Dissection of tumor-necrosis factor-alpha inhibition of long-term potentiation (LTP) reveals a p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase-dependent mechanism which maps to early-but not late-phase LTP. *Neuroscience*, 124, 319-26.
- BUTOVSKY, O., TALPALAR, A. E., BEN-YAAKOV, K. & SCHWARTZ, M. 2005. Activation of microglia by aggregated beta-amyloid or lipopolysaccharide impairs MHC-II expression and renders them cytotoxic whereas IFN-gamma and IL-4 render them protective. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 29, 381-93.
- CAMANDOLA, S. & MATTSON, M. P. 2007. NF-kappa B as a therapeutic target in neurodegenerative diseases. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*, 11, 123-32.
- CAMARA, M. L., CORRIGAN, F., JAEHNE, E. J., JAWAHAR, M. C., ANSCOMB, H. & BAUNE, B. T. 2014. Effects of Centrally Administered Etanercept on Behaviour, Microglia and Astrocytes in Mice Following a Peripheral Immune Challenge. *Neuropsychopharmacology*.
- CAMARA, M. L., CORRIGAN, F., JAEHNE, E. J., JAWAHAR, M. C., ANSCOMB, H., KOERNER, H. & BAUNE, B. T. 2013. TNF-alpha and its receptors modulate complex
behaviours and neurotrophins in transgenic mice. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 38, 3102-14.

- CAMPBELL, S., MARRIOTT, M., NAHMIAS, C. & MACQUEEN, G. M. 2004. Lower hippocampal volume in patients suffering from depression: a meta-analysis. *Am J Psychiatry*, 161, 598-607.
- CAPSONI, S., UGOLINI, G., COMPARINI, A., RUBERTI, F., BERARDI, N. & CATTANEO, A. 2000. Alzheimer-like neurodegeneration in aged antinerve growth factor transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 6826-31.
- CARPENTER, L. L., HENINGER, G. R., MALISON, R. T., TYRKA, A. R. & PRICE, L. H. 2004. Cerebrospinal fluid interleukin (IL)-6 in unipolar major depression. *J Affect Disord*, 79, 285-9.
- CARRASCO, J., GIRALT, M., PENKOWA, M., STALDER, A. K., CAMPBELL, I. L. & HIDALGO, J. 2000. Metallothioneins are upregulated in symptomatic mice with astrocyte-targeted expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Exp Neurol*, 163, 46-54.
- CASTREN, E., VOIKAR, V. & RANTAMAKI, T. 2007. Role of neurotrophic factors in depression. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, **7**, 18-21.
- CAVAILLES, A., BRINCHAULT-RABIN, G., DIXMIER, A., GOUPIL, F., GUT-GOBERT, C., MARCHAND-ADAM, S., MEURICE, J. C., MOREL, H., PERSON-TACNET, C., LEROYER, C. & DIOT, P. 2013. Comorbidities of COPD. *Eur Respir Rev*, 22, 454-75.
- CELADA, A. & MAKI, R. A. 1991. IFN-gamma induces the expression of the genes for MHC class II I-A beta and tumor necrosis factor through a protein kinase C-independent pathway. *J Immunol*, 146, 114-20.
- CERRI, A. P., AROSIO, B., VIAZZOLI, C., CONFALONIERI, R., VERGANI, C. & ANNONI, G. 2010. The -308 (G/A) single nucleotide polymorphism in the TNF-alpha gene and the risk of major depression in the elderly. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*, 25, 219-23.
- CHANDARANA, P. C., EALS, M., STEINGART, A. B., BELLAMY, N. & ALLEN, S. 1987. The detection of psychiatric morbidity and associated factors in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Can J Psychiatry*, 32, 356-61.
- CHEN, G. & GOEDDEL, D. V. 2002. TNF-R1 signaling: a beautiful pathway. *Science*, 296, 1634-5.
- CHEN, J., SONG, Y., YANG, J., ZHANG, Y., ZHAO, P., ZHU, X. J. & SU, H. C. 2013. The contribution of TNF-alpha in the amygdala to anxiety in mice with persistent inflammatory pain. *Neurosci Lett*, 541, 275-80.
- CHEN, Y. M., CHEN, H. H., LAN, J. L. & CHEN, D. Y. 2010. Improvement of cognition, a potential benefit of anti-TNF therapy in elderly patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Joint Bone Spine*, 77, 366-7.
- CHENG, B., CHRISTAKOS, S. & MATTSON, M. P. 1994. Tumor necrosis factors protect neurons against metabolic-excitotoxic insults and promote maintenance of calcium homeostasis. *Neuron*, 12, 139-53.
- CHIO, C. C., CHANG, C. H., WANG, C. C., CHEONG, C. U., CHAO, C. M., CHENG, B. C., YANG, C. Z. & CHANG, C. P. 2013. Etanercept attenuates traumatic brain injury in rats by reducing early microglial expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *BMC Neurosci*, 14, 33.
- CHOY, K. H., DE VISSER, Y., NICHOLS, N. R. & VAN DEN BUUSE, M. 2008. Combined neonatal stress and young-adult glucocorticoid stimulation in rats reduce BDNF expression in hippocampus: effects on learning and memory. *Hippocampus*, 18, 655-67.

- CHURCHILL, L., TAISHI, P., WANG, M., BRANDT, J., CEARLEY, C., REHMAN, A. & KRUEGER, J. M. 2006. Brain distribution of cytokine mRNA induced by systemic administration of interleukin-1beta or tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Brain Res*, 1120, 64-73.
- CLARK, I. A., ALLEVA, L. M. & VISSEL, B. 2010. The roles of TNF in brain dysfunction and disease. *Pharmacol Ther*, 128, 519-48.
- COELHO, F. M., REIS, H. J., NICOLATO, R., ROMANO-SILVA, M. A., TEIXEIRA, M. M., BAUER, M. E. & TEIXEIRA, A. L. 2008. Increased serum levels of inflammatory markers in chronic institutionalized patients with schizophrenia. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, 15, 140-4.
- COLLINS, P. Y., PATEL, V., JOESTL, S. S., MARCH, D., INSEL, T. R., DAAR, A. S., SCIENTIFIC ADVISORY, B., THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE GRAND CHALLENGES ON GLOBAL MENTAL, H., ANDERSON, W., DHANSAY, M. A., PHILLIPS, A., SHURIN, S., WALPORT, M., EWART, W., SAVILL, S. J., BORDIN, I. A., COSTELLO, E. J., DURKIN, M., FAIRBURN, C., GLASS, R. I., HALL, W., HUANG, Y., HYMAN, S. E., JAMISON, K., KAAYA, S., KAPUR, S., KLEINMAN, A., OGUNNIYI, A., OTERO-OJEDA, A., POO, M. M., RAVINDRANATH, V., SAHAKIAN, B. J., SAXENA, S., SINGER, P. A. & STEIN, D. J. 2011. Grand challenges in global mental health. *Nature*, 475, 27-30.
- CORONA, A. W., FENN, A. M. & GODBOUT, J. P. 2012. Cognitive and behavioral consequences of impaired immunoregulation in aging. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol*, *7*, 7-23.
- COUCH, Y., ANTHONY, D. C., DOLGOV, O., REVISCHIN, A., FESTOFF, B., SANTOS, A. I., STEINBUSCH, H. W. & STREKALOVA, T. 2013. Microglial activation, increased TNF and SERT expression in the prefrontal cortex define stress-altered behaviour in mice susceptible to anhedonia. *Brain Behav Immun*, 29, 136-46.
- CRIBBS, D. H., BERCHTOLD, N. C., PERREAU, V., COLEMAN, P. D., ROGERS, J., TENNER, A. J. & COTMAN, C. W. 2012. Extensive innate immune gene activation accompanies brain aging, increasing vulnerability to cognitive decline and neurodegeneration: a microarray study. *J Neuroinflammation*, 9, 179.
- CROSS, A. H. & WAUBANT, E. 2010. MS and the B cell controversy. *Biochim Biophys Acta*.
- CRYNS, K., SHAMIR, A., SHAPIRO, J., DANEELS, G., GORIS, I., VAN CRAENENDONCK, H., STRAETEMANS, R., BELMAKER, R. H., AGAM, G., MOECHARS, D. & STECKLER, T. 2007. Lack of lithium-like behavioral and molecular effects in IMPA2 knockout mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 32, 881-91.
- CUZZOCREA, S., AYROLDI, E., DI PAOLA, R., AGOSTINI, M., MAZZON, E., BRUSCOLI, S., GENOVESE, T., RONCHETTI, S., CAPUTI, A. P. & RICCARDI, C. 2005. Role of glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor family gene (GITR) in collagen-induced arthritis. *FASEB J*, 19, 1253-65.
- D'INTINO, G., PARADISI, M., FERNANDEZ, M., GIULIANI, A., ALOE, L., GIARDINO, L. & CALZA, L. 2005. Cognitive deficit associated with cholinergic and nerve growth factor down-regulation in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 3070-5.
- DANTZER, R., O'CONNOR, J. C., FREUND, G. G., JOHNSON, R. W. & KELLEY, K. W. 2008. From inflammation to sickness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 9, 46-56.
- DAS, S. & BASU, A. 2008. Inflammation: a new candidate in modulating adult neurogenesis. *J Neurosci Res*, 86, 1199-208.

- DAVIDSON, R. J. 2002. Anxiety and affective style: role of prefrontal cortex and amygdala. *Biol Psychiatry*, 51, 68-80.
- DEAN, B., TAWADROS, N., SCARR, E. & GIBBONS, A. S. 2010. Regionally-specific changes in levels of tumour necrosis factor in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex obtained postmortem from subjects with major depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord*, 120, 245-8.
- DELLU, F., CONTARINO, A., SIMON, H., KOOB, G. F. & GOLD, L. H. 2000. Genetic differences in response to novelty and spatial memory using a two-trial recognition task in mice. *Neurobiol Learn Mem*, 73, 31-48.
- DELLU, F., MAYO, W., CHERKAOUI, J., LE MOAL, M. & SIMON, H. 1992. A two-trial memory task with automated recording: study in young and aged rats. *Brain Res*, 588, 132-9.
- DICKERSON, F., STALLINGS, C., ORIGONI, A., BORONOW, J. & YOLKEN, R. 2007. C-reactive protein is associated with the severity of cognitive impairment but not of psychiatric symptoms in individuals with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, 93, 261-5.
- DINIZ, B. S., TEIXEIRA, A. L., OJOPI, E. B., TALIB, L. L., MENDONCA, V. A., GATTAZ, W. F. & FORLENZA, O. V. 2010. Higher serum sTNFR1 level predicts conversion from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 22, 1305-11.
- DOORDUIN, J., DE VRIES, E. F., WILLEMSEN, A. T., DE GROOT, J. C., DIERCKX, R. A. & KLEIN, H. C. 2009. Neuroinflammation in schizophrenia-related psychosis: a PET study. *J Nucl Med*, 50, 1801-7.
- DOPP, J. M., MACKENZIE-GRAHAM, A., OTERO, G. C. & MERRILL, J. E. 1997. Differential expression, cytokine modulation, and specific functions of type-1 and type-2 tumor necrosis factor receptors in rat glia. *J Neuroimmunol*, 75, 104-12.
- DOWLATI, Y., HERRMANN, N., SWARDFAGER, W., LIU, H., SHAM, L., REIM, E. K. & LANCTOT, K. L. 2010. A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. *Biol Psychiatry*, 67, 446-57.
- DRUTSKAYA, M. S., EFIMOV, G. A., KRUGLOV, A. A., KUPRASH, D. V. & NEDOSPASOV, S. A. 2010. Tumor necrosis factor, lymphotoxin and cancer. *IUBMB Life*, 62, 283-9.
- DRZYZGA, L., OBUCHOWICZ, E., MARCINOWSKA, A. & HERMAN, Z. S. 2006. Cytokines in schizophrenia and the effects of antipsychotic drugs. *Brain Behav Immun,* 20, 532-45.
- DULAWA, S. C., GRANDY, D. K., LOW, M. J., PAULUS, M. P. & GEYER, M. A. 1999. Dopamine D4 receptor-knock-out mice exhibit reduced exploration of novel stimuli. *J Neurosci*, 19, 9550-6.
- DURANY, N., MICHEL, T., ZOCHLING, R., BOISSL, K. W., CRUZ-SANCHEZ, F. F., RIEDERER, P. & THOME, J. 2001. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and neurotrophin 3 in schizophrenic psychoses. *Schizophr Res*, 52, 79-86.
- EDWARDS, C. K., 3RD, BENDELE, A. M., REZNIKOV, L. I., FANTUZZI, G., CHLIPALA, E. S., LI, L., MOLDAWER, L. L., MOUNTZ, J. D., LI, Y. Y. & DINARELLO, C. A. 2006. Soluble human p55 and p75 tumor necrosis factor receptors reverse spontaneous arthritis in transgenic mice expressing transmembrane tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Arthritis Rheum*, 54, 2872-85.
- EISENER-DORMAN, A. F., LAWRENCE, D. A. & BOLIVAR, V. J. 2009. Cautionary insights on knockout mouse studies: the gene or not the gene? *Brain Behav Immun,* 23, 318-24.

- EL-TANTAWY, A. M., EL-SAYED, A. E., KORA, B. A. & AMIN, R. T. 2008. Psychiatric morbidity associated with some cytokines (IL-1beta, IL-12, IL-18 and TNF-alpha) among rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Egypt J Immunol*, 15, 1-11.
- ELAHI, M. M., ASOTRA, K., MATATA, B. M. & MASTANA, S. S. 2009. Tumor necrosis factor alpha -308 gene locus promoter polymorphism: an analysis of association with health and disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1792, 163-72.
- ELKABES, S., PENG, L. & BLACK, I. B. 1998. Lipopolysaccharide differentially regulates microglial trk receptor and neurotrophin expression. *J Neurosci Res*, 54, 117-22.
- ENGELHARDT, B. 2006. Regulation of immune cell entry into the central nervous system. *Results Probl Cell Differ*, 43, 259-80.
- ERICKSON, S. L., DE SAUVAGE, F. J., KIKLY, K., CARVER-MOORE, K., PITTS-MEEK, S., GILLETT, N., SHEEHAN, K. C., SCHREIBER, R. D., GOEDDEL, D. V. & MOORE, M. W. 1994. Decreased sensitivity to tumour-necrosis factor but normal T-cell development in TNF receptor-2-deficient mice. *Nature*, 372, 560-3.
- EYRE, H. & BAUNE, B. T. 2011. Neuroimmunological effects of physical exercise in depression. *Brain Behav Immun*.
- FILE, S. E. & WARDILL, A. G. 1975a. The reliability of the hole-board apparatus. *Psychopharmacologia*, 44, 47-51.
- FILE, S. E. & WARDILL, A. G. 1975b. Validity of head-dipping as a measure of exploration in a modified hole-board. *Psychopharmacologia*, 44, 53-9.
- FIORE, M., ALLEVA, E., PROBERT, L., KOLLIAS, G., ANGELUCCI, F. & ALOE, L. 1998. Exploratory and displacement behavior in transgenic mice expressing high levels of brain TNF-alpha. *Physiol Behav*, 63, 571-6.
- FIORE, M., PROBERT, L., KOLLIAS, G., AKASSOGLOU, K., ALLEVA, E. & ALOE, L. 1996. Neurobehavioral alterations in developing transgenic mice expressing TNF-alpha in the brain. *Brain Behav Immun*, 10, 126-38.
- FONTAINE, V., MOHAND-SAID, S., HANOTEAU, N., FUCHS, C., PFIZENMAIER, K. & EISEL, U. 2002. Neurodegenerative and neuroprotective effects of tumor Necrosis factor (TNF) in retinal ischemia: opposite roles of TNF receptor 1 and TNF receptor 2. J Neurosci, 22, RC216.
- FORSTER, C., BUREK, M., ROMERO, I. A., WEKSLER, B., COURAUD, P. O. & DRENCKHAHN, D. 2008. Differential effects of hydrocortisone and TNFalpha on tight junction proteins in an in vitro model of the human blood-brain barrier. *J Physiol*, 586, 1937-49.
- FRANCIS, P. T. 2009. Altered glutamate neurotransmission and behaviour in dementia: evidence from studies of memantine. *Curr Mol Pharmacol*, *2*, 77-82.
- FRENOIS, F., MOREAU, M., O'CONNOR, J., LAWSON, M., MICON, C., LESTAGE, J., KELLEY, K. W., DANTZER, R. & CASTANON, N. 2007.

. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 32, 516-31.

FURUKAWA, K. & MATTSON, M. P. 1998. The transcription factor NF-kappaB mediates increases in calcium currents and decreases in NMDA- and AMPA/kainate-induced currents induced by tumor necrosis factor-alpha in hippocampal neurons. *J Neurochem*, 70, 1876-86.

GABAY, C. 2006. Interleukin-6 and chronic inflammation. Arthritis Res Ther, 8.

GALINANES, M., JAMES, M., CODD, V., BAXI, A. & HADJINIKOLAOU, L. 2008. TNF-alpha gene promoter polymorphism at nucleotide -308 and the inflammatory response

and oxidative stress induced by cardiac surgery: role of heart failure and medical treatment. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg*, 34, 332-7.

- GARAY, P. A. & MCALLISTER, A. K. 2010. Novel roles for immune molecules in neural development: implications for neurodevelopmental disorders. *Front Synaptic Neurosci*, *2*, 136.
- GARY, D. S., BRUCE-KELLER, A. J., KINDY, M. S. & MATTSON, M. P. 1998. Ischemic and excitotoxic brain injury is enhanced in mice lacking the p55 tumor necrosis factor receptor. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 18, 1283-7.
- GAVILLET, M., ALLAMAN, I. & MAGISTRETTI, P. J. 2008. Modulation of astrocytic metabolic phenotype by proinflammatory cytokines. *Glia*, 56, 975-89.
- GHOSH, S. & KARIN, M. 2002. Missing pieces in the NF-kappaB puzzle. *Cell*, 109 Suppl, S81-96.
- GILMORE, J. H., JARSKOG, L. F. & VADLAMUDI, S. 2003. Maternal infection regulates BDNF and NGF expression in fetal and neonatal brain and maternal-fetal unit of the rat. *J Neuroimmunol*, 138, 49-55.
- GIMSA, U., KANITZ, E., OTTEN, W., TUCHSCHERER, M., TUCHSCHERER, A. & IBRAHIM, S.
 M. 2012. Tumour necrosis factor receptor deficiency alters anxiety-like behavioural and neuroendocrine stress responses of mice. *Cytokine*, 59, 72-8.
- GOLAN, H., LEVAV, T., MENDELSOHN, A. & HULEIHEL, M. 2004. Involvement of tumor necrosis factor alpha in hippocampal development and function. *Cereb Cortex*, 14, 97-105.
- GOLAN, H. M., LEV, V., HALLAK, M., SOROKIN, Y. & HULEIHEL, M. 2005. Specific neurodevelopmental damage in mice offspring following maternal inflammation during pregnancy. *Neuropharmacology*, 48, 903-17.
- GOTZ, J., STREFFER, J. R., DAVID, D., SCHILD, A., HOERNDLI, F., PENNANEN, L., KUROSINSKI, P. & CHEN, F. 2004. Transgenic animal models of Alzheimer's disease and related disorders: histopathology, behavior and therapy. *Mol Psychiatry*, 9, 664-83.
- GRASSI-OLIVEIRA, R., BRIETZKE, E., PEZZI, J. C., LOPES, R. P., TEIXEIRA, A. L. & BAUER, M. E. 2009. Increased soluble tumor necrosis factor-alpha receptors in patients with major depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 63, 202-8.
- GRATTENDICK, K. J., NAKASHIMA, J. M., FENG, L., GIRI, S. N. & MARGOLIN, S. B. 2008. Effects of three anti-TNF-alpha drugs: etanercept, infliximab and pirfenidone on release of TNF-alpha in medium and TNF-alpha associated with the cell in vitro. *Int Immunopharmacol*, 8, 679-87.
- GREEN, M. J., MATHESON, S. L., SHEPHERD, A., WEICKERT, C. S. & CARR, V. J. 2011. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in schizophrenia: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Mol Psychiatry*, 16, 960-72.
- GRELL, M., WAJANT, H., ZIMMERMANN, G. & SCHEURICH, P. 1998. The type 1 receptor (CD120a) is the high-affinity receptor for soluble tumor necrosis factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 570-5.
- HAACK, M., HINZE-SELCH, D., FENZEL, T., KRAUS, T., KUHN, M., SCHULD, A. & POLLMACHER, T. 1999. Plasma levels of cytokines and soluble cytokine receptors in psychiatric patients upon hospital admission: effects of confounding factors and diagnosis. *J Psychiatr Res*, 33, 407-18.
- HAJI, N., MANDOLESI, G., GENTILE, A., SACCHETTI, L., FRESEGNA, D., ROSSI, S., MUSELLA, A., SEPMAN, H., MOTTA, C., STUDER, V., DE CHIARA, V., BERNARDI, G.,

STRATA, P. & CENTONZE, D. 2012. TNF-alpha-mediated anxiety in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. *Exp Neurol*, 237, 296-303.

- HALLBOOK, F. 1999. Evolution of the vertebrate neurotrophin and Trk receptor gene families. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 9, 616-21.
- HAMED, S. A., SELIM, Z. I., ELATTAR, A. M., ELSEROGY, Y. M., AHMED, E. A. & MOHAMED, H. O. 2011. Assessment of biocorrelates for brain involvement in female patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Rheumatol*.
- HAMIDI, M., DREVETS, W. C. & PRICE, J. L. 2004. Glial reduction in amygdala in major depressive disorder is due to oligodendrocytes. *Biol Psychiatry*, 55, 563-9.
- HART, P. C., BERGNER, C. L., SMOLINSKY, A. N., DUFOUR, B. D., EGAN, R. J., LAPORTE, J. L. & KALUEFF, A. V. 2010. Experimental models of anxiety for drug discovery and brain research. *Methods Mol Biol*, 602, 299-321.
- HENDERSON, C. E. 1996. Role of neurotrophic factors in neuronal development. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 6, 64-70.
- HIDER, S. L., TANVEER, W., BROWNFIELD, A., MATTEY, D. L. & PACKHAM, J. C. 2009. Depression in RA patients treated with anti-TNF is common and underrecognized in the rheumatology clinic. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*, 48, 1152-4.
- HIMMERICH, H., BINDER, E. B., KUNZEL, H. E., SCHULD, A., LUCAE, S., UHR, M., POLLMACHER, T., HOLSBOER, F. & ISING, M. 2006. Successful antidepressant therapy restores the disturbed interplay between TNF-alpha system and HPA axis. *Biol Psychiatry*, 60, 882-8.
- HINWOOD, M., MORANDINI, J., DAY, T. A. & WALKER, F. R. 2012. Evidence that microglia mediate the neurobiological effects of chronic psychological stress on the medial prefrontal cortex. *Cereb Cortex*, 22, 1442-54.
- HORIUCHI, T., MITOMA, H., HARASHIMA, S., TSUKAMOTO, H. & SHIMODA, T. 2010. Transmembrane TNF-alpha: structure, function and interaction with anti-TNF agents. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*, 49, 1215-28.
- HOUDEBINE, L. M. 2007. Transgenic animal models in biomedical research. *Methods Mol Biol*, 360, 163-202.
- HOWREN, M. B., LAMKIN, D. M. & SULS, J. 2009. Associations of depression with C-reactive protein, IL-1, and IL-6: a meta-analysis. *Psychosom Med*, 71, 171-86.
- HSU, H., SHU, H. B., PAN, M. G. & GOEDDEL, D. V. 1996. TRADD-TRAF2 and TRADD-FADD interactions define two distinct TNF receptor 1 signal transduction pathways. *Cell*, 84, 299-308.
- HSU, H., XIONG, J. & GOEDDEL, D. V. 1995. The TNF receptor 1-associated protein TRADD signals cell death and NF-kappa B activation. *Cell*, 81, 495-504.
- HUANG, E. J. & REICHARDT, L. F. 2001. Neurotrophins: roles in neuronal development and function. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 24, 677-736.
- HULTNER, L., KOLSCH, S., STASSEN, M., KASPERS, U., KREMER, J. P., MAILHAMMER, R., MOELLER, J., BROSZEIT, H. & SCHMITT, E. 2000. In activated mast cells, IL-1 upregulates the production of several Th2-related cytokines including IL-9. J Immunol, 164, 5556-63.
- HUNT, L. & EMERY, P. 2013. Etanercept in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Expert Opin Biol Ther*, 13, 1441-50.
- INGASON, A., RUJESCU, D., CICHON, S., SIGURDSSON, E., SIGMUNDSSON, T., PIETILAINEN, O. P., BUIZER-VOSKAMP, J. E., STRENGMAN, E., FRANCKS, C., MUGLIA, P., GYLFASON, A., GUSTAFSSON, O., OLASON, P. I., STEINBERG, S.,

HANSEN, T., JAKOBSEN, K. D., RASMUSSEN, H. B., GIEGLING, I., MOLLER, H. J., HARTMANN, A., CROMBIE, C., FRASER, G., WALKER, N., LONNQVIST, J., SUVISAARI, J., TUULIO-HENRIKSSON, A., BRAMON, E., KIEMENEY, L. A., FRANKE, B., MURRAY, R., VASSOS, E., TOULOPOULOU, T., MUHLEISEN, T. W., TOSATO, S., RUGGERI, M., DJUROVIC, S., ANDREASSEN, O. A., ZHANG, Z., WERGE, T., OPHOFF, R. A., RIETSCHEL, M., NOTHEN, M. M., PETURSSON, H., STEFANSSON, H., PELTONEN, L., COLLIER, D., STEFANSSON, K. & ST CLAIR, D. M. 2011. Copy number variations of chromosome 16p13.1 region associated with schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry*, 16, 17-25.

- IOSIF, R. E., EKDAHL, C. T., AHLENIUS, H., PRONK, C. J., BONDE, S., KOKAIA, Z., JACOBSEN, S. E. & LINDVALL, O. 2006. Tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 is a negative regulator of progenitor proliferation in adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *J Neurosci*, 26, 9703-12.
- JAEHNE, E. J. & BAUNE, B. T. 2014. Effects of chemokine receptor signalling on cognition-like, emotion-like and sociability behaviours of CCR6 and CCR7 knockout mice. *Behav Brain Res*, 261, 31-9.
- JENKINS, T. A., HARTE, M. K., STENSON, G. & REYNOLDS, G. P. 2009. Neonatal lipopolysaccharide induces pathological changes in parvalbumin immunoreactivity in the hippocampus of the rat. *Behav Brain Res*, 205, 355-9.
- JIANG, J., BENNETT, A. J., FISHER, E., WILLIAMS-BEY, Y., SHEN, H. & MURASKO, D. M. 2009. Limited expansion of virus-specific CD8 T cells in the aged environment. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 130, 713-21.
- JUHASZ, K., BUZAS, K. & DUDA, E. 2013. Importance of reverse signaling of the TNF superfamily in immune regulation. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*, 9, 335-48.
- JUN, T. Y., PAE, C. U., HOON, H., CHAE, J. H., BAHK, W. M., KIM, K. S. & SERRETTI, A. 2003. Possible association between -G308A tumour necrosis factor-alpha gene polymorphism and major depressive disorder in the Korean population. *Psychiatr Genet*, 13, 179-81.
- KAFITZ, K. W., ROSE, C. R. & KONNERTH, A. 2000. Neurotrophin-evoked rapid excitation of central neurons. *Prog Brain Res*, 128, 243-9.
- KAIYA, H., UEMATSU, M., OFUJI, M., NISHIDA, A., TAKEUCHI, K., NOZAKI, M. & IDAKA, E. 1989. Elevated plasma prostaglandin E2 levels in schizophrenia. *J Neural Transm*, 77, 39-46.
- KARLOVIC, D., SERRETTI, A., VRKIC, N., MARTINAC, M. & MARCINKO, D. 2012. Serum concentrations of CRP, IL-6, TNF-alpha and cortisol in major depressive disorder with melancholic or atypical features. *Psychiatry Res*, 198, 74-80.
- KASSIOTIS, G. & KOLLIAS, G. 2001. Uncoupling the proinflammatory from the immunosuppressive properties of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) at the p55 TNF receptor level: implications for pathogenesis and therapy of autoimmune demyelination. *J Exp Med*, 193, 427-34.
- KASTER, M. P., GADOTTI, V. M., CALIXTO, J. B., SANTOS, A. R. & RODRIGUES, A. L. Depressive-like behavior induced by tumor necrosis factor-alpha in mice. *Neuropharmacology*.
- KASTER, M. P., GADOTTI, V. M., CALIXTO, J. B., SANTOS, A. R. & RODRIGUES, A. L. 2011. Depressive-like behavior induced by tumor necrosis factor-alpha in mice. *Neuropharmacology*.

- KASTER, M. P., GADOTTI, V. M., CALIXTO, J. B., SANTOS, A. R. S. & RODRIGUES, A. L. S. 2012. Depressive-like behavior induced by tumor necrosis factor-α in mice. *Neuropharmacology*, 62, 419-426.
- KEKOW, J., MOOTS, R., KHANDKER, R., MELIN, J., FREUNDLICH, B. & SINGH, A. 2011. Improvements in patient-reported outcomes, symptoms of depression and anxiety, and their association with clinical remission among patients with moderate-to-severe active early rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*, 50, 401-9.
- KELLY, A., MAGUIRE, C. & LYNCH, M. A. 2000. Deficits in nerve growth factor release and tyrosine receptor kinase phosphorylation are associated with age-related impairment in long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus. *Neuroscience*, 95, 359-65.
- KERFOOT, S. M., D'MELLO, C., NGUYEN, H., AJUEBOR, M. N., KUBES, P., LE, T. & SWAIN, M. G. 2006. TNF-alpha-secreting monocytes are recruited into the brain of cholestatic mice. *Hepatology*, 43, 154-62.
- KHAIROVA, R. A., MACHADO-VIEIRA, R., DU, J. & MANJI, H. K. 2009. A potential role for pro-inflammatory cytokines in regulating synaptic plasticity in major depressive disorder. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, 12, 561-78.
- KIM, Y. K., HONG, J. P., HWANG, J. A., LEE, H. J., YOON, H. K., LEE, B. H., JUNG, H. Y., HAHN, S. W. & NA, K. S. 2013. TNF-alpha -308G>A polymorphism is associated with suicide attempts in major depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord*, 150, 668-72.
- KINOUCHI, K., BROWN, G., PASTERNAK, G. & DONNER, D. B. 1991. Identification and characterization of receptors for tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the brain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 181, 1532-8.
- KLIETHERMES, C. L. & CRABBE, J. C. 2006. Pharmacological and genetic influences on hole-board behaviors in mice. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 85, 57-65.
- KOPP, C. 2001. Locomotor activity rhythm in inbred strains of mice: implications for behavioural studies. *Behav Brain Res*, 125, 93-6.
- KORNER, H., COOK, M., RIMINTON, D. S., LEMCKERT, F. A., HOEK, R. M., LEDERMANN, B., KONTGEN, F., FAZEKAS DE ST GROTH, B. & SEDGWICK, J. D. 1997a. Distinct roles for lymphotoxin-alpha and tumor necrosis factor in organogenesis and spatial organization of lymphoid tissue. *Eur J Immunol*, 27, 2600-9.
- KORNER, H., LEMCKERT, F. A., CHAUDHRI, G., ETTELDORF, S. & SEDGWICK, J. D. 1997b. Tumor necrosis factor blockade in actively induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis prevents clinical disease despite activated T cell infiltration to the central nervous system. *Eur J Immunol*, 27, 1973-81.
- KORNER, H., RIMINTON, D. S., STRICKLAND, D. H., LEMCKERT, F. A., POLLARD, J. D. & SEDGWICK, J. D. 1997c. Critical points of tumor necrosis factor action in central nervous system autoimmune inflammation defined by gene targeting. *J Exp Med*, 186, 1585-90.
- KORNER, H. & SEDGWICK, J. D. 1996. Tumour necrosis factor and lymphotoxin: molecular aspects and role in tissue-specific autoimmunity. *Immunol Cell Biol*, 74, 465-72.
- KRUGEL, U., FISCHER, J., RADICKE, S., SACK, U. & HIMMERICH, H. 2013. Antidepressant effects of TNF-alpha blockade in an animal model of depression. *J Psychiatr Res*, 47, 611-6.

- KUHLMANN, A. C. & GUILARTE, T. R. 2000. Cellular and subcellular localization of peripheral benzodiazepine receptors after trimethyltin neurotoxicity. *J Neurochem*, 74, 1694-704.
- KUPFER, D. J., FRANK, E. & PHILLIPS, M. L. 2012. Major depressive disorder: new clinical, neurobiological, and treatment perspectives. *Lancet*, 379, 1045-55.
- KURODA, Y. & SHIMAMOTO, Y. 1991. Human tumor necrosis factor-alpha augments experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in rats. *J Neuroimmunol*, 34, 159-64.
- LAD, H. V., LIU, L., PAYA-CANO, J. L., PARSONS, M. J., KEMBER, R., FERNANDES, C. & SCHALKWYK, L. C. 2010. Behavioural battery testing: evaluation and behavioural outcomes in 8 inbred mouse strains. *Physiol Behav*, 99, 301-16.
- LANZILLO, B., PAPPONE, N., CRISCI, C., DI GIROLAMO, C., MASSINI, R. & CARUSO, G. 1998. Subclinical peripheral nerve involvement in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*, 41, 1196-202.
- LASSMANN, H., BRUCK, W. & LUCCHINETTI, C. 2001. Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis pathogenesis: implications for diagnosis and therapy. *Trends Mol Med*, **7**, 115-21.
- LEIB, S. L. & TAUBER, M. G. 1999. Pathogenesis of bacterial meningitis. *Infect Dis Clin North Am*, 13, 527-48, v-vi.
- LEONARD, B. E. & MYINT, A. 2009. The psychoneuroimmunology of depression. *Hum Psychopharmacol*, 24, 165-75.
- LEVINE, J., BARAK, Y., CHENGAPPA, K. N., RAPOPORT, A., REBEY, M. & BARAK, V. 1999. Cerebrospinal cytokine levels in patients with acute depression. *Neuropsychobiology*, 40, 171-6.
- LEWIN, G. R. & BARDE, Y. A. 1996. Physiology of the neurotrophins. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 19, 289-317.
- LI, B., WOO, R. S., MEI, L. & MALINOW, R. 2007. The neuregulin-1 receptor erbB4 controls glutamatergic synapse maturation and plasticity. *Neuron*, 54, 583-97.
- LI, J., RAMENADEN, E. R., PENG, J., KOITO, H., VOLPE, J. J. & ROSENBERG, P. A. 2008. Tumor necrosis factor alpha mediates lipopolysaccharide-induced microglial toxicity to developing oligodendrocytes when astrocytes are present. *J Neurosci*, 28, 5321-30.
- LI, Z., MA, L., KULESSKAYA, N., VOIKAR, V. & TIAN, L. 2014. Microglia are polarized to M1 type in high-anxiety inbred mice in response to lipopolysaccharide challenge. *Brain Behav Immun,* 38, 237-48.
- LIAO, W., LIN, J. X., WANG, L., LI, P. & LEONARD, W. J. 2011. Modulation of cytokine receptors by IL-2 broadly regulates differentiation into helper T cell lineages. *Nat Immunol*, 12, 551-9.
- LIEBERMAN, A. P., PITHA, P. M., SHIN, H. S. & SHIN, M. L. 1989. Production of tumor necrosis factor and other cytokines by astrocytes stimulated with lipopolysaccharide or a neurotropic virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 86, 6348-52.
- LIEBERMAN, J. A. 1999. Is schizophrenia a neurodegenerative disorder? A clinical and neurobiological perspective. *Biol Psychiatry*, 46, 729-39.
- LINDQVIST, D., JANELIDZE, S., HAGELL, P., ERHARDT, S., SAMUELSSON, M., MINTHON, L., HANSSON, O., BJORKQVIST, M., TRASKMAN-BENDZ, L. & BRUNDIN, L. 2009. Interleukin-6 is elevated in the cerebrospinal fluid of suicide attempters and related to symptom severity. *Biol Psychiatry*, 66, 287-92.

- LIPSKY, R. H., XU, K., ZHU, D., KELLY, C., TERHAKOPIAN, A., NOVELLI, A. & MARINI, A. M. 2001. Nuclear factor kappaB is a critical determinant in N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated neuroprotection. *J Neurochem*, 78, 254-64.
- LIVAK, K. J. & SCHMITTGEN, T. D. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods*, 25, 402-8.
- LONGHI, L., ORTOLANO, F., ZANIER, E. R., PEREGO, C., STOCCHETTI, N. & DE SIMONI, M. G. 2008. Effect of traumatic brain injury on cognitive function in mice lacking p55 and p75 tumor necrosis factor receptors. *Acta Neurochir Suppl*, 102, 409-13.
- LULEYAP, H. U., ONATOGLU, D., YILMAZ, M. B., ALPTEKIN, D., TAHIROGLU, A. Y., CETINER, S., PAZARBASI, A., UNAL, I., AVCI, A. & COMERTPAY, G. 2013. Association between pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders associated with streptococcal infections disease and tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene-308 g/a, -850 c/t polymorphisms in 4-12-year-old children in Adana/Turkey. *Indian J Hum Genet*, 19, 196-201.
- MA, M. X., CHEN, Y. M., HE, J., ZENG, T. & WANG, J. H. 2007. Effects of morphine and its withdrawal on Y-maze spatial recognition memory in mice. *Neuroscience*, 147, 1059-65.
- MACCIONI, R. B., ROJO, L. E., FERNANDEZ, J. A. & KULJIS, R. O. 2009. The role of neuroimmunomodulation in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1153, 240-6.
- MACEWAN, D. J. 2002. TNF ligands and receptors--a matter of life and death. *Br J Pharmacol*, 135, 855-75.
- MANDOLESI, G., GRASSELLI, G., MUSUMECI, G. & CENTONZE, D. 2010. Cognitive deficits in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: neuroinflammation and synaptic degeneration. *Neurol Sci*, 31, S255-9.
- MARBALLI, K., QUINONES, M. P., JIMENEZ, F., ESCAMILLA, M. A., RAVENTOS, H., SOTO-BERNARDINI, M. C., AHUJA, S. S. & WALSS-BASS, C. 2010. In vivo and in vitro genetic evidence of involvement of neuregulin 1 in immune system dysregulation. *J Mol Med (Berl)*, 88, 1133-41.
- MARCHETTI, L., KLEIN, M., SCHLETT, K., PFIZENMAIER, K. & EISEL, U. L. 2004. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-mediated neuroprotection against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity is enhanced by N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor activation. Essential role of a TNF receptor 2-mediated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent NFkappa B pathway. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 32869-81.
- MCAFOOSE, J. & BAUNE, B. T. 2009. Evidence for a cytokine model of cognitive function. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 33, 355-66.
- MCAFOOSE, J., KOERNER, H. & BAUNE, B. T. 2009. The effects of TNF deficiency on agerelated cognitive performance. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 34, 615-9.
- MCCOY, M. K. & TANSEY, M. G. 2008. TNF signaling inhibition in the CNS: implications for normal brain function and neurodegenerative disease. *J Neuroinflammation*, 5, 45.
- MEDANA, I. M., HUNT, N. H. & CHAUDHRI, G. 1997. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression in the brain during fatal murine cerebral malaria: evidence for production by microglia and astrocytes. *Am J Pathol*, 150, 1473-86.
- MEDAWAR, P. B. 1948. Immunity to homologous grafted skin; the fate of skin homografts transplanted to the brain, to subcutaneous tissue, and to the anterior chamber of the eye. *Br J Exp Pathol*, 29, 58-69.

- MEDEIROS, R., PREDIGER, R. D., PASSOS, G. F., PANDOLFO, P., DUARTE, F. S., FRANCO, J. L., DAFRE, A. L., DI GIUNTA, G., FIGUEIREDO, C. P., TAKAHASHI, R. N., CAMPOS, M. M. & CALIXTO, J. B. 2007. Connecting TNF-alpha signaling pathways to iNOS expression in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease: relevance for the behavioral and synaptic deficits induced by amyloid beta protein. *J Neurosci*, 27, 5394-404.
- MENACHEM, A., CHAPMAN, J. & KATZAV, A. 2012. Significant changes in the levels of secreted cytokines in brains of experimental antiphospholipid syndrome mice. *Autoimmune Dis*, 2012, 404815.
- MENTER, A., AUGUSTIN, M., SIGNOROVITCH, J., YU, A. P., WU, E. Q., GUPTA, S. R., BAO, Y. & MULANI, P. 2010. The effect of adalimumab on reducing depression symptoms in patients with moderate to severe psoriasis: a randomized clinical trial. *J Am Acad Dermatol*, 62, 812-8.
- MICHEAU, O. & TSCHOPP, J. 2003. Induction of TNF receptor I-mediated apoptosis via two sequential signaling complexes. *Cell*, 114, 181-90.
- MIKO, I. 2008. Phenotype variability: penetrance and expressivity. *Nature Education* 1(1):137.
- MILLER, A. H., MALETIC, V. & RAISON, C. L. 2009. Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. *Biol Psychiatry*, 65, 732-41.
- MILLER, E. K. & COHEN, J. D. 2001. An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 24, 167-202.
- MINTER, R. M., RECTENWALD, J. E., FUKUZUKA, K., TANNAHILL, C. L., LA FACE, D., TSAI, V., AHMED, I., HUTCHINS, E., MOYER, R., COPELAND, E. M., 3RD & MOLDAWER, L. L. 2000. TNF-alpha receptor signaling and IL-10 gene therapy regulate the innate and humoral immune responses to recombinant adenovirus in the lung. *J Immunol*, 164, 443-51.
- MIRESCU, C. & GOULD, E. 2006. Stress and adult neurogenesis. *Hippocampus*, 16, 233-8.
- MIRIC, D., KATANIC, R., KISIC, B., ZORIC, L., MIRIC, B., MITIC, R. & DRAGOJEVIC, I. 2010. Oxidative stress and myeloperoxidase activity during bacterial meningitis: effects of febrile episodes and the BBB permeability. *Clin Biochem*, 43, 246-52.
- MOHLER, K. M., TORRANCE, D. S., SMITH, C. A., GOODWIN, R. G., STREMLER, K. E., FUNG, V. P., MADANI, H. & WIDMER, M. B. 1993. Soluble tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptors are effective therapeutic agents in lethal endotoxemia and function simultaneously as both TNF carriers and TNF antagonists. *J Immunol*, 151, 1548-61.
- MORGAN, C. L., EMERY, P., PORTER, D., REYNOLDS, A., YOUNG, A., BOYD, H., POOLE, C. D. & CURRIE, C. J. 2013. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with etanercept with reference to disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs: long-term safety and survival using prospective, observational data. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*.
- MORGAN, S. C., TAYLOR, D. L. & POCOCK, J. M. 2004. Microglia release activators of neuronal proliferation mediated by activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase, phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase/Akt and delta-Notch signalling cascades. J Neurochem, 90, 89-101.
- MOY, S. S., NADLER, J. J., PEREZ, A., BARBARO, R. P., JOHNS, J. M., MAGNUSON, T. R., PIVEN, J. & CRAWLEY, J. N. 2004. Sociability and preference for social novelty in five inbred strains: an approach to assess autistic-like behavior in mice. *Genes Brain Behav*, 3, 287-302.

- MULLER, N., RIEDEL, M., GRUBER, R., ACKENHEIL, M. & SCHWARZ, M. J. 2000. The immune system and schizophrenia. An integrative view. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 917, 456-67.
- MUSSO, T., ESPINOZA-DELGADO, I., PULKKI, K., GUSELLA, G. L., LONGO, D. L. & VARESIO, L. 1992. IL-2 induces IL-6 production in human monocytes. *J Immunol*, 148, 795-800.
- NADEAU, S. & RIVEST, S. 2000. Role of microglial-derived tumor necrosis factor in mediating CD14 transcription and nuclear factor kappa B activity in the brain during endotoxemia. *J Neurosci*, 20, 3456-68.
- NAUDE, P. J., DOBOS, N., VAN DER MEER, D., MULDER, C., PAWIRONADI, K. G., DEN BOER, J. A., VAN DER ZEE, E. A., LUITEN, P. G. & EISEL, U. L. 2014. Analysis of cognition, motor performance and anxiety in young and aged tumor necrosis factor alpha receptor 1 and 2 deficient mice. *Behav Brain Res*, 258, 43-51.
- NI, M., LI, X., YIN, Z., JIANG, H., SIDORYK-WEGRZYNOWICZ, M., MILATOVIC, D., CAI, J. & ASCHNER, M. 2010. Methylmercury induces acute oxidative stress, altering Nrf2 protein level in primary microglial cells. *Toxicol Sci*, 116, 590-603.
- NIITSU, T., SHIRAYAMA, Y., MATSUZAWA, D., HASEGAWA, T., KANAHARA, N., HASHIMOTO, T., SHIRAISHI, T., SHIINA, A., FUKAMI, G., FUJISAKI, M., WATANABE, H., NAKAZATO, M., ASANO, M., KIMURA, S., HASHIMOTO, K. & IYO, M. 2011. Associations of serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor with cognitive impairments and negative symptoms in schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*.
- NILSBERTH, C., ELANDER, L., HAMZIC, N., NORELL, M., LONN, J., ENGSTROM, L. & BLOMQVIST, A. 2009. The role of interleukin-6 in lipopolysaccharide-induced fever by mechanisms independent of prostaglandin E2. *Endocrinology*, 150, 1850-60.
- NISHIOKU, T., MATSUMOTO, J., DOHGU, S., SUMI, N., MIYAO, K., TAKATA, F., SHUTO, H., YAMAUCHI, A. & KATAOKA, Y. 2010. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha mediates the blood-brain barrier dysfunction induced by activated microglia in mouse brain microvascular endothelial cells. *J Pharmacol Sci*, 112, 251-4.
- NOBLE, F., RUBIRA, E., BOULANOUAR, M., PALMIER, B., PLOTKINE, M., WARNET, J. M., MARCHAND-LEROUX, C. & MASSICOT, F. 2007. Acute systemic inflammation induces central mitochondrial damage and mnesic deficit in adult Swiss mice. *Neurosci Lett*, 424, 106-10.
- O'DONNELL, P. 2013. Of Mice and Men: What Physiological Correlates of Cognitive Deficits in a Mouse Model of Schizophrenia Tell Us about Psychiatric Disease. *Neuron*, 80, 265-6.
- OMRANI, M. D., BUSHEHRI, B., BAGHERI, M., SALARI-LAK, S., ALIPOUR, A., ANOSHAE, M. R. & MASSOMI, R. 2009. Role of IL-10 -1082, IFN-gamma +874, and TNF-alpha 308 genes polymorphisms in suicidal behavior. *Arch Suicide Res*, 13, 330-9.
- ONGUR, D., DREVETS, W. C. & PRICE, J. L. 1998. Glial reduction in the subgenual prefrontal cortex in mood disorders. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 13290-5.
- ONO, K. & HAN, J. 2000. The p38 signal transduction pathway: activation and function. *Cell Signal*, 12, 1-13.
- ORTEGA, A., JADEJA, V. & ZHOU, H. 2011. Postnatal development of lipopolysaccharideinduced inflammatory response in the brain. *Inflamm Res*, 60, 175-85.

- PALIN, K., BLUTHE, R. M., MCCUSKER, R. H., MOOS, F., DANTZER, R. & KELLEY, K. W. 2007. TNFalpha-induced sickness behavior in mice with functional 55 kD TNF receptors is blocked by central IGF-I. *J Neuroimmunol*, 187, 55-60.
- PAN, W. & KASTIN, A. J. 2002. TNFalpha transport across the blood-brain barrier is abolished in receptor knockout mice. *Exp Neurol*, 174, 193-200.
- PATEL, A., SIEGEL, A. & ZALCMAN, S. S. 2010. Lack of aggression and anxiolytic-like behavior in TNF receptor (TNF-R1 and TNF-R2) deficient mice. *Brain Behav Immun*, 24, 1276-80.
- PENG, S., WUU, J., MUFSON, E. J. & FAHNESTOCK, M. 2005. Precursor form of brainderived neurotrophic factor and mature brain-derived neurotrophic factor are decreased in the pre-clinical stages of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem*, 93, 1412-21.
- PEREZ, C., ALBERT, I., DEFAY, K., ZACHARIADES, N., GOODING, L. & KRIEGLER, M. 1990. A nonsecretable cell surface mutant of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) kills by cellto-cell contact. *Cell*, 63, 251-8.
- PERRY, V. H., MATYSZAK, M. K. & FEARN, S. 1993. Altered antigen expression of microglia in the aged rodent CNS. *Glia*, 7, 60-7.
- PESCHON, J. J., TORRANCE, D. S., STOCKING, K. L., GLACCUM, M. B., OTTEN, C., WILLIS, C. R., CHARRIER, K., MORRISSEY, P. J., WARE, C. B. & MOHLER, K. M. 1998. TNF receptor-deficient mice reveal divergent roles for p55 and p75 in several models of inflammation. *J Immunol*, 160, 943-52.
- PETIT-DEMOULIERE, B., CHENU, F. & BOURIN, M. 2005. Forced swimming test in mice: a review of antidepressant activity. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 177, 245-55.
- PICKERING, M., CUMISKEY, D. & O'CONNOR, J. J. 2005. Actions of TNF-alpha on glutamatergic synaptic transmission in the central nervous system. *Exp Physiol*, 90, 663-70.
- POTVIN, S., STIP, E., SEPEHRY, A. A., GENDRON, A., BAH, R. & KOUASSI, E. 2008. Inflammatory cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: a systematic quantitative review. *Biol Psychiatry*, 63, 801-8.
- PROBERT, L., KEFFER, J., CORBELLA, P., CAZLARIS, H., PATSAVOUDI, E., STEPHENS, S., KASLARIS, E., KIOUSSIS, D. & KOLLIAS, G. 1993. Wasting, ischemia, and lymphoid abnormalities in mice expressing T cell-targeted human tumor necrosis factor transgenes. *J Immunol*, 151, 1894-906.
- PUKHALSKY, A., SHMARINA, G. & ALIOSHKIN, V. 2012. Cognitive disorders in mice: cytokine signaling pathways as therapeutic targets. *OMICS*, 16, 71-7.
- QIN, L., WU, X., BLOCK, M. L., LIU, Y., BREESE, G. R., HONG, J. S., KNAPP, D. J. & CREWS, F. T. 2007. Systemic LPS causes chronic neuroinflammation and progressive neurodegeneration. *Glia*, 55, 453-62.
- QUINTANA, A., MOLINERO, A., FLORIT, S., MANSO, Y., COMES, G., CARRASCO, J., GIRALT, M., BORUP, R., NIELSEN, F. C., CAMPBELL, I. L., PENKOWA, M. & HIDALGO, J. 2007. Diverging mechanisms for TNF-alpha receptors in normal mouse brains and in functional recovery after injury: From gene to behavior. *J Neurosci Res*, 85, 2668-85.
- RADEWICZ, K., GAREY, L. J., GENTLEMAN, S. M. & REYNOLDS, R. 2000. Increase in HLA-DR immunoreactive microglia in frontal and temporal cortex of chronic schizophrenics. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 59, 137-50.

- RADTKE, S., WULLER, S., YANG, X. P., LIPPOK, B. E., MUTZE, B., MAIS, C., DE LEUR, H. S., BODE, J. G., GAESTEL, M., HEINRICH, P. C., BEHRMANN, I., SCHAPER, F. & HERMANNS, H. M. 2010. Cross-regulation of cytokine signalling: proinflammatory cytokines restrict IL-6 signalling through receptor internalisation and degradation. *J Cell Sci*, 123, 947-59.
- RADZIOCH, D. & VARESIO, L. 1991. c-fos mRNA expression in macrophages is downregulated by interferon-gamma at the posttranscriptional level. *Mol Cell Biol*, 11, 2718-22.
- RALPH, P., NAKOINZ, I., SAMPSON-JOHANNES, A., FONG, S., LOWE, D., MIN, H. Y. & LIN, L. 1992. IL-10, T lymphocyte inhibitor of human blood cell production of IL-1 and tumor necrosis factor. *J Immunol*, 148, 808-14.
- RANSOHOFF, R. M., KIVISAKK, P. & KIDD, G. 2003. Three or more routes for leukocyte migration into the central nervous system. *Nat Rev Immunol*, **3**, 569-81.
- REED, J. C., DOCTOR, K., ROJAS, A., ZAPATA, J. M., STEHLIK, C., FIORENTINO, L., DAMIANO, J., ROTH, W., MATSUZAWA, S., NEWMAN, R., TAKAYAMA, S., MARUSAWA, H., XU, F., SALVESEN, G. & GODZIK, A. 2003. Comparative analysis of apoptosis and inflammation genes of mice and humans. *Genome Res*, 13, 1376-88.
- REICHENBERG, A., YIRMIYA, R., SCHULD, A., KRAUS, T., HAACK, M., MORAG, A. & POLLMACHER, T. 2001. Cytokine-associated emotional and cognitive disturbances in humans. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, 58, 445-52.
- RENNO, T., KRAKOWSKI, M., PICCIRILLO, C., LIN, J. Y. & OWENS, T. 1995. TNF-alpha expression by resident microglia and infiltrating leukocytes in the central nervous system of mice with experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Regulation by Th1 cytokines. *J Immunol*, 154, 944-53.
- RIVEST, S. 2003. Molecular insights on the cerebral innate immune system. *Brain Behav Immun*, 17, 13-9.
- ROCK, R. B., GEKKER, G., HU, S., SHENG, W. S., CHEERAN, M., LOKENSGARD, J. R. & PETERSON, P. K. 2004. Role of microglia in central nervous system infections. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 17, 942-64, table of contents.
- ROLDAN-TAPIA, L., CANOVAS-LOPEZ, R., CIMADEVILLA, J. & VALVERDE, M. 2007. [Cognition and perception deficits in fibromyalgia and rheumatoid arthritis]. *Reumatol Clin*, 3, 101-9.
- ROOSENDAAL, S. D., HULST, H. E., VRENKEN, H., FEENSTRA, H. E., CASTELIJNS, J. A., POUWELS, P. J., BARKHOF, F. & GEURTS, J. J. 2010. Structural and functional hippocampal changes in multiple sclerosis patients with intact memory function. *Radiology*, 255, 595-604.
- ROTHE, M., PAN, M. G., HENZEL, W. J., AYRES, T. M. & GOEDDEL, D. V. 1995. The TNFR2-TRAF signaling complex contains two novel proteins related to baculoviral inhibitor of apoptosis proteins. *Cell*, 83, 1243-52.
- RUBERTI, F., CAPSONI, S., COMPARINI, A., DI DANIEL, E., FRANZOT, J., GONFLONI, S., ROSSI, G., BERARDI, N. & CATTANEO, A. 2000. Phenotypic knockout of nerve growth factor in adult transgenic mice reveals severe deficits in basal forebrain cholinergic neurons, cell death in the spleen, and skeletal muscle dystrophy. *J Neurosci*, 20, 2589-601.
- RUDDLE, N. H., BERGMAN, C. M., MCGRATH, K. M., LINGENHELD, E. G., GRUNNET, M. L., PADULA, S. J. & CLARK, R. B. 1990. An antibody to lymphotoxin and tumor

necrosis factor prevents transfer of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J Exp Med*, 172, 1193-200.

- SAHA, R. N., LIU, X. & PAHAN, K. 2006a. Up-regulation of BDNF in astrocytes by TNFalpha: a case for the neuroprotective role of cytokine. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol*, 1, 212-22.
- SAHA, R. N., X, L. & K, P. 2006b. Up-regulation of BDNF in astrocytes by TNF-alpha: a case for the neuroprotective role of cytokine. *Journal of neuroimmune pharmacology*, 1, 212-222.
- SALIM, S., ASGHAR, M., TANEJA, M., HOVATTA, I., CHUGH, G., VOLLERT, C. & VU, A. 2011. Potential contribution of oxidative stress and inflammation to anxiety and hypertension. *Brain Res*, 1404, 63-71.
- SAPERSTEIN, S., CHEN, L., OAKES, D., PRYHUBER, G. & FINKELSTEIN, J. 2009. IL-1beta augments TNF-alpha-mediated inflammatory responses from lung epithelial cells. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 29, 273-84.
- SAUNDERS, N. R., HABGOOD, M. D. & DZIEGIELEWSKA, K. M. 1999. Barrier mechanisms in the brain, I. Adult brain. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*, 26, 11-9.
- SCHMIDT, H. D., SHELTON, R. C. & DUMAN, R. S. 2011. Functional Biomarkers of Depression: Diagnosis, Treatment, and Pathophysiology. *Neuropsychopharmacology*.
- SCHWAB, S. G., MONDABON, S., KNAPP, M., ALBUS, M., HALLMAYER, J., BORRMANN-HASSENBACH, M., TRIXLER, M., GROSS, M., SCHULZE, T. G., RIETSCHEL, M., LERER, B., MAIER, W. & WILDENAUER, D. B. 2003. Association of tumor necrosis factor alpha gene -G308A polymorphism with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res*, 65, 19-25.
- SEI, H., SAITOH, D., YAMAMOTO, K., MORITA, K. & MORITA, Y. 2000. Differential effect of short-term REM sleep deprivation on NGF and BDNF protein levels in the rat brain. *Brain Res*, 877, 387-90.
- SELMAJ, K., RAINE, C. S., CANNELLA, B. & BROSNAN, C. F. 1991. Identification of lymphotoxin and tumor necrosis factor in multiple sclerosis lesions. *J Clin Invest*, 87, 949-54.
- SEMMLER, A., FRISCH, C., DEBEIR, T., RAMANATHAN, M., OKULLA, T., KLOCKGETHER, T. & HENEKA, M. T. 2007. Long-term cognitive impairment, neuronal loss and reduced cortical cholinergic innervation after recovery from sepsis in a rodent model. *Exp Neurol*, 204, 733-40.
- SENABRE-GALLEGO, J. M., SANTOS-RAMIREZ, C., SANTOS-SOLER, G., SALAS-HEREDIA, E., SANCHEZ-BARRIOLUENGO, M., BARBER, X., ROSAS, J. & ON BEHALF OF THE, A.-M. B. G. 2013. Long-term safety and efficacy of etanercept in the treatment of ankylosing spondylitis. *Patient Prefer Adherence*, 7, 961-972.
- SHARIEF, M. K. & HENTGES, R. 1991. Association between tumor necrosis factor-alpha and disease progression in patients with multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med*, 325, 467-72.
- SHELTON, R. C., CLAIBORNE, J., SIDORYK-WEGRZYNOWICZ, M., REDDY, R., ASCHNER, M., LEWIS, D. A. & MIRNICS, K. 2011. Altered expression of genes involved in inflammation and apoptosis in frontal cortex in major depression. *Mol Psychiatry*, 16, 751-62.

- SHEPHERD, J. K., GREWAL, S. S., FLETCHER, A., BILL, D. J. & DOURISH, C. T. 1994. Behavioural and pharmacological characterisation of the elevated "zero-maze" as an animal model of anxiety. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 116, 56-64.
- SHI, J., LEVINSON, D. F., DUAN, J., SANDERS, A. R., ZHENG, Y., PE'ER, I., DUDBRIDGE, F., HOLMANS, P. A., WHITTEMORE, A. S., MOWRY, B. J., OLINCY, A., AMIN, F., CLONINGER, C. R., SILVERMAN, J. M., BUCCOLA, N. G., BYERLEY, W. F., BLACK, D. W., CROWE, R. R., OKSENBERG, J. R., MIREL, D. B., KENDLER, K. S., FREEDMAN, R. & GEJMAN, P. V. 2009. Common variants on chromosome 6p22.1 are associated with schizophrenia. *Nature*, 460, 753-7.
- SHIGEMOTO-MOGAMI, Y., HOSHIKAWA, K., GOLDMAN, J. E., SEKINO, Y. & SATO, K. 2014. Microglia enhance neurogenesis and oligodendrogenesis in the early postnatal subventricular zone. *J Neurosci*, 34, 2231-43.
- SHU, H. B., TAKEUCHI, M. & GOEDDEL, D. V. 1996. The tumor necrosis factor receptor 2 signal transducers TRAF2 and c-IAP1 are components of the tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 signaling complex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93, 13973-8.
- SIMEN, B. B., DUMAN, C. H., SIMEN, A. A. & DUMAN, R. S. 2006. TNFalpha signaling in depression and anxiety: behavioral consequences of individual receptor targeting. *Biol Psychiatry*, 59, 775-85.
- SKURLOVA, M., STOFKOVA, A., KISS, A., BELACEK, J., PECHA, O., DEYKUN, K. & JURCOVICOVA, J. 2010. Transient anorexia, hyper-nociception and cognitive impairment in early adjuvant arthritis in rats. *Endocr Regul*, 44, 165-73.
- SOFRONIEW, M. V., HOWE, C. L. & MOBLEY, W. C. 2001. Nerve growth factor signaling, neuroprotection, and neural repair. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 24, 1217-81.
- SONG, H., STEVENS, C. F. & GAGE, F. H. 2002. Astroglia induce neurogenesis from adult neural stem cells. *Nature*, 417, 39-44.
- SPIRES, T. L. & HYMAN, B. T. 2005. Transgenic models of Alzheimer's disease: learning from animals. *NeuroRx*, 2, 423-37.
- STALDER, A. K., CARSON, M. J., PAGENSTECHER, A., ASENSIO, V. C., KINCAID, C., BENEDICT, M., POWELL, H. C., MASLIAH, E. & CAMPBELL, I. L. 1998. Late-onset chronic inflammatory encephalopathy in immune-competent and severe combined immune-deficient (SCID) mice with astrocyte-targeted expression of tumor necrosis factor. *Am J Pathol*, 153, 767-83.
- STARR, R., WILLSON, T. A., VINEY, E. M., MURRAY, L. J., RAYNER, J. R., JENKINS, B. J., GONDA, T. J., ALEXANDER, W. S., METCALF, D., NICOLA, N. A. & HILTON, D. J. 1997. A family of cytokine-inducible inhibitors of signalling. *Nature*, 387, 917-21.
- STEFANSSON, H., SIGURDSSON, E., STEINTHORSDOTTIR, V., BJORNSDOTTIR, S., SIGMUNDSSON, T., GHOSH, S., BRYNJOLFSSON, J., GUNNARSDOTTIR, S., IVARSSON, O., CHOU, T. T., HJALTASON, O., BIRGISDOTTIR, B., JONSSON, H., GUDNADOTTIR, V. G., GUDMUNDSDOTTIR, E., BJORNSSON, A., INGVARSSON, B., INGASON, A., SIGFUSSON, S., HARDARDOTTIR, H., HARVEY, R. P., LAI, D., ZHOU, M., BRUNNER, D., MUTEL, V., GONZALO, A., LEMKE, G., SAINZ, J., JOHANNESSON, G., ANDRESSON, T., GUDBJARTSSON, D., MANOLESCU, A., FRIGGE, M. L., GURNEY, M. E., KONG, A., GULCHER, J. R., PETURSSON, H. & STEFANSSON, K. 2002. Neuregulin 1 and susceptibility to schizophrenia. *Am J Hum Genet*, 71, 877-92.
- STEINER, J., BIELAU, H., BRISCH, R., DANOS, P., ULLRICH, O., MAWRIN, C., BERNSTEIN, H. G. & BOGERTS, B. 2008. Immunological aspects in the neurobiology of suicide:

elevated microglial density in schizophrenia and depression is associated with suicide. *J Psychiatr Res,* 42, 151-7.

- STELLWAGEN, D., BEATTIE, E. C., SEO, J. Y. & MALENKA, R. C. 2005. Differential regulation of AMPA receptor and GABA receptor trafficking by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *J Neurosci*, 25, 3219-28.
- STELLWAGEN, D. & MALENKA, R. C. 2006. Synaptic scaling mediated by glial TNF-alpha. *Nature*, 440, 1054-9.
- STREILEIN, J. W. 1993. Immune privilege as the result of local tissue barriers and immunosuppressive microenvironments. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 5, 428-32.
- STREIT, W. J., MRAK, R. E. & GRIFFIN, W. S. 2004. Microglia and neuroinflammation: a pathological perspective. *J Neuroinflammation*, 1, 14.
- STREIT, W. J. & SPARKS, D. L. 1997. Activation of microglia in the brains of humans with heart disease and hypercholesterolemic rabbits. *J Mol Med (Berl)*, 75, 130-8.
- STUBNER, S., SCHON, T., PADBERG, F., TEIPEL, S. J., SCHWARZ, M. J., HASLINGER, A., BUCH, K., DUKOFF, R., LASSER, R., MULLER, N., SUNDERLAND, T., RAPOPORT, S. I., MOLLER, H. J. & HAMPEL, H. 1999. Interleukin-6 and the soluble IL-6 receptor are decreased in cerebrospinal fluid of geriatric patients with major depression: no alteration of soluble gp130. *Neurosci Lett*, 259, 145-8.
- SUH, J., FOSTER, D. J., DAVOUDI, H., WILSON, M. A. & TONEGAWA, S. 2013. Impaired hippocampal ripple-associated replay in a mouse model of schizophrenia. *Neuron*, 80, 484-93.
- SUVANNAVEJH, G. C., LEE, H. O., PADILLA, J., DAL CANTO, M. C., BARRETT, T. A. & MILLER, S. D. 2000. Divergent roles for p55 and p75 tumor necrosis factor receptors in the pathogenesis of MOG(35-55)-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Cell Immunol*, 205, 24-33.
- SWEATT, J. D. 2004. Hippocampal function in cognition. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 174, 99-110.
- TABAKMAN, R., LECHT, S., SEPHANOVA, S., ARIEN-ZAKAY, H. & LAZAROVICI, P. 2004. Interactions between the cells of the immune and nervous system: neurotrophins as neuroprotection mediators in CNS injury. *Prog Brain Res*, 146, 387-401.
- TAKEDA, H., TSUJI, M. & MATSUMIYA, T. 1998. Changes in head-dipping behavior in the hole-board test reflect the anxiogenic and/or anxiolytic state in mice. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 350, 21-9.
- TAKEI, Y. & LASKEY, R. 2008. Interpreting crosstalk between TNF-alpha and NGF: potential implications for disease. *Trends Mol Med*, 14, 381-8.
- TAKEI, Y. & LASKEY, R. 2011. Intracellular and intercellular cross talk between NGF and TNF. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 691, 559-65.
- TAKEUCHI, H., JIN, S., WANG, J., ZHANG, G., KAWANOKUCHI, J., KUNO, R., SONOBE, Y., MIZUNO, T. & SUZUMURA, A. 2006. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces neurotoxicity via glutamate release from hemichannels of activated microglia in an autocrine manner. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 21362-8.
- TAMMINGA, C. A. 1998. Schizophrenia and glutamatergic transmission. *Crit Rev Neurobiol*, 12, 21-36.
- TAN, Q., GUO, Q., FANG, C., WANG, C., LI, B., WANG, H., LI, J. & GUO, Y. 2012. Characterization and comparison of commercially available TNF receptor 2-Fc fusion protein products. *MAbs*, 4, 761-74.

- TARTAGLIA, L. A., AYRES, T. M., WONG, G. H. & GOEDDEL, D. V. 1993. A novel domain within the 55 kd TNF receptor signals cell death. *Cell*, 74, 845-53.
- TAUDORF, S., KRABBE, K. S., BERG, R. M., MOLLER, K., PEDERSEN, B. K. & BRUUNSGAARD, H. 2008. Common studied polymorphisms do not affect plasma cytokine levels upon endotoxin exposure in humans. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 152, 147-52.
- TERRANDO, N., MONACO, C., MA, D., FOXWELL, B. M., FELDMANN, M. & MAZE, M. 2010. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha triggers a cytokine cascade yielding postoperative cognitive decline. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107, 20518-22.
- THALAYASINGAM, N. & ISAACS, J. D. 2011. Anti-TNF therapy. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol, 25, 549-67.
- THEODOROPOULOU, S., SPANAKOS, G., BAXEVANIS, C. N., ECONOMOU, M., GRITZAPIS, A. D., PAPAMICHAIL, M. P. & STEFANIS, C. N. 2001. Cytokine serum levels, autologous mixed lymphocyte reaction and surface marker analysis in never medicated and chronically medicated schizophrenic patients. *Schizophr Res*, 47, 13-25.
- TILLEUX, S. & HERMANS, E. 2007. Neuroinflammation and regulation of glial glutamate uptake in neurological disorders. *J Neurosci Res*, 85, 2059-70.
- TOBINICK, E. 2010. Perispinal etanercept: a new therapeutic paradigm in neurology. *Expert Rev Neurother*, 10, 985-1002.
- TOBINICK, E. & DAVOODIFAR, S. 2004. Efficacy of etanercept delivered by perispinal administration for chronic back and/or neck disc-related pain: a study of clinical observations in 143 patients. *Curr Med Res Opin,* 20, 1075-85.
- TOBINICK, E., GROSS, H., WEINBERGER, A. & COHEN, H. 2006. TNF-alpha modulation for treatment of Alzheimer's disease: a 6-month pilot study. *MedGenMed*, 8, 25.
- TOBINICK, E. L. & GROSS, H. 2008. Rapid cognitive improvement in Alzheimer's disease following perispinal etanercept administration. *J Neuroinflammation*, **5**, 2.
- TOBIUME, K., MATSUZAWA, A., TAKAHASHI, T., NISHITOH, H., MORITA, K., TAKEDA, K., MINOWA, O., MIYAZONO, K., NODA, T. & ICHIJO, H. 2001. ASK1 is required for sustained activations of JNK/p38 MAP kinases and apoptosis. *EMBO Rep*, 2, 222-8.
- TRACEY, K. J. 1991. Tumor necrosis factor (cachectin) in the biology of septic shock syndrome. *Circ Shock*, 35, 123-8.
- TSAKIRI, N., KIMBER, I., ROTHWELL, N. J. & PINTEAUX, E. 2008. Differential effects of interleukin-1 alpha and beta on interleukin-6 and chemokine synthesis in neurones. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 38, 259-65.
- TULNER, D. M., SMITH, O. R., SCHINS, A., DE JONGE, P., QUERE, M., DELANGHE, J. R., CRIJNS, H. J., DEN BOER, J. A., KORF, J. & HONIG, A. 2011. Antidepressive effect of mirtazapine in post-myocardial infarction depression is associated with soluble TNF-R1 increase: data from the MIND-IT. *Neuropsychobiology*, 63, 169-76.
- TURNBULL, A. V., PITOSSI, F. J., LEBRUN, J. J., LEE, S., MELTZER, J. C., NANCE, D. M., DEL REY, A., BESEDOVSKY, H. O. & RIVIER, C. 1997. Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-alpha action within the CNS markedly reduces the plasma adrenocorticotropin response to peripheral local inflammation in rats. *J Neurosci*, 17, 3262-73.

- TYRING, S., GORDON, K. B., POULIN, Y., LANGLEY, R. G., GOTTLIEB, A. B., DUNN, M. & JAHREIS, A. 2007. Long-term safety and efficacy of 50 mg of etanercept twice weekly in patients with psoriasis. *Arch Dermatol*, 143, 719-26.
- TYRING, S., GOTTLIEB, A., PAPP, K., GORDON, K., LEONARDI, C., WANG, A., LALLA, D., WOOLLEY, M., JAHREIS, A., ZITNIK, R., CELLA, D. & KRISHNAN, R. 2006. Etanercept and clinical outcomes, fatigue, and depression in psoriasis: doubleblind placebo-controlled randomised phase III trial. *Lancet*, 367, 29-35.
- UBOGU, E. E., COSSOY, M. B. & RANSOHOFF, R. M. 2006. The expression and function of chemokines involved in CNS inflammation. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 27, 48-55.
- UGUZ, F., AKMAN, C., KUCUKSARAC, S. & TUFEKCI, O. 2009. Anti-tumor necrosis factoralpha therapy is associated with less frequent mood and anxiety disorders in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 63, 50-5.
- VAN BERCKEL, B. N., BOSSONG, M. G., BOELLAARD, R., KLOET, R., SCHUITEMAKER, A., CASPERS, E., LUURTSEMA, G., WINDHORST, A. D., CAHN, W., LAMMERTSMA, A. A. & KAHN, R. S. 2008. Microglia activation in recent-onset schizophrenia: a quantitative (R)-[11C]PK11195 positron emission tomography study. *Biol Psychiatry*, 64, 820-2.
- VAN MEER, P. & RABER, J. 2005. Mouse behavioural analysis in systems biology. *Biochem J*, 389, 593-610.
- VENTERS, H. D., DANTZER, R. & KELLEY, K. W. 2000. A new concept in neurodegeneration: TNFalpha is a silencer of survival signals. *Trends Neurosci*, 23, 175-80.
- VILA-DEL SOL, V., PUNZON, C. & FRESNO, M. 2008. IFN-gamma-induced TNF-alpha expression is regulated by interferon regulatory factors 1 and 8 in mouse macrophages. *J Immunol*, 181, 4461-70.
- WAKABAYASHI, H., SUDO, A., NISHIOKA, Y., HASEGAWA, M., MINAMI, Y. & NISHIOKA, K. 2011. Repeat etanercept administration restores clinical response of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatol Int*.
- WAKE, H., MOORHOUSE, A. J. & NABEKURA, J. 2012. Functions of microglia in the central nervous system beyond the immune response. *Neuron Glia Biol*, 1-7.
- WANG, G., GILBERT, J. & MAN, H. Y. 2012. AMPA receptor trafficking in homeostatic synaptic plasticity: functional molecules and signaling cascades. *Neural Plast*, 2012, 825364.
- WANG, Q., WALSH, D. M., ROWAN, M. J., SELKOE, D. J. & ANWYL, R. 2004. Block of longterm potentiation by naturally secreted and synthetic amyloid beta-peptide in hippocampal slices is mediated via activation of the kinases c-Jun N-terminal kinase, cyclin-dependent kinase 5, and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase as well as metabotropic glutamate receptor type 5. *J Neurosci*, 24, 3370-8.
- WILSON, A. G., SYMONS, J. A., MCDOWELL, T. L., MCDEVITT, H. O. & DUFF, G. W. 1997. Effects of a polymorphism in the human tumor necrosis factor alpha promoter on transcriptional activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 3195-9.
- WINSTON, B. W., KREIN, P. M., MOWAT, C. & HUANG, Y. 1999. Cytokine-induced macrophage differentiation: a tale of 2 genes. *Clin Invest Med*, 22, 236-55.
- WINSTON, B. W., LANGE-CARTER, C. A., GARDNER, A. M., JOHNSON, G. L. & RICHES, D. W. 1995. Tumor necrosis factor alpha rapidly activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade in a MAPK kinase kinase-dependent, c-Raf-1-independent fashion in mouse macrophages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 92, 1614-8.

- WINZEN, R., WALLACH, D., KEMPER, O., RESCH, K. & HOLTMANN, H. 1993. Selective upregulation of the 75-kDa tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor and its mRNA by TNF and IL-1. *J Immunol*, 150, 4346-53.
- WOHLEB, E. S., HANKE, M. L., CORONA, A. W., POWELL, N. D., STINER, L. M., BAILEY, M. T., NELSON, R. J., GODBOUT, J. P. & SHERIDAN, J. F. 2011. beta-Adrenergic receptor antagonism prevents anxiety-like behavior and microglial reactivity induced by repeated social defeat. *J Neurosci*, 31, 6277-88.
- WOHLEB, E. S., POWELL, N. D., GODBOUT, J. P. & SHERIDAN, J. F. 2013. Stress-induced recruitment of bone marrow-derived monocytes to the brain promotes anxiety-like behavior. *J Neurosci*, 33, 13820-33.
- YAMADA, K., IIDA, R., MIYAMOTO, Y., SAITO, K., SEKIKAWA, K., SEISHIMA, M. & NABESHIMA, T. 2000. Neurobehavioral alterations in mice with a targeted deletion of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene: implications for emotional behavior. *J Neuroimmunol*, 111, 131-8.
- YIRMIYA, R., POLLAK, Y., BARAK, O., AVITSUR, R., OVADIA, H., BETTE, M., WEIHE, E. & WEIDENFELD, J. 2001. Effects of antidepressant drugs on the behavioral and physiological responses to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) in rodents. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 24, 531-44.
- YOU, Z., LUO, C., ZHANG, W., CHEN, Y., HE, J., ZHAO, Q., ZUO, R. & WU, Y. 2011. Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines expression in rat's brain and spleen exposed to chronic mild stress: Involvement in depression. *Behav Brain Res*, 225, 135-141.
- YOUNG, J. J., BRUNO, D. & POMARA, N. 2014. A review of the relationship between proinflammatory cytokines and major depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord*, 169C, 15-20.
- ZHANG, X., WANG, J., QIAN, W., ZHAO, J., SUN, L., QIAN, Y. & XIAO, H. 2014. Dexmedetomidine Inhibits Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha and Interleukin 6 in Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated Astrocytes by Suppression of c-Jun N-Terminal Kinases. *Inflammation*.
- ZHANG, Z. & FULLER, G. M. 2000. Interleukin 1beta inhibits interleukin 6-mediated rat gamma fibrinogen gene expression. *Blood*, 96, 3466-72.
- ZHAO, C., DENG, W. & GAGE, F. H. 2008. Mechanisms and functional implications of adult neurogenesis. *Cell*, 132, 645-60.
- ZHU, B., WANG, Z. G., DING, J., LIU, N., WANG, D. M., DING, L. C. & YANG, C. 2014a. Chronic lipopolysaccharide exposure induces cognitive dysfunction without affecting BDNF expression in the rat hippocampus. *Exp Ther Med*, 7, 750-754.
- ZHU, C. B., BLAKELY, R. D. & HEWLETT, W. A. 2006. The proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha activate serotonin transporters. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 31, 2121-31.
- ZHU, F., ZHANG, L., DING, Y. Q., ZHAO, J. & ZHENG, Y. 2014b. Neonatal intrahippocampal injection of lipopolysaccharide induces deficits in social behavior and prepulse inhibition and microglial activation in rats: Implication for a new schizophrenia animal model. *Brain Behav Immun*, 38, 166-74.
- ZIEHN, M. O., AVEDISIAN, A. A., TIWARI-WOODRUFF, S. & VOSKUHL, R. R. 2010. Hippocampal CA1 atrophy and synaptic loss during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, EAE. *Lab Invest*, 90, 774-86.
- ZLOKOVIC, B. V. 2008. The blood-brain barrier in health and chronic neurodegenerative disorders. *Neuron*, 57, 178-201.

- ZORRILLA, E. P., LUBORSKY, L., MCKAY, J. R., ROSENTHAL, R., HOULDIN, A., TAX, A., MCCORKLE, R., SELIGMAN, D. A. & SCHMIDT, K. 2001. The relationship of depression and stressors to immunological assays: a meta-analytic review. *Brain Behav Immun*, 15, 199-226.
- ZUNSZAIN, P. A., HEPGUL, N. & PARIANTE, C. M. 2012. Inflammation and Depression. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci*.

Appendix: Published Papers

Tumour Necrosis Factor-alpha Mediated Mechanisms of Cognitive Dysfunction


$TNF\mathcase \alpha$ and its Receptors Modulate Complex Behaviours and Neurotrophins in Transgenic Mice



Tumour	necrosis	factor-a	and p	svchiatric	phenotypes

3103

behaviour compared to WT mice. ELISA analyses showed TNF ' and TNF-R2 ' mice had lower levels of NGF compared to WT mice. *Conclusion:* These results indicate that while lack of TNF- α can decrease anxiety-like behaviour in mice, certain basal levels of TNF- α are required for the development of normal cognition.

mice, certain basal levels of TNF- α are required for the development of normal cognition. Furthermore our results suggest that both TNF-R1 and TNF-R2 signalling play a role in normal CNS function, with knockout of either receptor impairing cognition on the Barnes maze. \bigcirc 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Effects of Centrally Administered Etanercept on Behaviour, Microglia, and Astrocytes in Mice Following a Peripheral Immune Challenge

Neuropsychopharmacology (2014), i 11 © 2014 American College of Neuropsychopharmacology. All rights reserved 0893-133X/14 www.neuropsychopharmacology.org Effects of Centrally Administered Etanercept on Behavior, Microglia, and Astrocytes in Mice Following a Peripheral Immune Challenge Marie lou Camara^{1,2}, Frances Corrigan³, Emily J Jaehne¹, Magdalene C Jawahar¹, Helen Anscomb² and Bernhard T Baune^{® 1} ¹Discipline of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ²Discipline of Anatomy, School of Medicine, James Cook University, Townsville QLD, Australia, ³Discipline of Anatomy and Pathology, School of Medical Sciences, University of Adelaide, SA, Australia Peripheral cytokines affect central nervous system (CNS) function, manifesting in symptoms of anxiety and cognitive decline. Although the peripheral blockage of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α has been effective in alleviating depression and rheumatoid arthritis, it is vet unknown whether central blockade of TNF- α is beneficial for immune-challenged CNS function. This study investigated the effects of central etanercept administration following a peripheral immune challenge on anxiety-like and cognition-like behaviors and microglia and astrocyte numbers. Twelve-week-old C57BL/6 mice (n = 40) were treated with either LPS or saline administered peripherally 24h before being treated with either etanercept or artificial CSF (aCSF) by intracerebroventricular injection. Mice underwent behavioral analyses for locomotion, memory, and anxiety-like behavior 24 h post-etanercept/aCSF treatment, and tissue was collected to estimate the numbers of hippocampal microglia and astrocytes. Following peripheral immune challenge with LPS, mice showed increased anxietylike behavior, which was significantly improved following treatment with etanercept (two-way ANOVA: Interaction: $F_{(1,30)} = 0.60$, P = 0.44; Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,20)} = 23.92$, P < 0.0001, etanercept vs aCSF: $F_{(1,20)} = 11.09$, P = 0.0023). For cognition, a significant interaction effect found by two-way ANOVA (Interaction: $F_{(1,20)} = 4.96$, P = 0.037, Saline/LPS challenge: $F_{(1,20)} = 4.966$, P = 0.31, aCSF/ etanercept treatment: F(1.20) = 0.06, P = 0.80) and post-hoc analysis revealed a significant decrease in cognition in LPS-aCSF compared with Sal-aCSF mice (P = 0.038), but no significant difference was noted between LPS-aCSF and LPS-Etan mice (P > 0.9). A significant reduction in the number of microglia within the hippocampus of these mice was noted (two-way ANOVA: Interaction: F(1,15)=11.41, $P = 0.0041; Saline/LPS challenge: F_{(1,15)} = 50.13, P < 0.0001, etanercept vs aCSF; F_{(1,15)} = 3.36, P = 0.08). Centrally administered the second seco$ etanercept improved anxiety-like behavior but not spatial memory under a peripheral immune challenge and was associated with a decrease in the hippocampal microglia numbers. This suggests that etanencept recovers anxiety-like behavior possibly mediated by a reduction of TNF-α-related central inflammation.

Neuropsychopharmacology advance online publication, 17 September 2014; doi:10.1038/npp.2014.199